
-1- 
 

 
 

To Provide a Sustainable Quality of Life 
Through Excellent Stewardship of Government 

UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL 
P. O. Box 610 ▪ Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

Tel (907) 581-1251 ▪ Fax (907) 581-1417 ▪ www.ci.unalaska.ak.us 

Mayor: Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. City Manager: William Homka 
City Clerk: Estkarlen P. Magdaong, emagdaong@ci.unalaska.ak.us 

 
COUNCIL MEETING ATTENDANCE 

The community is encouraged to attend meetings of the City Council: 
 In person at City Hall 
 Online via ZOOM (link, meeting ID & password below) 
 By telephone (toll and toll free numbers, meeting ID & password below) 
 Listen on KUCB TV Channel 8 or Radio Station 89.7 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
The Mayor and City Council value and encourage community input at meetings of the City Council. There is a time 
limit of 3 minutes per person, per topic. Options for public comment: 

 In person 
 By telephone or ZOOM - notify the City Clerk if you’d like to provide comment using ZOOM features (chat 

message or raise your hand); or *9 by telephone to raise your hand; or you may notify the City Clerk during 
regular business hours in advance of the meeting 

 Written comment is accepted up to one hour before the meeting begins by email, regular mail, fax or hand 
delivery to the City Clerk, and will be read during the meeting; include your name 

ZOOM MEETING LINK: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83246795029 
Meeting ID: 832 4679 5029 / Passcode: 630155 
 
TELEPHONE: Meeting ID: 832 4679 5029 / Passcode: 630155 
Toll Free numbers: (833) 548-0276; or (833) 548-0282; or (877) 853-5247; or (888) 788-0099 
Non Toll-Free numbers: (253) 215-8782; or (346) 248-7799; or (669) 900-9128 

 

AGENDA 
1. Call to order 

2. Roll call 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Recognition of Visitors 

5. Adoption of Agenda 

 

 

Unalaska City Hall 
Council Chambers 

43 Raven Way 
 
 
 

Council Members 
Anthony Longo 

Alejandro R. Tungul 
Shari Coleman 

 

Special Meeting 
Tuesday, July 2, 2024 
6:00 p.m. 
 
 
 
Council Members 
Thomas D. Bell 
Darin Nicholson 
Daneen Looby 

Packet Page Number 1 



-2- 
 

6. Community Input & Announcements Members of the public may provide information to 
council or make announcements of interest to the community. Three-minute time limit per person. 

7. Public Comment on Agenda Items Time for members of the public to provide information to 
Council regarding items on the agenda. Alternatively, members of the public may speak when the 
issue comes up on the regular agenda by signing up with the City Clerk. Three-minute time limit per 
person. 

8. Regular Agenda Persons wishing to speak on regular agenda items must sign up with the City 
Clerk. Three-minute time limit per person. 

a. Resolution 2024-30: In support of a Harbor Facility Grant Application to the State 
of Alaska, Department of Transportation and Public Facilities in the amount of 
$5,000,000 for the Robert Storrs Harbor A & B Float Replacement Project 

b. Resolution 2024-31: Authorizing the City Manager to enter into an agreement 
with Aleutian General, LLC to construct the Captains Bay Road Waterline 
Extension Project in the amount of $5,508,439 

c. Resolution 2024-32: Authorizing the City Manager to enter into a five-year Master 
Services Agreement with GCI Communication Corp. for dedicated internet 
services 

9. Council Directives to City Manager 

10. Community Input & Announcements Members of the public may provide information to 
council or make announcements of interest to the community. Three-minute time limit per person. 

11. Adjournment 

Packet Page Number 2 



 

 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 
RESOLUTION 2024-30 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL IN SUPPORT OF A HARBOR FACILITY 
GRANT APPLICATION TO THE STATE OF ALASKA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
AND PUBLIC FACILITIES, IN THE AMOUNT OF $5,000,000 FOR THE ROBERT STORRS 
HARBOR A & B FLOAT REPLACEMENT PROJECT 
 
WHEREAS, the State of Alaska, Department of Transportation and Public Facilities, administers 
the Harbor Facility Grant Program; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska owns and maintains the Robert Storrs Harbor; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska has the required 50% in local matching funds for construction 
of Robert Storrs Harbor per the requirements of the Harbor Facility Grant Program; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Robert Storrs A & B Float replacement project has been entered by the City of 
Unalaska into the State’s Legislative Finance Capital Project Submission and Information System, 
“CAPSIS”; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska is capable of completing the Robert Storrs A and B Float 
Replacement Project within 18 months after award of the Harbor Facility Grant; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Robert Storrs A and B Float Replacement Project is critical and a priority to the 
City of Unalaska. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Unalaska City Council supports the Harbor Facility 
Grant Application to the State of Alaska, Department of Transportation and Public Facilities, in 
the amount of $5,000,000 for the Robert Storrs A & B Float Replacement Project. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on July 2, 
2024. 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Estkarlen P. Magdaong 
City Clerk 
 

Packet Page Number 3 



- 1 - 
 

 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Peggy McLaughlin, Port Director 
Through: Marjie Veeder, Acting City Manager 
Date:  July 2, 2024 
Re: Resolution 2024-30: In support of a Harbor Facility Grant Application to the State 

of Alaska, Department of Transportation and Public Facilities, in the amount of 
$5,000,000 for the Robert Storrs Harbor A&B Float Replacement Project 

 
 
SUMMARY: This is a resolution of support for a $5,000,000 grant application to the State of 
Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities for the Robert Storrs A & B Float 
Replacement Project. Council has approved funding that meets the matching requirement for this 
project. This Resolution of support is required to complete the application for the grant application, 
which is due August 9, 2024. 
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION:  
 

 Resolution 2021-24 adopting the FY22-31 Capital and Major Maintenance plan Ordinance 
 Resolution 2021-07 Adopting the Fiscal Year 2022 Operating and Capital Budget for the 

City of Unalaska 
 
BACKGROUND: The City Administration has listed Robert Storrs Harbor A and B Float 
Replacement Project in the State CAPSIS beginning in 2014 and the project has also been a 
State legislative priority for the last several years. The project has progressed to the point where 
we anticipate construction in the next 12-18 months and this is the appropriate timing to apply for 
the grant to construct. 
 
DISCUSSION: This project has been vetted through the City CMMP process and CMMP budget 
and includes the 50% matching grant as the desired funding source for much of the cost of the 
project. This has been a priority for the Council. The planning, design and permitting has 
progressed enough that we can complete a thorough application for the State of Alaska 
Department of Transportation and Public Facilities, Harbor Facility Grant Program. 
 
The application requires this resolution of support, and without this resolution the application will 
be automatically denied. We are applying for the maximum amount under the program. The 
estimated cost of construction has increased with inflation and we want to make sure that we 
cover as much of this project as possible with grant funding. Council approved $6.6 million of Port 
Funds for this project and we are currently in the preliminary design phase with PND Engineers. 
 
This project was thoroughly vetted through the public process and upon completion will 
accommodate current users and provide moorage for all vessels currently on the waiting list. 
When completed the harbor will have an additional 42 slips, and year-round utility services.  
 

Packet Page Number 4 



- 2 - 
 

Postponing this project puts us at risk for having to close certain services or sections of the harbor 
with failing slips. This resolution is a necessary step in completing the grant application for the 
Robert Storrs A and B Float Replacement project.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: Council could choose to postpone this resolution of support and request further 
discussion; or Council could choose to not support this resolution which would result in an 
incomplete application to the State. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: The Council has already approved the matching funds required for 
this project in the FY23 Capital Budget. 
 
LEGAL: None needed. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends adoption. 
 
PROPOSED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution 2024-30. 
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I concur with the Staff Recommendation. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: None. 

Packet Page Number 5 



CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 
RESOLUTION 2024-31 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 
TO ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH ALEUTIAN GENERAL, LLC TO CONSTRUCT THE 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE EXTENSION PROJECT IN THE AMOUNT OF $5,508,439 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska has determined the need to replace the waterline on Captains 
Bay Road; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska acknowledges that this new water line will enhance existing 
services, serve all properties on Captains Bay Road, allow abandonment of a private WWII-era 
wood stave pipe that leaks a significant quantity of treated water, and position the City for future 
growth in the Captains Bay Road corridor; and 
 
WHEREAS, extending the waterline will allow the City to decommission its surface water source 
for maintenance, increase clear water storage capacity, and allow the City to provide customers 
on Captains Bay Road with water from multiple water sources; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska has provided financial support for the project; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council desires to proceed with construction of Captain's Bay Road 
Waterline Extension Project. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Unalaska City Council authorizes the City 
Manager to enter into an agreement with Aleutian General, LLC for the Captains Bay Road 
Waterline Extension Project in the amount of $5,508,439. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on July 2, 
2024. 
  
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
      Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Estkarlen P. Magdaong 
City Clerk 

Packet Page Number 6 



- 1 - 
 

 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Scott Brown, Public Works Director  
Through: Marjie Veeder, Acting City Manager 
Date:  July 2, 2024 
Re: Resolution 2024-31 Authorizing the City Manager to enter into an agreement with 

Aleutian General, LLC to construct the Captains Bay Road Waterline Extension 
Project in the amount of $5,508,439 

 
 
SUMMARY: This is a request to authorize the City Manager to enter into an agreement with 
Aleutian General, LLC to construct the Captains Bay Road Waterline Extension Project (WA22D) 
in the amount of $5,508,439. 
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Previous Council action regarding the Captains Bay Road 
Waterline project is as follows: 
 

 Ordinance 2022-06 Creating budget amendment #4 recognizing ARPA grant revenue and 
increasing the Water Capital Project Budget by $800,000 for the NPF Waterline Project 

 Ordinance 2022-22 Accepting $386,400 from the Denali Commission and increasing the 
Water Fund Transfers to the Capital Projects by $12,246 for matching funds and 
increasing the Captains Bay Road Waterline Project by $398,400 

 Resolution 2022-55 Authorizing the City Manager to enter into an Agreement with Regan 
Engineering for the design of the Captains Bay Road Waterline Extension Project in the 
amount of $398,646 

 Resolution 2023-16 Adopting the FY24-FY33 Capital and Major Maintenance Plan 

 Resolution 2024-06 Identifying the City of Unalaska’s State Priorities for FY25, and 
designating the Captains Bay Road Waterline Extension ass the city’s #1 priority 

 Ordinance 2024-06 Creating budget amendment #6 for FY24 to increase the Water 
Capital Project Budget by $4,700,000 from the 1% Special Revenue fund to construct 
Phase 1 of the Captains Bay Road Waterline Extension Project 

 Ordinance 2024-10 Creating Budget Amendment #8 to the Fiscal Year 2024 Budget, 
appropriating $1,192,406 from the 1% Sales Tax Fund for an increase to the Captains Bay 
Road Waterline Extension Project (WA22D) 

BACKGROUND: Discussions about improving utilities on Captains Bay Road began more than 
a decade ago, but the project gained momentum in the FY19 Capital & Major Maintenance Plan 
(CMMP). Various versions of the plan were developed for evaluation and consideration in 
subsequent CMMPs. Shortly thereafter, a private company purchased the former quarry property 

Packet Page Number 7 



- 2 - 
 

at the end of Captains Bay Road and, on June 14, 2023, that company submitted a formal written 
request for utility services. 
 
The waterline extension will provide water to all properties along the roadway. Currently, a 
customer on Captains Bay Road uses a private lateral line that runs up to Pyramid Road, where 
it connects to the public line. This lateral crosses private property and has been leaking significant 
amounts of treated water because part of the line was constructed in the 1940’s and is made of 
wooden staves. This private line will be abandoned once the new waterline project is completed. 
 
The City of Unalaska has two storage tanks located in Unalaska Valley/Lear Road and another in 
Pyramid Valley. The City supplies water to a customer on Captains Bay Road, which relies solely 
on the Pyramid Valley tank. This service is only feasible when the tank is filled to more than 70% 
of its capacity, which is approximately 26 feet out of 38 feet. When the tank level drops below 26 
feet, which occurs infrequently, the water service is disrupted. This affects up to 50-60 residents 
living in the company's bunkhouse, as well as the offices and customers using the dock for 
offloading and resupply. With the existing system configuration, the City cannot provide service 
to this customer from the wells or the Unalaska Valley/Lear Road due to hydraulic limitations. This 
can be problematic during peak demand seasons, especially if an extended shutdown period is 
expected due to water quality issues or fluctuating demand. Shutdowns occur when turbidity in 
the reservoir exceeds the Pyramid Water Treatment Plant’s operating parameters. Since the plant 
operates as a Filtration Avoidance System and is not required to filter its process water, storms 
can cause turbidity to rise beyond permitted limits, shutting down treatment. 
 
Additionally, to mitigate prolonged outages, maintenance has been limited to basic measures, 
primarily due to the ongoing challenge of fully decommissioning the existing Pyramid Valley tank. 
Basic inspections have been periodically carried out throughout the tank’s operational lifespan, 
with minor repairs undertaken in 2013. Furthermore, the Icy Creek Reservoir has absorbed a 
substantial volume of runoff and sediment, further diminishing the City’s raw water supply. 
 
Extending the Captains Bay waterline would allow the City to: 
 

1. Fully decommission its surface water source for maintenance. 
 

2. Increase clear water storage by 1.5 – 2.0 million gallons. 
 

3. Supply users on Captains Bay Road with clear water from any water sources, including 
well #1, well #2, or both storage tanks in Pyramid Valley or Unalaska Valley. 
 

The water division’s ability to access all of its clear water reserves during these situations is vital 
to operations. 
 
DISCUSSION: The bid for the Captains Bay Road Waterline Extension Project (WA22D) was 
announced and posted on April 29, 2024, and closed on May 30, 2024. A pre-bid conference was 
held on May 14, 2024, to address any questions from interested bidders. During this meeting, 
three companies expressed interest: Northern Mechanical, Spies Construction, and Aleutian 
General, LLC. 
 
At the bid closing on May 30, 2024, at 2 PM, only Aleutian General, LLC submitted a bid, totaling 
$5,508,439. The criteria for winning the bid required meeting all professional standards and 
qualifications outlined in the RFP, as well as being the lowest bidder. On June 27, 2024, the City 
awarded the Notice of Award (NOA) to Aleutian General, LLC. 

Packet Page Number 8 



- 3 - 
 

 
Aleutian General, LLC, owned and operated by contractor Glenn Olson, has successfully 
completed numerous projects in Unalaska and maintains a strong working relationship with the 
City. If the council approves this resolution, the partnership between Aleutian General, LLC and 
the City of Unalaska will ensure the successful completion of the Captains Bay Road Waterline 
Extension Project. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Council can adopt Resolution 2024-31 and proceed with the project; or 
determine to cancel the project by not adopting the resolution.  

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Reduces the Project (WA22D) budget by 5,508,439 to pay Aleutian 
General, LLC for the Captains Bay Road Waterline Extension Project. 
  
LEGAL: None 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Adopt Resolution 2024-31 and proceed with the project. 
 
PROPOSED MOTION: I move to adopt resolution 2024-31. 
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I concur with the Staff Recommendation. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 

 RFP (contract documents and specifications for construction) 
 Bid package submitted by Aleutian General 
 Bid tabulation 
 Proposed Standard Form of Agreement with contractor 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page Number 9 



 

 

 

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND SPECIFICATIONS 

FOR CONSTRUCTION OF 

 

CITY OF UNALASKA 

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE (WA22B) 

DPW Project No. 22402 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FOR BID 
April 22, 2024 

 
 

Engineer: 
Regan Engineering, P.C. 

P.O. Box 889 
Camas, WA 98607 

360-903-5064 
 
 

Owner: 
City of Unalaska 

Department of Public Works 
P.O. Box 610 

Unalaska, Alaska  99685 
907-581-1260 

 

 

 

City of Unalaska 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
Part 1 - BIDDING REQUIREMENTS 

Section 00030 - Invitation to Bid  
Section 00100 - Instructions to Bidders  
Section 00300 - Bid Form  

Part 2 - CONTRACT FORMS 

 Section 00500 - Standard Form of Agreement   
Section 00610 - Performance Bond  
Section 00620 - Payment Bond   

Part 3 - GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 General Conditions  
 Section 00800 – Supplementary Conditions  

Part 4 – MINIMUM RATES OF PAY 

 Minimum Rates of Pay 

Part 5 – TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS 

 01010 Summary of Work 
 01025 Measurement and Payment 
 02200  Earthwork 

02550 Construction Survey 
 02668 Water Systems 

Part 6 – DRAWINGS (25-Sheets) 

 See Part 6 Cover Page for complete list of Drawings.  

Part 7 – APPENDICES 

 ADEC Permit 

Part 8 – EXHIBITS/REFERENCES 

 Exhibit 01 – Geotechnical Report for Captains Bay Road, HDL Engineering Consultants, inc. 
 Exhibit 02 – NPF Site Utilities (1-Sheet) 
 Exhibit 03 – Plats 91-22 (2-Sheets), 94-43, 93-23, 94-21, 93-4, 96-2 (1-Sheet Each) 

Packet Page Number 10 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Part 1 

BIDDING REQUIREMENTS 

 
INVITATION TO BID 
 00030-1 

Section 00030 
INVITATION TO BID 

Sealed Bids for the City of Unalaska CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE, addressed to the City of 
Unalaska, will be received at the following location: 

    City of Unalaska  
    Office of the City Clerk 
    P.O. Box 610 
    43 Raven Way 
    Unalaska, Alaska 99685 
    Tel. 907-581-1251 
    Fax 907-581-1417 

Sealed bids will be received until 2:00 p.m., local time on May 30, 2024 and then will be publicly 
opened and read aloud.  Any bids received after the time and date specified will not be considered. 

The work will include, but not be limited to, furnishing all labor, tools, equipment, and 
materials and performing all operations in connection with the CAPTAINS BAY ROAD 
WATERLINE.  The Work includes construction of a 16” Ductile Iron and PVC Pipe waterline 
including valves, hydrants, services, and appurtenant items.  Phase 1 extends from Westward 
Seafoods, Inc. (WSI) to Offshore Systems, Inc. (OSI), a distance of 7,097 linear feet.   

1. Project Location: Captains Bay Road, Unalaska, Alaska 99685 
2. Owner: City of Unalaska, Department of Public Utilities 

The Work will be constructed under a single prime contract.  Payment will be made for 
designated items on a unit price basis. 

Technical questions shall be directed in writing to the Engineer at the address shown below.  An 
electronic copy of the Bidding Documents may be obtained from the City of Unalaska Website 
http://www.ci.unalaska.ak.us/rfps, for no charge. 

Regan Engineering, P.C. 
PO Box 889 
Camas, WA 98607 
Tel. 360-903-5064 
Attn: Thomas Regan, P.E 
Email: tom@reganengineering.com    

Each Bid must be submitted on the prescribed form and accompanied by submittal information as 
prescribed in the Instruction to Bidders.  The successful bidder will be required to furnish the 
necessary bond(s) for the faithful performance of the Contract, as prescribed in the Bidding 
Documents. 

A prebid conference will be held on May 14, 2024 at 2:00 p.m. at the City of Unalaska Department 
of Public Works.  The prebid conference may be attended by teleconference at 1-888-204-5984, 
Access Code 2005439. 

Packet Page Number 11 



 
INVITATION TO BID 
 00030-2 

The successful Bidder shall hold such Contractors and Business Licenses as required by State 
Statutes and City of Unalaska Municipal Code Section 9.04.  The right is reserved to reject any or all 
Bids, to waive informalities or irregularities in the bidding, and to accept bids that are considered to 
be in the best interest of the City of Unalaska. 

No bidder may withdraw its bid after the time set for opening thereof, unless the award of the 
contract is delayed for a period exceeding 60 days. 

Dated this    day of    , 2024. 

CITY OF UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 

 

 

By __________________________________________   
               Scott Brown - Director of Public Works 

 

 
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 00100-1 

Section 00100  
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

1. Defined Terms. 

 Terms used in these Instructions to Bidders which are defined in the General Conditions of 
the Contract Documents have the meanings assigned to them in the General Conditions. 

 Certain additional terms used in the Bidding Documents have the meanings indicated 
below which are applicable to both the singular and plural thereof. 

 A. Bidder - one who submits a Bid directly to Owner as distinct from a subbidder, who 
submits a bid to a Bidder. 

 B. Bidding Documents - the Bidding Requirements and the proposed Contract 
Documents (including all Addenda issued prior to receipt of Bids). 

 C. Bidding Requirements - the Invitation to Bid, Instructions to Bidders, and Bid Form, 
plus additional documents that may be submitted with the Bid. 

 D. Issuing Office - the City Public Works Department, from which the Bidding 
Documents are to be issued and where the bidding procedures are to be adminis-
tered. 

 E. Low Bidder - Low Bidder will be determined on the basis of the lowest Amount for 
the total bid including Owner chosen Additive and/or Deductive Bid Items as 
described in the Bid Form.  If applicable, award of the Additive or Deductive Bid 
Items will be made to the extent that construction funds are available, in such 
order as may suit the best interest of the Owner.  The Deductive and Additive Bid 
items are not in any specific order and are not listed in order of preference.  The 
Owner reserves the right to select the low bidder on the basis of the Base Bid plus 
any combination of Additive and/or Deductive Bid items.  If the order of the bids is 
affected, the award will be made on the basis of the Base Bid plus any combination 
of the Deductive and Additive Bid items.  

 F. Successful Bidder - the lowest, qualified, responsible and responsive Bidder to 
whom the City (on the basis of the City's evaluation as hereinafter provided) makes 
an Award. 

2. Copies of Bidding Documents. 

 A. Complete sets of the Bidding Documents for the sum stated in the Invitation to Bid 
may be obtained from the Issuing Offices. 

 B. Complete sets of Bidding Documents must be used in preparing Bids; the City does 
not assume any responsibility for errors or misinterpretations resulting from the 
use of incomplete sets of Bidding Documents. 

Packet Page Number 12 



 
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 00100-2 

 C. The Drawings bound in the Contract Documents are at a scale indicated by a note 
or scale bar on the Drawings. 

 D. The City, in making copies of Bidding Documents available on the above terms, 
does so only for the purpose of obtaining Bids for the work and does not confer a 
license or grant for any other use. 

3. Qualifications of Bidders. 

 To demonstrate qualifications to perform the work, each Bidder must be prepared to 
submit within 5 days after Bid opening upon City's written request, information such as 
financial data, previous experience, present commitments, subcontractor names and 
qualifications, and other such data as may be called for below.  Each Bid must contain 
evidence of Bidder's qualification to do business in Alaska.  Bidders shall be eligible to 
obtain a business license from the City of Unalaska. 

 Nothing indicated herein should prejudice the right of Owner to seek additional pertinent 
information as provided in the General Conditions. 

4.    License Requirements 

 Contractors and subcontractors, in order to perform public work in the State of Alaska, are 
required to hold State of Alaska Contractor's licenses of the class required to perform the 
specified work. Contractors and subcontractors are also required to hold current Alaska 
Business Licenses and obtain a City of Unalaska business license in order to perform public 
work in the State of Alaska.  Contractor's license and Alaska Business License numbers shall 
be inserted in the appropriate place on the Bid form.  Evidence of subcontractor's 
compliance with the above shall be submitted to the City before starting subcontract work 
on public work contracts. 

5.    Examination of Contract Documents and Site. 

 A. It is the responsibility of each Bidder before submitting a Bid: 

  1. To examine thoroughly the Contract Documents and other related data 
identified in the Bidding Documents (including "technical data" referred to 
below); 

  2. To visit the site to become familiar with and satisfy Bidder as to the 
general, local, and site conditions that may affect cost, progress, 
performance, or furnishing of the Work; 

  3. To consider federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations that may affect 
cost, progress, performance, or furnishing of the Work; 

  4. To study and carefully correlate Bidder's knowledge and observations with 
the Contract Documents and such other related data;  

 
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 00100-3 

  5. To promptl notify the City of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities or 
discrepancies which Bidder has discovered in or between the Contract 
Documents and such other related documents; 

  6. To review applicability of the City of Unalaska sales tax to any purchases of 
materials or services related to the Work. 

 B. Information and data shown or indicated in the Contract Documents with respect 
to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the site is based upon 
information and data furnished to the City by Owners of such Underground 
Facilities or others, and the City does not assume responsibility for the accuracy or 
completeness thereof unless it is expressly provided otherwise in the 
Supplementary Conditions. 

 C. Provisions concerning responsibility for the adequacy of data furnished to 
prospective Bidders on subsurface conditions, other physical conditions and 
Underground Facilities, and possible changes in the Contract Documents due to 
differing or unanticipated conditions appear in Article 4 of the General Conditions. 

 D. Before submitting a Bid, each Bidder will be responsible to make or obtain such 
examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data concerning 
conditions (surface, subsurface, and Underground Facilities) at or contiguous to the 
site or otherwise which may affect cost, progress, performance, or furnishing of the 
Work or which relate to any aspect of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, 
or procedures of construction to be employed by Bidder and safety precautions 
and programs incident thereto or which Bidder deems necessary to determine its 
Bid for performing and furnishing the Work in accordance with the time, price, and 
other terms and conditions of the Contract Documents.  

 E. On request, the City will provide each Bidder access to the site to conduct such 
examinations, investigations, explorations, tests and studies as each Bidder deems 
necessary for submission of a Bid.  Bidder shall fill all holes and clean up and 
restore the site to its former condition upon completion of any such explorations, 
investigations, test, and studies. 

 F. The submission of a Bid will constitute an incontrovertible representation by Bidder 
that Bidder has complied with every requirement of this Article 5; that, without 
exception, the Bid is premised upon performing and furnishing the work required 
by the Contract Documents and applying the specific means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, or procedures of construction (if any) that may be shown or indicated 
or expressly required by the Contract Documents; that Bidder has given the 
Contracting Officer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, and 
discrepancies that Bidder has discovered in the Contract Documents and the 

Packet Page Number 13 



 
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 00100-4 

written resolution thereof by the City is acceptable to Bidder; and that the Contract 
Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all 
terms and conditions for performing and furnishing the Work. 

 G. The provisions of paragraph 5A through 5F above, inclusive, do not apply to 
asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), petroleum, hazardous waste, or 
radioactive material covered by the Supplementary Conditions. 

 H. Nothing contained in the Bid Documents, any and all attachments thereto, or any 
and all addenda thereto, shall be interpreted by any party as requiring or allowing 
the Contractor to do anything that is not in compliance with all applicable codes 
and regulations, that is less than general standard industry quality, or that results in 
an unsafe, unstable or dangerous condition. 

6. Availability of Lands for Work, Etc. 

 The lands upon which the work is to be performed, rights-of-way and easements for access 
thereto, and other lands designated for use by Contractor in performing the work are 
identified in the Contract Documents.  All additional lands and access thereto required for 
temporary construction facilities, construction equipment, or storage of materials and 
equipment to be incorporated in the work are to be obtained and paid for by the Successful 
Bidder.  Easements for permanent structures or for permanent changes in existing facilities 
are to be obtained and paid for by the City unless otherwise provided in the Contract 
Documents.   

7. Interpretations and Addenda. 

 A. All questions about the meaning or intent of the Bidding Documents are to be 
directed to the City of Unalaska.  Interpretations or clarifications considered 
necessary by the City in response to such questions will be issued by Addenda 
mailed or delivered to all parties recorded by the Issuing Office as having received 
the Bidding Documents.  Questions received less than 6 days prior to the date for 
opening of Bids may not be answered.  Only questions answered by formal written 
Addenda will be binding.  Oral and other interpretations or clarifications will be 
without legal effect. 

 B. Addenda may also be issued to modify the Bidding Documents as deemed 
advisable by the City. 

8. Bid Security. 

 A. Each Bid must be accompanied by Bid security made payable to Owner for 5 
percent of Bidder's Total Bid price and in the form of a certified bank check or a Bid 
Bond on form attached, issued by a Surety meeting the requirements of the 
General Conditions. 

 
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 00100-5 

 B. The Bid security of a successful bidder will be retained until such Bidder has 
executed the Agreement, furnished the required Contract security, and met the 
other conditions of the Notice of Award, whereupon the Bid security will be 
returned.  If the successful Bidder fails to execute and deliver the Agreement and 
furnish the required Contract security within 15 days after the Notice of Award, 
Owner may annul the Notice of Award and the Bid security of that Bidder will be 
forfeited.  The bid security of the Bidders whom Owner believes to have a 
reasonable chance of receiving the award may be retained by Owner until the 
earlier of the 7th day after the Effective Date of the agreement or the 60th day 
after the Bid opening, whereupon Bid security furnished by such Bidders will be 
returned.  Bid security submitted with bids which are not competitive will be 
returned within 15 days after the Bid opening. 

9. Contract Times. 

 The number of days within which, or the dates by which, the work is to be completed and 
ready for final payment (the Contract Times as defined in Article 1 of the General 
Conditions) are set forth in the Agreement (or incorporated therein by reference to the 
attached Bid Form). 

10. Liquidated Damages. 

 Provisions for liquidated damages, if any, are set forth in the Agreement. 

11.   Bid Form. 

 A. The Bid Form is included with the Bidding Documents. 

 B. All blanks on the Bid Form must be completed by printing in black ink or by 
typewriter. 

 C. Bids by corporations must be executed in the corporate name by the president or a 
vice-president (or other corporate officer accompanied by evidence of authority to 
sign) and the corporate seal must be affixed and attested by the secretary or an 
assistant secretary.  The corporate address and state of incorporation must be 
shown below the signature. 

 D. Bids by partnerships must be executed in the partnership name and signed by a 
partner, whose title must appear under the signature and the official address of the 
partnership must be shown below the signature. 

 E. All names must be typed or printed in black ink below the signature. 

 F. The Bid shall contain an acknowledgment of receipt of all Addenda (the numbers of 
which must be filled in on the Bid Form). 

Packet Page Number 14 



 
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 00100-6 

 G. The address, telephone, email address, and FAX number for communications 
regarding the Bid must be shown. 

 H. See Article 4 above, for required evidence of authority to conduct business as an 
out-of-state corporation in Alaska.  State Contractor license number, if any, must 
also be shown. 

12. Submission of Bids. 

 A. Bids shall be submitted not later than the time prescribed, at the place, and in the 
manner set forth in the Invitation to Bid and shall be enclosed in an opaque sealed 
envelope, marked with the project title (and, if applicable, the designated portion 
of the project for which the Bid is submitted) and name and address of Bidder and 
accompanied by the other required documents.  If the Bid is sent through the mail 
or other delivery system, the sealed envelope shall be enclosed in a separate 
envelope with the notation "BID ENCLOSED" on the face of it. 

 B. Only one Bid from any individual, firm, partnership, or corporation, under the same 
or different names, will be considered.  Should it appear to the City that any Bidder 
is interested in more than one Bid for work contemplated, all Bids in which such 
Bidder is interested will be rejected. 

 C. Attachments. 

  Bidder shall complete and submit the following forms with its Bid: 

 Bid Form 
 Addenda Acknowledgment    
 Bid Bond (5% of Bid) 
 Alaska Business and Contractor's License  

13. Modifications and Withdrawal of Bids. 

 A. Prior to the time and date designated for receipt of Bids, any Bid submitted may be 
withdrawn by notice to the party receiving Bids at the place designated for receipt 
of Bids.  Such notice shall be in writing over the signature of the Bidder or by 
facsimile.  If by facsimile, the modification received shall be over the signature of 
the Bidder and shall be received before the date and time set for receipt of Bids.  
Facsimile messages shall be worded as to not reveal the amount of the original or 
modified Bid.  Facsimile telephone number is: 

 City of Unalaska (907) 581-1417    

  Bid modifications must be sent to the office to which the original proposal is 
delivered or sent. 

 
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 00100-7 

 B. If, within 24 hours after Bids are opened, any Bidder files a duly signed, written 
notice with the City and promptly thereafter demonstrates to the reasonable 
satisfaction of the City that there was a material and substantial mistake in the 
preparation of its Bid, that Bidder may withdraw its Bid.  Thereafter, that Bidder 
will be disqualified from further consideration on the Work to be provided under 
the Contract Documents. 

14. Opening of Bids. 

 Bids will be opened and read aloud publicly at the place where Bids are to be submitted. 

15. Bids to Remain Subject to Acceptance. 

 All Bids will remain subject to acceptance for 60 days after the day of the Bid opening, but 
the City may, in its sole discretion, release any Bid and return the Bid security prior to that 
date. 

16. Award of Contract. 

 A. The City reserves the right to reject any or all Bids, including without limitation the 
rights to reject any or all nonconforming, non responsive, unbalanced or 
conditional Bids, and to reject the Bid of any Bidder if the City believes that it would 
not be in the best interest of the Project to make an award to that Bidder, whether 
because the Bid is not responsive or the Bidder is unqualified or of doubtful 
financial ability or fails to meet any other pertinent standard or criteria established 
by Owner.  The City also reserves the right to waive all informalities not involving 
price, time, or changes in the Work and to negotiate Contract terms with the 
successful Bidder.  Discrepancies in the multiplication of units of work and unit 
prices will be resolved in favor of the unit prices.  Discrepancies between the 
indicated sum of any column of figures and the correct sum thereof will be resolved 
in favor of the correct sum.  Discrepancies between words and figures will be 
resolved in favor of the words. 

 B. In evaluating Bids, the City will consider the qualifications of Bidders, whether or 
not the Bids comply with the prescribed requirements, and such alternates, unit 
prices, and other data, as may be requested in the Bid Form or prior to the Notice 
of Award. 

 C. The City may consider the qualifications and experience of subcontractors, 
suppliers, and other persons and organizations proposed for those portions of the 
Work as to which the identity of subcontractors, suppliers, and other persons and 
organizations must be submitted as provided in the Supplementary Conditions.  
The City also may consider the operating costs, maintenance requirements, 
performance data, and guarantees of major items of materials and equipment 

Packet Page Number 15 



 
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 00100-8 

proposed for incorporation in the Work when such data are required to be 
submitted prior to the Notice of Award. 

 D. The City may conduct such investigations as the City deems necessary to assist in 
the evaluation of any Bid and to establish the responsibility, qualifications, and 
financial ability of Bidders, proposed subcontractors, suppliers, and other persons 
and organizations to execute the work in accordance with the Contract Documents 
to the City's satisfaction within the prescribed time. 

 E. If, at the time this Contract is to be awarded, the total of the lowest acceptable Bid 
exceeds the funds then estimated by the City as available, the City may reject all 
Bids or take such other action as best serves the City's interests.  

F. If the Contract is to be awarded, it will be awarded to lowest responsive, 
responsible Bidder as stated in Section 00100 Instructions To Bidders, whose 
evaluation by the City indicates to the City that the award will be in the best 
interests of the Project. 

 G. In the event of failure of the lowest responsive, responsible Bidder to sign the 
Contract and provide an acceptable Performance Bond, Payment Bond, and 
insurance certificate(s), the Owner may award the Contract to the next lowest 
responsive, responsible Bidder.  Such award, if made, will be made within 60 days 
after the opening of Proposals. 

 H. An Additive or Deductive Bid Item is an amount proposed by Bidders and stated on 
the Bid Form for certain construction activities defined in the Bidding Requirements 
that may be added to or deducted from the Base Bid amount if the Owner decides 
to accept a corresponding change in either the amount of construction to be 
completed, or in the products, materials, equipment, systems or installation 
methods described in the Contract Documents. 

I. Award of the Additive or Deductive Bid Items will be made to the extent that 
construction funds are available, in such order as may suit the best interest of the 
Owner.  The Deductive and Additive Bid items are not in any specific order and are 
not listed in order of preference.  The Owner reserves the right to select the Base 
Bid plus any combination of Additive and/or Deductive Bid items.  If the order of 
the bids is affected, the award will be made on the basis of the Base Bid plus any 
combination of Additive or Deductive Bid items that the Owner selects at their 
option. 

17. Contract Security. 

 Article 5 of the General Conditions sets forth Owner's requirements as to Performance and 
Payment Bonds.  When the successful Bidder delivers the executed Agreement to Owner, it 
must be accompanied by the required Performance and Payment Bonds. 

 
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
 00100-9 

 

18. Signing of Agreement. 

 When the City gives a Notice of Award to the successful Bidder, it will be accompanied by 
the required number of unsigned counterparts of the Agreement, with all other written 
Contract Documents attached.  Within 10 days thereafter, contractor shall sign and deliver 
the required number of counterparts of the Agreement and attached documents to the City 
with the required Bonds.  Within 10 days thereafter, the City shall deliver one fully signed 
counterpart to Contractor. 

19. State Required Wage Rates.   

Contractor shall comply with all applicable State labor regulations, including State of Alaska 
Title 36, Public Contracts, otherwise known as the Little Davis-Bacon Act, and all labor 
regulations and minimum rates of pay contained therein. 

State Wage Rates can be obtained at http://labor.alaska.gov/lss/pamp600.htm. Use the 
state wage rates that are in effect 10 days before Bid Opening. 

NOTE TO BIDDER:  Use BLACK ink or typewriter for completing this Bid Form. 

Packet Page Number 16 



 

BID FORM 
 00300-1 

 

Section 00300 
BID FORM 

To:                       City of Unalaska, Department of Public Works 

Address:                  P.O. Box 610, Unalaska, Alaska  99685 

Project Identification:  City of Unalaska CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 

DEFINITIONS 

The terms used in this Bid which are defined in the General Conditions and Instructions to Bidders 
included as part of the Contract Documents are used with the same meaning in this Bid. 

BIDDERS DECLARATION AND UNDERSTANDING 

This Bid is genuine and not made in the interest of or on behalf of any undisclosed person, firm, or 
corporation and is not submitted in conformity with any agreement or rules of any group, 
association, organization, or corporation; Bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited 
any other Bidder to submit a false or sham Bid; Bidder has not solicited or induced any person, 
firm, or corporation to refrain from bidding; and Bidder has not sought by collusion to obtain for 
itself any advantage over any other Bidder or over the City. 

In submitting this Bid, Bidder represents, as more fully set forth in the Agreement, that Bidder has 
examined copies of all the Bidding Documents.   

Bidder has familiarized itself with the nature and extent of the Contract Documents, work, site, 
locality, general nature of work to be performed by Owner or others at the site that relates to 
work for which this Bid is submitted as indicated in the Contract Documents, and all local 
conditions and all federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations that in any manner may affect 
cost, progress, performance, or furnishing of the work. 

Bidder has reviewed and checked all information and data shown or indicated in the Contract 
Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the site and 
assumes responsibility for the accurate location of said Underground Facilities.  No additional 
examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, reports, or similar information or data in respect 
of said Underground Facilities are or will be required by Bidder in order to perform and furnish the 
work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Time, and in accordance with the other terms and 
conditions of the Contract Documents, including specifically the provisions of paragraph 4.3 of the 
General Conditions. 

Bidder has correlated information known to Bidder and the results of all such observations, 
examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, and studies with the Contract Documents. 

Bidder has given the City written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities or discrepancies that it 
has discovered in the Contract Documents and the written resolution thereof by the City is 
acceptable to Bidder, and the Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey 
understanding of all terms and conditions for performing and furnishing the work for which this 
Bid is submitted. 

 

 

BID FORM 
 00300-2 

CONTRACT EXECUTION AND BONDS 

The undersigned Bidder proposes and agrees, if this Bid is accepted, to enter into an agreement 
with the City in the form included in the Contract Documents to perform and furnish all work as 
specified or indicated in the Contract Documents for the Contract price and within the Contract 
Time indicated in this Bid and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents.  

Bidder accepts all of the terms and conditions of the Invitation to Bid and Instructions to Bidders, 
including without limitation those dealing with the disposition of Bid security.  This Bid will remain 
subject to acceptance for 60 days after the day of Bid opening.  Bidder will sign and deliver the 
required number of counterparts of the Agreement with the Bonds and City of Unalaska business 
license and other documents required by the Bidding Requirements within 10 days after the date 
of Owner's Notice of Award. 

CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE 

Bidder agrees to furnish the City, before commencing any Physical Work related to this Contract 
and as required elsewhere, the certificates of insurance as specified in these Documents. 

Bidder further agrees that the amount stated herein includes specific consideration for the 
insurance coverages, including contractual liability, specified in the Contract Documents. 

CONTRACT COMPLETION TIME 

Bidder agrees that the work will be completed and ready for final payment in accordance with the 
number of calendar days or completion date indicated in the Agreement. 

LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

Bidder accepts the provisions of the Agreement as to liquidated damages in the event of failure to 
complete the work within the times specified in the Agreement. 

ADDENDA 

The Bidder hereby acknowledges that it has received Addenda No's ________, ________, 
________, ________, ________, ________ (Bidder shall insert No. of each Addendum received) 
and agrees that all addenda issued are hereby made part of the Contract Documents, and the 
Bidder further agrees that its Bid(s) includes all impacts resulting from said addenda. 

SALES AND USE TAXES 

The Bidder agrees that all sales and use taxes are included in the stated bid prices for the work, 
unless provision is made herein for the Bidder to separately itemize the estimated amount of sales 
tax.  

SUBCONTRACTORS 

The Bidder further agrees that if the bid is the apparent low bid, he shall submit, within 5 days 
after the bid opening, a listing of subcontracting firms or businesses that will be awarded 
subcontracts for work in excess of $5,000 and a copy of the City of Unalaska business license for 
the Contractor and each Subcontractor. 

 

 

Packet Page Number 17 



 

BID FORM 
 00300-3 

BID TABULATION AND SUMMARY 

The Bidder further proposes to accept, as full payment for work proposed herein, the amount 
computed under provisions of the Contract Documents and based on the following Bid amounts, it 
being expressly understood that the unit quantities of work shown on the plans is independent of 
the exact quantities involved.  The Bidder agrees that the bid amount represent(s) a true measure 
of the labor and materials required to furnish, install, or provide the item of Work, including all 
allowances for overhead and profit.  The amount shall be shown in both words and figures.  In 
case of a discrepancy, the amount shown in words shall govern. 

Bidder agrees to perform all of the work described in the Documents including the specifications, 
special provisions, and as generally shown on the plans for the prices stated in the Bid Schedules.  
Bidder understands that the Owner reserves the right to reject any or all bids and to waive any 
informalities in the bidding.  Bidder understands that the Owner reserves the right to pick and 
choose what bid items will be constructed as part of this work, recognizing that Mobilization and 
Demobilization will be common to the remaining items of Work. 

 

BID FORM 
 00300-4 

City of Unalaska 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 

BONDING 

If the Bidder is awarded a construction Contract on this Proposal, the surety who provides the 
Performance Bond and Payment Bond will be        
      whose address is      
   ,       , 
  Street           City 

     . 
State     Zip 

 

 

BIDDER 

An Individual 

By 

           (SEAL) 
 (Individual's name) 

doing business as 

             

Business 

address:            

             

Phone No.:            

Fax No.:            

Email address:            

 

 

 

Packet Page Number 18 



 

BID FORM 
 00300-5 

A Partnership 

 

By           (SEAL) 
 (Firm name) 

 

             
 (general partner) 

Business address:           

             

Phone No.:            

Fax No.:            

Email address:            

 

 

A Corporation 

By             
 (Corporation name) 

             
 (state of incorporation) 

By              
 (name of person authorized to sign) 

             
      (Title) 

 

(Corporate Seal) 

 

Attest             
 (Secretary) 

Business address:           

             

Phone No.:            

Fax No.:            

 

Email address:            

 

 

BID FORM 
 00300-6 

A Joint Venture 

 

By             
 (Name) 

             
 (Address) 

By             
 (Name) 

             
 (Address) 

Phone Number and Address for receipt of official communications   

Business address:           

             

Phone No.:            

Fax No.:            

Email address:            

(Each joint venturer must sign.  The manner of signing for each individual, partnership, and 
corporation that is a party to the joint venture should be in the manner indicated above.) 

 

SUBMITTED on ______________________________, 20___. 

Packet Page Number 19 



BID PROPOSAL
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE

Phase 1 - WSI to OSI (BASE BID)

Item
No. Unit Est.

Qty
Description 

(Write Unit Bid Price in Words)
Unit 
Price

Total
Price

1 Lump 
Sum 1

Mobilization and Demobilization
                                                                                                 .
                                                                        per lump sum 

2 Lump 
Sum 1

Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (Type 3)
                                                                                                 .
                                                                        per lump sum 

3 Lump 
Sum 1

Construction Survey
                                                                                                 .
                                                                        per lump sum 

4 Ton 8,192
Furnish and Install Bedding Material (Class B)
                                                                                                 .
                                                                                     per ton 

5 Ton 5,213
Furnish and Install Surfacing Material
                                                                                                 .
                                                                                     per ton 

6 Linear 
Foot 6,784

Furnish and Install (16" DR18 PVC) Pipe
                                                                                                 .
                                                                        per linear foot 

7 Linear 
Foot 313

Furnish and Install (16" Cl 52 Ductile Iron) Pipe
                                                                                                 .
                                                                        per linear foot 

8 Linear 
Foot 50

Furnish and Install (8" Cl 52 Ductile Iron) Pipe
                                                                                                 .
                                                                        per linear foot 

9 Each 3
Connect to Existing Pipe (16" DIP)
                                                                                                 .
                                                                                  per each

10 Each 2
Furnish and Install (8") Gate Valve
                                                                                                 .
                                                                                  per each

11 Each 7
Furnish and Install (16") Butterfly Valve
                                                                                                 .
                                                                                  per each

12 Each 1
Furnish and Install Valve Box
                                                                                                 .
                                                                                  per each

13 Each 1
Remove and Replace Valve Box
                                                                                                 .
                                                                                  per each

14 Each 3
Furnish and Install Fire Hydrant (Single Pumper)
                                                                                                 .
                                                                                  per each

15 Each 6
Furnish and Install Fire Hydrant (Double Pumper)
                                                                                                 .
                                                                                  per each

16 Each 0
Furnish and Install (1") Water Service Line
                                                                                                 .
                                                                                  per each

BID FORM
00300-7

BID PROPOSAL
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE

Phase 1 - WSI to OSI

Item
No. Unit Est.

Qty
Description 

(Write Unit Bid Price in Words)
Unit 
Price

Total
Price

17 Each 1
Furnish and Install (2") Water Service Line
                                                                                                 .
                                                                                  per each

18 Each 41
Furnish and Install Anode
                                                                                                 .
                                                                                  per each

19 Each 5
Furnish and Install Air/Vac Relief Vault
                                                                                                 .
                                                                                  per each

20 Linear 
Foot 862

Furnish and Install Board Insulation
                                                                                                 .
                                                                        per linear foot 

21 Lump 
Sum 1

Construct 16" Blow-Off
                                                                                                 .
                                                                         per lump sum

22 Lump 
Sum 1

Construct Bridge Crossing
                                                                                                 .
                                                                         per lump sum

23 Lump 
Sum 1

Traffic Control
                                                                                                 .
                                                                        per lump sum 

Bidding Company:                                                                                                                                                                               

Name (Printed):                                                                                                                                                                                   

Signature and Date:                                                                                                                                                                            

Contractor's Lic No; Business Lic No:                                                                                                                                               

Corporate Seal (If Corporation):                                                                                                                                                       

The undersigned represents (check appropriate boxes) that he/she operates as an (   ) Individual, (   ) Joint 
Venture, (   ) Partnership, or (   ) Corporation, Incorporated in the State of                                                    .

BIDDER:                                                                                                                                                                                                 

TOTAL PHASE 1

TOTAL PHASE 1(Numerical)                                                                                                                                                            .

TOTAL PHASE 1(Written Text)                                                                                                                                                       .

BID AUTHORIZATION

BID FORM
00300-8 4/10/202411:41 AM

Packet Page Number 20 



 

BID FORM 
 00300-9 

 

BID BOND 

 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS:  that 

 

  

(Name of Contractor) 

 

  

(Address of Contractor) 

as Principal, hereinafter called Principal, and 

 

  

(Name of Surety) 

 

  

(Address of Surety) 

a corporation duly organized under the laws of the State of Alaska as Surety, hereinafter called Surety, 
are held and firmly bound unto 

 

City of Unalaska  

(Name of Owner) 

PO Box 610, Unalaska, Alaska 99685  

(Address of Owner) 

as Obligee, hereinafter called Obligee, in the sum of       
 Dollars, ($    ) for the payment of which sum well and truly to be 
made, the said Principal and the said Surety, bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, 
successors and assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. 

 

WHEREAS, the Principal has submitted a bid for the City of Unalaska CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE, 
located in Unalaska, Alaska. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, if the Obligee shall accept the bid of the Principal and the Principal shall enter into a 
Contract with the Obligee in accordance with the terms of such bid, and give such bond or bonds as may 
be specified in the bidding or Contract Documents with good and sufficient surety for the faithful 

 

BID FORM 
 00300-10 

performance of such Contract and for the prompt payment of labor and material furnished in the 
prosecution thereof, or in the event of the failure of the Principal to enter such Contract and give such 
bond or bonds, if the Principal shall pay to the Obligee the difference not to exceed the penalty hereof 
between the amount specified in said bid and such larger amount for which the Obligee may in good 
faith contract with another party to perform the Work covered by said bid, then this obligation shall be 
null and void, otherwise to remain in full force and effect. 

 

Signed and Sealed this    day of     2024 

 

   

 (Principal) Seal 

  

 (Witness)  

     

 (Title) Seal 

 

 

   

  (Surety) Seal 

  

 (Witness)  

    

                   (Title)  Seal 

Packet Page Number 21 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Part 2 

CONTRACT FORMS 

 

 

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 00500-1 
 

Section 00500 
STANDARD FORM OF AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE OWNER AND CONTRACTOR 

THIS AGREEMENT is dated as of the    day of         in the year 2024, by and 
between the City of Unalaska (hereinafter called OWNER) and         
       (hereinafter called CONTRACTOR). 

OWNER and CONTRACTOR, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, agree as 
follows: 

Article 1.  WORK 

CONTRACTOR shall complete all work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents.  The work is 
generally described as follows: 

The work will include, but not be limited to, furnishing all labor, tools, equipment, and materials and 
performing all operations in connection with the CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE.  The Work includes 
construction of a 16” Ductile Iron and PVC Pipe waterline including valves, hydrants, services, and 
appurtenant items.  Phase 1 extends from Westward Seafoods, Inc. (WSI) to Offshore Systems, Inc. 
(OSI), a distance of 7,097 linear feet.   

1. Project Location: Captains Bay Road, Unalaska, Alaska 99685 
2. Owner: City of Unalaska, Department of Public Utilities 

The Work will be constructed under a single prime contract.  Payment will be made for designated 
items on a unit price basis. 

The Contract Documents which comprise the entire agreement between OWNER and CONTRACTOR 
concerning the WORK consists of the following: 

 Construction Drawings (Plan Sheets) 
 Technical Specifications 
 Agreement  
 State of Alaska Title 36 Wage Rate Requirements  
 Instructions to Bidders  
 Bid Forms  
 Performance Bond  
 Payment Bond  
 General Conditions 
 Supplementary Conditions 

Packet Page Number 22 



 

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 00500-2 
 

 ADEC Permit 
 Addenda numbers    to   , inclusive. 
 Change Orders which may be delivered or issued after Effective Date of the Agreement and not 

attached hereto. 
 Property Plats 
 Geotechnical Report (Draft), HDL Engineering Consultants, September 2018 

 

Article 2.  CONTRACT TIME 

2.1 The CONTRACTOR is allowed 210-days for this work. Once field construction starts, all work shall be 
completed within 120-days from the start date.   

2.2 Liquidated Damages.  The OWNER and CONTRACTOR recognize that time is of the essence of this 
Agreement and that the OWNER will suffer financial loss if the work is not completed within the 
times specified above, plus any extensions thereof allowed in accordance with Article 11 of the 
General Conditions.   These losses include inconvenience to the City, administration and inspection 
costs, loss of efficiency and general inconvenience to the public.  They also recognize the delays, ex-
pense, and difficulties involved in proving in a legal or arbitration proceeding the actual loss 
suffered by the OWNER if the work is not completed on time.  Accordingly, instead of requiring any 
such proof, the OWNER and CONTRACTOR agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a 
penalty) CONTRACTOR shall pay the OWNER One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) for each day that 
expires after the time specified above for Final Completion and readiness for final payment.   

Article 3.  CONTRACT PRICE 

3.1 The OWNER shall pay CONTRACTOR for completion of the work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents an amount equal to sum of the established unit prices for each separately identified 
item of unit price work multiplied by the measured quantity of actual items installed plus the sum 
of the lump sum prices for each separately identified and selected bid item (herein referred to as 
the "Contract Sum").  The Contract sum is based upon the Bid Items which are set forth in the 
Contract Documents and which are hereby accepted by the OWNER.   

Article 4.  PAYMENT PROCEDURES 

CONTRACTOR shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 13 of the General 
Conditions.  Applications for Payment will be processed by the OWNER as provided in the General 
Conditions. 

4.1. Progress Payments.  The OWNER shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price on 
the basis of CONTRACTOR's Applications for Payment on or about a day of the month mutually 
agreeable to the OWNER and CONTRACTOR as agreed to at the preconstruction conference.  All 
progress payments will be on the basis of the progress of the work measured by the actual installed 
quantity of items, plus allowances for stockpiled materials. 

 4.1.1.  Prior to Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in an amount equal to the 
percentage indicated below, but, in each case, less the aggregate of payments previously made and 

 

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 00500-3 
 

less such amounts as the OWNER shall determine, or the OWNER may withhold, in accordance with 
Article 13 (paragraph 13.8) of the General Conditions and the Supplemental Conditions. 

  a. Ninety percent of work completed. 

  b. Once 50 percent of the work is complete as determined by the OWNER, and if the 
character and progress of the work have been satisfactory to the OWNER, the 
OWNER, may determine that, as long as the character and progress of the work 
remain satisfactory to them, there will be no additional retainage on account of 
work completed; in which case, the remaining progress payments prior to -
Substantial Completion will be in an amount equal to 100 percent of the work 
completed. 

 4.1.2.  Upon Substantial Completion, in an amount sufficient to increase total payments to 
CONTRACTOR to 95 percent of the Contract Price, less such amounts as the OWNER shall 
determine, or the OWNER may withhold, in accordance with Article 13 of the General Conditions. 

4.2. Final Payment.  Upon final completion and acceptance of the work in accordance with the General 
Conditions; Affidavit of Payment of Debts and Claims; Affidavit of Release of Liens; and Receipt of 
Consent of Surety Company to Final Payment, the OWNER shall pay the remainder of the Contract 
Price as provided in said Article 13. 

 4.2.1 Deductions.  The City may deduct from the amount of any payment made to Contractor any 
sums owed to City by Contractor including, but not limited to, past due sales tax, port and harbor 
fees, property tax, or rent.  Before making any such deduction the City shall have provided 
Contractor written notice of the amount claimed by City to be due and owing from Contractor. 

Article 5.  INTEREST ON RETAINAGE 

All retainage shall bear interest at the rate required by AS 36.90.250, if applicable. 

Article 6.  CONTRACTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS 

In order to induce the OWNER to enter into this agreement, CONTRACTOR makes the following 
representations: 

6.1. CONTRACTOR has familiarized itself with the nature and extent of the Contract Documents, work, 
site, locality, and all local conditions and Laws and Regulations that in any manner may affect cost, 
progress, performance, or furnishing of the work. 

6.2. CONTRACTOR has obtained and carefully studied (or assumes responsibility for obtaining and 
carefully studying) all such examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, reports, and studies 
which pertain to the subsurface or physical conditions at or contiguous to the site or which 
otherwise may affect the cost, progress, performance, or furnishing of the work as CONTRACTOR 
considers necessary for the performance or furnishing of the work at the Contract Price, within the 
Contract Time, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract Documents, 
including specifically the provisions of paragraph 4.2 of the General Conditions; and no additional 
examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, reports, studies, or similar information or data are 
or will be required by CONTRACTOR for such purposes. 

Packet Page Number 23 



 

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 00500-4 
 

 

6.3. CONTRACTOR has reviewed and checked all information and data shown or indicated on the 
Contract Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the site and 
assumes responsibility for the accurate location of said Underground Facilities.  No additional 
examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, reports, studies, or similar information or data in 
respect of said Underground Facilities are or will be required by CONTRACTOR in order to perform 
and furnish the work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Time, and in accordance with the 
other terms and conditions of the Contract Documents, including specifically the provisions of para-
graph 4.4 of the General Conditions. 

6.4. CONTRACTOR has correlated the results of all such observations, examinations, investigations, 
explorations, tests, reports, and studies with the terms and conditions of the Contract Documents. 

6.5. CONTRACTOR has given the OWNER written notice of all conflicts, errors, or discrepancies that it 
has discovered in the Contract Documents and the written resolution thereof by the OWNER is 
acceptable to CONTRACTOR. 

Article 7.  MISCELLANEOUS 

7.1. Terms used in this Agreement which are defined in Article 1 of the General Conditions will have the 
meanings indicated in the General Conditions. 

7.2. The CONTRACTOR shall submit the Performance Bond, Labor and Material Payment Bonds, and 
Certification of Insurance and City of Unalaska business licenses and all Subcontractor City of 
Unalaska business licenses as required by the Contract Documents, prior to commencement of the 
Work.  The Performance and Material Payment Bonds shall be in the amount of 100% of the 
contract bid price.  Contractor shall comply with all applicable State labor regulations, including 
State of Alaska Title 36, Public Contracts, otherwise known as the Little Davis-Bacon Act, and all 
labor regulations and minimum rates of pay contained therein. 

7.3. No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract Documents will be 
binding on another party hereto without the written consent of the party sought to be bound; and 
specifically but without limitation monies that may become due and monies that are due may not 
be assigned without such consent (except to the extent that the effect of this restriction may be 
limited by law), and unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an 
assignment no assignment will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility 
under the Contract Documents. 

7.4. OWNER and CONTRACTOR each binds itself, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal 
representatives to the other party hereto, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal 
representatives in respect of all covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract 
Documents. 

7.5        Until Contractor receives notice from the City that project records need not be preserved, 
Contractor shall preserve, all non-identical copies of all documents, records, or other information 
(including documents, records, or other information in electronic form) in its or its subcontractors' 

 

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 00500-5 
 

or agents' possession or control, or that come into its or its subcontractors' or agents' possession or 
control that relate to the Work. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The OWNER and CONTRACTOR have signed all counterparts of this Agreement.  All 
portions of the Contract Documents have been signed or identified by the OWNER and CONTRACTOR. 

 

This Agreement will be effective on     , 2024. 

 

CONTRACTOR 

 

By:__________________________________ 

 

 _______________, Its ___________  

 

State of Alaska  ) 

                                     ) ss.   

Third Judicial District )   

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before 
me on the ____ day of ___________, 2024, by 
___________________________                              , the 
______________________________                   of  

_________________                                                     , a 
_______ Corporation, on behalf of the corporation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Notary Public, State of Alaska 

My Commission Expires _______________ 

CITY OF UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 

By:________________________________ 

 William Homka, City Manager 

 

State of Alaska  ) 

                                    ) ss. 

Third Judicial District ) 

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before 
me on the ____      day of ___________ , 2024        , by 
William Homka, City Manager for the City of Unalaska, 
a First Class Alaska Municipal Corporation, on behalf 
of the City of Unalaska. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________________________  

Notary Public, State of Alaska 

My Commission Expires ______________ 

Packet Page Number 24 



 

 
PERFORMANCE BOND 00610-1 
 
 

 

Section 00610 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS:  that 

  
(Name of Contractor) 

  
(Address of Contractor) 

as Principal, hereinafter called Principal, and 

  
(Name of Surety) 

  
(Address of Surety) 

 as Surety, hereinafter called Surety, are held and firmly bound unto 

City of Unalaska 
(Name of Owner) 

PO Box 610, Unalaska, Alaska 99685 
(Address of Owner) 

as Obligee, hereinafter called Obligee, in the sum of        

        Dollars, ($    ) for the 
payment of which sum well and truly to be made, the said Principal and the said Surety, bind ourselves, our 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has a written agreement dated    day of     20  , 
entered into a Contract with Owner for the 

City of Unalaska 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 

in accordance with the Specifications prepared by Regan Engineering, P.C., which Contract is by reference 
made a part hereof, and is hereinafter referred to as the Contract. 

NOW THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION is such that, if Contractor shall promptly and 
faithfully perform said Contract, then this obligation shall be null and void; otherwise it shall remain in full 
force and effect. 

The Surety hereby waives notice of any alteration or extension of time made by the Owner. 

Whenever Contractor shall be, and declared by Owner to be in default under the Contract, the Owner 
having performed Owner's obligations thereunder, the Surety may promptly remedy the default, or shall 
promptly 

 

 
PERFORMANCE BOND 00610-2 
 
 

 

1)  Complete the Contract in accordance with its terms and conditions, or 

2)  Obtain a bid or bids for completing the Contract in accordance with its terms and conditions, and upon 
determination by Surety of the lowest responsible bidder, or, if the Owner elects, upon determination by 
the Owner and the Surety jointly of the lowest responsible bidder, arrange for a contract between such 
bidder and Owner, and make available as the Work progresses (even though there should be a default or a 
succession of defaults under the contract or contracts completion arranged under this paragraph) sufficient 
funds to pay the cost of completion less the balance of the contract price; but not exceeding, including 
other costs and damages for which the Surety may be liable hereunder, the amount set forth in the first 
paragraph hereof.  The term "balance of the Contract price", as used in this paragraph, shall mean the total 
amount payable by Owner to the Contractor under the Contract and any amendments thereto, less the 
amount properly paid by Owner to Contractor. 

Any suit under this bond must be instituted before the expiration of six (6) years from the date on which 
final payment under the Contract falls due. 

No right of action shall accrue on this bond to or for the use of any person or corporation other than the 
Owner named herein or the heirs, executors, administrators, or successors of the Owner. 

 

Signed and Sealed this    day of     2024. 

 

   
  (Principal) Seal  

 
  
 (Witness)  

 

   
  (Title) Seal  

 

   
  (Surety) Seal  

 

  
 (Witness)      

 

   
  (Title) Seal  

Packet Page Number 25 



 

PAYMENT BOND 
00620-1 

Section 00620 
PAYMENT BOND 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, 

That  as Contractor, and 

  as Surety, are held and firmly bound unto 

City of Unalaska hereinafter called “OWNER”, in the sum of _________________ dollars, for the 

payment of which sum, well and truly made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors, and assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. 

WHEREAS, said CONTRACTOR has been awarded and is about to enter into the annexed Agreement 
with said OWNER to perform the WORK as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents 
entitled  

City of Unalaska 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 

NOW THEREFORE, if said CONTRACTOR, or subcontractor, fails to pay for any materials, equipment, 
or other supplies, or for rental of same, used in connection with the performance of work 
contracted to be done, or for amounts due under applicable State law for any work or labor 
thereon, said Surety will pay for the same in an amount not exceeding the sum specified above, 
and, in the event suit is brought upon this bond, a reasonable attorney’s fee to be fixed by the 
court.  This bond shall inure to the benefit of any persons, companies, or corporations entitled to 
file claims under applicable State law. 

PROVIDED, that any alterations in the WORK to be done or the materials to be furnished, or 
changes in the time of completion, which may be made pursuant to the terms of said Contract 
Documents, shall not in any way release said CONTRACTOR or said surety thereunder, nor shall any 
extensions of time granted under the provisions of said Contract Documents release either said 
CONTRACTOR or said Surety thereunder, nor shall any extensions of time granted under the 
provisions of said Contract Documents release either said CONTRACTOR or said Surety, and notice 
of such alterations or extensions of the Agreement is hereby waived by said Surety. 

SIGNED AND SEALED, this   day of   , 2024.___ 

               (SEAL) 

    

                (CONTRACTOR)                                       (Surety) 

By:   By:   

                    (Signature)                                    (Signature) 

 

(SEAL AND NOTARIAL ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF SURETY

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Part 3 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 

Packet Page Number 26 



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 1 of  45 

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS 
 

ARTICLE 2 -AUTHORITIES AND LIMITATIONS 
 
2.1 Authorities and Limitations 
2.2 Evaluations by Contracting Officer 
2.3 Means and Methods 
2.4 Visits to Site 
 

ARTICLE 3 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS:  
INTENT, AMENDING, REUSE 

 
3.1   Incomplete Contract Documents 
3.2   Copies of Contract Documents 
3.3   Scope of Work 
3.4   Intent of Contract Documents 
3.5 Discrepancy in Contract Documents 
3.6  Clarifications and Interpretations 
3.7   Reuse of Documents 
 

ARTICLE 4 -  LANDS AND PHYSICAL CONDI-
TIONS 

 
4.1   Availability of Lands 
4.2   Visit to Site 
4.3   Explorations and Reports 
4.4   Utilities 
4.5   Damaged Utilities 
4.6   Utilities Not Shown or Indicated 
4.7   Survey Control 
 

ARTICLE 5 -  BONDS AND INSURANCE 
AND INDEMNIFICATION 

 
5.1   Delivery of Bonds 
5.2   Bonds 
5.3   Replacement of Bond and Surety 
5.4   Insurance Requirements 
5.5   Indemnification 
 

ARTICLE 6 - CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILI-
TIES 

 
6.1   Supervision of Work 
6.2   Superintendence by CONTRACTOR 
6.3   Character of Workers 
6.4   CONTRACTOR to Furnish 
6.5   Materials and Equipment 
6.6   Anticipated Schedules 
6.7   Finalizing Schedules 
6.8   Adjusting Schedules 
6.9   Substitutes of "Or-Equal" Items 
6.10  Substitute Means and Methods 
6.11  Evaluation of Substitution 
6.12  Dividing the Work 
6.13  Subcontractors 
6.14  Use of Premises 
6.15  Structural Loading 

6.16  Record Documents 
6.17  Safety and Protection 
6.18  Safety Representative 
6.19  Emergencies 
6.20  Shop Drawings and Samples 
6.21  Shop Drawings and Sample Review 
6.22  Maintenance During Construction 
6.23  Continuing the Work 
6.24  Consent to Assignment 
6.25  Use of Explosives 
6.26  CONTRACTOR's Records 
 

ARTICLE 7 - LAWS AND REGULATIONS 
 
7.1   Laws to be Observed 
7.2   Permits, Licenses, and Taxes 
7.3   Patented Devices, Materials and Processes 
7.4   Compliance of Specifications and Drawings 
7.5   Accident Prevention 
7.6   Sanitary Provisions 
7.7   Business Registration 
7.8   Professional Registration and Certification 
7.9   Local Building Codes 
7.10  Air Quality Control 
7.11  Archaeological or Paleontological Discoveries 
7.12  Alaska Forest Products 
7.13  Preferential Employment 
7.14  Wages and Hours of Labor 
7.15  Overtime Work Hours and Compensation 
7.16  Covenant Against Contingent Fees 
7.17  Officials Not to Benefit 
7.18  Personal Liability of Public Officials 
 

ARTICLE 8 - OTHER WORK 
 
8.1   Related Work at Site 
8.2   Access, Cutting, and Patching 
8.3   Defective Work by Others 
8.4   Coordination 
 

ARTICLE 9 - CHANGES 
 
9.1   CITY's Right to Change 
9.2   Authorization of Changes within the General 

Scope 
9.3   Directives 
9.4   Change Order 
9.5   Shop Drawing Variations 
9.6   Changes Outside the General Scope; 

Supplemental Agreement 
9.7  Unauthorized Work                
9.8    Notification of Surety 
9.9    Differing Site Conditions 
 

ARTICLE 10 - CONTRACT PRICE; COMPUTA-
TION AND CHANGE 

 
10.1   Contract Price 

  

GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 2 of  45 

10.2   Claim for Price Change 
10.3   Change Order Price Determination 
10.4   Cost of the Work 
10.5   Excluded Costs 
10.6   CONTRACTOR's Fee 
10.7   Cost Breakdown 
10.8   Cash Allowances 
10.9   Unit Price Work 
10.10  Determinations for Unit Prices 
 

ARTICLE 11 -  CONTRACT TIME; COMPUTA-
TION AND CHANGE 

 
11.1   Commencement of Contract Time; Notice to 

Proceed 
11.2   Starting the Work 
11.3   Computation of Contract Time 
11.4   Time Change 
11.5   Extension Due to Delays 
11.6   Essence of Contract 
11.7   Reasonable Completion Time 
11.8   Delay Damages 
 

ARTICLE 12 -  QUALITY ASSURANCE 
 
12.1   Warranty and Guaranty 
12.2   Access to Work 
12.3   Tests and Inspections 
12.4   Uncovering Work 
12.5   CITY May Stop the Work 
12.6   Correction of Removal of Defective Work 
12.7   One Year Correction Period 
12.8   Acceptance of Defective Work 
12.9   CITY may Correct Defective Work 
 

ARTICLE  13 -  PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR 
AND COMPLETION 

 
13.1   Schedule of Values 
13.2   Preliminary Payments 
13.3   Application for Progress Payment 
13.4   Review of Applications for Progress Payments 
13.5   Stored Materials and Equipment 
13.6   CONTRACTOR's Warranty of Title 
13.7   Withholding of Payments 
13.8   Retainage 
13.9   Request for Release of Funds 
13.10  Substantial Completion 
13.11  Access Following Substantial Completion 
13.12  Final Inspection 
13.13  Final Application for Payment  
13.14  Final Payment and Final Completion 
13.15  Final Acceptance 
13.16  CONTRACTOR's Continuing Obligation 
13.17  Waiver of Claims by CONTRACTOR 
13.18  No Waiver of Legal Rights 
 

ARTICLE 14 -  SUSPENSION OF WORK, 
DEFAULT, AND TERMINATION 

 
14.1   CITY May Suspend Work 
14.2   Default of Contract 
14.3   Rights or Remedies 
14.4   Convenience Termination  
 

ARTICLE 15 -  CLAIMS AND DISPUTES 
 
15.1   Notification 
15.2   Presenting Claim 
15.3   Claim Validity, Additional Information & 

Project Manager's Action 
15.4   Contracting Officer's Decision 
15.5   Notice of Appeal 
15.6   City Manager's Decision 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

AFFIDAVIT OF RELEASE OF LIENS BY THE 
CONTRACTOR 
 
UNCONDITIONAL WAIVER AND RELEASE OF 
LIEN/CLAIM FOR SUBCONTRACTOR UPON 
FINAL PAYMENT 
 
RECEIPT AND WAIVER AND RELEASE OF 
CLAIM FOR CONTRACTOR UPON FINAL 
PAYMENT 

 
 
 

Packet Page Number 27 



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 3 of  45 

  
ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
The City of Unalaska, "General Conditions" are based on the "Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract" 
as published by the National Society of Professional Engineers (document number 1910-8, 1983 edition) on behalf of the 
Engineers Joint Construction Documents Committee.  Portions of the NSPE General Conditions are reprinted herein by 
the express permission of NSPE to the State of Alaska, which supplied these General Conditions to the City of Unalaska.  
Modifications to the NSPE text are made to provide for State laws, regulations, and established procedures. 
 
The granting of permission by NSPE to allow the State of Alaska to reprint portions of the NSPE document 1910-8, 1983 
does not constitute approval of the State of Alaska General Conditions or the subsequently developed City of Unalaska 
General Conditions. 
 
These General Conditions were modified and updated in May, 2020.  

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 4 of 45 

 
ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS 
 
Wherever used in the Contract Documents the following terms, or pronouns in place of them, are used, the intent and 
meaning, unless a different intent or meaning is clearly indicated, shall be interpreted as set forth below. 
 
The titles and headings of the Sections, Subsections and Articles herein are intended for convenience of reference and 
shall not be considered as having bearing on their interpretation. 
 
Whenever used in the Specifications or other Contract Documents the following terms have the meaning indicated which 
are applicable to both the singular and plural thereof.  Working titles which have a masculine gender, are intended to refer 
to persons of either sex. 
 
Terms not defined below shall have their ordinary accepted meanings within the context in which they are used.  
"Webster's Third New International Dictionary of the English Language, Unabridged, Copyright 1961", or subsequent 
revision thereof; shall provide ordinarily accepted meanings.  Words which have a well-known technical or trade meaning 
when used to describe work, materials or equipment shall be interpreted in accordance with such meaning.  Words 
defined in Article 1 are capitalized throughout these General Conditions. 
 
Addenda - All clarifications, corrections, or changes issued graphically or in writing by the CITY after the advertisement 
but prior to the opening of bids. 
 
Advertisement - The public announcement, as required by law, inviting Bids for work to be performed or materials to be 
furnished. 
 
Application for Payment - The form provided by the CITY which is used by the CONTRACTOR in requesting progress 
or final payments and which is to include such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents. 
 
Approved or Approval - Means written approval by Contracting Officer or his authorized representative as defined in 
Article 2.1. 
 
A.S. - Initials which stand for Alaska Statute. 
 
Award - The acceptance, by the City, of the successful Bid. 
 
Bid - The offer of a bidder, on the prescribed form to perform the work at the prices quoted. 
 
Bid Bond - A type of bid Guarantee. 
 
Bid Guaranty - The security furnished with a bid to guarantee that the bidder will enter into a contract if his proposal is 
accepted by the Department. 
 
Bidder - Any individual, firm, corporation or any acceptable combination thereof, or joint venture submitting a bid for the 
advertised Work. 
 
Calendar Day - Every day shown on the calendar, beginning and ending at midnight. 
 
Change Order - A written order by the CITY directing changes to the contract, within its general scope. 
 
City - The City of Unalaska, Alaska.  References to "owner" or "Contracting Agency" mean the city. 
 
Conditions of the Contract - Those portions of the Contract Documents which define the rights and responsibilities of the 
contracting parties and of others involved in the Work.  The Conditions of the Contract include General Conditions, 
Supplementary Conditions and other Conditions. 
 
Contract - The written agreement between the CITY and the CONTRACTOR setting forth the obligations of the parties 
and covering the Work to be performed, all as required by the Contract Documents. 
 
Contract Documents - The Contract Form, Addenda, the Bidding Requirements and CONTRACTOR's Bid (including all 
appropriate bid tender forms), the Bonds, the Conditions of the Contract and all other Contract Requirements, the 

Packet Page Number 28 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 5 of 45 

Specifications, and the Drawings furnished by the CITY to the CONTRACTOR, together with all change orders and 
documents approved by the Contracting Officer for inclusion, modifications and supplements issued on or after the 
Effective Date of the Contract. 
 
Contracting Officer - The person authorized to enter into and administer the contract on behalf of the CITY.  He has 
authority to make findings, determinations and decisions with respect to the contract and, when necessary, to modify or 
terminate the contract.  The Contracting Officer is identified on the Construction Contract. 
 
Contractor - The individual, firm, corporation or any acceptable combination thereof, contracting with the CITY for 
performance of the Work. 
 
Contract Price - The total moneys payable by the CITY to the CONTRACTOR under the terms of the Contract Docu-
ments. 
 
Contract Time - The number of Calendar Days or the date specified in the Construction Contract and authorized time 
extensions which identify how much time the CONTRACTOR is allowed to achieve Final Completion. 
 
Consultant - A person, firm, agency or corporation retained by the CITY to prepare Contract Documents, perform con-
struction administration services, or other Project related services. 
 
Defective - An adjective which refers to Work that is unsatisfactory, faulty or deficient, or does not conform to the 
Contract Documents, or does not meet the requirements of any inspection, reference standard, test or approval referred to 
in the Contract Documents, or has been damaged prior to the CITY's approval of final payment. 
 
Directive - A written communication to the CONTRACTOR from the Contracting Officer interpreting or enforcing a con-
tract requirement or ordering commencement of an item of work. 
 
Drawings - The drawings which show the character and scope of the Work to be performed and which have been 
furnished by the CITY or the CITY's Consultant and are by reference made a part of the Contract Documents. 
 
Effective Date of the Contract - The date on which the Contract is fully executed by both CONTRACTOR and the CITY. 
 
Final Completion - The Work (or specified part thereof) has progressed to the point that all Work is complete as 
determined by the Contracting Officer. 
 
General Requirements - Sections of Division 1 of the Specifications which contain administrative and procedural 
requirements as well as requirements for temporary facilities which apply to Specification Divisions 2 through 16. 
 
Holidays - The City of Unalaska recognizes the following holidays: 

 1.  New Years Day - January 1 
 2.  President's Day - Third Monday in February 
 3.  Memorial Day - Last Monday in May 
 4.  Independence Day - July 4 
 5.  Labor Day - First Monday in September 
 6.  Veteran's Day - November 11 
 7.  Thanksgiving Day - Fourth Thursday in November 
 8.  Christmas Day - December 25 

 
If any holiday listed above falls on a Saturday, Saturday and the preceding Friday are both legal holidays.  If the holiday 
should fall on a Sunday, Sunday and the following Monday are both legal holidays. 
 
Install - Means to build into the Work, ready to be used in complete and operable condition and in compliance with 
Contract Documents. 
 
Invitation for Bids or Invitation to Bid - A portion of the Bidding Documents soliciting bids for the Work to be 
performed. 
 
Notice of Intent to Award - The written notice by the CITY to all Bidders identifying the apparent successful Bidder and 
establishing the CITY's intent to execute the Contract when all conditions required for execution of the Contract are met. 
 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 6 of 45 

Notice to Proceed - A written notice to the CONTRACTOR to begin the Work and establishing the date on which the 
Contract Time begins. 
 
Payment Bond - The security furnished by the CONTRACTOR and his surety to guarantee payment of the debts covered 
by the bond. 
 
Performance Bond - The security furnished by the CONTRACTOR and his surety to guarantee performance and 
completion of the work in accordance with the contract. 
 
Project - The total construction, of which the Work performed under the Contract Documents is the whole or a part, 
where such total construction may be performed by more than one prime contractor. 
 
Project Manager - The authorized representative of the Contracting Officer who is responsible for administration of the 
Contract. 
 
Proposal - The offer of a bidder, on the prescribed form to perform the work at the prices quoted. 
 
Proposal Guaranty - The security furnished with a proposal to guarantee that the bidder will enter into a contract if his 
proposal is accepted by the Department. 
 
Regulatory Requirement - Laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes and/or orders of the United States, State of Alaska 
or City of Unalaska to the extent applicable to the Work. 
 
Shop Drawings - All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules and other data which are specifically prepared by or for 
the CONTRACTOR to illustrate some portion of the Work and all illustrations, brochures, standard schedules, 
performance charts, instructions, diagrams and other information prepared by a Supplier and submitted by the 
CONTRACTOR to illustrate material, equipment, fabrication, or erection for some portion of the Work. 
 
Specification - Those portions of the Contract Documents consisting of written technical descriptions of materials, 
equipment, construction systems, standards and workmanship as applied to the Work and certain administrative and 
procedural details applicable thereto. 
 
Subcontractor - An individual, firm, or corporation to whom the CONTRACTOR sublets part of the contract. 
 
Substantial Completion - Although not fully completed, the Work (or a specified part thereof) has progressed to the point 
where, in the opinion of the CITY as evidenced by the CITY's written notice, it is sufficiently complete, in accordance 
with the Contract Documents, so that the Work (or specified part) can be utilized for the purposes for which it is intended.  
The terms "Substantially Complete" and "Substantially Completed" as applied to any Work refer to Substantial 
Completion thereof. 
 
Supplemental Agreement - A written agreement between the CONTRACTOR and the CITY covering work that is not 
within the general scope of the contract. 
 
Surety - The corporation, partnership, or individual, other than the CONTRACTOR, executing a bond furnished by the 
CONTRACTOR. 
 
Unit Price Work - Work to be paid for on the basis of unit prices. 
 
Using Agency - The entity who will occupy or use the completed Work.   
 
Work - Work is the act of, and the result of, performing services, furnishing labor, furnishing and incorporating materials 
and equipment into the Project and performing other duties and obligations, all as required by the Contract Documents.  
Such Work, however incremental, will culminate in the entire completed Project, or the various separately identifiable 
parts thereof. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page Number 29 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 7 of 45 

ARTICLE 2 - AUTHORITIES AND LIMITATIONS 
 
2.1   Authorities and Limitations: 

 
2.1.1   The Contracting Officer alone, shall have the power to bind the CITY and to exercise the rights, 

responsibilities, authorities and functions vested in the Contracting Officer by the Contract Documents, except 
that the Contracting Officer shall have the right to designate in writing authorized representatives to act for 
him.  Wherever any provision of the Contract Documents specifies an individual or organization, whether 
Governmental or private, to perform any act on behalf of or in the interests of the CITY that individual or 
organization shall be deemed to be the Contracting Officer's authorized representative under this Contract but 
only to the extent so specified.  The Contracting Officer may, at any time during the performance of this 
Contract, vest in any such authorized representatives additional power and authority to act for the Contracting 
Officer or designate additional representatives, specifying the extent of their authority to act for the 
Contracting Officer; a copy of each document vesting additional authority in or removing that authority from 
an authorized representative or designating an additional authorized representative shall be furnished to the 
CONTRACTOR.  The City Council reserves the right to appoint a new Contracting Officer without affecting 
any of the CONTRACTOR's obligations to the CITY under this Contract. 

 
2.1.2   The CONTRACTOR shall perform the Work in accordance with any written order (including but not limited 

to instruction, direction, interpretation or determination) issued by an authorized representative in accordance 
with the authorized representative's authority to act for the Contracting Officer.  The CONTRACTOR assumes 
all the risk and consequences of performing the Work in accordance with any order (including but not limited 
to instruction, direction, interpretation or determination) of anyone not authorized to issue such order, and of 
any order not in writing. 

 
2.1.3   Should the Contracting Officer or his authorized representative designate Consultant(s) to act for the CITY as 

provided for in Paragraph 2.1.1, the performance or nonperformance of the Consultant under such authority to 
act, shall not give rise to any contractual obligation or duty of the Consultant to the CONTRACTOR, any 
Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any other organization performing any of the Work or any Surety representing 
them. 

 
2.1.4   The term "Contracting Officer" when used in the text of these General Conditions or other Contract 

Documents following this section shall also mean any duly authorized representative of the Contracting 
Officer when authorized in accordance with Paragraph 2.1.1. 

 
2.2   Evaluations by Contracting Officer: 

 
2.2.1   The Contracting Officer will decide all questions which may arise as to; 

 
a.  Quality and acceptability of materials furnished; 
 
b.  Quality and acceptability of Work performed; 
 
c.  Compliance with the Schedule of Progress; 
 
d.  Interpretation of Contract Documents; 
 
e.  Acceptable fulfillment of the Contract on the part of the CONTRACTOR.    

 
2.2.2   In order to avoid cumbersome terms and confusing repetition of expressions in the Contract Documents 

whenever the terms "as ordered", "as directed", "as required", "as approved", or terms of like effect or import 
are used, or the adjectives "reasonable", "suitable", "acceptable", "proper" or "satisfactory" or adjectives of 
like effect or import are used it shall be understood as if the expression were followed by the words "the 
Contracting Officer".  When such terms are used to describe a requirement, direction, review or judgment of 
the Contracting Officer as to the Work, it is intended that such requirement, direction, review or judgment will 
be solely to evaluate the Work for compliance with the Contract Documents (unless there is a specific 
statement indicating otherwise). 

 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 8 of 45 

2.2.3   The use of any such term or adjective shall not be effective to assign to the CITY any duty or authority to 
supervise or direct the furnishing or performance of the Work or any duty or authority to undertake 
responsibility contrary to the provision of paragraphs 2.3 or 2.4. 

 
2.3   Means & Methods: 
 
The means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of construction, or safety precautions and the program incident 
thereto, and the failure to perform or furnish the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents are the sole re-
sponsibility of the CONTRACTOR. 
 
2.4   Visits to Site: 
 
The Contracting Officer will make visits to the site and approved remote storage sites at intervals appropriate to the 
various stages of construction to observe the progress and quality of the executed Work and to determine, in general, if 
the Work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents.  Such observations or the lack of such observations 
shall in no way relieve the CONTRACTOR from his duty to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents. 

 
ARTICLE 3 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS:  INTENT, AMENDING, REUSE 
 
3.1   Incomplete Contract Documents: 
 
The submission of a Bid by the Bidder is considered a representation that the Bidder examined the Contract Documents to 
make certain that all sheets and pages were provided and that the Bidder is satisfied as to the conditions to be encountered 
in performing the Work.  The CITY expressly denies any responsibility or liability for a Bid submitted on the basis of an 
incomplete set of Contract Documents. 
 
3.2   Copies of Contract Documents: 
 
The CITY shall furnish to the CONTRACTOR up to six copies of the Contract Documents.  Additional copies will be 
furnished, upon request, at the cost of reproduction. 
 
3.3   Scope of Work: 
 
The Contract Documents comprise the entire Contract between the CITY and the CONTRACTOR concerning the Work.  
The Contract Documents are complementary; what is called for by one is as binding as if called for by all.  The Contract 
Documents will be construed in accordance with the Regulatory Requirements. 
 
It is specifically agreed between the parties executing this Contract that it is not intended by any of the provisions of the 
Contract to create in the public or any member thereof a third party benefit, or to authorize anyone not a party to this 
Contract to maintain a suit pursuant to the terms or provisions of the Contract. 

 
3.4   Intent of Contract Documents: 

 
3.4.1   It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete Project to be constructed in 

accordance with the Contract Documents.  Any Work, materials or equipment that may reasonably be inferred 
from the Contract Documents as being required to produce the intended result will be supplied, without any 
adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Time, whether or not specifically called for. 

 
3.4.2   Reference to standard specifications, manuals or codes of any technical society, organization or association, or 

to the Regulatory Requirements, whether such reference be specific or by implication, shall mean the edition 
stated in the Contract Documents or if not stated the latest standard specification, manual, code or Regulatory 
Requirements in effect at the time of Advertisement for the Project (or, in the Effective Date of the Contract if 
there was no Advertisement).  However, no provision of any referenced standard specification, manual or code 
(whether or not specifically incorporated by reference in the Contract Documents) shall be effective to change 
the duties and responsibilities of the CITY and the CONTRACTOR, or any of their consultants, agents or em-
ployees from those set forth in the Contract Documents, nor shall it be effective to assign to the CITY or any 
of the CITY's consultants, agents or employees, any duty or authority to supervise or direct the furnishing or 
performance of the Work or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility contrary to the provisions of 
paragraphs 2.3 or 2.4. 

Packet Page Number 30 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 9 of 45 

3.5   Discrepancy in Contract Documents: 
 

3.5.1   Before undertaking the Work, the CONTRACTOR shall carefully study and compare the Contract Documents 
and check and verify pertinent figures, and dimensions shown thereon and all applicable field measurements.  
Work in the area by the CONTRACTOR shall imply verification of figures, dimensions and field 
measurements.  If, during the above study or during the performance of the Work, the CONTRACTOR finds a 
conflict, error, discrepancy or omission in the Contract Document, or a discrepancy between the Contract 
Documents and any standard specification, manual, code, or Regulatory Requirement which affects the Work, 
The CONTRACTOR shall promptly report such discrepancy in writing to the Contracting Officer.  The 
CONTRACTOR shall obtain a written interpretation or clarification from the Contracting Officer before 
proceeding with any Work affected thereby.  Any adjustment made by the CONTRACTOR without this 
determination shall be at his own risk and expense.  However, the CONTRACTOR shall not be liable to the 
CITY for failure to report any conflict, error or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless the 
CONTRACTOR had actual knowledge thereof or should reasonably have knowledge thereof. 

 
3.5.2   Discrepancy - Order of Precedence: 
 

When conflicts, errors, or discrepancies within the Contract Documents exist, the order of precedence from 
most governing to least governing will be as follows: 

 
Supplementary Conditions 
General Conditions 
General Requirements 
Technical Specifications 
Drawings (recorded dimensions will govern over scaled dimensions, large details over small scale, schedules 
over plans, architectural drawings over structural drawings over mechanical and electrical drawings) 

 
3.6   Clarifications and Interpretations: 
 
The Contracting Officer will issue with reasonable promptness such written clarifications or interpretations of the 
requirements of the Contract Documents as the Contracting Officer may determine necessary, which shall be consistent 
with or reasonably inferable from the overall intent of the Contract Documents. 
 
3.7   Reuse of Documents: 
 
Neither the CONTRACTOR nor any Subcontractor, or other person or organization performing or furnishing any of the 
Work under a direct or indirect contract with the CITY shall have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the 
Contract Documents (or copies thereof) prepared by or for the CITY and they shall not reuse any of the Contract 
Documents on extensions of the Project or any other project without written consent of the Contracting Officer. 
 
Contract Documents prepared by the CONTRACTOR in connection with the Work shall become the property of the 
CITY. 
 
ARTICLE 4 - LANDS AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS 
 
4.1   Availability of Lands: 
 
The CITY shall furnish as indicated in the Contract Documents, the lands upon which the Work is to be performed, 
rights-of-way and easements for access thereto, and such other lands which are designated for use of the CONTRACTOR 
in connection with the Work.  Easements for permanent structures or permanent changes in existing facilities will be 
obtained and paid for by the CITY, unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents.  The CONTRACTOR shall 
provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be required for temporary construction facilities or storage of 
materials and equipment. 
 
4.2   Visit to Site: 
 
The submission of a Bid by the CONTRACTOR is considered a representation that the CONTRACTOR has visited and 
carefully examined the site and is satisfied as to the conditions to be encountered in performing the Work and as to the 
requirements of the Contract Documents. 
 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 10 of 45 

4.3   Explorations and Reports: 
 
The Supplementary Conditions identify those reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at the site that 
have been utilized by the CITY in preparation of the Contract Documents.  The CONTRACTOR may rely upon the 
accuracy of the factual data contained in such reports, but not upon interpretations or opinions drawn from such factual 
data contained therein or for the completeness or sufficiency thereof.  Except as indicated in the immediately preceding 
sentence and in paragraphs 4.4 and 9.9, CONTRACTOR shall have full responsibility with respect to surface and sub-
surface conditions at the site. 
 
4.4   Utilities: 

 
4.4.1   The horizontal and vertical locations of known underground utilities as shown or indicated by the Contract 

Documents are approximate and are based on information and data furnished to the CITY by the owners of 
such underground utilities. 

 
4.4.2   The CONTRACTOR shall have full responsibility for: 

 
a. Reviewing and checking all information and data concerning utilities. 
 
b. Locating all underground utilities shown or indicated in the Contract Documents which are affected by the 

Work. 
 
c. Coordination of the Work with the owners of all utilities during construction. 
 
d. Safety and protection of all utilities as provided in paragraph 6.17. 
 
e. Repair of any damage to utilities resulting from the Work in accordance with 4.4.4 and 4.5. 

 
4.4.3   If Work is to be performed by any utility owner, the CONTRACTOR shall cooperate with such owners to 

facilitate the Work. 
 
4.4.4   In the event of interruption to any utility service as a result of accidental breakage or as a result of being 

exposed or unsupported, the CONTRACTOR shall promptly notify the utility owner and the Contracting 
Officer.  If service is interrupted repair work shall be continuous until the service is restored.  No Work shall 
be undertaken around fire hydrants until provisions for continued service have been approved by the local fire 
authority. 

 
4.5   Damaged Utilities: 
 
When utilities are damaged by the CONTRACTOR, the utility owner shall have the choice of repairing the utility or 
having the CONTRACTOR repair the utility.  In the following circumstances, the CONTRACTOR shall reimburse the 
utility owner for repair costs or provide at no cost to the utility owner or the CITY, all materials, equipment and labor 
necessary to complete repair of the damage: 

 
a. When the utility is shown or indicated in the Contract Documents. 
 
b. When the utility has been located by the utility owner. 
 
c. When no locate was requested by the CONTRACTOR for utilities shown or indicated in the Contract 

Documents. 
 
d. All visible utilities. 
 
e. When the CONTRACTOR could have, otherwise, reasonably been expected to be aware of such utility. 

 
4.6   Utilities Not Shown or indicated. 
 
If, while directly performing the Work, an underground utility is uncovered or revealed at the site which was not shown 
or indicated in the Contract Documents and which the CONTRACTOR could not reasonably have been expected to be 
aware of, the CONTRACTOR shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before performing any Work affected 

Packet Page Number 31 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 11 of 45 

thereby (except in an emergency as permitted by paragraph  6.19) identify the owner of such underground facility and 
give written notice thereof to that owner and to the Contracting Officer.  The Contracting Officer will promptly review 
the underground utility to determine the extent to which the Contract Documents and the Work should be modified to 
reflect the impacts of the discovered utility.  The Contract Documents will be amended or supplemented to the extent 
necessary through the issuance of a change document by the Contracting Officer.  During such time, the CONTRACTOR 
shall be responsible for the safety and protection of such underground utility as provided in paragraph 6.17.  The 
CONTRACTOR may be allowed an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Time, or both, to the 
extent that they are directly attributable to the existence of any underground utility that was not shown or indicated in the 
Contract Documents and which the CONTRACTOR could not reasonably have been expected to be aware of. 
 
4.7   Survey Control: 
 
The CITY will identify sufficient horizontal and vertical control data to enable the CONTRACTOR to survey and layout 
the Work.  All survey work shall be performed under the direct supervision of a registered Land Surveyor when required 
by paragraph 7.8. 

 
ARTICLE 5 - BONDS, INSURANCE, AND INDEMNIFICATION 
 
5.1   Delivery of Bonds: 
 
When the CONTRACTOR delivers the executed Contract to the Contracting Officer, the CONTRACTOR shall also de-
liver to the Contracting Officer such bonds as the CONTRACTOR may be required to furnish in accordance with 
paragraph 5.2. 
 
5.2   Bonds: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall furnish Performance and Payment Bonds, each in an amount as shown on the Contract as 
security for the faithful performance and payment of all CONTRACTOR's obligations under the Contract Documents. 
These bonds shall remain in effect for one year after the date of Final Completion and until all obligations under this 
Contract, except special guarantees as per 12.7, have been met.  All bonds shall be furnished on forms provided by the 
CITY (or copies thereof) and shall be executed by such Sureties as are authorized to do business in the State of Alaska.  
The contracting Officer may at his option copy the Surety with notice of any potential default or liability. 
 
5.3   Replacement of Bond and Surety: 
 
If the Surety on any bond furnished in connection with this Contract is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent or its right 
to do business is terminated in any state where any part of the Project is located or it ceases to meet the requirements of 
paragraph 5.2, or otherwise becomes unacceptable to the CITY, or if any such Surety fails to furnish reports as to his 
financial condition as requested by the CITY, the CONTRACTOR shall within five days thereafter substitute another 
bond and Surety, both of which must be acceptable to CITY. 
 
5.4  Insurance Requirements: 

 
5.4.1 The contractor shall carry and maintain throughout the life of this contract, at its own expense, insurance not 

less than the amounts and coverage herein specified, and the City of Unalaska, its employees and agents shall 
be named as additional insured under the insurance coverage so specified and where allowed, with respect to 
the performance of the work.  There shall be no right of subrogation against the City or its agents performing 
work in connection with the work, and this waiver of subrogation shall be endorsed upon the policies.  
Insurance shall be placed with companies acceptable to the City of Unalaska; and these policies providing 
coverage thereunder shall contain provisions that no cancellation or material changes in the policy relative to 
this project shall become effective except upon 30 days prior written notice thereof to the City of Unalaska. 

 
5.4.2 Prior to commencement of the work, the contractor shall furnish certificates to the City of Unalaska, in 

duplicate, evidencing that the Insurance policy provisions required hereunder are in force.  Acceptance by the 
City of Unalaska of deficient evidence does not constitute a waiver of contract requirements. 

 
5.4.3 The contractor shall furnish the City of Unalaska with certified copies of policies upon request.  The minimum 

coverages and limits required are as follows: 
 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 12 of 45 

1. Workers’ Compensation insurance in accordance with the statutory coverages required by the State of 
Alaska and Employers Liability insurance with limits not less than $1,000,000 and, where applicable, 
insurance in compliance with any other statutory obligations, whether State or Federal, pertaining to the 
compensation of injured employees assigned to the work, including but not limited to Voluntary 
Compensation,  Federal Longshoremen and Harbor Workers Act, Maritime and the Outer Continental 
Shelf’s Land Act. 

 
2. Commercial General Liability with limits not less than $1,000,000 per Occurrence and $2,000,000 

Aggregate for Bodily Injury and Property Damage, including coverage for Premises and Operations 
Liability, Products and Completed Operations Liability, Contractual Liability, Broad Form Property 
Damage Liability and Personal Injury Liability.  Coverage shall not contain any exclusion of Explosion, 
Collapse, or Underground.  Coverage is to be endorsed to include a per project aggregate.  Additionally, 
such insurance shall be considered primary to any other insurance carried by the City of Unalaska and the 
insurer will endorse the policy accordingly. 

 
3. Commercial Automobile Liability on all owned, non-owned, hired and rented vehicles with limits of 

liability of not less than $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit for Bodily Injury and Property Damage per 
each accident or loss. 

 
4. If applicable, Contractor’s Equipment insurance covering all of the contractor’s equipment and machinery 

to be used in connection with the performance of the work specified in this contract.  This coverage 
requirement may be waived at the discretion of the City of Unalaska if the Contractor self-insures the 
equipment and will waive all right of recovery against the City of Unalaska in writing. 

 
5. Umbrella/Excess Liability insurance coverage of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and annual 

aggregate providing coverage in excess of General Liability, Auto Liability, and Employers Liability. 
 
6. If work involves use of aircraft, Aircraft Liability insurance covering all owned and non-owned aircraft 

with a per occurrence limit of not less than $1,000,000. 
 
7. If work involves use of watercraft, Protection and Indemnity insurance with limits not less than 

$1,000,000 per occurrence.  Hull and Machinery coverage is to be carried on the vessel for the full current 
market value.  This coverage requirement may be waived at the discretion of the City of Unalaska if the 
contractor self-insures the equipment and will waive all rights of recovery against the City of Unalaska in 
writing. 

 
8. Where applicable, Professional Liability insurance with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per claim and 

$1,000,000 aggregate, subject to a maximum deductible of $10,000 per claim.  The City of Unalaska has 
the right to negotiate increase of deductibles subject to acceptable financial information of the 
policyholder. 

 
9. Where applicable, Pollution Liability insurance with a project limit of not less than $1,000,000 subject to a 

maximum deductible of $10,000 to include coverage for Asbestos, Hazardous Materials, Lead or other 
related environmental hazards.  The City of Unalaska has the right to negotiate increase of deductibles 
subject to acceptable financial information of the policyholder. 

 
 In the event Asbestos, Hazardous Materials, Lead or other related environmental hazards are transported 

by vehicle and/or marine vessel, the operator of such vehicles and vessels shall provide a Certificate of 
Insurance for the transportation of such materials (including loading and unloading) with limits of not less 
than $1,000,000. 

 
10. Builder’s Risk Insurance:  Coverage shall be provided on an “All Risk” completed value basis and 

protect the interests of the City, the contractor and his subcontractors.  Coverage shall include all 
materials, equipment and supplies that are intended for specific installation in the project while such 
materials, supplies and equipment are located at the project site and in transit from port of arrival to job 
site and while temporarily located away from the project site. 

 
5.4.4 Any deductibles or self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by the City.  At the option of the 

City, either: the insurer shall reduce or eliminate such deductibles or self-insured retentions as respects the 
City, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers; or the contractor shall provide a financial guarantee 

Packet Page Number 32 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 13 of 45 

satisfactory to the City guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigations, claim administration and 
defense expense. 

 
5.4.5 All insurance policies as described above are required to be written on an “occurrence” basis.  In the event 

occurrence coverage is not available, the contractor agrees to maintain “claims made” coverage for a minimum 
of two years after project completion. 

 
5.4.6 If the contractor employs subcontractors to perform any work hereunder, the contractor agrees to require such 

subcontractors to obtain, carry, maintain, and keep in force during the time in which they are engaged in 
performing any work hereunder, policies of insurance which comply with the requirements as set forth in this 
section.  This requirement is applicable to subcontractors of any tier. 

 
5.4.7 The contractor is required to maintain all certificates of insurance during the course of the project and for a 

minimum of three (3) years following the completion of such project.  It is further agreed, that upon request by 
the City of Unalaska, the Contractor will provide copies of any and all subcontractor certificates of insurance 
for review of compliance. 

 
5.4.8 Failure by the Contractor to maintain the required insurance coverage or to comply with the above, may, at the 

option of the City of Unalaska, be deemed Defective Work and remedied in accordance with the contract. 
  
5.5   Indemnification: 
 

5.5.1 The CONTRACTOR and his Subcontractors will name the owner as “Additional Insured” and will 
provide a "Waiver of Subrogation” on all required policies of insurance. 

 
5.5.2 The CONTRACTOR shall indemnify, save harmless, and defend the CITY and its agents and its 

employees from any and all claims or actions for injuries or damages sustained by any person or 
property arising directly or indirectly from the CONTRACTOR's performance of this contract; 
however, this provision has no effect if, but only if, the sole proximate cause of the injury or damage is 
the negligence of the City or its agents. 

 
ARTICLE 6 - CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
6.1   Supervision of Work: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall supervise and direct the Work competently and efficiently, devoting such attention thereto and 
applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  
All Work under this Contract shall be performed in a skillful and workmanlike manner.  The CONTRACTOR shall be 
solely responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of construction. 
 
6.2 Superintendence by CONTRACTOR: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall keep on the Work at all times during its progress a competent resident superintendent.  The 
Contracting Officer shall be advised in writing of the superintendent's name, local address, and telephone number.  This 
written advice is to be kept current until Final Acceptance by the CITY.  The superintendent will be the 
CONTRACTOR's representative at the site and shall have full authority to act and sign documents on behalf of the 
CONTRACTOR. 
 
All communications given to the superintendent shall be as binding as if given to the CONTRACTOR.  The CONTRAC-
TOR shall cooperate with the Contracting Officer in every way possible. 
6.3 Character of Workers: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall provide a sufficient number of competent, suitable qualified personnel to survey and lay out 
the Work and perform construction as required by the Contract Documents.  The CONTRACTOR shall at all times 
maintain good discipline and order at the site.  The Contracting Officer may, in writing, require the CONTRACTOR to 
remove from the Work any employee the Contracting Officer deems incompetent, careless, or otherwise detrimental to 
the progress of the Work, but the Contracting Officer shall have no duty to exercise this right. 
 
 
 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 14 of 45 

6.4 CONTRACTOR to Furnish: 
 
Unless otherwise specified in the General Requirements, the CONTRACTOR shall furnish and assume full responsibility 
for all materials, equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, water, sanitary facilities, 
temporary facilities and all other facilities and incidentals necessary for the furnishing, performance, testing, start-up and 
completion of the Work. 
 
6.5 Materials and Equipment: 
 
All materials and equipment shall be of specified quality and new, except as otherwise provided in the Contract 
Documents.  If required by the Contracting Officer, the CONTRACTOR shall furnish satisfactory evidence (including 
reports of required tests) as to the kind and quality of materials and equipment.  All materials and equipment shall be 
applied, installed, connected, erected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with the instructions of the applicable 
Supplier except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents; but no provision of any such instructions will be 
effective to assign to the CITY or any of the CITY's Consultants, agents or employees, any duty or authority to supervise 
or direct the furnishing or performance of the Work or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility contrary to the 
provisions of paragraphs 2.3 or 2.4. 
 
6.6   Anticipated Schedules: 

 
6.6.1   Within reasonable time prior to the preconstruction conference the CONTRACTOR shall submit to the 

Contracting Officer for review an anticipated progress schedule indicating the starting and completion dates of 
the various stages of the Work. 

 
6.6.2   Within fifteen days after the date of the Notice to Proceed, the CONTRACTOR shall submit to the 

Contracting Officer for review: 
 

Anticipated schedule of Shop Drawing submissions; and Anticipated Schedule of Values for all of the Work 
which will include quantities and prices of items aggregating the Contract Price and will subdivide the Work 
into component parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress payments during construction.  Such 
prices will include an appropriate amount of overhead and profit applicable to each item of Work which will 
be confirmed in writing by the CONTRACTOR at the time of submission. 

 
6.7   Finalizing Schedules: 
 
Prior to processing the first Application for Payment the Contracting Officer and the CONTRACTOR will finalize 
schedules required by paragraph 6.6. 
 
Acceptance by the CITY of the progress schedule, will neither impose on the CITY nor relieve the CONTRACTOR from 
full responsibility for the progress or scheduling of the Work.  If accepted, the finalized schedule of Shop Drawing and 
other required submissions will be acceptable to the CITY as providing a workable arrangement for processing the 
submissions.  If accepted the finalized Schedule of Values will be acceptable to the CITY as an approximation of 
anticipated value of Work accomplished over the anticipated Contract Time.  Receipt and acceptance of a schedule 
submitted by the CONTRACTOR shall not be construed to assign responsibility for performance or contingencies to the 
CITY or relieve the CONTRACTOR of his responsibility to adjust his forces, equipment, and work schedules as may be 
necessary to insure completion of the Work within prescribed Contract Time.  Should the progress of the Work be 
discontinued for any reason, the CONTRACTOR shall notify the Contracting Officer at least 24 hours in advance of 
resuming operations. 
 
6.8   Adjusting Schedules: 
 
Upon substantial changes to the schedule or upon request, the CONTRACTOR shall submit to the Contracting Officer for 
acceptance (to the extent indicated in paragraph 6.7 and the General Requirements) adjustments in the schedules to reflect 
the actual present and anticipated progress of the Work. 
 
6.9   Substitutes or "Or-Equal" Items: 

 
6.9.1   Whenever materials or equipment are specified or described in the Contract Documents by using the name of a 

proprietary item or the name of a particular Supplier, the naming of the item is intended to establish the type, 
function and quality required.  Unless the name is followed by words indicating that no substitution is 

Packet Page Number 33 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 15 of 45 

permitted, materials or equipment of other Suppliers may be accepted by the Contracting Officer only if 
sufficient information is submitted by the CONTRACTOR which clearly demonstrates to the Contracting 
Officer that the material or equipment proposed is equivalent or equal in all aspects to that named.  The 
procedure for review by the Contracting Officer will include the following as supplemented in the General 
Requirements. 

 
6.9.2   Requests for review of substitute items of material and equipment will not be accepted by the Contracting 

Officer from anyone other than the CONTRACTOR. 
 
6.9.3  If the CONTRACTOR wishes to furnish or use a substitute item of material or equipment, the CONTRAC-

TOR shall make written application to the Contracting Officer for acceptance thereof, certifying that the 
proposed substitute will perform adequately the functions and achieve the results called for by the general 
design, be similar and of equal substance to that specified and be suited to the same use as that specified.  The 
application will state that the evaluation and acceptance of the proposed substitute will not delay the 
CONTRACTOR's achievement of Substantial Completion on time, whether or not acceptance of the substitute 
for use in the Work will require a change in any of the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other 
direct contract with the CITY for work on the Project) to adapt the design to the proposed substitute and 
whether or not incorporation or use of the substitute in connection with the Work is subject to payment of any 
license fee or royalty. 

 
6.9.4   All variations of the proposed substitute from that specified will be identified in the application and available 

maintenance, repair and replacement service will be indicated.  The application will also contain an itemized 
estimate of all costs that will result directly or indirectly from acceptance of such substitute, including costs of 
redesign and claims of other contractors affected by the resulting change, all of which shall be considered by 
the Contracting Officer in evaluating the proposed substitute.  The Contracting Officer may require the 
CONTRACTOR to furnish at the CONTRACTOR's expense additional data about the proposed substitute.  
The Contracting Officer may reject any substitution request which the Contracting Officer determines is not in 
the best interest of the CITY. 

 
6.10   Substitute Means and Methods: 
 
If a specific means, method, technique, sequence or procedure of construction is indicated in or required by the Contract 
Documents, the CONTRACTOR may furnish or utilize a substitute means, method, sequence, technique or procedure of 
construction acceptable to the Contracting Officer, if the CONTRACTOR submits sufficient information to allow the 
Contracting Officer to determine that the substitute proposed is equivalent to that indicated or required by the Contract 
Documents.  The procedure for review by the Contracting Officer will be similar to that provided in paragraph 6.9 as 
applied by the Contracting Officer and as may be supplemented in the General Requirements. 
 
 6.11   Evaluation of Substitution: 
 
The Contracting Officer will be allowed a reasonable time within which to evaluate each proposed substitute.  The 
Contracting Officer will be the sole judge of acceptability, and no substitute will be ordered, installed or utilized without 
the Contracting Officer's prior written acceptance which will be evidenced by either a Change Order or a Shop Drawing 
approved in accordance with Sections 6.20 and 6.21.  The Contracting Officer may require the CONTRACTOR to furnish 
at the CONTRACTOR's expense a special performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any substitute. 
 
6.12   Dividing the Work: 
 
The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings shall not control the CON-
TRACTOR in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or Suppliers or delineating the Work to be performed by any spe-
cific trade. 
 
6.13   Subcontractors: 
 
The CONTRACTOR may utilize the services of licensed specialty Subcontractors on those parts of the Work which, 
under normal contracting practices, are performed by licensed specialty Subcontractors, in accordance with the following 
conditions: 

 
6.13.1 The CONTRACTOR shall not award any Work to any Subcontractor without prior written approval of the 

Contracting Officer.  This approval will not be given until the CONTRACTOR submits to the Contracting 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 16 of 45 

Officer a written statement concerning the proposed award to the Subcontractor which shall contain required 
E.E.O. documents, evidence of insurance, and a copy of the proposed subcontract executed by the subcontrac-
tor.  No acceptance by the Contracting Officer of any such Subcontractor shall constitute a waiver of any right 
of the CITY to reject Defective Work. 

 
6.13.2 The CONTRACTOR shall be fully responsible to the CITY for all acts and omissions of the Subcontractors, 

Suppliers and other persons and organizations performing or furnishing any of the Work under a direct or 
indirect contract with CONTRACTOR just as CONTRACTOR is responsible for CONTRACTOR's own acts 
and omissions. 

 
6.13.3 All Work performed for CONTRACTOR by a Subcontractor will be pursuant to an appropriate written 

agreement between CONTRACTOR and the Subcontractor which specifically binds the Subcontractor to the 
applicable terms and conditions of the Contract Documents for the benefit of the CITY and contains waiver 
provisions as required by paragraph 13.17 and termination provisions as required by Article 14. 

 
6.13.4 Nothing in the Contract Documents shall create any contractual relationship between the CITY and any such 

Subcontractor, Supplier or other person or organization, nor shall it create any obligation on the part of the 
CITY to pay or to see to the payment of any moneys due any such Subcontractor, Supplier or other person or 
organization except as may otherwise be required by Regulatory Requirements.  The CITY will not undertake 
to settle any differences between or among the CONTRACTOR, Subcontractors, or Suppliers. 

 
6.13.5 The CONTRACTOR and Subcontractors shall coordinate their work and facilitate general progress of Work.  

Each trade shall afford other trades every reasonable opportunity for installation of their work and storage of 
materials.  If cooperative work of one trade must be altered due to lack of proper supervision, or failure to 
make proper provisions in time by another trade, such conditions shall be remedied by the CONTRACTOR 
with no change in Contract Price or Contract Time. 

 
6.13.6 The CONTRACTOR shall include on his own payrolls any person or persons working on the contract who are 

not covered by written subcontract, and shall ensure that all Subcontractors include on their payrolls all 
persons performing work under the direction of the Subcontractor. 

 
6.14   Use of Premises: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall confine construction equipment, the storage of materials and equipment and the operations of 
workers to the Project limits and approved remote storage sites and lands and areas identified in and permitted by 
Regulatory Requirements, rights-of-way, permits and easements, and shall not unreasonably encumber the premises with 
construction equipment or other materials or equipment.  The CONTRACTOR shall assume full responsibility for any 
damage to any such land or area, or to the owner or occupant thereof or of any land or areas contiguous thereto, resulting 
from the performance of the Work.  Should any claim be made against the CITY by any such owner or occupant because 
of the performance of the Work, the CONTRACTOR shall hold the CITY and its agencies harmless. 
 
6.15   Structural Loading: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be loaded in any manner that will endanger the 
structure, nor shall the CONTRACTOR subject any part of the Work or adjacent property to stresses or pressures that will 
endanger it. 
 
6.16   Record Documents: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall maintain in a safe place at the site one record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, 
Field Memos, Work Orders, Change Orders, Supplemental Agreements, and written interpretations and clarifications 
(issued pursuant to paragraph 3.6) in good order and annotated to show all changes made during construction.  These 
record documents together with all approved samples and a counterpart of all approved Shop Drawings will be available 
to the Contracting Officer for reference and copying.  Upon completion of the Work, the annotated record documents, 
samples and Shop Drawings will be delivered to the Contracting Officer.  Record documents shall accurately record 
variations in the Work which vary from requirements shown or indicated in the Contract Documents. 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page Number 34 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 17 of 45 

6.17   Safety and Protection: 
 
The CONTRACTOR alone shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety precautions and 
programs in connection with the Work.  The CONTRACTOR shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and 
shall provide the necessary protection to prevent damage, injury or loss to: 

 
6.17.1 All employees on the Work and other persons and organizations who may be affected thereby; 
 
6.17.2 All the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the site; and  
 
6.17.3 Other property at the site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, 

structures, and utilities not designated for removal, relocation or replacement in the course of construction. 
 
6.17.4 The CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable Regulatory Requirements enacted for the safety of 

persons or property or to protect them from damage, injury or loss; and shall erect and maintain all necessary 
safeguards for such safety and protection.  The CONTRACTOR shall notify owners of adjacent property and 
utility owners when prosecution of the Work may affect them, and shall cooperate with them in the protection, 
removal, relocation and replacement of their property.  All damage, injury or loss to any property caused, 
directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by the Contractor, any Subcontractor, Supplier or any other person or 
organization directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform or furnish any of the Work or anyone 
for whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be remedied by the CONTRACTOR with no change in 
Contract Price or Contract Time except as stated in 4.6, except damage or loss attributable to unforeseeable 
causes beyond the control of and without the fault or negligence of the CONTRACTOR, including but not 
restricted to acts of God or the public enemy.  The CONTRACTOR's duties and responsibilities for the safety 
and protection of the Work shall continue until Final Acceptance (except as otherwise expressly provided in 
connection with Substantial Completion). 

 
The Contractor shall do whatever work is necessary for overall project safety and be solely and completely 
responsible for conditions of the job site, including safety of all persons (including employees) and property 
during the Contract period.  This requirement shall apply continuously and not limited to normal working 
hours. 
 
Safety provisions shall conform to Federal and State Departments of Labor Occupational Safety and Health 
Act (OSHA), and other applicable federal, state, county, and local laws, ordinances, codes, requirements set 
forth herein, and regulations that may be specified in other parts of these Contract Documents.  Where these 
are in conflict, the more stringent requirements shall apply.  Contractor shall become thoroughly familiar with 
governing safety provisions and shall comply with the obligations set forth therein.   
 
The Contractor shall develop and maintain for the duration of the Contract, a safety program that will 
effectively incorporate and implement required safety provisions.  Contractor shall appoint a qualified 
employee who is authorized to supervise and enforce compliance with the safety program. 
  
The Engineer’s duty to conduct construction review of the Contractor’s performance does not include a review 
or approval of the adequacy of Contractor’s safety supervisor, safety program, or safety measures taken in, on, 
or near the construction site. 
 
As part of safety program, Contractor shall maintain at its office or other well-known location at the job site, 
safety equipment applicable to the Work as prescribed by governing safety authorities, and articles necessary 
for giving first aid to the injured.  Establish procedures for the immediate removal to a hospital or a doctor’s 
care of persons who may be injured on the job site. 
 
Contractor shall do all work necessary to protect the general public from hazards, including but not limited to, 
surface irregularities, trenches, excavations, and blasting.  Barricades, lanterns, and proper signs shall be 
furnished in sufficient amount to safeguard the public and the work.  Construct and maintain satisfactory and 
substantial fencing, railings, barricades, or steel plates, as applicable, at all openings, obstructions, or other 
hazards.  Such barricades shall have adequate warning lights as necessary or required for safety. 

 
 
 
 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 18 of 45 

6.18   Safety Representative: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall designate a responsible safety representative at the site.  This person shall be the 
CONTRACTOR's superintendent unless otherwise designated in writing by the CONTRACTOR to the Contracting 
Officer. 
 
6.19   Emergencies: 
 
In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the site or adjacent thereto, the 
CONTRACTOR, without special instruction or authorization from the CITY, is obligated to act to prevent threatened 
damage, injury or loss.  The CONTRACTOR shall give the Contracting Officer prompt written notice if the CONTRAC-
TOR believes that any significant changes in the Work or variations from the Contract Documents is required because of 
the action taken in response to an emergency, a change will be authorized by one of the methods indicated in Paragraph 
9.2, as determined appropriate by the Contracting Officer. 
 
6.20   Shop Drawings and Samples: 

 
6.20.1   After checking and verifying all field measurements and after complying with applicable procedures specified 

in the General Requirements, the CONTRACTOR shall submit to the Contracting Officer for review and 
approval in accordance with the accepted schedule of Shop Drawing submissions the required number of all 
Shop Drawings, which will bear a stamp or specific written indication that the CONTRACTOR has satisfied 
CONTRACTOR's responsibilities under the Contract Documents with respect to the review of the submission.  
All submissions will be identified as the Contracting Officer may require.  The data shown on the Shop 
Drawings will be complete with respect to quantities, dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, 
materials and similar data to enable the Contracting Officer to review the information as required. 

 
6.20.2   The CONTRACTOR shall also submit to the Contracting Officer for review and approval with such 

promptness as to cause no delay in Work, all samples required by the Contract Documents.  All samples will 
have been checked by and accompanied by a specific written indication that the CONTRACTOR has satisfied 
CONTRACTOR's responsibilities under the Contract Documents with respect to the review of the submission 
and will be identified clearly as to material, Supplier, pertinent data such as catalog numbers and the use for 
which intended. 

 
6.20.3   Before submission of each Shop Drawing or sample the CONTRACTOR shall have determined and verified 

all quantities, dimensions, specified performance criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog numbers 
and similar data with respect thereto and reviewed or coordinated each Shop Drawing or sample with other 
Shop Drawings and samples and with the requirements of the Work and the Contract Documents. 

 
6.20.4   At the time of each submission the CONTRACTOR shall give the Contracting Officer specific written notice 

of each variation that the Shop Drawings or samples may have from the requirements of the Contract 
Documents, and, in addition, shall cause a specific notation to be made on each Shop Drawing submitted to 
the Contracting Officer for review and approval of each such variation.  All variations of the proposed shop 
drawing from that specified will be identified in the submission and available maintenance, repair and 
replacement service will be indicated.  The submittal will also contain an itemized estimate of all costs that 
will result directly or indirectly from acceptance of such variation, including costs of redesign and claims of 
other contractors affected by the resulting change, all of which shall be considered by the CITY in evaluating 
the proposed variation.  If the variation may result in a change of Contract Time or Price, or contract 
responsibility, and is not minor in nature; the CONTRACTOR must submit a written request for Change Order 
with the variation to notify the CITY of his intent.  The CITY may require the CONTRACTOR to furnish at 
the CONTRACTOR's expense additional data about the proposed variation.  The Contracting Officer may 
reject any variation request which the Contracting Officer determines is not in the best interest of the CITY. 

 
6.21   Shop Drawing and Sample Review: 

 
6.21.1   The Contracting Officer will review with reasonable promptness Shop Drawings and samples, but the 

Contracting Officer's review will be only for conformance with the design concept of the Project and for 
compliance with the information given in the Contract Documents and shall not extend to means, methods, 
techniques, sequences or procedures of construction (except where a specific means, method, technique, 
sequence or procedure of construction is indicated in or required by the Contract Documents) or to safety 
precautions or programs incident thereto.  The review of a separate item as such will not indicate acceptance of 

Packet Page Number 35 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 19 of 45 

the assembly in which the item functions.  The CONTRACTOR shall make corrections required by the 
Contracting Officer and shall return the required number of corrected copies of Shop Drawings and submit as 
required new samples for review.  The CONTRACTOR shall direct specific attention in writing to revisions 
other than the corrections called for by the Contracting Officer on previous submittals. 

 
6.21.2   The Contracting Officer's review of Shop Drawings or samples shall not relieve CONTRACTOR from 

responsibility for any variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents unless the CONTRACTOR 
has in writing advised the Contracting Officer of each such variation at the time of submission as required by 
paragraph 6.20.4.  The Contracting Officer if he so determines, may give written approval of each such 
variation by Change Order, except that, if the variation is minor and no Change Order has been requested a 
specific written notation thereof incorporated in or accompanying the Shop Drawing or sample review 
comments shall suffice as a modification.  No approval by the Contracting Officer will relieve the 
CONTRACTOR from responsibility for errors or omissions in the Shop Drawings or from responsibility for 
having complied with the provisions of paragraph 6.20.3. 

 
6.21.3   Where a Shop Drawing or sample is required by the Specifications, any related Work performed prior to the 

Contracting Officer's review of the pertinent submission will be the sole expense and responsibility of the 
CONTRACTOR. 

 
6.22   Maintenance During Construction: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall maintain the Work during construction and until Substantial Completion, at which time the 
responsibility for maintenance shall be established in accordance with paragraph 13.10. 
 
6.23   Continuing the Work: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall carry on the Work and adhere to the progress schedule during all disputes or disagreements 
with the CITY.  No work shall be delayed or postponed pending resolution of any disputes, disagreements, or claims 
except as the CONTRACTOR and the Contracting Officer may otherwise agree in writing. 

 
6.24   Consent to Assignment: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall obtain the prior written consent of the Contracting Officer to any proposed assignment of any 
interest in, or part of this Contract.  The consent to any assignment or transfer shall not operate to relieve the 
CONTRACTOR or his Sureties of any of his or its obligations under this Contract or the Performance Bonds.  Nothing 
herein contained shall be construed to hinder, prevent, or affect an assignment of monies due, or to become due 
hereunder, made for the benefit of the CONTRACTOR's creditors pursuant to law. 
 
6.25   Use of Explosives: 

 
6.25.1   When the use of explosives is necessary for the prosecution of the Work, the CONTRACTOR shall exercise 

the utmost care not to endanger life or property, including new Work and shall follow all Regulatory 
Requirements applicable to the use of explosives.  The CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for all damage 
resulting from the use of explosives. 

 
6.25.2   All explosives shall be stored in a secure manner in compliance with all Regulatory Requirements, and all 

such storage places shall be clearly marked.  Where no Regulatory Requirements apply, safe storage shall be 
provided not closer than 1,000 feet from any building, camping area, or place of human occupancy. 

 
6.25.3   The CONTRACTOR shall notify each public utility owner having structures in proximity to the site of his 

intention to use explosives.  Such notice shall be given sufficiently in advance to enable utility owners to take 
such steps as they may deem necessary to protect their property from injury.  However, the CONTRACTOR 
shall be responsible for all damage resulting from the use of the explosives, whether or not, utility owners act 
to protect their property. 

 
6.26   CONTRACTOR's Records: 

 
6.26.1  Records of CONTRACTOR and Subcontractors relating to personnel, payrolls, invoices of materials, and any 

and all other data relevant to the performance of the Contract, must be kept on a generally recognized 
accounting system.  Such records must be available during normal work hours to the Contracting Officer for 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 20 of 45 

purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with Regulatory Requirements and provision of the Contract 
Documents. 

 
6.26.2   Payroll records must contain the name and address of each employee, his correct classification, rate of pay, 

daily and weekly number of hours of work, deductions made, and actual wages paid.  The CONTRACTOR 
and Subcontractors shall make employment records available for inspection by the Contracting Officer and 
representatives of the State of Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development and will permit such 
representatives to interview employees during working hours on the Project. 

 
6.26.3   Records of all communications between the CITY and the CONTRACTOR and other parties, where such 

communications affected performance of this Contract, must be kept by the CONTRACTOR and maintained 
for a period of three years from Final Acceptance.  The CITY or its assigned representative may perform an 
audit of these records during normal work hours after written notice to the CONTRACTOR. 

 
ARTICLE 7 - LAWS AND REGULATIONS 
 
7.1   Laws to be Observed: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall keep fully informed of all Regulatory Requirements and all orders and decrees of bodies or 
tribunals having any jurisdiction or authority, which in any manner affect those engaged or employed on the Work, or 
which in any way affect the conduct of the Work.  The CONTRACTOR shall at all times observe and comply with all 
such Regulatory Requirements, orders and decrees; and shall protect and indemnify the CITY and its representatives 
against claim or liability arising from or based on the violation of any such Regulatory Requirement, order, or decree 
whether by the CONTRACTOR, Subcontractor, or any employee of either.  Except where otherwise expressly required 
by applicable Regulatory Requirements, the CITY shall not be responsible for monitoring CONTRACTOR's compliance 
with any Regulatory Requirements. 
 
7.2   Permits, Licenses, and Taxes: 

 
7.2.1   The CONTRACTOR shall procure all permits and licenses, pay all charges, fees and taxes, and give all 

notices necessary and incidental to the due and lawful prosecution of the Work.  As a condition of 
performance of this Contract, the CONTRACTOR shall pay all Federal, State and local taxes incurred by the 
CONTRACTOR, in the performance of the Contract.  Proof of payment of these taxes is a condition precedent 
to final payment by the CITY under this Contract. 

 
7.2.2   The CONTRACTOR's certification that taxes have been paid (as contained in the Release of Contract) may be 

verified with the Department of Revenue and Department of Labor and Workforce Development and Unalaska 
City Clerk, prior to final payment. 

 
7.2.3   If any Federal, State or local tax is imposed, charged, or repealed after the date of Bid opening and is made 

applicable to and paid by the CONTRACTOR on the articles or supplies herein contracted for, then the 
Contract shall be increased or decreased accordingly by a Change Order. 

 
7.2.4 The Contractor shall require all Subcontractors to obtain a City of Unalaska Business License. 

 
7.3   Patented Devices, Materials and Processes: 
 
If the CONTRACTOR employs any design, device, material, or process covered by letters of patent, trademark or 
copyright, the CONTRACTOR shall provide for such use by suitable legal agreement with the patentee or owner.  The 
CONTRACTOR and the Surety shall indemnify and save harmless the CITY and its agents, any affected third party, from 
any and all claims for infringement by reason of the use of any such patented design, device, material or process, or any 
trademark or copyright, and shall indemnify the CITY for any costs, expenses, and damages which it may be obliged to 
pay by reason of any infringement, at any time during the prosecution or after the completion of the Work. 
 
7.4   Compliance of Specifications and Drawings: 
 
If the CONTRACTOR observes that the Specifications and Drawings supplied by the CITY are at variance with any 
Regulatory Requirements, CONTRACTOR shall give the Contracting Officer prompt written notice thereof, and any 
necessary changes will be authorized by one of the methods indicated in paragraph 9.2. as determined appropriate by the 
Contracting Officer.  If the CONTRACTOR performs any Work knowing or having reason to know that it is contrary to 

Packet Page Number 36 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 21 of 45 

such Regulatory Requirements, and without such notice to the Contracting Officer, the CONTRACTOR shall bear all 
costs arising therefrom; however, it shall not be the CONTRACTOR's primary responsibility to make certain that the 
Specifications and Drawings supplied by the CITY are in accordance with such Regulatory Requirements. 
 
7.5   Accident Prevention: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall comply with AS 18.60.075 and all pertinent provisions of the Construction Code Occupational 
Safety and Health Standards issued by the Alaska Department of Labor. 
 
 
7.6   Sanitary Provisions: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall provide and maintain in a neat and sanitary condition such accommodations for the use of his 
employees and CITY representatives as may be necessary to comply with the Regulatory requirements. 
 
7.7   Business Registration: 
 
The Contractor shall comply with AS 08.18.011 which states, as follows:  "it is unlawful for a person to submit a bid or 
work as a contractor until he has been issued a certificate of registration by the Department of Commerce.  A partnership 
or joint venture shall be considered registered if one of the general partners or ventures whose name appears in the name 
under which the partnership or venture does business is registered."  The Contractor shall obtain a City of Unalaska 
Business License prior to commencement of the Work to the extent required by the City of Unalaska Code of Ordinances 
section 9.30.101. 
 
7.8   Professional Registration and Certification: 
 
All craft trades, architects, engineers and land surveyors, electrical administrators, explosive handlers, and welders 
employed under the Contract shall specifically comply with applicable provisions of AS 08.18, 08.48, 08.40, 08.52, and 
08.99.  Provide copies of individual licenses within seven days following a request from the Contracting Officer. 
 
7.9   Local Building Codes: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall comply with AS 35.10.025 which requires construction in accordance with applicable local 
building codes including the obtaining of required permits.  City of Unalaska permits required for the work are identified 
in the Supplemental Conditions. 
 
7.10   Air Quality Control: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable provision of AS 46.03.04 as pertains to Air Pollution Control. 
 
7.11   Archaeological or Paleontological Discoveries: 
 
When the CONTRACTOR's operation encounters prehistoric artifacts, burials, remains of dwelling sites, or 
paleontological remains, such as shell heaps, land or sea mammal bones or tusks, the CONTRACTOR shall cease 
operations immediately and notify the Contracting Officer.  No artifacts or specimens shall be further disturbed or re-
moved from the ground and no further operations shall be performed at the site until so directed.  Should the Contracting 
Officer order suspension of the CONTRACTOR's operations in order to protect an archaeological or historical finding, or 
order the CONTRACTOR to perform extra work, such shall be covered by an appropriate Contract change document. 
 
7.12   Not used. 
 
7.13   Preferential Employment: 
 
To the fullest extent allowed by law, the CONTRACTOR shall comply with AS 36.10, as amended, which provides for 
preferential employment of Alaska residents. 
 
7.14   Wages and Hours of Labor: 

 
7.14.1   One certified copy of all payrolls shall be submitted weekly to the State Department of Labor to assure 

compliance with AS 36.05.040, Filing Schedule of Employees Wages Paid and Other Information.  The prime 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 22 of 45 

CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the submission of certified copies of payrolls of all Subcontractors.  
The certification shall affirm that the payrolls are current and complete, that the wage rates contained therein 
are not less than the applicable rates referenced in these Contract Documents, and that the classification set 
forth for each laborer or mechanic conforms with the work he performed.  The CONTRACTOR and his 
Subcontractors shall attend all hearings and conferences and produce such books, papers, and documents all as 
requested by the Department of Labor.  Should Federal funds be involved, the Contracting Agency shall also 
receive a copy of the CONTRACTOR's certified payrolls. 

 
 
7.14.2   The following Labor provisions shall also apply to this Contract: 

 
a. The CONTRACTOR and his Subcontractors shall pay all employees unconditionally and not less than once 

a week; 
 
b. Wages may not be less than those stated in the advertised specifications, regardless of the contractual rela-

tionship between the CONTRACTOR or Subcontractors and laborers, mechanics, or field surveyors; 
 
c. The scale of wages to be paid shall be posted by the CONTRACTOR in a prominent and easily accessible 

place at the site of the work; 
 
d. The CITY shall withhold so much of the accrued payments as is necessary to pay laborers, mechanics, or 

field surveyors employed by the CONTRACTOR or Subcontractors the difference between 
 

1. the rates of wages required by the contract to be paid laborers, mechanics, or field surveyors on the 
work, and 

 
2. the rates of wages in fact received by laborers, mechanics or field surveyors. 

 
7.15   Overtime Work Hours and Compensation: 
 
Pursuant to 40 U.S.C. 327-330 and AS 23.10.060, the CONTRACTOR shall not require nor permit any laborer or 
mechanic in any workweek in which he is employed on any work under this Contract to work in excess of eight hours in 
any Calendar Day or in excess of forty hours in such workweek on work subject to the provisions of the Contract Work 
Hours and Safety Standards Act unless such laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less than one and 
one half times his basic rate of pay for all such hours worked in excess of eight hours in any Calendar Day or in excess of 
forty hours in such workweek whichever is the greater number of overtime hours.  In the event of any violation of this 
provision, the CONTRACTOR shall be liable to any affected employee for any amounts due and penalties and to the 
CITY for liquidated damages.  Such liquidated damages shall be computed with respect to each individual laborer or 
mechanic employed in violation of this provision in the sum of $10.00 for each Calendar Day on which such employee 
was required or permitted to be employed on such work in excess of eight hours or in excess of the standard workweek of 
forty hours without payment of the overtime wages required by this paragraph. 
 
7.16   Covenant Against Contingent Fees: 
 
The CONTRACTOR warrants that no person or selling agent has been employed or retained to solicit or secure this 
Contract upon an agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee.  For breach or 
violation of this warranty, the CITY shall have the right to annul this Contract without liability or, in its discretion, to 
deduct price of consideration from the Contract or otherwise recover the full amount of such commission, percentage, 
brokerage, or contingent fee. 
 
7.17   Officials Not to Benefit: 
 
No member of or delegate to the U.S. Congress, the State Legislature, Unalaska City Council or other State or City 
Officials shall be admitted to any share or part of this Contract, nor to any benefit that may arise there from.  However, 
this provision shall not be construed to extend to this Contract if made with a corporation for its general benefits. 
 
7.18   Personal Liability of Public Officials: 
 
In carrying out any of the provisions thereof, or in exercising any power or authority granted to the Contracting Officer by 
the Contract, there will be no liability upon the City nor upon its agents or authorized as its representatives, either 

Packet Page Number 37 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 23 of 45 

personally or as officials of the City of Unalaska, it being always understood that in such matters they act as agents and 
representatives of the CITY. 
 
ARTICLE 8 - OTHER WORK 
 
8.1   Related Work at Site: 

 
8.1.1   The CITY reserves the right at any time to contract for and perform other or additional work on or near the 

Work covered by the Contract. 
 
8.1.2   When separate contracts are let within the limits of the Project, the CONTRACTOR shall conduct his Work so 

as not to interfere with or hinder the work being performed by other contractors.  The CONTRACTOR shall 
join his work with that of the others in an acceptable manner and shall perform it in proper sequence to that of 
others. 

 
8.1.3   If the fact that other such work to be performed is identified or shown in the Contract Documents, the CON-

TRACTOR shall assume all liability, financial or otherwise, in connection with this Contract and indemnify 
and save harmless the City of Unalaska and its agents from any and all damages or claims that may arise 
because of inconvenience, delay, or loss experienced by the CONTRACTOR because of the presence and 
operations of other contractors. 

 
8.1.4   If the fact that such other work to be performed was not identified or shown in the Contract Documents, 

written notice thereof will be given to the CONTRACTOR prior to starting any such other work.  If the 
CONTRACTOR believes that such performance will require an increase in Contract Price or Contract Time, 
the CONTRACTOR shall notify the Contracting Officer of such required increase within fifteen (15) calendar 
days following receipt of the Contracting Officer's notice.  Should the Contracting Officer find such 
increase(s) to be justified, a Change Order will be executed. 

 
8.2   Access, Cutting, and Patching: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall afford each utility owner and any other contractor who is a party to such a direct contract with 
the CITY (or the CITY, if the CITY is performing the additional work with the CITY's employees) proper and safe access 
to the site and a reasonable opportunity for the introduction and storage of materials and equipment and the execution of 
such work and shall properly connect and coordinate the Work with the work of others.  The CONTRACTOR shall do all 
cutting, fitting and patching of the Work that may be required to make its several parts come together properly and 
integrate with such other work, the CONTRACTOR shall not endanger any work of others by cutting, excavating or 
otherwise altering their work and will only cut or alter such other work with the written consent of the Contracting 
Officer.  The duties and responsibilities of the CONTRACTOR under this paragraph are for the benefit of other 
contractors to the extent that there are comparable provisions for the benefit of the CONTRACTOR in said direct 
contracts between the CITY and other contractors. 
 
8.3   Defective Work by Others: 
 
If any part of the CONTRACTOR's Work depends for proper execution or results upon the work of any such other 
contractor, utility owner, or the CITY, the CONTRACTOR shall inspect and promptly report to the Contracting Officer in 
writing any delays, defects or deficiencies in such work that render it unavailable or unsuitable for such proper execution 
and results.  The CONTRACTOR's failure to so report will constitute an acceptance of the other work as fit and proper 
for integration with CONTRACTOR's Work except for latent or non apparent defects and deficiencies in the other work. 
 
8.4   Coordination: 
 
If the CITY contracts with others for the performance of other work at the site, Contracting Officer will have authority 
and responsibility for coordination of the activities among the various prime contractors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 24 of 45 

ARTICLE 9 - CHANGES 
 
9.1   CITY's Right to Change: 
 
Without invalidating the Contract and without notice to any Surety, the CITY may, at any time or from time to time, order 
additions, deletions or revisions in the Work within the general scope of the Contract, including but not limited to 
changes: 

 
9.1.1   In the Contract Documents; 
 
9.1.2   In the method or manner of performance of the Work; 
 
9.1.3   In City-furnished facilities, equipment, materials, services, or site; 
 
9.1.4   Directing acceleration in the performance of the Work. 

 
9.2   Authorization of Changes within the General Scope: 
 
Additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work within the general scope of the Contract as specified in 9.1 shall be 
authorized by one or more of the following ways: 

 
9.2.1   Directive (pursuant to paragraph 9.3) 
 
9.2.2   A Change Order (pursuant to paragraph 9.5) 
 
9.2.3   CITY's acceptance of Shop Drawing variations from the Contract Documents as specifically identified by the 

CONTRACTOR as required by paragraph 6.20.4. 
 

9.3   Directives: 
 

9.3.1   The Contracting Officer shall provide written clarification or interpretation of the contract documents 
(pursuant to paragraph 3.6). 

 
9.3.2   The Contracting Officer may authorize minor variations in the Work from the requirements of the Contract 

Documents which do not involve an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Time and are consistent 
with the overall intent of the Contract Documents. 

 
9.3.3   The Contracting Officer may order the Contractor to correct Defective Work or methods which are not in 

conformance with the Contract Documents. 
 
9.3.4   The Contracting Officer may direct the commencement or suspension of Work or emergency related work (as 

provided in paragraph 6.19). 
 
9.3.5   Upon the issuance of a Directive to the CONTRACTOR by the Contracting Officer, the CONTRACTOR shall 

immediately proceed with the performance of the work as prescribed by such Directive. 
 
9.3.6   If the CONTRACTOR believes that the changes noted in a Directive may cause an increase in the Contract 

Price or an extension of Contract Time, the CONTRACTOR shall immediately provide written notice to the 
Contracting Officer depicting such increases before proceeding with the Directive, except in the case of an 
emergency.  If the Contracting Officer finds the increase in Contract Price or the extension of Contract Time 
justified, a Change Order will be issued.  If however, the Contracting Officer does not find that a Change 
Order is justified, the Contracting Officer may direct the CONTRACTOR to proceed with the work.  The 
CONTRACTOR shall cooperate with the Contracting Officer in keeping complete daily records of the cost of 
such work.  If a Change Order is ultimately determined to be justified, in the absence of agreed prices and unit 
prices, payment for such work will be made on a cost of the work basis as provided in 10.4. 

 
9.4   Change Order: 
 
A change in Contract Time, Contract Price, or responsibility may be made for changes within the scope of the Work only 
by Change Order.  Upon receipt of an executed Change Order, the CONTRACTOR shall promptly proceed with the work 

Packet Page Number 38 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 25 of 45 

involved which will be performed under the applicable conditions of the Contract Documents except as otherwise spe-
cifically provided.  Changes in Contract Price and Contract Time shall be made in accordance with Article 10 and 11. 
 
9.5   Shop Drawing Variations: 
 
Variations by shop drawings shall only be eligible for consideration under 9.4 when the conditions affecting the price, 
time, or responsibility are identified by the CONTRACTOR in writing and a request for a Change Order is submitted as 
per 6.20.4. 
 
9.6   Changes Outside the General Scope; Supplemental Agreement: 
 
Any change which is outside the general scope of the Contract, as determined by the Contracting Officer, must be 
authorized by the appropriate representatives of the CITY and the CONTRACTOR. 
 
9.7   Unauthorized Work: 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Time with 
respect to any work performed that is not required by the Contract Documents as amended, modified and supplemented as 
provided in this Article 9, except in the case of an emergency as provided in paragraph 6.19 and except in the case of 
uncovering Work as provided in paragraph 12.4.2. 
 
9.8   Notification of Surety: 
 
If notice of any change affecting the general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents including, 
but not limited to, Contract Price or Contract Time is required by the provisions of any Bond to be given to a Surety, the 
giving of any such notice will be the CONTRACTOR's responsibility, and the amount of each applicable Bond will be 
adjusted accordingly. 
 
9.9   Differing Site Conditions: 

 
9.9.1   The CONTRACTOR shall promptly, and before such conditions are disturbed (except in an emergency as 

permitted by paragraph 6.19), notify the Contracting Officer in writing of:  (1) subsurface or latent physical 
conditions at the site differing materially from those indicated in the Contract, and which could not have been 
discovered by a careful examination of the site, or (2) unknown physical conditions at the site, or an unusual 
nature, differing materially from those ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of 
the character provided for in this Contract.  The Contracting Officer shall promptly investigate the conditions, 
and if the Contracting Officer finds that such conditions do materially so differ and cause an increase or 
decrease in the CONTRACTOR's cost of, or time required for, performance of this Contract, an equitable 
adjustment shall be made and the Contract modified in writing accordingly. 

 
9.9.2   Any claim for additional compensation by the CONTRACTOR under this clause shall be made in accordance 

with Article 15 and shall not be allowed unless the CONTRACTOR has first given the notice required by this 
Contract.  In the event that the Contracting Officer and the CONTRACTOR are unable to reach an agreement 
concerning an alleged differing site condition, the CONTRACTOR will be required to keep an accurate and 
detailed record which will indicate the actual cost of the work done under the alleged differing site condition.  
Failure to keep such a record shall be a bar to any recovery by reason of such alleged differing site conditions.  
The Contracting Officer shall be given the opportunity to supervise and check the keeping of such records. 

 
ARTICLE 10 - CONTRACT PRICE; COMPUTATION AND CHANGE 
 
10.1   Contract Price: 
 
The Contract Price constitutes the total compensation (subject to authorized adjustments) payable to the CONTRACTOR 
for performing the Work.  All duties, responsibilities and obligations assigned to or undertaken by the CONTRACTOR 
shall be at his expense without change in the Contract Price.  The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order 
or Supplemental Agreement. 
 
 
 
 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 26 of 45 

10.2   Claim for Price Change: 
 
Any claim for an increase or decrease in the Contract Price shall be submitted in accordance with the terms of Article 15, 
and shall not be allowed unless notice requirements of this Contract have been met. 
 
10.3   Change Order Price Determination: 
 
The value of any work covered by a Change Order for an increase or decrease in the Contract Price shall be determined in 
one of the following ways: 

 
10.3.1 Where the work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, by application of unit 

prices to the quantities of the items involved (subject to the provisions of paragraphs 10.9.1  
 
10.3.2   By mutual acceptance of a lump sum price which includes overhead and profit. 
 
10.3.3 When 10.3.1 and 10.3.2 are inapplicable, on the basis of the Cost of the Work (determined as provided in para-

graphs 10.4 and 10.5) plus a CONTRACTORS's fee for overhead and profit (determined as provided in 
paragraph 10.6). 

 
10.4 Cost of the Work: 
 
The term Cost of the Work means the sum of all costs necessarily incurred and paid by the CONTRACTOR in the proper 
performance of the work.  Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing by the CITY, such costs shall be in amount no 
higher than those prevailing in the locality of the Project, shall include only the following items and shall not include any 
of the costs itemized in paragraph 10.5: 

 
10.4.1   Payroll costs for employees in the direct employ of the CONTRACTOR in the performance of the work under 

schedules of job classifications agreed upon by the CITY and the CONTRACTOR.  Payroll costs for 
employees not employed full time on the work shall be apportioned on the basis of their time spent on the 
work.  Payroll costs shall include, but not be limited to, salaries and wages plus the cost of fringe benefits 
which shall include social security contributions, unemployment, excise and payroll taxes, workers' or 
workmen's compensation, health and retirement benefits, bonuses, sick leave, vacation and holiday pay ap-
plicable thereto.  Such employees shall include superintendents and foremen at the site.  The expenses of 
performing work after regular working hours, on Saturday, Sunday or legal holidays, shall be included in the 
above to the extent authorized by the CITY. 

 
10.4.2   Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the work, including costs of transportation 

and storage thereof, and Suppliers' field services required in connection therewith.  All cash discounts shall 
accrue to the CONTRACTOR unless the CITY deposits funds with the CONTRACTOR with which to make 
payments, in which case the cash discounts shall accrue to the CITY.  All trade discounts, rebates and refunds 
and all returns from sale of surplus materials and equipment shall accrue to the CITY, and the 
CONTRACTOR shall make provisions so that they may be obtained. 

 
10.4.3   Payments made by the CONTRACTOR to Subcontractors for work performed by Subcontractors.  If required 

by the CITY, CONTRACTOR shall obtain competitive quotes from Subcontractors or Suppliers acceptable to 
the CONTRACTOR and shall deliver such quotes to the CITY who will then determine which quotes will be 
accepted.  If a subcontract provides that the Subcontractor is to be paid on the basis of Cost of the Work Plus a 
Fee, the Subcontractor's Cost of the Work shall be determined in the same manner as the CONTRACTOR's 
Cost of Work.  All subcontracts shall be subject to the other provisions of the Contract Documents insofar as 
applicable. 

 
10.4.4   Costs of special consultants (including but not limited to engineers, architects, testing laboratories, and sur-

veyors) employed for services necessary for the completion of the work. 
 
10.4.5   Supplemental costs including the following: 

 
a. The proportion of necessary transportation, travel and subsistence expenses of the CONTRACTOR's 

employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the work. 
 

Packet Page Number 39 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 27 of 45 

b. Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, equipment, machinery, appli-
ances, office and temporary facilities at the site and hand tools not owned by the workers, which are 
consumed in the performance of the work, and cost less market value of such items used but not consumed 
which remain the property of the CONTRACTOR. 

 
c. Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery and the parts thereof whether rented from the CON-

TRACTOR or others in accordance with rental agreements approved by the CITY and the costs of transpor-
tation, loading, unloading, installation, dismantling and removal thereof - all in accordance with terms of 
said rental agreements.  The rental of any such equipment, machinery or parts shall cease when the use 
thereof is no longer necessary for the work. 

 
d. Sales, consumer, use or similar taxes related to the work, and for which the CONTRACTOR is liable, im-

posed by Regulatory Requirements. 
 
e. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence of the CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor or anyone directly 

or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, and royalty payments 
and fees for permits and licenses. 

 
f. Losses and damages (and related expenses), not compensated by insurance or otherwise, to the Work or oth-

erwise sustained by the CONTRACTOR in connection with the performance and furnishing of the Work 
provided they have resulted from causes other than the negligence of the CONTRACTOR, any 
Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may 
be liable.  Such losses shall include settlements made with the written consent and approval of the CITY.  
No such losses, damages and expenses shall be included in the Cost of the Work for the purpose of 
determining the CONTRACTOR's Fee.  If, however, any such loss or damage requires reconstruction and 
the CONTRACTOR is placed in charge thereof, the CONTRACTOR shall be paid for services a fee 
proportionate to that stated in paragraphs 10.6.2.a and 10.6.2.b. 

 
g. The cost of utilities, fuel and sanitary facilities at the site. 
 
h. Minor expenses such as long-distance telephone calls, telephone service at the site, expressage and similar 

petty cash items in connection with the work. 
 
i. Cost of premiums for additional bonds and insurance required because of changes in the work and premiums 

for property insurance coverage within the limits of the deductible amounts established by the CITY in 
accordance with Article 5. 

 
10.5   Excluded Costs: 
 
The term Cost of the Work shall not include any of the following: 

 
10.5.1 Payroll costs and other compensation of CONTRACTOR's officer, executives, principals (of partnership and 

sole proprietorships), general managers, engineers, architects, estimators, attorneys, auditors, accountants, 
purchasing and contracting agency, expediters, timekeepers, clerks and other personnel employed by 
CONTRACTOR whether at the site or in CONTRACTOR's principal or a branch office for general 
administration of the Work and not specifically included in the agreed upon schedule of job classifications 
referred to in paragraph 10.4.1 or specifically covered by paragraph 10.4.4 - all of which are to be considered 
administrative costs covered by the CONTRACTOR's Fee. 

 
10.5.2   Expenses of CONTRACTOR's principal and branch offices other than CONTRACTOR's office at the site. 
 
10.5.3   Any part of CONTRACTOR's capital expenses including interest on CONTRACTOR's capital employed for 

the Work and charges against CONTRACTOR for delinquent payments. 
 
10.5.4   Cost of premiums for all bonds and for all insurance whether or not CONTRACTOR is required by the 

Contract Documents to purchase and maintain the same (except for the cost of premiums covered by 
subparagraph 10.4.5.i above). 

 
10.5.5   Costs due to the negligence of CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed 

by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, including but not limited to, the correction of 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 28 of 45 

Defective Work, disposal of materials or equipment wrongly supplied and making good any damage to 
property. 

 
10.5.6   Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not specifically and expressly 

included in paragraph 10.4. 
 

10.6   CONTRACTOR's Fee: 
 
The CONTRACTOR's Fee allowed to CONTRACTOR for overhead and profit shall be determined as follows: 

 
10.6.1   A mutually acceptable fixed fee; or if none can be agreed upon. 
 
10.6.2   A fee based on the following percentages of the various portions of the Cost of the Work: 

 
a. For costs incurred under paragraphs 10.4.1 and 10.4.2, the CONTRACTOR's Fee shall be twenty percent; 
 
b. For costs incurred under paragraph 10.4.3, the CONTRACTOR's Fee shall be fifteen percent; and if a sub-

contract is on the basis of Cost of the Work Plus a Fee, the maximum allowable to CONTRACTOR on ac-
count of overhead and profit of all subcontractors shall be fifteen percent; 

 
c. No fee shall be payable on the basis of costs itemized under paragraphs 10.4.4, 10.4.5 and 10.5; 
 
d. The amount of credit to be allowed by the CONTRACTOR to the CITY for any such change which results 

in a net decrease in cost will be the amount of the actual net decrease plus a deduction in CONTRACTOR's 
Fee by an amount equal to ten percent of the net decrease; and 

 
e. When both additions and credits are involved in any one change, the adjustment in CONTRACTOR's Fee 

shall be computed on the basis of the net change in accordance with paragraphs 10.6.2.a through 10.6.2.d, 
inclusive. 

 
10.7   Cost Breakdown: 
 
Whenever the cost of any work is to be determined pursuant to paragraphs 10.4 and 10.5, the CONTRACTOR will 
submit in form acceptable to the CITY an itemized cost breakdown together with supporting data. 
 
 
10.8   Cash Allowances: 
 
It is understood the CONTRACTOR has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named in the Contract 
Documents and shall cause the Work so covered to be done by such Subcontractors or Suppliers and for such sums within 
the limit of the allowances as may be acceptable to the Contracting Officer.  CONTRACTOR agrees that: 

 
10.8.1  The allowances include the cost to CONTRACTOR (less any applicable trade discounts) of materials and 

equipment required by the allowances to be delivered at the site, and all applicable taxes; and 
 
10.8.2   CONTRACTOR's cost for unloading and handling on the site, labor, installation costs, overhead, profit and 

other expenses contemplated for the allowances have been included in the Contract Price and not in the 
allowances.  No demand for additional payment on account of any thereof will be valid. 

 
Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change Order will be issued to reflect actual amounts due the 
CONTRACTOR on account of Work covered by allowances, and the Contract Price shall be correspondingly 
adjusted. 

 
10.9  Unit Price Work: 

 
10.9.1  Where the Contract Documents provide that all or part of the Work is to be Unit Price Work, initially the 

Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price Work an amount equal to the sum of the established 
unit prices for each separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the estimated quantity of each item as 
indicated in the Contract.  The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work are not guaranteed and are 
solely for the purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract Price.  Determinations of the 

Packet Page Number 40 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 29 of 45 

actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by the CONTRACTOR will be made by the 
CITY in accordance with paragraph 10.9.3. 

 
10.9.2  Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by the CONTRACTOR to be adequate to 

cover the CONTRACTOR's overhead and profit for each separately identified item.  If the "Basis of Payment" 
clause in the Contract Documents relating to any unit price in the bid schedule requires that the said unit price 
cover and be considered compensation for certain work or material essential to the item, this same work or 
material will not also be measured or paid for under any other pay item which may appear elsewhere in the 
Contract Documents. 

 
10.9.3   Payment to the CONTRACTOR shall be made only for the actual quantities of work performed and accepted 

or materials furnished, in conformance with the Contract Documents.  When the accepted quantities of work 
or materials vary from the quantities stated in the bid schedule, or change documents, the CONTRACTOR 
shall accept as payment in full, payment at the stated unit prices for the accepted quantities or work and 
materials furnished, completed and accepted; except as provided below: 

 
a. When the quantity of work to be done or material to be furnished under any item, for which the total cost of 

the item exceeds 10% of the total Contract Price, is increased by more the 25 per cent of the quantity stated 
in the bid schedule, or change documents, either party to the Contract, upon demand, shall be entitled to an 
equitable unit price adjustment on the portion of the work above 125 per cent of the quantity stated in the 
bid schedule. 

 
b.  When the quantity of work to be done or material to be furnished under any major item, for which the total 

cost of the item exceeds 10% of the total Contract Price, is decreased by more than 25 per cent of the 
quantity stated in the bid schedule, or change documents either party to the contract, upon demand, shall be 
entitled to an equitable price adjustment for the quantity of work performed or material furnished, limited to 
a total payment of not more the 75 per cent of the amount originally bid for the item. 

 
10.10  Determinations for Unit Prices: 
 
The Contracting Officer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by the 
CONTRACTOR.  The Contracting Officer will review with the CONTRACTOR preliminary determinations on such 
matters before certifying the prices on the Bid Schedule.  The Contracting Officer's certification thereon will be final and 
binding on the CONTRACTOR, unless, within ten days after the date of any such decisions, the CONTRACTOR delivers 
to the Contracting Officer written notice of intention to appeal from such a decision. 
 
ARTICLE 11 - CONTRACT TIME; COMPUTATION AND CHANGE 
 
11.1  Commencement of Contract Time; Notice to Proceed: 
 
The Contract Time will commence to run on the day indicated in the Notice to Proceed.  The CONTRACTOR shall 
notify the CONTRACTING OFFICER at least fourteen (14) days in advance of the time actual construction operations 
will begin 
 
11.2  Starting the Work: 
 
No work on contract items shall be performed before the effective date of the Notice to Proceed.  The CONTRACTOR 
shall notify the Contracting Officer at lease 24 hours in advance of the time actual construction operations will begin.  
The CONTRACTOR may request a limited Notice to Proceed after award has been made, to permit him to order long 
lead materials which could cause delays in project completion.  However, granting is within the sole discretion of the 
Contracting Officer, and refusal or failure to grant a limited Notice to Proceed shall not be a basis for claiming for delay, 
extension of time, or alteration of price. 
 
11.3  Computation of Contract Time: 

 
11.3.1  When the contract time is specified on a calendar days basis, all work under the contract shall be completed 

within the number of calendar days specified.  The count of contract time begins on the day following receipt 
of the Notice to Proceed by the CONTRACTOR, if no starting day is stipulated therein.  Calendar days shall 
continue to be counted against contract time until and including the date of Final Completion of the Work. 

 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 30 of 45 

11.3.2  When the Contract completion time is specified as a fixed calendar date, it shall be the date of Final 
Completion. 

 
11.4  Time Change: 
 
The Contract Time may only be changed by a Change Order or Supplemental Agreement. 
 
11.5  Extension Due to Delays: 
 
The right of the CONTRACTOR to proceed shall not be terminated nor the CONTRACTOR charged with liquidated or 
actual damages because of any delays to the completion of the Work due to unforeseeable causes beyond the control and 
without the fault or negligence of the CONTRACTOR, including, but not restricted to the following:  acts of God or of 
the public enemy, acts of the CITY in contractual capacity, acts of another contractor in the performance of a contract 
with the CITY, floods, fires, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes, unusually severe weather and 
delays of Subcontractors or Suppliers due to such causes.  Any delay in receipt of materials on the site, caused by other 
than one of the specifically mentioned occurrences above, does not of itself justify a time extension.  Provided, that the 
CONTRACTOR shall within twenty-four (24) hours from the beginning of any such delay (unless the Contracting Officer 
shall grant a further period of the time prior to the date of final settlement of the Contract) notify the Contracting Officer 
in writing of the cause of delay.  The Contracting Officer shall ascertain the facts and the extent of the delay and extend 
the time for completing the Work when the findings of fact justify such an extension. 
 
11.6  Essence of Contract: 
 
All time limits stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract. 
 
11.7  Reasonable Completion Time: 
 
It is expressly understood and agreed by and between the CONTRACTOR and the CITY that the date of beginning and 
the time for Final Completion of the Work described herein are reasonable times for the completion of the Work. 
 
11.8  Delay Damages: 
 
Whether or not the CONTRACTOR's right to proceed with the Work is terminated, he and his sureties shall be liable for 
damages resulting from his refusal or failure to complete the Work within the specified time.  Liquidated damages for 
delay shall be paid by the CONTRACTOR or his Surety to the City in the amount as specified in the Agreement or the 
Supplementary Conditions for each Calendar Day the completion of the Work or any part thereof is delayed beyond the 
Contract Time required by the Contract, or any extension thereof.  If such amount of liquidated damages is not established 
by the Contract Documents, then the CONTRACTOR and his Surety shall be liable to the City for any actual damages 
occasioned by such delay.  The CONTRACTOR acknowledges that the liquidated damages established herein are not a 
penalty but rather constitute an estimate of damages that the City will sustain by reason of delayed completion.  These 
liquidated damages are intended as compensation for losses difficult to estimate, and include those items enumerated in 
the Supplementary Conditions or elsewhere in the Contract Documents.  These damages will continue to run both before 
and after termination in the event of default termination.  These liquidated damages do not cover excess costs of 
completion or the CITY's costs, fees, and charges related to reprocurement.  If a default termination occurs, the 
Contractor or his Surety shall pay in addition to these damages, all excess costs and expenses related to completion as 
provided by Article 14.2.5. 
 
ARTICLE 12 - QUALITY ASSURANCE 
 
12.1  Warranty and Guaranty: 
 
The CONTRACTOR warrants and guarantees to the CITY that all Work will be in accordance with the Contract 
Documents and will not be Defective.  Prompt notice of all defects shall be given to the CONTRACTOR.  All Defective 
Work, whether or not in place, may be rejected, corrected or accepted as provided for in this Article. 
 
12.2  Access to Work: 
 
The CITY and the CITY's representatives, testing agencies and governmental agencies with jurisdiction interests will 
have access to the Work at reasonable times for their observation, inspecting and testing.  The CONTRACTOR shall 
provide proper and safe conditions for such access. 

Packet Page Number 41 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 31 of 45 

 
12.3  Tests and Inspections: 
 

12.3.1  The CONTRACTOR shall give the Contracting Officer timely notice of readiness of the Work for all required 
inspections, tests or approvals. 

 
12.3.2  If Regulatory Requirements require any Work (or part thereof) to specifically be inspected, tested or approved, 

the CONTRACTOR shall assume full responsibility therefor, pay all costs in connection therewith and furnish 
the Contracting Officer the required certificates of inspection, testing or approval.  The CONTRACTOR shall 
also be responsible for and shall pay all costs in connection with any inspection or testing required in 
connection with CITY's acceptance of a Supplier of materials or equipment proposed to be incorporated in the 
Work, or of materials or equipment submitted for approval prior to the CONTRACTOR's purchase thereof for 
incorporation in the Work.  The cost of all inspections, tests and approvals in addition to the above which are 
required by the Contract Documents shall be paid by the CONTRACTOR.  The CITY may perform additional 
tests and inspections which it deems necessary to insure quality control.  All such failed tests or inspections 
shall be at the CONTRACTOR's expense. 

 
12.3.3  If any Work (including the work of others) that is to be inspected, tested or approved is covered without 

written concurrence of the Contracting Officer, it must, if requested by the Contracting Officer, be uncovered 
for observation.  Such uncovering shall be at the CONTRACTOR's expense unless the CONTRACTOR has 
given the Contracting Officer timely notice of CONTRACTOR's intention to cover the same and the 
Contracting Officer has not acted with reasonable promptness in response to such notice. 

 
12.3.4  Neither observations nor inspections, test or approvals by the CITY of others shall relieve the CONTRACTOR 

from the CONTRACTOR's obligations to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 

12.4  Uncovering Work: 
 

12.4.1  If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of the Contracting Officer, it must, if requested by the 
Contracting Officer, be uncovered for the contracting Officer's observation and replaced at the 
CONTRACTOR's expense. 

 
12.4.2  If the Contracting Officer considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work be observed, inspected or 

tested, the CONTRACTOR, at the Contracting Officer's request, shall uncover, expose or otherwise make 
available for observation, inspection or testing as the Contracting Officer may require, that portion of the 
Work in question, furnishing all necessary labor, material and equipment.  If it is found that such Work is 
Defective, the CONTRACTOR shall bear all direct, indirect and consequential costs of such uncovering, 
exposure, observation, inspection and testing and of satisfactory reconstruction, (including but not limited to 
fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys and other professionals) and the CITY shall be entitled to 
an appropriate decrease in the Contract Price.  If, however, such Work is not found to be Defective, the 
CONTRACTOR shall be allowed an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Time, or 
both, directly attributable to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing and reconstruction. 

 
12.5     CITY May Stop the Work:   
 
If the Work is Defective, or the CONTRACTOR fails to supply suitable materials or equipment, or fails to furnish or 
perform the Work in such a way that the completed Work will conform to the Contract Documents, the Contracting 
Officer may order the CONTRACTOR to stop the Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been 
eliminated; however, this right of the Contracting Officer to stop the Work shall not give rise to any duty on the part of 
the Contracting Officer to exercise this right for the benefit of the CONTRACTOR. 
 
12.6  Correction or Removal of Defective Work: 
 
If required by the Contracting Officer, the CONTRACTOR shall promptly, as directed, either correct all Defective Work, 
whether or not fabricated, installed or completed, or, if the Work has been rejected by the Contracting Officer, remove it 
from the site and replace it with Work which conforms to the requirements of the Contract Documents.  The 
CONTRACTOR shall bear all direct, indirect and consequential costs of such correction or removal (including but not 
limited to fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys and other professionals) made necessary thereby. 
 
 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 32 of 45 

12.7  One Year Correction Period:   
 
If within one year after the date of Final Completion or such longer period of time as may be prescribed by Regulatory 
Requirements or by the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by the Contract Documents or by any specific 
provision of the Contract Documents, any Work is found to be Defective, the CONTRACTOR shall promptly, without 
cost to the CITY and in accordance with the Contracting Officer's written instructions, either correct such Defective 
Work, or, if it has been rejected by the Contracting Officer, remove it from the site and replace it with conforming Work.  
If the CONTRACTOR does not promptly comply with the terms of such instructions, or in an emergency where delay 
would cause serious risk of loss or damage, the CITY may have the Defective Work corrected or the rejected Work 
removed and replaced, and all direct, indirect and consequential costs of such removal and replacement (including but not 
limited to fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys and other professionals) will be paid by the 
CONTRACTOR.  In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous service for the 
benefit of the CITY before Substantial Completion of all the Work, the correction period for the item may begin on an 
earlier date if so provided in the Specifications or by Change Order.  Provisions of this paragraph are not intended to 
shorten the Statute of Limitations for bringing an action. 
 
12.8  Acceptance of Defective Work:   
 
Instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of Defective Work, the Contracting Officer may accept 
Defective Work, the CONTRACTOR shall bear all direct, indirect and consequential costs attributable to the Contracting 
Officer's evaluation of and determination to accept such Defective Work (costs to include but not be limited to fees and 
charges of engineers, architects, attorneys and other professionals).  If any such acceptance occurs prior to final payment, 
a Change Order will be issued incorporating the necessary revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work; 
and the CITY shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract Price.  If the CITY has already made final 
payment to the CONTRACTOR, an appropriate amount shall be paid by the CONTRACTOR or his Surety to the CITY. 
 
12.9  CITY May Correct Defective Work:   
 
If the CONTRACTOR fails within a reasonable time after written notice from the Contracting Officer to proceed to cor-
rect Defective Work or to remove and replace rejected Work as required by the Contracting Officer in accordance with 
paragraph 12.6, or if the CONTRACTOR fails to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, or if the 
CONTRACTOR fails to comply with any other provision of the Contract Documents, the CITY may, after seven days' 
written notice to the CONTRACTOR, correct and remedy any such deficiency.  In exercising the rights and remedies un-
der this paragraph the CITY shall proceed expeditiously.  To the extent necessary to complete corrective and remedial 
action, the Contracting Officer may exclude the CONTRACTOR from all or part of the site, take possession of all or part 
of the Work, and suspend the CONTRACTOR's services related thereto, take possession of the CONTRACTOR's tool, 
appliances, construction equipment and machinery at the site and incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment 
stored at the site or approved remote storage sites or for which the CITY has paid the CONTRACTOR but which are 
stored elsewhere, the CONTRACTOR shall allow the Contracting Officer and his authorized representatives such access 
to the site as may be necessary to enable the Contracting Officer to exercise the rights and remedies under this paragraph.  
All direct, indirect and consequential costs of the CITY or its agents in exercising such rights and remedies will be 
charged against the CONTRACTOR, and a Change Order will be issued incorporating the necessary revisions in the 
Contract Documents with respect to the Work; and the CITY shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract 
Price.  Such direct, indirect and consequential costs will include but not be limited to fees and charges of engineers, 
architects, attorneys and other professionals, all court and arbitration costs and all cost of repair and replacement of work 
of others destroyed or damaged by correction, removal or replacement of the CONTRACTOR's Defective Work.  The 
CONTRACTOR shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract Time because of any delay in performance of the Work 
attributable to the exercise by the Contracting Officer of the CITY's rights and remedies hereunder. 
 
ARTICLE 13 - PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR AND COMPLETION 
 
13.1  Schedule of Values:   
 
The Schedule of Values established as provided in paragraph 6.6 will serve as the basis for progress payments and will be 
incorporated into a form of Application for Payment acceptable to the Contracting Officer.  Progress payments on account 
of Unit Price Work will be based on the number of units completed. 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page Number 42 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 33 of 45 

13.2  Preliminary Payments:   
 
Upon approval of the Schedule of Values the CONTRACTOR may be paid for direct costs substantiated by paid invoices 
and other prerequisite documents required by the General Requirements.  Direct costs shall include the cost of Bonds, in-
surance, approved materials stored on the site or at approved remote storage sites, deposits required by a Supplier prior to 
fabricating materials, and other approved direct mobilization costs substantiated as indicated above.  These payments 
shall be included as a part of the total Contract Price as stated in the Contract. 
 
13.3  Application for Progress Payment:   
 
The CONTRACTOR shall submit to the Contracting Officer for review an Application for Payment filled out and signed 
by the CONTRACTOR covering the Work completed as of the date of the Application for Payment and accompanied by 
such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents.  Progress payments will be made as the Work 
progresses on a monthly basis or twice a month when requested by the CONTRACTOR, but only when the approved 
invoice exceeds $10,000.00. 
 
13.4  Review of Applications for Progress Payments:   
 
Contracting Officer will, either indicate in writing a recommendation of payment, or return the Application for Payment 
to the CONTRACTOR indicating in writing the Contracting Officer's reasons for refusing to recommend payment.  If the 
latter case, the CONTRACTOR may make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application for Payment. 
 
13.5  Stored Materials and Equipment:   
 
If payment is requested on the basis of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work but delivered and suitably 
stored at the site or at another location agreed to in writing, the Application for Payment shall also be accompanied by a 
bill of sale, invoice or other documentation warranting that the CITY has received the materials and equipment free and 
clear of all charges, security interests and encumbrances and evidence that the materials and equipment are covered by 
appropriate property insurance and other arrangements to protect the CITY's interest therein, all of which will be satisfac-
tory to the Contracting Officer.  No payment will be made for perishable materials that could be rendered useless because 
of long storage periods.  No progress payment will be made for living plant materials until planted.  The payment may be 
reduced by an amount equal to transportation and handling cost if the materials are stored offsite, in a remote location, or 
will require special handling. 
 
13.6  CONTRACTOR's Warranty of Title:   
 
The CONTRACTOR warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials and equipment covered by any Application 
for Payment, whether incorporated in the Project or not, will pass to the CITY no later than the time of payment free and 
clear of any claims, liens, security interests and further obligations. 
 
13.7  Withholding of Payments:   
 
The CITY may withhold or refuse payment for any of the reasons listed below provided it gives written notice of its 
intent to withhold and of the basis for withholding: 

 
13.7.1   The Work is Defective, or completed Work has been damaged requiring correction or replacement, or has 

been installed without approval of Shop Drawing, or by an unapproved Subcontractor. 
 
13.7.2   The Contract Price has been reduced by Change Order. 
 
13.7.3   The CITY has been required to correct Defective Work or complete Work in accordance with paragraph 12.9. 
 
13.7.4   The CITY's actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events enumerated in paragraphs 14.2.1.a 

through 14.2.1.k inclusive. 
 
13.7.5   Claims have been made against the CITY or against the funds held by the CITY on account of the 

CONTRACTOR's actions or inactions in performing this Contract, or there are other items entitling the CITY 
to a set off. 

 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 34 of 45 

13.7.6   Subsequently discovered evidence or the results of subsequent inspections or test, nullify any previous 
payments for reasons stated in subparagraphs 13.7.1 through 13.7.5. 

 
13.7.7   The CONTRACTOR has failed to fulfill or is in violation of any of his obligations under any provision of this 

Contract. 
 

13.8  Retainage:   
 
At any time the CITY finds that satisfactory progress is not being made it may in addition to the amounts withheld under 
13.7 retain a maximum amount equal to 10% of the total amount earned on all subsequent progress payments.  This 
retainage may be released at such time as the Contracting Officer finds that satisfactory progress is being made. 

 
13.9  Request for Release of Funds:   
 
If the CONTRACTOR believes the basis for withholding is invalid or no longer exists, immediate written notice of the 
facts and Contract provisions on which the CONTRACTOR relies, shall be given to the CITY, together with a request for 
release of funds and adequate documentary evidence proving that the problem has been cured.  In the case of withholding 
which has occurred at the request of the Department of Labor and Workforce Development, the CONTRACTOR shall 
provide a letter from the Department of Labor stating that withholding is no longer requested.  Following such a submittal 
by the CONTRACTOR, the CITY shall have a reasonable time to investigate and verify the facts and seek additional 
assurances before determining whether release of withheld payments is justified. 

 
13.10  Substantial Completion:   
 
When the CONTRACTOR considers the Work ready for its intended use the CONTRACTOR shall notify the 
Contracting Officer in writing that the Work or a designated portion thereof is substantially complete (except for items 
specifically listed by the CONTRACTOR as incomplete) and request that the CITY issue a certificate of Substantial 
Completion.  Within a reasonable time thereafter, the Contracting Officer, the CONTRACTOR and appropriate Con-
sultant(s) shall make an inspection of the Work to determine the status of completion.  If the Contracting Officer does not 
consider the Work substantially complete, the Contracting Officer will notify the CONTRACTOR in writing giving the 
reasons therefor.  If the Contracting Officer considers the Work substantially complete, the Contracting Officer will 
within fourteen days execute and deliver to the CONTRACTOR a certificate of Substantial Completion with tentative list 
of items to be completed or corrected.  At the time of delivery of the certificate of Substantial Completion the Contracting 
Officer will deliver to the CONTRACTOR a written division of responsibilities pending Final Completion with respect to 
security, operation, safety, maintenance, heat, utilities, insurance and warranties which shall be consistent with the terms 
of the Contract Documents.  The CITY shall be responsible for all CITY costs resulting from the initial inspection and the 
first re-inspection, the CONTRACTOR shall pay all costs incurred by the CITY resulting from re-inspections, thereafter. 
 
13.11  Access Following Substantial Completion:   
 
The CITY shall have the right to exclude the CONTRACTOR from the Work after the date of Substantial Completion, 
but the CITY shall allow CONTRACTOR reasonable access to complete or correct items on the tentative list. 
 
13.12  Final Inspection:   
 
Upon written notice from the CONTRACTOR that the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is complete, the 
Contracting Officer will make a final inspection with the CONTRACTOR and appropriate Consultants and will notify the 
CONTRACTOR in writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the Work is incomplete or Defective.  
The CONTRACTOR shall immediately take such measures as are necessary to remedy such deficiencies.  The 
CONTRACTOR shall pay for all costs incurred by the CITY resulting from re-inspections. 
 
13.13  Final Application for Payment:   
 
After the CONTRACTOR has completed all such corrections to the satisfaction of the Contracting Officer and delivered 
all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates of payment to all laborers, 
Subcontractors and Suppliers, certificates of inspection, marked-up record documents and other documents - all as re-
quired by the Contract Documents, and after the Contracting Officer has indicated that the Work is acceptable (subject to 
the provisions of paragraph 13.17), the CONTRACTOR may make application for final payment following the procedure 
for progress payments.  The final Application for Payment shall be accompanied by all certificates, warranties, guaranties, 
releases, affidavits, and other documentation required by the Contract Documents. 

Packet Page Number 43 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 35 of 45 

 
13.14   Final Payment and Final Completion: 

 
13.14.1 If on the basis of the Contracting Officer's observation of the Work during construction and final inspection, 

and the Contracting Officer's review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation - 
all as required by the Contract Documents, the Contracting Officer is satisfied that the Work has been 
completed and the CONTRACTOR's other obligations under the Contract Documents have been fulfilled, the 
CITY will process final Application for Payment.  Otherwise, the Contracting Officer will return the 
Application for Payment to the CONTRACTOR, indicating in writing the reasons for refusing to process final 
payment, in which case the CONTRACTOR shall make the necessary corrections and resubmit the final 
Application for Payment. 

 
13.14.2 If, through no fault of the CONTRACTOR, Final Completion of the Work is significantly delayed, the 

Contracting Officer shall, upon receipt of the CONTRACTOR's final Application for Payment, and without 
terminating the Contract, make payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work fully completed and 
accepted.  If the remaining balance to be held by the CITY for Work not fully completed or corrected is less 
than the retainage provided for in paragraph 13.8, and if Bonds have been furnished as required in paragraph 
5.1, the written consent of the Surety to the payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work fully 
completed and accepted shall be submitted by the CONTRACTOR to the CITY with the application for such 
payment.  Such payment shall be made under the terms and conditions governing final payment, except that it 
shall not constitute a waiver of claims. 

 
13.14.3 In addition to other requirements, final payment shall not be due until CITY’s receipt of verification from the 

State of Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development (“the Department”) that (i) Contractor has 
complied with AS 36.05.045(a) and (ii) the Department is not conducting an investigation and (iii) the 
Department has not issued a notice of violation of AS 36.05 to Contractor or to any subcontractor. 

 
13.14.4 The Contractor shall furnish the attached forms fully executed prior to the City making final payment.  

These forms include the Affidavit of Release of Liens by the Contractor; Lien Release Form; and the 
Lien Release General to City.  The forms will be made available to the contractor in electronic format 
upon request.   

 
13.15  Final Acceptance:   
 
Following receipt of the CONTRACTOR's Release with no exceptions, and certification that laborers, Subcontractors and 
materialmen have been paid, certification of payment of payroll and sales taxes and revenue taxes, and final payment to 
the CONTRACTOR, the CITY will issue a letter of Final Acceptance, releasing the CONTRACTOR from further obliga-
tions under the Contract, except as provided in paragraph 13.16. 
 
13.16  CONTRACTOR's Continuing Obligation:   
 
The CONTRACTOR's obligation to perform and complete the Work and pay all laborers, Subcontractors, and 
materialmen in accordance with the Contract Documents shall be absolute.  Neither any progress or final payment by the 
CITY, nor the issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion, nor any use or occupancy of the Work or any part 
thereof by the CITY, nor any act of acceptance by the CITY nor any failure to do so, nor any review and approval of a 
Shop Drawing or sample submission, nor any correction of Defective Work by the CITY will constitute an acceptance of 
Work not in accordance with the Contract Documents or a release of the CONTRACTOR's obligation to perform the 
Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
13.17  Waiver of Claims by CONTRACTOR:   
 
The making and acceptance of final payment will constitute a waiver of all claims by the CONTRACTOR against the 
CITY other than those previously made in writing and still unsettled. 
 
13.18  No Waiver of Legal Rights:   
 
The CITY shall not be precluded or be stopped by any payment, measurement, estimate, or certificate made either before 
or after the completion and acceptance of the Work and payment therefor, from showing the true amount and character of 
the Work performed and materials furnished by the CONTRACTOR, nor from showing that any payment, measurement, 
estimate or certificate is untrue or is incorrectly made, or that the Work or materials are Defective.  The CITY shall not be 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 36 of 45 

precluded or stopped, notwithstanding any such measurement, estimate, or certificate and payment in accordance 
therewith, from recovering from the CONTRACTOR or his Sureties, or both, such damages as it may sustain by reason of 
his failure to comply with requirements of the Contract Documents.  Neither the acceptance by the CITY, or any 
representative of the CITY, nor any payment for or acceptance of the whole or any part of the Work, nor any extension of 
the Contract Time, nor any possession taken by the CITY, shall operate as a waiver of any portion of the Contract, or of 
the power herein reserved, or of any right to damages.  A waiver by the CITY of any breach of the Contract shall not be 
held to be a waiver of any other subsequent breach. 
 
ARTICLE 14 - SUSPENSION OF WORK, DEFAULT AND TERMINATION 
 
14.1  CITY May Suspend Work: 

 
14.1.1   The CITY may, at any time suspend the Work or any portion thereof by notice in writing to the 

CONTRACTOR.  If the Work is suspended without cause the CONTRACTOR shall be allowed an increase in 
the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Time, or both, directly attributable to any suspension if the 
CONTRACTOR makes an approved claim therefor as provided in Article 15.  However, no adjustment shall 
be made under this clause for any suspension, delay, or interruption to the extent that suspension is due to the 
fault or negligence of the CONTRACTOR, or that suspension is necessary for Contract compliance, or that 
performance would have been so suspended, delayed, or interrupted by any other cause, including the fault or 
negligence of the CONTRACTOR. 

 
14.1.2   In case of suspension of Work, the CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for preventing damage to or loss of 

any of the Work already performed and of all materials whether stored on or off the site or approved remote 
storage sites. 

 
14.2   Default of Contract: 

 
14.2.1  If the CONTRACTOR: 

 
a.  Fails to begin the Work under the Contract within the time specified in the "Proposal", or 

 
b.  Fails to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, failure 

to supply sufficient skilled workmen or suitable materials or equipment or failure to adhere to the progress 
schedule established under paragraph 6.6 as revised from time to time), or 

 
c.  Performs the Work unsuitably or neglects or refuses to remove materials or to correct Defective Work. 

 
d.  Discontinues the prosecution of the Work, or 

 
e.  Fails to resume Work which has been discontinued within a reasonable time after notice to do so, or 

 
f.  Becomes insolvent or is declared bankrupt, or commits any act of bankruptcy or insolvency except as 

prohibited by 11 U.S.C. 363e, or 
 

g.  Allows any final judgment to stand against him unsatisfied for period of 60 days, or 
 

h.  Makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors without the consent of the Contracting Officer, or 
 

i.  Disregards Regulatory Requirements, or 
 

j.  Otherwise violates in any substantial way any provisions of the Contract Documents, or 
 

k. For any cause whatsoever, fails to carry on the Work in an acceptable manner, the Contracting Officer may 
give notice in writing to the CONTRACTOR and his Surety of such delay, neglect, or default. 

 
If the CONTRACTOR or Surety, within the time specified in the above Notice of Default, shall not proceed in 
accordance therewith, then the CITY may, upon written notification from the Contracting Officer of the fact of 
such delay, neglect or default and the CONTRACTOR's failure to comply with such notice, have full power 
and authority without violating the Contract, to take the prosecution of the Work out of the hands of the 
CONTRACTOR.  The CITY may terminate the services of the CONTRACTOR, exclude the CONTRACTOR 

Packet Page Number 44 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 37 of 45 

from the site and take possession of the Work and of all the CONTRACTOR's tools, appliances, construction 
equipment and machinery at the site and use the same to the full extent they could be used by the CON-
TRACTOR (without liability to the CONTRACTOR for trespass or conversion), incorporate in the Work all 
materials and equipment stored at the site or for which the CITY has paid the CONTRACTOR but which are 
stored elsewhere, and finish the Work as the CITY may deem expedient.  The CITY may enter into an 
agreement for the completion of said Contract according to the terms and provisions thereof, or use such other 
methods that in the opinion of the Contracting Officer are required for the completion of said Contract in an 
acceptable manner. 

 
14.2.3 The Contracting Officer may, by written notice to the CONTRACTOR and his Surety or his representative, 

transfer the employment of the Work from the CONTRACTOR to the Surety, or if the CONTRACTOR 
abandons the Work undertaken under the Contract, the Contracting Officer may, at his option with written 
notice to the Surety and without any written notice to the CONTRACTOR, transfer the employment for said 
Work directly to the Surety.  The Surety shall submit its plan for completion of the Work, including any 
contracts or agreements with third parties for such completion, to the CITY for approval prior to beginning 
completion of the Work.  Approval of such contracts shall be in accordance with all applicable requirements 
and procedures for approval of subcontracts as stated in the Contract Documents. 

 
14.2.4   Upon receipt of the notice terminating the services of the CONTRACTOR, the Surety shall enter upon the 

premises and take possession of all materials, tools, and appliances thereon for the purpose of completing the 
Work included under the Contract and employ by contract or otherwise any person or persons to finish the 
Work and provide the materials therefor, without termination of the continuing full force and effect of this 
Contract.  In case of such transfer of employment to the Surety, the Surety shall be paid in its own name on 
estimates covering Work subsequently performed under the terms of the Contract and according to the terms 
thereof without any right of the CONTRACTOR to make any claim for the same or any part thereof. 

 
14.2.5   If the Contract is terminated for default, the CONTRACTOR and the Surety shall be jointly and severally li-

able for damages for delay as provided by Article 11.8, and for the excess cost of completion, and all costs and 
expenses incurred by the CITY in completing the Work or arranging for completion of the Work, including 
but not limited to costs of assessing the Work to be done, costs associated with advertising, soliciting or 
negotiating for bids or proposals for completion, and other reprocurement costs.  Following termination the 
CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to receive any further balance of the amount to be paid under the 
contract until the work is fully finished and accepted, at which time if the unpaid balance exceeds the amount 
due the CITY and any amounts due to persons for whose benefit the CITY has withheld funds, such excess 
shall be paid by the CITY to the CONTRACTOR.  If the damages, costs, and expenses due the CITY exceed 
the unpaid balance, the CONTRACTOR and his Surety shall pay the difference. 

 
14.2.6   If, after notice of termination of the CONTRACTOR's right to proceed under the provisions of this clause, it is 

determined for any reason that the CONTRACTOR was not in default under the provisions of this clause, or 
that the delay was excusable under the provisions of this clause, or that termination was wrongful, the rights 
and obligations of the parties shall be determined in accordance with the clause providing for convenience 
termination. 

 
14.3  Rights or Remedies: 
 
Where the CONTRACTOR's services have been so terminated by the CITY, the termination will not affect any rights or 
remedies of the CITY against the CONTRACTOR then existing or which may thereafter accrue.  Any retention or pay-
ment of moneys due the CONTRACTOR by the CITY will not release the CONTRACTOR from liability. 
 
14.4   Convenience Termination: 

 
14.4.1   The performance of the Work may be terminated by the CITY in accordance with this section in whole or in 

part, whenever, for any reason the Contracting Officer shall determine that such termination is in the best 
interest of the CITY.  Any such termination shall be effected by delivery to the CONTRACTOR of a Notice of 
Termination, specifying termination is for the convenience of the CITY the extent to which performance of 
Work is terminated, and the date upon which such termination becomes effective.  Immediately upon receipt 
of a Notice of Termination and except as otherwise directed by the Contracting Officer the CONTRACTOR 
shall: 

 
a. Stop Work on the date and to the extent specified in the Notice of Termination; 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 38 of 45 

 
b. Place no further orders or subcontracts for materials, services, or facilities except as may be necessary for 

completion of such portion of the Work as is not terminated; 
 
c. Terminate all orders and subcontracts to the extent that they relate to the performance of Work terminated 

by the Notice of Termination; 
 
d. With the written approval of the Contracting Officer, to the extent he may require, settle all outstanding 

liabilities and all claims arising out of such termination of orders and subcontracts, the cost of which would 
be reimbursable, in whole, or in part, in accordance with the provisions of the Contract; 

 
e. Submit to the Contracting Officer a list, certified as to quantity and quality, of any or all items of 

termination inventory exclusive of items the disposition of which had been directed or authorized by the 
Contracting Officer; 

 
f. Transfer to the Contracting Officer the completed or partially completed record drawings, Shop Drawings, 

information, and other property which, if the Contract had been completed, would be required to be 
furnished to the CITY; 

 
g. Take such action as may be necessary, or as the Contracting Officer may direct, for the protection and pres-

ervation of the property related to the Contract which is in the possession of the CONTRACTOR and in 
which the CITY has or may acquire any interest. The CONTRACTOR shall proceed immediately with the 
performance of the above obligations. 

 
14.4.2   When the CITY orders termination of the Work effective on a certain date, all Work in place as of that date 

will be paid for in accordance with the Basis of Payment clause of the Contract.  Materials required for 
completion and on hand but not incorporated in the Work will be paid for at cost plus 15% with materials 
becoming the property of the CITY - or the CONTRACTOR may retain title to the materials and be paid an 
agreed upon lump sum.  Materials on order shall be canceled, and the CITY shall pay reasonable factory 
cancellation charges with the option of taking delivery of the materials in lieu of payment of cancellation 
charges.  The CONTRACTOR shall be paid 10% of the cost, freight not included, of materials canceled, and 
direct expenses only for CONTRACTOR chartered freight transport which cannot be canceled without 
charges, to the extent that the CONTRACTOR can establish them.  The extra costs due to cancellation of 
Bonds and insurance and that part of job start-up and phase-out costs not amortized by the amount of Work 
accomplished shall be paid by the CITY.  Charges for loss of profit or consequential damages shall not be 
recoverable except as provided above. 

 
14.4.3   The termination claim shall be submitted promptly, but in no event later than 90 days from the effective date 

of termination, unless one or more extensions in writing are granted by the Contracting Officer upon request of 
the CONTRACTOR made in writing within the 90-day period.  Upon failure of the CONTRACTOR to submit 
his termination claim within the time allowed, the Contracting Officer may determine, on the basis of 
information available to him, the amount, if any, due to the CONTRACTOR by reason of the termination and 
shall thereupon pay to the CONTRACTOR so determined. 

 
14.4.4   The CONTRACTOR and the Contracting Officer may agree upon whole or any part of the amount or amounts 

to be paid to the CONTRACTOR by reason of the total or partial termination of the Work pursuant to this 
section.  The Contract shall be amended accordingly, and the CONTRACTOR shall be paid the agreed 
amount.  In the event of the failure of the CONTRACTOR and the Contracting Officer to agree in whole or in 
part, as provided heretofore, as to the amounts with respect to costs to be paid to the CONTRACTOR in 
connection with the termination of the Work the Contracting Officer shall determine, on the basis of 
information available to him, the amount, if any, due to the CONTRACTOR by reason of the termination and 
shall pay to the CONTRACTOR the amount determined as follows: 

 
a. All costs and expenses reimbursable in accordance with the Contract not previously paid to the 

CONTRACTOR for the performance of the Work prior to the effective date of the Notice of Termination; 
 
b. So far as not included under "a" above, the cost of settling and paying claims arising out of the termination 

of the Work under subcontracts or orders which are properly chargeable to the terminated portions of the 
Contract; 

 

Packet Page Number 45 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 39 of 45 

c. The reasonable costs of settlement with respect to the terminated portion of the Contract heretofore, to the 
extent that these costs have not been covered under the payment provisions of the Contract. 

 
14.4.5   The CONTRACTOR shall have the right of appeal under the CITY's claim procedures, as defined in Article 

15, for any determination made by the Contracting Officer, except if the CONTRACTOR has failed to submit 
his claim within the time provided and has failed to request extension of such time, CONTRACTOR shall 
have no such right of appeal.  In arriving at the amount due the CONTRACTOR under this section, there shall 
be deducted: 

 
a. All previous payments made to the CONTRACTOR for the performance of Work under the Contract prior 

to termination; 
 
b. Any claim which the CITY may have against the CONTRACTOR; 
 
c. The agreed price for, or the proceeds of sale of, any materials, supplies, or other things acquired by the 

CONTRACTOR or sold pursuant to the provisions of this section and not otherwise recovered by or 
credited to the CITY; and, 

 
d. All progress payments made to the CONTRACTOR under the provisions of this section. 

 
14.4.6   Where the Work has been terminated by the CITY said termination shall not affect or terminate any of the 

rights of the CITY against the CONTRACTOR or his Surety then existing or which may thereafter accrue 
because of such default.  Any retention or payment of monies by the CITY due to the CONTRACTOR under 
the terms of the Contract shall not release the CONTRACTOR or his Surety from liability.  Unless otherwise 
provided for in the Contract Documents, or by applicable statute, the CONTRACTOR, from the effective date 
of termination and for a period of three years after final settlement under this Contract, shall preserve and 
make available to the CITY at all reasonable times at the office of the CONTRACTOR, all its books, records, 
documents, and other evidence bearing on the cost and expenses of the CONTRACTOR under his Contract 
and relating to the Work terminated hereunder.  

 
ARTICLE 15 - CLAIMS AND DISPUTES 
 
15.1  Notification:   
 

15.1.1   In addition to the notice requirements set out elsewhere in this Contract, if the CONTRACTOR becomes 
aware of any act or occurrence which may form the basis of a claim by the CONTRACTOR for additional 
compensation or an extension of time for performance, or if any dispute arises regarding a question of fact or 
interpretation of the contract, the CONTRACTOR shall immediately inform the Project Manager.  

 
15.1.2  If the matter cannot be resolved by agreement within 7 days, the CONTRACTOR shall, within the next 14 

days, submit an Intent to Claim in writing to the Project Manager.  
 
15.1.3 If the claim or dispute is not resolved by the City, then the CONTRACTOR shall submit a written claim to 

the Project Manager, in writing, within 90 days after the CONTRACTOR becomes aware of the basis of the 
claim or should have known the basis of the claim, whichever is earlier.  

 
15.1.4  CONTRACTOR waives any right to claim if the PROJECT MANAGER was not notified properly or 

afforded the opportunity to inspect conditions or monitor actual costs or if the Claim is not submitted within 
the time required.   

 
15.2  Presenting Claim: 
 
The Claim shall specifically include the following: 

 
15.2.1   The act, event or condition giving rise to the claim. 
15.2.2   The Contract provisions which apply to the claim and under which relief is provided. 
15.2.3   The item or items of Contract Work affected and how they are affected. 
15.2.4   The specific relief requested, including contract time if applicable, and the basis upon which it was calculated. 

 
15.3  Claim Validity, Additional Information, and Project Manager's Actions:   

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 40 of 45 

 
The Claim, in order to be valid, must not only show that the CONTRACTOR suffered damages or delay but that those 
conditions were actually a result of the act, event or condition complained of and that the Contract provides entitlement to 
relief to the CONTRACTOR for such act, event, or condition.  The Project Manager reserves the right to make written 
request to the CONTRACTOR at any time for additional information which the CONTRACTOR may possess relative to 
the Claim.  The CONTRACTOR agrees to provide the Project Manager such additional information within 30 days of 
receipt of such a request.  Failure to furnish such additional information may be regarded as a waiver of the Claim.  The 
Claim, if not resolved by agreement within 60 days of its receipt, will automatically be forwarded to the Contracting 
Officer for formal written decision. 
 
15.4  Contracting Officer's Decision:   
 
The CONTRACTOR will be furnished the Contracting Officer's Decision within the next 90 days, unless additional in-
formation is requested by the Contracting Officer.  The Contracting Officer's Decision is final and conclusive unless 
fraudulent as to the Claim. 
 
15.5  Notice of Appeal:   
 
Within 30 days of receipt of the Decision, the CONTRACTOR may deliver a Notice of Appeal to the City Manager of 
Unalaska, Alaska.  The Notice of Appeal shall include specific exceptions to the Contracting Officer's Decision, including 
specific provisions of the contract, which the CONTRACTOR intends to rely upon in the appeal.  General assertions that 
the Contracting Officer's decision is contrary to law or fact are not sufficient. 
 
15.6   City Manager's Decision: 
 
The decision of the City Manager will be rendered within 120 days of Notice of Appeal.  This decision constitutes the 
exhaustion of contractual and administrative remedies.  The time limits given above may only be extended by mutual 
consent.  The decision of the City Manager shall be final and conclusive unless the CONTRACTOR commences action 
through the court within 120 days from receipt thereof.  

Packet Page Number 46 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 41 of 45 

AFFIDAVIT OF RELEASE OF LIENS BY THE CONTRACTOR 
 
 
TO ALL WHOM IT MAY CONCERN: 
 
WHEREAS, the undersigned has been employed by City of Unalaska to furnish labor and materials 
under a contract dated                            for the ______________________________, in the Unalaska, 
Alaska of which the City of Unalaska is the Owner. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, this _____ day of __________________, 201__, the undersigned, as the 
Contractor for the above-named Contract pursuant to the Conditions of the Contract, hereby certifies 
that to the best of his knowledge, information and behalf, except as listed below, the Releases or 
Waivers of Lien* attached hereto include the Contractor, all subcontractors, all suppliers of materials 
and equipment, and all performers of work, labor or services, who have or may have liens against any 
property of the Owner and on the monies or other considerations due or to become due from the Owner 
arising in any manner out of the performance of the Contract referenced above. 
 
EXCEPTIONS:  (If none, write "None."  If required by the Owner, the Contractor shall furnish bond 
satisfactory to the Owner for each Exception.) __________________________. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
1. Contractor's Release or Waiver of Liens, conditional upon receipt of final payment. 
 
2. Separate Release or Waiver of Liens from Subcontractors and material and equipment suppliers. 
 
 
 

Contractor (Name of sole ownership corporation or partnership) 
 
 
(Signature of Authorized Representative) 
 
 
Title 
 
* The word lien as used herein shall include Stop Orders, Stop Notices, or Freeze Orders on the 

monies other consideration of the Owner that are due or to become due on the Contract 
referenced above. 

 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 42 of 45 

        [INSERT GENERAL CONTRACTOR NAME].  
      (“Contractor”) 
 
 
           Unconditional Waiver and Release of 
            Lien/Claim for Subcontractor Upon 
     Final Payment 
 
Project Name and Location:     Company Name: 
 
___________________    [INSERT SUB NAME]   
___________________      
Project # _________     (“Payee”) 
 
_________________ 
Unalaska, Alaska 
 
 
AMOUNT OF PAYMENT: ______________ 
 
 WHEREAS,  
  
 ____________________________________, being first duly sworn, states that he is  
[INSERT TITLE]___ of Payee which has a contract with Contractor on the above-referenced 
project. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in FINAL PAYMENT, the undersigned, for and in 
consideration of the amount of payment identified above received or to be received and other 
good and valuable consideration , the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, does hereby 
waive and release any and all liens or right of liens or claims on the aforementioned property 
and all improvements thereon, and on monies or other consideration due or to become due on 
account of labor or services, materials, fixtures, or apparatus heretofore furnished, or which 
may be furnished at anytime hereafter, and do hereby further release and forever discharge the 
City of Unalaska  and Contractor, and any payment and performance bond surety, of and from 
all manner of debts, claims, demands or other sums due or claimed to be due or owed on 
account of the above-referenced project and/or the above-referenced contract. 
 
 THIS WAIVER AND RELEASE IS UNCONDITIONAL, save and except only the 
receipt of payment and final bank clearance of said remittance in the above-stated amount. 
 
 THE UNDERSIGNED further warrant that; 1)  no other sums are claimed, 2) that all 
laborers, subcontractors, and suppliers employed by Payee. have been paid all sums previously 
due, and will be paid all current sums due out of this payment, 3)  that none of such laborers, 
subcontractors or suppliers is or will be entitled to claim or assert any claim against the above-
described real estate or the improvements thereon for labor or materials furnished to or for the 
account of Contractor; 4) there are no federal, state or municipal taxes or other charges unpaid 
or delinquent. 
 
 
 

Packet Page Number 47 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 43 of 45 

EXCEPT as set forth below: 
 
EXCEPTIONS: 
 
 Person       Amount 
 
___________________________________  ________________ 
 
___________________________________  ________________ 
 
_____________________________________ ________________ 
 

Upon request, Payee shall list the names of each of its subcontractors and suppliers, 
with contract and payment status, and furnish waivers from said parties. 
  
 THE PERSONS SIGNING below, by signing, do hereby certify that he/she is fully 
authorized and empowered to execute this instrument and to bind the Company hereto. 
 
 DATED: ___________________  ___________________________  
 
       By:   __________________________ 
         
 DATED: ___________________  ___________________________  
 
       By:        
_____________________________         
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     ) ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
 THIS IS TO CERTIFY that on this ____ day of _____________________, 20     , 
before me appeared ________________, who acknowledged being the 
_________________________________, an Alaska corporation, and voluntarily signing and 
sealing the foregoing instrument on behalf of said Corporation, and being authorized so to do. 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      Notary Public in and for Alaska 
      My Commission Expires:________________ 
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     ) ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this __ day of _____________, 201_. 
 
      ________________________________________ 
      Notary Public For Alaska 
      My Commission Expires: __________________ 

  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 44 of 45 

          CITY OF UNALASKA 
 
           Receipt and Waiver and Release of 
            Claim for Contractor Upon Final Payment 
 
Project Name and Location:     Company Name: 
 
________________________    [INSERT CONTRACTOR 

NAME] 
_______________________     “CONTRACTOR”  

  
Unalaska, Alaska     
 
 
PAYMENT AMOUNT:           
______________ 
 
 WHEREAS, _____________, being first duly sworn, states that he is [INSERT TITLE] 
of CONTRACTOR, general contractor to the City of Unalaska for the above-referenced 
project. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in FINAL PAYMENT, the undersigned, for and in 
consideration of the PAYMENT AMOUNT identified above and other good and valuable 
consideration paid  or to be paid to CONTRACTOR, the receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged,  CONTRACTOR does hereby waive and release any and all liens or right of 
liens or claims on the aforementioned property and all improvements thereon, and on monies or 
other consideration due or to become due on account of labor or services, materials, fixtures, or 
apparatus heretofore furnished, or which may be furnished at any time hereafter, and does 
hereby further release and forever discharge the City of Unalaska of and from all manner of 
debts, claims, demands or other sums due or claimed to be due or owed on account of the 
above-referenced project and/or the above-referenced contract. 
 
 THIS WAIVER AND RELEASE IS UNCONDITIONAL, save and except only; 1)  the 
receipt of payment and final bank clearance of said remittance in the above-stated amount; and 
2) the Exceptions identified below or in the Contractor’s affidavit attached hereto. 
 
 EXCEPTIONS: 
 
  Person       Amount 
 
________________________________    ___________ 
 
_________________________________    ___________ 
 
 THE UNDERSIGNED further warrants that; 1) no other sums are claimed, 2) that all 
laborers, subcontractors, and suppliers employed by Contractor have been paid all sums 
previously due, and will be paid all current sums due out of this payment, 3) that none of such 
laborers, subcontractors or suppliers is or will be entitled to claim or assert any claim against 
the above-described real estate or the improvements thereon or any surety bond related to the 

Packet Page Number 48 



  

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS Page 45 of 45 

Project for labor or materials furnished to or for the account of Contractor; and 4) there are no 
federal, state or municipal taxes or other charges unpaid or delinquent.   
 
 THIS WAIVER AND RELEASE IS UNCONDITIONAL, save and except only the 
receipt of payment and final bank clearance of said remittance in the above-stated amount 
 
 THE PERSONS SIGNING below, by signing, do hereby certify that he/she is fully 
authorized and empowered to execute this instrument and to bind Contractor hereto. 
 
       
      CONTRACTOR. 
 
DATED: ___________________ BY: ______________________________________ 
             
            , 

[insert title] 
                
 
STATE OF ALASKA  ) 
     ) ss. 
THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT ) 
 THIS IS TO CERTIFY that on this ____ day of _____________________, 20    , before 
me appeared ____________, who acknowledged to me that he was the ___________ of  
    , and he acknowledged to me that he had, in his official capacity 
aforesaid, executed the foregoing documents as the free act and deed of said Corporation, for 
the uses stated therein. 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      Notary Public in and for Alaska 
      My Commission Expires:________________ 
 
 
 
 
    
 

 
SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS Page 1 of 1 

Section 00800 
SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS  

 
REFERENCE:  1. "GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT", constitutes the General Conditions of this 
Contract and is further revised and supplemented by the provisions of these Supplementary Conditions 
to the Contract, hereinafter called the "Supplementary Conditions."  The General Conditions and the 
Supplementary Conditions are applicable to all of the Work under this Contract and shall apply to the 
Contractor and all Subcontractors.   
 
SUPPLEMENTS:  2. The following supplements modify, change, delete, or add to the General Conditions.  
Where any article of the General Conditions is modified or any paragraph deleted, subparagraph or 
clause thereof is modified, or deleted by these supplements, the unaltered provisions of such article, 
paragraph, subparagraph or clause shall remain in effect. 
 
SC-1 ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS, Add the following: 
 
OWNER - The OWNER and CONTRACTING OFFICER 
are further defined as: 
 
City of Unalaska 
Department of Public Works 
P.O. Box 610 
Unalaska, Alaska  99685-0610 
Tel. (907) 581-1260 
FAX (907) 581-2187 
Attn:  Marc Kielmeyer City Engineer 
Email: mkielmeyer@ci.unalaska.ak.us  

ENGINEER - The ENGINEER is further defined as: 
 
 
Regan Engineering, P.C. 
P.O. Box 889 
Camas, WA 98607 
Tel. (360) 903-5064 
Attn:  Thomas Regan, P.E. 
Email: tom@reganengineering.com  
 

 
SC-2 ARTICLE 3 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS: INTENT, AMENDING, REUSE 
 
Delete “3.2  The CITY shall furnish to the CONTRACTOR up to six copies of the Contract Documents.  
Additional copies will be furnished, upon request, at the cost of reproduction.” 
  
Change to: 
“3.2  The CITY shall furnish to the CONTRACTOR electronic files of the Contract Documents and 
associated Exhibits in pdf format.  The CONTRACTOR shall make their own provisions to obtain paper 
copies from an appropriate reproduction establishment.” 
 
SC-3 ARTICLE 5 – BONDS, INSURANCE, AND INDEMNIFICATION 
 
Item 5.4 Insurance Requirements, 5.4.1, add the following: 
 
“Regan Engineering, P.C. shall be named as additional insured with a waiver of subrogation under the 
insurance coverage so specified and where allowed.” 
 
Item 5.4 Insurance Requirements, 5.4.3; Delete item 10 from the General Conditions.  Builders Risk 
insurance is not required for this project. 
 
SC-4 ARTICLE 11 - CONTRACT TIME; COMPUTATION AND CHANGE 
 
11.2 Starting the Work; Change the second sentence to read as follows: 
  
“CONTRACTOR shall notify the CONTRACTING OFFICER at least fourteen (14) days in advance of the time 
actual construction operations will begin.”       

Packet Page Number 49 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Part 4 

MINIMUM RATES OF PAY 

 

 

Contractor shall comply with all State labor regulations, including State of Alaska Title 36, Public 
Contracts, otherwise known as the Little Davis-Bacon Act, and all labor regulations and minimum 
rates of pay contained therein. 

 

State Wage Rates 

State Wage Rates can be obtained at http://labor.alaska.gov/lss/pamp600.htm. Use the State 

wage rates that are in effect 10 days before Bid Opening. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Part 5 

TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Packet Page Number 50 



CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 1 - GENERAL 
  Section 01010  
  SUMMARY OF WORK 
 

   
Page 01010-1  

SUMMARY OF WORK 
 

SECTION 01010  GENERAL 

Article 1.1 Related Documents 

A. Drawings and general provisions of the Contract, including General and Supplementary Conditions 
and other Specification Sections, apply to this Section. 

Article 1.2 Work Covered by Contract Documents 

A. The work will include, but not be limited to, furnishing all labor, tools, equipment, and materials and 
performing all operations in connection with the CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE.  The Work 
includes construction of a 16” Ductile Iron and PVC Pipe waterline including valves, hydrants, 
services, and appurtenant items.  Phase 1 extends from Westward Seafoods, Inc. (WSI) to Offshore 
Systems, Inc. (OSI), a distance of 7,097 linear feet.   

1. Project Location: Captains Bay Road, Unalaska, Alaska 99685 
2. Owner: City of Unalaska, Department of Public Utilities 

B. The Work will be constructed under a single prime contract.  Payment will be made for designated 
items on a unit price basis. 

Article 1.3 Work Plan 

A. The Contractor shall schedule the Work to prioritize providing active service to the North Pacific Fuel 
(NPF) area.    

B. The Contractor shall submit a schedule as required by the General Conditions plus a Work Plan no 
later than 3-weeks prior to the start of any construction.  The Work plan shall contain the following: 

1. An updated schedule with a delineation of the different work sites with work sequence, 
duration and phasing; 

2. A staging plan with designated sites for storage of pipe, appurtenant items and earthen 
materials; 

3. Demonstrated coordination with owners and lessees along or affected by the proposed 
construction including WSI, NPF, OSI, AML, Lynden Transport, private land owners including 
native allotments, and Trident Seafoods.   

Article 1.4 Meetings 

A. The Contractor and relevant subcontractors shall attend and participate in scheduled progress 
meetings during construction.  Meetings will be held as frequently as once per week or as otherwise 
agreed to by the City.   Meeting agenda and minutes will be prepared and organized by the Owners 
representative.  At each meeting, the agenda shall include but not be limited to the following:   

1. Review of outstanding action items and determination of disposition. 

2. Review of status of project data submittals. 

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 1 - GENERAL 
  Section 01010  
  SUMMARY OF WORK 
 

   
Page 01010-2  

SUMMARY OF WORK 
 

3. Discussion of upcoming work.  Contractor shall prepare for each meeting a schedule for the 
current work week and the following two calendar work weeks.  

4. Discussion of impacts of construction work on local users. 

5. Discussion of work quality and progress. 

6. Review of outstanding Contract Change issues. 

7. Discussion of other issues, as appropriate. 

Article 1.5 Contractor Use of Construction Site 

A. During the construction period, the Contractor shall have use of the City Rights-of-Way and 
easements for construction operations except one lane of traffic shall remain open at all times.  
Materials can be staged at any locations or pullouts along the proposed route that are owned or 
controlled by the City. 

B. The City will make the pad area immediately above the existing Pyramid Water Treatment Plant 
available for disposal of excess or unsuitable earthen materials for use at the Contractors option. 

D. Use of the Sites:   

1. Driveways and Entrances:  Keep driveways and vehicle entrances clear and available for local 
users and emergency vehicles at all times.  Do not use these areas for parking or storage of 
materials without explicit permission from the property owner(s).   

2. Privately Owned Properties:  The Contractor shall make their own arrangements for use of any 
and all properties not included in the designated Rights-of-Ways or along the proposed pipe 
route.  The Contractor shall receive written permission to use these property(s). 

Article 1.6 Pre-Installation Meetings 

A. Prior to working through the industrial areas along the proposed pipe route, coordination meetings 
shall be conducted with the appropriate representatives from those sites, including the facilities 
identified in the Work Plan specified above.  Items for discussion include schedule, temporary 
utilities/service, access, security, traffic control, utility locates, materials staging, relocation of 
stored/stockpiled materials, and other items to minimize disruptions to ongoing operations. 

Article 1.7 Utilities 

A.  In general, the locations of existing utilities, whether aboveground or underground, are indicated on 
the Drawings. This information has been obtained from utility maps, existing drawings, as noted 
herein, and field surveys. The accuracy or completeness of this information is not guaranteed, and it 
is to be understood that other underground facilities not shown on the Drawings may be 
encountered during the course of the work. Vertical locations of underground utilities are estimated 
so it is imperative that the lines be exposed and verified prior to the installation of any new pipe. 

Packet Page Number 51 



CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 1 - GENERAL 
  Section 01010  
  SUMMARY OF WORK 
 

   
Page 01010-3  

SUMMARY OF WORK 
 

B.  The Contractor shall coordinate locating of all non-City owned or maintained utilities, including fuel 
lines, telephone/TV, fiber optic, and all other privately owned utilities with owners of those utilities.  

C.  At a sufficient distance prior to encountering a known obstacle or a tie into an existing pipe, the 
Contractor shall expose and verify the exact location of the obstacle or pipe so that alignment 
and/or grade of the proposed pipe may be determined before the pipe sections are laid in the 
trench and backfilled. Removal and relocation of any newly installed pipe resulting from failure to 
expose known obstacles or ties into existing utilities is the responsibility of the Contractor and no 
additional compensation will be made. 

D.  Existing utilities, whether shown on the Drawings or not, shall be maintained, relocated, rerouted, 
removed, repaired and restored as may be necessary to complete the work by the Contractor in a 
manner satisfactory to the owners and operators of the utilities and to the City. 

E.  Temporary shutdowns required to make connections to existing water lines/services shall be limited 
to 8-hours per connection except where service to users is uninterrupted.   Shutdowns shall be 
coordinated with and approved by impacted users.  The City water utility shall operate all existing 
valves. 

F.  The Contractor is responsible to notify affected users a minimum 48-hours prior to any shutdowns. 
The Water Utility shall be given at least 48-hours notice prior to executing a water main shutdown 
so they can be on hand to reroute flows and assure continuity of service. The Contractor shall 
closely coordinate with the City Water Utility regarding all shutdowns. 

G. Water for flushing will be made available to the Contractor.  Scheduling shall be coordinated so that 
the Work is accomplished without impact to fish processors and the City’s ability to provide 
uninterrupted service to current users. 

Article 1.8 Permits 

A.  The ADEC permit is included in the Appendix of this project manual. This permit is incorporated into 
and becomes a part of these Contract Documents.  The Contractor shall review and comply with the 
conditions of the permit. 

PART 2 - PRODUCTS (Not Used)  

PART 3 - EXECUTION (Not Used) 

 

END OF SECTION 01010 

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 1 
  GENERAL 
  Section 01025  
  MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT 
 

   
  MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT 
  01025-1 

SECTION 01025.01 GENERAL 
 
Article 1.1 Scope 
 

A.  Payment for the various items of the Bid Schedule, as further specified herein and in associated 
specifications, shall include full compensation to be received by the CONTRACTOR for furnishing all 
tools, equipment, supplies, and manufactured articles, and for all materials, labor, operations, and 
incidentals appurtenant to the items of work being described, as necessary to complete the various 
items of the WORK in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents, including all 
appurtenances thereto, and including all costs of permits and cost of compliance with the regulations 
of public agencies having jurisdiction, including Safety and Health Requirements of the Occupational 
Safety and Health Administration of the U.S. Department of Labor (OSHA) and the Alaska Department 
of Labor (ADOL).  No separate payment will be made for any item that is not specifically set forth in 
the Bid Schedule, and all costs therefore shall be included in the prices named in the Bid Schedule for 
the various appurtenant items of WORK. 

 
Article 1.2 Related Requirements 
 

A.  Section 01010 – Summary of Work 
B.  Section 02200 – Earthwork 
C.  Section 02550 – Construction Survey 
D.  Section 02668 – Water Systems 

 
Article 1.3 Pay Items 
 

A. Pay items indicated in the Bid Form are for bidding and contract purposes only.  For Lump Sum bid 
items, required quantities and measurements supplied or placed in the WORK shall be the full 
responsibility of the CONTRACTOR. 

 
Article 1.4 Payment 
 

A. Payment includes full compensation for furnishing all required labor, materials, products, tools, 
equipment, plant, transportation, services, incidentals, erection, application, or installation of all 
items of the WORK described or required, and all other costs for the items to necessary to provide 
complete functional systems in place. 

B. Payment for Lump Sum and Unit Cost pay items will be in accordance with the General Conditions 
and Section 00800 - Supplementary General Conditions. 

 
Article 1.5 Non-Payment for Rejected Items 
 

A. Payment will not be made for any of the following: 
 

1.  Products wasted or disposed of in a manner that is not acceptable. 
2.  Products determined as unacceptable before or after placement. 
3.  Products placed beyond the lines and grades of the required WORK. 
4.  Products remaining on hand at the completion of the WORK. 

Packet Page Number 52 



CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 1 
  GENERAL 
  Section 01025  
  MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT 
 

   
  MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT 
  01025-2 

5.  Loading, hauling, and disposing of rejected products. 
6.  Overly wet or frozen material. 
7.  Excavation or fill made for the convenience of the CONTRACTOR for any purpose or reason. 

 
PART 2 - PRODUCTS (Not Used) 
 
PART 3- MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT 
 
Article 3.1 Incidental Work  
 

A.  Several items of work not specifically covered in the Contract Documents will be considered 
incidental to the cost of the contract.  These items include, but are not limited to the following: 

 
1.  Temporary pumping and/or maintenance of utility service during construction. 
2.  Restoration of disturbed areas and final grading to restore the ground to uniform grades. 
3.  Site Safety. 
4.  Dewatering. 
5.  Replacement of Survey Monuments, Property Corners or other Survey Markers removed or 

disturbed during construction. 
6.  Removal and disposal of designated or abandoned utilities, manholes, pipe, catch basins, etc. 
7.  Plugging and abandoning existing pipes. 
8.  Removal and replacement of signs requiring removal to construct improvements  
9.  Removal and replacement of guardrail necessary to construct improvements 
10.  Coordination with private land owners related to access, utility locates, materials staging, traffic 

control, and other items related to work on private land. 
11.  Coordinate with Owner(s) and/or provide or assist with removal and replacement of stored or 

stockpiled items including fishing gear (crab pots, nets, floats, lines, etc.), tires, fenders, metals, 
soil berms, pallets, drums, tanks, barriers, and other items necessary to conduct the Work. 

12.  Hauling and disposal of unsuitable earthen materials. 
13.  Sheeting, shoring, or bracing necessary for trench stabilization/safety or protection of 

encountered utilities. 
14.  Other items not specifically called out but otherwise necessary for proper construction. 

 
These items are considered incidental to other work performed under this contract.  No separate 
payment will be made.  The items are not in any order of precedence.   

 
Article 3.2 Measurement and Payment 
 

A. Measurement and payment are defined in the individual specification sections associated with the 
described work item.  Below are descriptions not associated with other specified bid items. 

 
Article 3.3 Mobilization and Demobilization 
 

A.  Measurement:  No measurement of quantities will be made.  Mobilization and Demobilization 
includes costs of transporting, mobilizing, and demobilizing all materials, construction equipment, 
and personnel necessary to complete this project, bonds, and insurance.  No measurement of 

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 1 
  GENERAL 
  Section 01025  
  MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT 
 

   
  MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT 
  01025-3 

quantities will be made.  The measurement will be split so that 50% of the payment is made with 
mobilization and 50% is made with Demobilization.  Demobilization will be paid for after the project 
is complete, the site is cleaned up and fully restored, and closeout documentation is submitted, 
including record drawings. 

 
B.  Basis of Payment:  Payment for this work shall be in accordance with the General Conditions and shall 

include full payment for all work described.  Payment will be made under the following Units: 
   
  ITEM No. DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 1 Mobilization and Demobilization Lump Sum 
 
Article 3.4 Construct Bridge Crossing 
 

A.  Measurement:  No measurement of quantities will be made.  Work includes all work described and 
detailed. 

 
B.  Basis of Payment:  Payment for this work shall be in accordance with the General Conditions and shall 

include full payment for all work described.  Payment will be made under the following Units: 
   
  ITEM No. DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 22 Construct Bridge Crossing Lump Sum 
 
Article 3.5 Traffic Control 
 

A.  Measurement:  No measurement of quantities will be made.  Traffic Control includes all Work 
shown and described in the plans.  Work shall comply with the requirements of the ADOT Standard 
Specifications and the Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD).  Work consists of 
performing all the necessary measures to protect and control traffic during the life of the project 
including, but not limited to, furnishing, erecting, maintaining, replacing, cleaning, moving and 
removing the traffic control devices, construction signs, portable barriers, safety fences, and 
flagging required to safeguard the traveling public and all administrative responsibilities necessary 
to implement this Work.   

 
B.  Basis of Payment:  Payment for this work shall be in accordance with the General Conditions and shall 

include full payment for all work described.  Payment will be made under the following Units: 
   
  ITEM No. DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 23 Traffic Control Lump Sum 
 

END OF SECTION 01025 

Packet Page Number 53 



 
Page 02200- 1 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

SECTION 02200.01   GENERAL 

For the purposes of this Division, the terms "unsuitable" and "unusable" are equivalent when used as a 
description of a type of material and may be used interchangeably. 

Article 1.1   Scope of Work 

The Work covered by this Division consists of providing all plant, labor, equipment, supplies, material, 
transportation, handling, and storage, and performing all operations pertaining to the construction for all 
trench excavation, backfill, bedding, surfacing and foundation material for utility installation. 

Article 1.2   Definitions 

A. Backfill:  Material placed in an excavated area. 

B. Bedding:  Material immediately surrounding the newly installed pipe or conduits. 

C. Borrow:  Material used as fill and/or backfill which is obtained from a source other than required 
excavation. 

D. Compaction:  Tamping by hand or machine to achieve required density in soils. 

E. Disposal Site:  Any area where waste, unsuitable, unusable or surplus material from construction is 
placed.  

F. Excavation:  Area or material removed to provide a suitable base for improvement. 

G. Fill:  Fill is considered the material placed above the original or natural ground line. 
H. Non-Frost-Susceptible Material:  Non-organic soil containing less than three percent (3%) by weight of 

grains smaller than .02 mm obtained from minus three inches (-3") material. 

I. Service Connection:  Any connection from a main line utility to a property line for the purpose of 
providing service to an individual property 

J. Subgrade or Bottom Excavation:  The subgrade is material below the bottom of excavation and upon 
which the bedding material is placed. 

K. Surfacing Material:  Material above the backfill used for the final surface and contact with vehicles. 

L. Trench:  Any excavation for a utility or drainage system. 

M. Unsuitable or Unusable Material:  Unsuitable or unusable material may consist of any material which 
is, in the opinion of the Engineer, inadequate for use in the proposed construction. 

Article 1.3   Applicable Standards 

The latest revision of the following standards of the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) 
and the American Association of State Highway Transportation Officials (AASHTO) are hereby made a part 
of these specifications: 

 
ASTM C-29 Test for Unit Weight of Aggregate 
ASTM C-117 Test for Materials Finer than No. 200 Sieve in Aggregates by Washing  
ASTM C-131 Test for Resistance to Abrasion of Small Size Coarse Aggregate by Use of the Los 

Angeles Machine 
ASTM C-136 Test for Sieve or Screen Analysis of Fine and Coarse Aggregates  
ASTM D-422 Test for Particle Size Analysis of Soil 
ASTM D-424 Test for Plastic Limit and Plasticity Index of Soils 
AASHTO M-147 Materials for Aggregate and Soil-Aggregate Subbase, Base, and Surface 

 
Page 02200- 2 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

Courses 
AASHTO T-180-D Test for Moisture-Density Relations of Soils 
AASHTO T-205 Test for Field Determination of Density of Soil In-Place AASHTO 

T-238  Test for Density of Soil In-Place by Nuclear Method. 
Article 1.4   Equipment 

All equipment, tools, and machines used in the performance of the Work covered by these Specifications 
shall be subject to the approval of the Engineer and shall comply with all applicable safety requirements.  
All equipment used on the project shall be adequately maintained and shall be the proper equipment 
for the Work being accomplished so as to produce the result required by the Contract Documents. 

Article 1.5   Compaction Standards 

The required density of fill and backfill shall meet the requirements as outlined in Section 02200.08 - 
Unclassified Fill and Backfill. In areas outside of road rights-of-way, the density shall be as required by 
the Contract Documents or as directed by the Engineer. 

Where compaction density is specified, the maximum density shall be determined in accordance with the 
current requirements of AASHTO Standard Method T-180-D. 

Backfill under traffic and building structures and trench backfill in the public rights-of-way from 
six inches (6") below the bottom of the pipe to the surface shall be compacted to ninety-five percent 
(95%) of maximum density, unless otherwise noted and approved by the Engineer. 

The backfill material shall be placed in horizontal lifts not exceeding twelve inches (12") in thickness and 
compacted. Any excavations improperly filled shall be reopened to the depth required for proper 
compaction, then refilled and compacted at the Contractor's expense. The use of water in excess of the 
quantity required to obtain specified density (optimum moisture content) to settle or compact the backfill 
will not be permitted. 

Article 1.6   Subsurface Investigation 
Information pertaining to subsurface exploration, borings, test pit locations, and other preliminary 
investigation is in the Bidding Documents for Phase 1 Work. This information was acquired for design 
purposes only and is not considered adequate for construction. 
The soils classifications and geotechnical designations recorded are informational only and represent only 
those subsurface conditions on the particular date, at the specific location, as indicated on each soils log 
and on the plans. The ground water levels indicated on the test hole logs and shown on the Drawings 
were recorded at the time the test holes were performed. These water levels may vary seasonally and 
are shown for design and informational purposes only. Contractor shall assume responsibility for any 
conclusions that may be drawn from such information and the conclusions shall not be considered just 
cause for a claim for additional compensation or contract time extension. Contractor should obtain and 
analyze such additional information as the Contractor may feel necessary and shall be responsible for any 
conclusions drawn from that information. 
The Owner does not warrant the correctness of the soils investigation or of any interpretation, deduction, 
or conclusion given in the report relative to subsurface conditions. The Bidder shall make his own 
deductions and conclusions as to the nature of the materials to be excavated, the difficulties of making 
and maintaining the required excavations, the difficulties which may arise from subsurface conditions, 
and of doing any other Work affected by the subsurface conditions, and shall accept full responsibility 
therefore. 

Article 1.7   Weather Limitations 
Unless otherwise authorized by the Engineer, fill and backfill material, bedding, and surfacing course 

Packet Page Number 54 



 
Page 02200- 3 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

shall not be placed when the atmospheric temperature is below thirty-five degrees Fahrenheit (35 F). 
When the temperature falls below thirty-five degrees Fahrenheit (35 F), it shall be the responsibility of 
the Contractor to protect all areas of completed Work against any detrimental effects. Any areas of Work 
not completed in accordance with the Contract Documents that are damaged by weather shall be 
reconditioned, reshaped, and recompacted by the Contractor in conformance with the requirements of 
the Contract Document without additional cost to the Owner. 

Article 1.8   Underground Utilities 
The Contractor shall continuously support underground utilities during excavation, backfill placement and 
compaction.  

Article 1.9   Contaminated Material 
Unless otherwise noted in the Contract Documents, the Owner is not aware of any contaminated material 
within the project limits. If such material is encountered, Contractor shall notify the Engineer immediately 
for direction. Unless the contamination was caused by Contractor's operation, discovery of contaminated 
material will be treated as a changed condition per the General Conditions. 

 
Page 02200- 4 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

SECTION 02200.02   STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN 

Article 2.1   General 

The Work described in this Section shall consist of providing all labor, equipment, materials, and services 
to prepare, implement, and maintain a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) for projects that 
may adversely impact receiving waters or waters of the United States. The type of plan required 
depends on the area disturbed by the project including the construction site and off-site activities which 
include, but may not be limited to, material sites, waste disposal sites, borrow and fill sites, and 
equipment and material storage areas. 

A Type 3 SWPPP is required for all Projects that disturb one or more acres of land. 

As a requirement of this Contract, the Contractor shall accept a delegation of authority from the City to 
act as the City's duly authorized representative for the purpose of overseeing compliance with the APDES 
Construction Permit at the project site. 

Article 2.2   Definitions 

Alaska Certified Erosion and Sediment Control Lead (AK-CESCL) - A person who has completed training, 
testing, and other requirements of, and is currently certified as, an AK-CESCL from an AK-CESCL Training 
Program (a program developed under a Memorandum of Understanding between the City and others). 
The City recognizes AK-CESCLs as "qualified personnel" required by the CGP. An AK-CESCL shall be 
recertified every three years. 

Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC) - The State agency authorized by EPA to 
administer the Clean Water Act's National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES). 

Alaska Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (APDES) - A system administered by ADEC that issues 
and tracks permits for storm water discharges. 

Best Management Practices (BMPs) - Temporary or permanent structural and non- structural devices, 
schedules of activities, prohibition of practices, maintenance procedures, and other management 
practices to prevent or minimize the discharge of pollutants to waters of the United States. BMPs also 
include, but are not limited to, treatment requirements; operating procedures; practices to control site 
runoff, spillage or leaks; sludge or waste disposal; or drainage from material storage. 

Clean Water Act (CWA) - Federal Water Pollution Control Amendments of 1972, as amended (33 U.S.C. 
1251 et seq.). 
Construction Activity - Work by Contractor, subcontractor or utility company within the project area, 
that may result in erosion, sedimentation, or a discharge of pollutants into storm water. Construction 
Activity includes soil disturbing activities (e.g. clearing, grubbing, grading, excavating); construction 
materials or equipment storage or maintenance areas (e.g. material piles, borrow area, concrete truck 
chute wash down, fueling); and activities that may discharge storm water and are directly related to the 
construction process (e.g. concrete or asphalt batch plants). 

Construction General Permit (CGP) - The current permit authorizing storm water discharges from 
Construction Activities, issued and enforced by ADEC. The CGP authorizes storm water discharges 
provided permit conditions and water quality standards are met. 

Electronic Notice of Intent (eNOI) - The electronic Notice of Intent submitted to ADEC to obtain coverage 
under the CGP. 

Electronic Notice of Termination (eNOT) - The electronic Notice of Termination submitted to ADEC to 
end coverage under the CGP. 

Packet Page Number 55 



 
Page 02200- 5 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) - A federal agency charged to protect human health and the 
environment. 

Final Stabilization - The CGP defines Final Stabilization as: 
1. All soil disturbing activities at the site have been completed and either of the following 

criteria have been met: 
a. A uniform (e.g., evenly distributed, without large bare areas) perennial vegetative cover 

for the area has been established on all unpaved areas and areas not covered by 
permanent structures, or 

b. Equivalent non-vegetative permanent stabilization measures have been employed (such 
as use of rip rap, gabions, porous backfill (ADOT&PF specification 703-2.10), railroad 
ballast or subballast, ditch lining (ADOT&PF Specification 610-2.01 with <3% smaller 
than #200 sieve), geotextiles, or fill material with low erodibility as determined by an 
engineer familiar with the site and documented in the SWPPP. 

c. Roads are restored to a useable surface meeting City standards and the requirements 
shown in the plans. 

2. When background native vegetation will cover less than one hundred percent (100%) of the 
ground (e.g., arid areas, beaches), the seventy percent (70%) coverage is adjusted as follows: 
if the native vegetation covers fifty percent (50%) (0.70 X 0.50 = 0.35), thirty-five percent 
(35%) total cover is required for final stabilization. On a beach with no natural vegetation, 
no stabilization is required. 

Hazardous Material Control Plan (HMCP) - The Contractor's detailed project specific plan for prevention 
of pollution from storage, use, transfer, containment, cleanup, and disposal of hazardous material 
(including, but not limited to, petroleum products related to construction activities and equipment). The 
Contractor shall include the HMCP as an appendix to the SWPPP. 

Inspection - An inspection required by the CGP or the SWPPP, usually performed together by the 
Contractor's SWPPP Manager and the City designated Inspector. 

Multi-Sector General Permit (MSGP) - The Alaska Pollutant Discharge Elimination System General 
Permit for storm water discharges associated with industrial activity. 

Operator(s) - The party or co-parties associated with a regulated activity that has responsibility to obtain 
permit coverage under the CGP. "Operator" for the purpose of the CGP and in the context of storm 
water associated with construction activity, means any party associated with a construction project that 
meets either of the following two criteria: 

1. The operator has operational control over construction plans and specifications, including 
the ability to make modifications to those plans and specifications; or 

2. The operator has day to day responsibility and operational control for all activities at a 
project which are necessary to fully comply with the CGP and the project SWPPP for the site 
or other requirements of the permit. For the purpose of a Contractor executing project Work 
under this Contract with the City, the Contractor is the operator responsible for CGP and 
SWPPP coverage and compliance under the CGP for the Work. 

Permit - References to permit pursuant to this section shall mean the Construction General Permit (CGP) 
defined above. 

Pollutant - Any substance or item meeting the definition of pollutant contained in 40 CFR § 122.2. A 
partial listing from this definition includes: dredged spoil, solid waste, sewage, garbage, sewage 
sludge, chemical wastes, biological materials, wrecked or discarded equipment, rock, sand, cellar dirt, 

 
Page 02200- 6 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

and industrial or municipal waste. 

Project Zone - The Project Zone includes the area of street, road, highway or other facility under 
construction; project staging and equipment areas; and material and disposal sites, when those areas, 
routes and sites are directly related to the Contract. 

Records - Any record, report, information, document, or photograph required to be created or 
maintained pursuant to the requirements of the CGP, the CGP storm water requirements of the Clean 
Water Act and applicable local, state, and federal laws and regulations pertaining to document 
preservation. 

Spill Prevention, Control and Countermeasure Plan (SPCC Plan) - Contractor's detailed plan for 
petroleum spill prevention and control measures that conform to the requirements of 40 CFR 112. 

Spill Response Field Representative - Contractor's representative with authority and responsibility for 
managing, implementing, and executing the HMCP and SPCC Plan. 

Storm Event - A rainfall event that produces more than one half inch (0.5") of precipitation in twenty-
four (24) hours and that is separated from the previous storm event by at least three (3) days of dry 
weather. Event can be measured on site using a rain gauge or Contractor can utilize the nearest National 
Weather Service (NWS) precipitation gauge station to determine the amount of rain fall during a storm 
event if the NWS gauge used is located within twenty (20) miles of the site. 

Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) - Contractor's detailed project- specific plan to 
minimize erosion and contain sediment within the Project Zone and to prevent discharge of pollutants 
that exceed applicable water quality standards. The SWPPP includes, but is not limited to the plan, 
amendments, records of activities, inspection schedules and reports, qualifications of key personnel, and 
all other documentation, required by the CGP and this specification, and other applicable local, state, 
and federal laws and regulations. 

Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan Type 
Type 1- if area of disturbance is 500 to <10,000 square feet or 4 feet or more in depth and is not 

part of a common plan of development that disturbs 10,000 square feet or more. 
Type 2- if the area of ground disturbance is 10,000 square feet or greater but less than 1 acre 

and not part of a common plan of development that disturbs one acre or more. 
Type 3 - if the area of disturbance is 1 acre or greater, or part of a common development that 

disturbs one or more acres. 
Subcontractor Spill Response Coordinator - The Subcontractor's Representative with authority and 
responsibility for coordinating the Subcontractor's activities in compliance with the HMCP and SPCC Plan. 

Subcontractor SWPPP Coordinator - The Subcontractor's Representative has responsible charge of and 
authority to direct the Subcontractor's Work; is responsible for the subcontractor's compliance with the 
SWPPP; and performs coordination with the Superintendent and SWPPP Manager. 

Superintendent - Contractor's duly authorized representative in responsible charge of the Work. The 
Superintendent has responsibility and authority for the overall operation of the Project and for 
Contractor-furnished sites and facilities directly related to the Project. 

SWPPP Amendment - A revision or document that adds to, deletes from, or modifies the SWPPP. 

SWPPP Manager - Contractor's qualified representative who conducts inspections, has authority to 
suspend work and implement corrective actions required for CPG compliance, except they do not have 
authority to prepare the initial SWPPP or sign inspection reports. 

Packet Page Number 56 



 
Page 02200- 7 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

SWPPP Preparer - Contractor's qualified representative who is responsible for developing the initial 
SWPPP. 

Article 2.3   Applicable Standards 

The latest version of the following permits, standard and requirements are hereby made a part of these 
specifications: 

A. Alaska 2011 Construction General Permit (CGP) #100000 

B. Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC) Storm Water Pollution Prevention 
Plan (SWPPP) Template 

Article 2.4  Plan and Permit Submittals 

Partial and incomplete submittals will not be accepted for review. A submittal that is re- submitted or 
revised after submission, but before the review is completed, will restart the submittal review timeline. 
No additional Contract time or additional compensation will be allowed due to delays caused by partial 
or incomplete submittals, or required re- submittals. 

A. Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) 

 Contractor shall submit an electronic copy and two hard copies of the SWPPP to the Engineer for 
approval. Contractor shall organize and bind the SWPPP and related documents for submittal. 

 The City will review the SWPPP submittals within fourteen (14) days after they are received. 
Submittals will be returned to the Contractor, and marked as either "rejected" with reasons 
listed or as "approved" by the City. When the submittal is rejected, the Contractor shall revise 
and resubmit the SWPPP. The fourteen (14) day review period will restart when the Contractor 
resubmits an electronic copy and two hard copies of the revised SWPPP to the Engineer for 
approval. 

 After the SWPPP is approved by the City, the Contractor shall sign and certify the approved 
SWPPP. 

B. Hazardous Material Control Plan (HMCP) 

 Contractor shall submit an electronic copy and two hard copies of the HMCP, as an appendix to 
the SWPPP, to the Engineer for approval. The HMCP submittal and review timeline, and 
signature requirements are the same as the SWPPP. The HMCP shall be appended to and 
submitted with the SWPPP. 

C. Spill Prevention, Control and Countermeasure Plan (SPCC) 

 When a SPCC Plan is required under Article 2.11, Contractor shall submit an electronic copy and 
two signed hard copies of the SPCC Plan to the Engineer. at least 21 days before beginning 
Construction Activity. The City reserves the right to review the SPCC Plan and require 
modifications. 

D. Construction General Permit (CGP) Coverage 

 The Contractor is responsible for permitting of Contractor and subcontractor Construction 
Activities related to the Project, including any material sites, waste disposal sites, borrow & fill 
sites, and equipment and material storage areas that are not covered by a different permit. 

 Prior to beginning Construction Activity, Contractor shall submit an eNOI with the required fee 
to ADEC for coverage under the Construction General Permit (CGP). Submit a copy of the signed 
eNOI and ADEC's acknowledgement letter to the Engineer as soon as practicable and no later 

 
Page 02200- 8 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

than three days after filing eNOI or receiving a written responses from ADEC. 

 The Contractor shall not begin Construction Activity until in full compliance with the conditions 
listed in Article 2.14.A. 

 The City will submit an eNOI to ADEC for Construction Activities on Municipal Projects if required. 
The Engineer will provide the Contractor with a copy of the City's eNOI and ADEC's written 
acknowledgment by letter, or other document for inclusion in the SWPPP. 

E. Ending CGP Coverage 

 Contractor shall submit an eNOT to ADEC, and submit both a copy of the signed eNOT and ADEC's 
acknowledgement letter to the City, within 30 days after the Engineer has determined the 
Contractor has fully complied with the conditions listed in Article 2.16.F. 

F. Modifying Contractor's eNOI 

When required by The CGP Part 2.7, Contractor shall modify the eNOI to update or correct 
information. Reasons for modification include a change in start or end dates, small changes in 
number of acres to be disturbed, change in decision to use or not use treatment chemicals, or 
change in location of SWPPP Records. 

The Contractor shall submit an eNOT and then submit a new eNOI instead of an eNOI 
modification when: the operator has changed, the original eNOI indicates disturbed area less 
than five acres and the project will disturb more than five acres, or a project over five disturbed 
acres grows by more than 50%. 

Article 2.5   Personnel Qualifications. 

A. General 

Contractor shall provide documentation in the SWPPP that the individuals serving in these 
positions are "qualified Personnel" pursuant to the CGP. 

The City accepts persons having either of the following certificates as equivalent to AK-CESCL, if 
the certificates are current according to the sponsoring organization's policies: 

• CPESC - Certified Professional in Erosion and Sediment Control, or 
• CISEC - Certified Inspector in Sediment and Erosion Control 

B. SWPPP Preparer 

The SWPPP Preparer shall meet at least one of the following qualifications: 
• current certification as a Certified Professional in Erosion and Sediment Control (CPESC); 

or 
• current certification as AK-CESCL, and at least three years experience in erosion and 

sediment control (provide documentation including project names, project timelines, 
and work responsibilities demonstrating the experience requirement); or 

• Professional Engineer licensed in the State of Alaska 

C. Superintendent 

The Superintendent shall hold current certification as AK-CESCL and be a duly authorized 
representative as defined in the CGP, Appendix A, Part 1.12.3 and Section 02200.1.2 definitions. 

D. SWPPP Manager 

The SWPPP Manager shall have current certification as AK-CESCL, and shall meet the CGP 

Packet Page Number 57 



 
Page 02200- 9 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

experience, training, and authority requirements identified for the Storm Water Lead and Storm 
Water Inspector positions as defined in the CGP, Appendix C, Qualified Person. 

E. Storm Water Inspector & Monitoring Person 

The Storm Water Inspector and the Storm Water Monitoring Person shall have current 
certification as AK-CESCL. 

F. Active Treatment System Operator 

The Active Treatment System (ATS) operator shall have current certification as AK-CESCL and 
shall be knowledgeable in the principals and practices of treatment systems in general, including 
the operation of the project-specific ATS. Active Treatment System operator shall have at least 
six (6) months field experience with ATS, or completion of an ATS manufacturer's training course, 
or completion of system operator's certification course. 

Article 2.6   Signature/Certfication Requirements and Delegations 

A. eNOI and eNOT 

 The eNOI and eNOT shall be signed and certified by a responsible Contractor corporate officer 
according to CGP Appendix A, Part 1.12.2. Signature and certification authority for the eNOI and 
eNOT shall not be delegated. 

B. Delegation of Signature Authority for Other SWPPP Documents and Reports 

 The Contractor shall use Form F-108 to delegate signature authority and certification authority 
to the Superintendent position, according to CGP Appendix A, Part 1.12.3, for the SWPPP, 
Inspection Reports and other reports required by the CGP. The Superintendent position is 
responsible for signing and certifying the SWPPP, Inspection Reports, and other reports required 
by the CGP, except the eNOI and eNOT. 

C. Subcontractor Certification 

 Subcontractors shall certify that they have read and will abide by the CGP and the conditions of 
the project SWPPP. 

D. Signatures and Initials 

 Contractor and subcontractor personnel shall handwrite (wet ink) signatures or initials on CGP 
documents and SWPPP forms, wherever a signature or initial is required. 

Article 2.7   Responsibility for Storm Water Permit Coverage 

A. Contractor is responsible for permitting and permit compliance. 

B. The Contractor has sole responsibility for compliance with ADEC and other applicable federal, 
state, and local requirements, and for securing all necessary clearances, rights, and permits. 

C. The Contractor is responsible for permitting and permit compliance for any disposal site 
receiving materials, waste, or any product generated as a result of the Project.  

D. Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold the City and their designee harmless for any and all 
fines resulting from non-compliance with the permit conditions. 

Article 2.8   Utility Responsibilities 

Not used. 

 
 

Page 02200- 10 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

Article 2.9   Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) Requirements 

A. General 

Contractor shall prepare SWPPP in accordance with the applicable standards of this Section. 
Contractor shall submit and maintain the SWPPP in three-ring binder with tabbed and labeled 
dividers for each section and appendix. 

B. SWPPP Preparer and Pre-Construction Site Visit 

Contractor shall hire or designate a SWPPP Preparer to prepare the SWPPP and associated 
documents according to the requirements of the CGP. The SWPPP shall identify the SWPPP 
Preparer and include qualifications (including the expiration date of any certifications), title, and 
company name in the SWPPP. 

The Contractor and SWPPP Preparer shall conduct a pre-construction inspection at the project 
site before construction activity begins. If the SWPPP Preparer is not a Contractor employee, the 
SWPPP Preparer shall visit the site accompanied by Contractor's superintendent. Contractor 
shall provide the City at least seven (7) days written notice of the site visit, so that the City may 
participate. 

During the pre-construction inspection, the SWPPP Preparer shall identify or, if a draft of the 
SWPPP has already been prepared, verify that the SWPPP fully addresses and describes: 
1. opportunities to phase construction activities; 
2. appropriate BMPs and their sequencing; and 
3. sediment controls that shall be installed prior to beginning construction activities. 

Contractor shall document the SWPPP Preparer's pre-construction inspection in the SWPPP on 
Form F-106, SWPPP Pre-Construction Site Visit, including the names of attendees and the date. 

C. SWPPP Development 

Contractor shall prepare the SWPPP with sections and appendices, in accordance with the current 
ADEC SWPPP template and the following additional information: 
1. Add additional appendices for: 

a. Appendix L -- Hazardous Material Control Plan (HMCP) 
b. Appendix M -- SWPPP Preparer's Site Visit 
c. Appendix N -- Rainfall Logs 
d. Appendix O - NOT forms and Acknowledgement letters from ADEC (Include both 

City's and Contractor's) 
2. Provide the following forms for completion by the City and include the completed forms 

in the SWPPP: 
a. SWPPP Delegation of Signature Authority - (F-107) 
b. SWPPP Certification for City (F-109) 

3. Use the following forms for recording information in the SWPPP: 
a. SWPPP Amendment Log (F-114) 
b. SWPPP Certification for Contractor (F-111) 
c. SWPPP Construction Site Inspection Report (F-100 parts 1&2) 
d. SWPPP Corrective Action Log (F-112) 
e. SWPPP Daily Record of Rainfall (F-115) 

Packet Page Number 58 



 
Page 02200- 11 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

f. SWPPP Delegation of Signature Authority Contractor (F-108) 
g. SWPPP Grading and Stabilization Activities Log (F-110) 
h. SWPPP Pre-Construction Site Visit (F-106) 
i. SWPPP Subcontractor Certification (F-105) 
j. SWPPP Training Log (F-125) 

The forms are available on the municipal (Municipality of Anchorage) website, www.muni.org, 
under Project Management and Engineering Publications. 

D. SWPPP Considerations and Contents 

The SWPPP shall provide erosion and sediment control measures for all Construction Activity. 

The SWPPP shall include the activities of the Contractor, all subcontractors, and utility companies 
performing Work. The SWPPP shall describe the roles and responsibilities of the Contractor, 
subcontractors, and utility companies with regard to implementation of the SWPPP. 

The SWPPP shall identify all operators for the Project including utility companies performing 
Construction Activity, and identify the areas over which each operator has operational control 
and where the City and Contractor are co- operators. 

The SWPPP shall include any material sites, waste disposal sites, borrow and fill sites, and 
equipment and material storage sites. If those sites are covered under a different permit or 
operated by a different entity, the Contractor shall provide the permit information and/or 
operational information as part of the SWPPP. 

Contractor shall prepare the SWPPP according to the requirements of the CGP and this 
specification, including accounting for the Contractor's construction methods and phasing, and 
identifying the amount of mean annual precipitation. 

Contractor shall include an Antidegredation Analysis in the SWPPP, if storm water from the 
Project discharges into a receiving water that is considered a high quality water and constitutes 
an outstanding national resource. The City does not provide the analysis. The Contractor shall 
perform this analysis according to the CGP Part 2.1.5. 

There are special requirements in the CGP Part 3.2, for storm water discharges into an impaired 
water body, which may include monitoring of storm water discharges. For projects meeting the 
permit criteria, the Contractor is responsible for compliance with the CGP Part 3.2 inside and 
outside the Project Zone. 

Contractor shall preserve natural topsoil where possible. Contractor shall delineate the site in 
accordance to CGP Part 4.1. Contractor shall use stakes, flags, or silt fence, etc. to identify areas 
where land disturbing activities will occur and areas that will be left undisturbed. Contractor shall 
minimize the amount of soil exposed during Construction Activity in accordance to CGP Part 
4.1.2. 

Contractor shall conform to the dewatering requirements of CGP Part 4.3. 
The SWPPP shall identify specific areas where potential erosion, sedimentation, or pollution may 
occur. The potential for wind erosion shall be addressed. The potential for erosion at drainage 
structures shall be addressed. 

SWPPP shall include in the "Stabilize Soils" section, a description of how the Contractor will 
minimize the amount of disturbed and unstabilized ground in the fall season. Contractor shall 
identify anticipated dates of fall freeze-up and spring thaw. Contractor's SWPPP shall describe 

 
Page 02200- 12 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

how the Contractor will stabilize areas when it is close to or past the seasonal time of snow cover 
or frozen conditions, and before the first seasonal thaw. Contractor's SWPPP shall include a plan 
for final stabilization. Plans for Active Treatment Systems shall be submitted to ADEC for review 
at least fourteen (14) days prior to their application and the Operator of the ATS identified in the 
SWPPP. Treatment chemicals shall be identified on the NOI. 

The SWPPP shall provide designated areas for equipment and wheel washing, equipment fueling 
and maintenance, chemical storage, staging or material storage, waste or disposal sites, concrete 
washouts, paint and stucco washouts, and sanitary toilets. These activities shall be done in 
designated areas that are located, to the extent practicable, away from drain inlets, conveyance 
channels, and waters of the US. No discharges are allowed from concrete washout, paint and 
stucco washout; or from release oils, curing compounds, fuels, oils, soaps, and solvents. 
Equipment and wheel washing water may be treated and discharged. 

Contractor shall implement temporary BMPs for a two (2)-year-twenty-four (24) hour storm 
event. Contractor shall describe BMPs in the SWPPP and in SWPPP Amendments, including 
source controls, sediment controls, discharge points, and all temporary and permanent 
stabilization measures. Contractor's SWPPP shall describe the design, placement, installation, 
and maintenance of each BMP, using words and drawings as appropriate. Contractor shall 
provide a citation to the BMP Manual or publication used as a source for the BMP, including the 
title of the BMP Manual or publication, the author (individual or agency), and date of publication. 
If no published source was used to select or design a BMP, then the SWPPP or SWPPP 
amendment shall state that "No BMP manual or publication was used for this design." 

Contractor shall describe the sequence and timing of activities that disturb soils and of BMP 
implementation and removal. Contractor shall phase earth disturbing activities to minimize 
unstabilized areas and to achieve temporary or final stabilization quickly. Whenever practicable, 
the Contractor shall incorporate final stabilization work into excavation, embankment and 
grading activities. 

Contractor shall identify the inspection frequency in the SWPPP. At a minimum the inspection 
frequency shall be: 

• at least once every seven (7) days during construction; or 
• at least once every fourteen (14) days during construction and within twenty-four (24) 

hours of the end of a storm event of one-half inch (1/2") or greater rainfall in a twenty-
four (24) hour period (one-half inch (1/2") rainfall as recorded at the project site rain 
gauge or the local weather station). 

The SWPPP shall cite and incorporate applicable requirements of the Project permits, 
environmental commitments, and commitments related to historic preservation. Make 
additional consultations or obtain permits as necessary for Contractor specific activities which 
were not included in the City's permitting and consultation. 

The SWPPP is a dynamic document. The Contractor shall maintain the SWPPP current by noting 
installation, modification, and removal of BMPs, and by using amendments, SWPPP amendment 
logs, Inspection Reports, corrective action logs, records of land disturbance and stabilization, 
and other records necessary to document storm water pollution prevention activities and to 
satisfy the requirements of the CGP and this specification. 

E. Recording Personnel and Contact Information in the SWPPP. 

Contractor shall include records of the AK-CESCL cards or certificates for the Superintendent, 
SWPPP Manager, acting Superintendent and acting SWPPP Managers in the SWPPP. 

Packet Page Number 59 



 
Page 02200- 13 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

Contractor shall provide twenty-four- (24)-hour contact information for the Superintendent and 
SWPPP Manager. The Superintendent and SWPPP Manager shall have twenty-four- (24)-hour 
contact information for all Subcontractor SWPPP Coordinators and Utility SWPPP Coordinators. 

Article 2.10   Hazardous Material Control Plan (HMCP) Requirements 

Contractor shall prepare the HMCP for prevention of pollution from storage, use, containment, cleanup, 
and disposal of hazardous material, including petroleum products related to construction activities and 
equipment. Contractor shall append the HMCP to the SWPPP. Contractor shall compile Material Safety 
Data Sheets (MSDS) in one location and reference that location in the HMCP. 

HMCP shall designate a Contractor's Spill Response Field Representative and provide twenty-four- (24)-
hour contact information. Contractor shall designate a Subcontractor Spill Response Coordinator for 
each Subcontractor. The Superintendent and Contractor's Spill Response Field Representative shall have 
twenty-four- (24)-hour contact information for each Subcontractor Spill Response Coordinator and the 
Utility Spill Response Coordinator. 

HMCP shall list and provide the location and estimated quantities of hazardous materials (including 
materials or substances listed in 40 CFR 117 and 302, and petroleum products) to be used or stored on 
the Project. Hazardous materials shall be stored in covered storage areas. Contractor shall provide 
secondary containment for all hazardous material storage areas. 

HMCP shall identify the locations where fueling and maintenance activities will take place and describe 
the activities, and list controls to prevent the accidental spillage of petroleum products and other 
hazardous materials. Controls include placing absorbent pads or other suitable containment under fill 
ports while fueling and under equipment during maintenance or repairs. 

HMCP shall use secondary containment under all stationary equipment (equipment that does not have 
a seat for driving) that contains petroleum products and use secondary containment under pumps, 
compressors, and generators. 

HMCP shall list the types and approximate quantities of response equipment and cleanup materials 
available on the Project, including a list and location map of cleanup materials at each different work site 
and readily available off site (materials sources, material processing sites, disposal sites, staging areas, 
etc). Spill response materials shall be stored in sufficient quantity at each work location, appropriate to 
the hazards associated with that site. 

HMCP shall describe procedures for containment and cleanup of hazardous materials. Contractor shall 
describe a plan for the prevention, containment, cleanup, and disposal of soil and water contaminated 
by spills and a plan for dealing with contaminated soil and water encountered during construction. 
Contractor shall clean up spills or contaminated surfaces immediately. 

HMCP shall describe methods of disposing of waste petroleum products and other hazardous materials 
generated by the Project, including routine maintenance. Contractor shall identify haul methods and 
final disposal areas and provide assurance that final disposal areas are permitted for hazardous material 
disposal. 

HMCP shall describe methods of complying with the requirements of AS 46.04.010-900, Oil and 
Hazardous Substances Pollution Control, and 18 AAC 75, including contact information for reporting 
hazardous materials and petroleum product spills to the Project Engineer and reporting to federal, state 
and local agencies. 

Article 2.11  Spill Prevention, Control, and Countermeasure Plan (SPCC Plan) Requirements 

Contractor shall prepare and implement an SPCC Plan when required by 40 CFR 112 and when both of 
 

Page 02200- 14 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

the following conditions are present on the Project: 
• oil or petroleum products from a spill may reach navigable waters (as defined in 40 CFR 

112); and 
• total above ground storage capacity for oil and petroleum products is greater than 1,320 

gallons (not including onboard tanks for fuel or hydraulic fluid used primarily to power 
the movement of a motor vehicle or ancillary onboard oil- filled operational equipment, 
and not including containers with a storage capacity of less than 55 gallons) 

HMCP and SWPPP shall reference the SPCC plan. 

Article 2.12  Superintendent and SWPPP Manager Responsibility and Authority 

Contractor's superintendent is responsible for the overall operation of the Project and all Contractor-
furnished sites and facilities directly related to the Project. The Superintendent shall sign and certify the 
SWPPP, Inspection Reports, and other reports required by the CGP except the NOI and NOT. The 
Superintendent may not delegate the task or responsibility of signing and certifying the SWPPP 
submitted under Article 2.4, Inspection Reports, and other reports required by the CGP. 

The Superintendent may assign certain duties to the SWPPP Manager, which may include: 
• ensuring Contractor's and subcontractor's compliance with the SWPPP and CGP; 
• ensuring the control of erosion, sedimentation, or discharge of pollutants; 
• directing and overseeing installation, maintenance, and removal of BMPs; 
• performing Inspections; and 
• updating the SWPPP including adding amendments and forms. 

Contractor shall ensure that Superintendent and SWPPP Manager are knowledgeable in the 
requirements of this Section, the SWPPP, CGP, BMPs, HMCP, SPCC Plan, environmental permits, 
environmental commitments, and historic preservation commitments. 

Contractor's Superintendent and SWPPP Manager shall have the complete authority and shall be 
responsible for suspending construction activities that do not conform to the SWPPP or CGP. 

Article 2.13  Materials 

Contractor shall 
• use materials suitable to withstand hydraulic, wind, and soil forces, and to control 

erosion and trap sediments according to the requirements of the CGP and the 
Specifications. 

• use the temporary seed mixture specified by special provision, or use annual rye grass if 
no temporary seed mix is specified. 

• use straw that is certified free of noxious weed by the United States Department of 
Agriculture (USDA), Natural Resources Conservation Service, Local Soil and Water 
Conservative District (NRCS). Alaska Weed Free Forage Certification Program shall be 
used when available. Hay may not be substituted for straw. 

BMP's shall conform to the requirements set forth in the SWPPP. 

Article 2.14  Construction Requirements 

Contractor shall be familiar with the requirements of the CGP.  Contractor shall fully comply with 
the SWPPP and the requirements of the CGP. 

A. Prior to Construction 

Packet Page Number 60 



 
Page 02200- 15 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

Contractor shall complete the following actions before construction activity begins: 
1. the SWPPP Preparer shall visit the Project, the visit shall be documented in the SWPPP, and 

the SWPPP shall be developed (or amended) with findings from the visit; 
2. the SWPPP shall be approved by the Engineer; 
3. the Contractor shall be authorized to begin construction only by the Engineer; 
4. the Project eNOIs for the City and for the Contractor, as well as other eNOIs if there are 

additional operators, shall be listed as Active Status on the ADEC website before 
construction activity commences; 

5. Contractor shall post notices on project site containing the following information: 
• Copy of all eNOIs related to this project 
• Name and twenty-four- (24)-hour phone number of SWPPP Manager and 

Superintendent 
• Location of the SWPPP 

6. Contractor shall prominently post notices at an approved location near the project site. 
Postings shall be protected from the weather. Contractor shall locate postings so the public 
can read them without obstructing construction activities or the traveling public (for 
example, at an existing pullout). Do not use retro-reflective signs for the SWPPP posting. Do 
not locate SWPPP signs in locations where the signs may be confused with traffic control 
signs or devices. Contractor shall update the notices if the listed information changes. 

7. Contractor shall delineate the site for both ground disturbing activities and areas that will 
be left undisturbed and install sediment controls and other BMPs that shall be placed prior 
to the initiation of Construction Activity. 

B. During Construction 
1. Contractor shall ensure subcontractors understand and comply with the SWPPP and the 

CGP, and have signed a SWPPP Subcontractor Certification, Form F-105. Contractor shall 
include SWPPP Subcontractor Certifications as an appendix to the SWPPP. Contractor shall 
provide SWPPP information to utility companies and coordinate with Subcontractors and 
utility companies doing work in the Project Zone so that BMPs, including but not limited to, 
temporary and permanent stabilization, are installed, maintained, and protected from 
damage. 

2. Contractor shall provide on-going training to employees and Subcontractors, on control 
measures at the site and applicable storm water pollution prevention procedures. Training 
shall be documented on the SWPPP Training Log Form F-125, including the dates and 
attendees to these trainings. Contractor shall include the SWPPP Training Log as an appendix 
to the SWPPP. 

3. Contractor shall notify the Engineer immediately if the actions of any utility company or 
Subcontractor do not comply with the SWPPP and the CGP. 

4. Contractor shall not install concrete washout containment within one hundred (100) feet of 
wetlands and/or other water bodies. 

5. Contractor shall comply with requirements of the HMCP and SPCC Plan, and all local, state 
and federal regulations that pertain to the handling, storage, containment, cleanup, and 
disposal of petroleum products or other hazardous materials. 

6. Contractor shall keep the SWPPP current (refer to Article 2.9.C SWPPP Considerations and 
Contents) 

 
Page 02200- 16 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

C. Pollutant and Hazardous Materials Reporting Requirements 

Contractor shall immediately report incidents of non-compliance with the CGP that may 
endanger health or the environment to ADEC. Incident report shall conform to the CGP, 
Appendix A, Part 3.0. Contractor shall immediately notify the Engineer and coordinate reports 
to ADEC with the Engineer. The report shall include: 

• a description of the noncompliance and its causes; 
• the exact dates and times of noncompliance; 
• if not yet corrected, the anticipated time the project will be brought back into 

compliance; and 
• the corrective action taken or planned to reduce, eliminate and prevent re-occurrence. 

Contractor shall report spills of petroleum products or other hazardous materials to the Engineer 
and other agencies as required by law. Contractor shall use the HMCP and SPCC Plan for contact 
information to report spills to regulatory agencies. 

D. Corrective Action and Maintenance of BMPs 

If a corrective action is not implemented within the time requirements of this Section, the 
Contractor shall document the situation in the SWPPP, notify the Engineer and immediately 
implement alternative BMPs. 
1. Contractor shall implement maintenance of BMP's as required by the CGP, SWPPP, and 

manufacturer's specifications, whichever is more restrictive. 
2. Contractor shall implement corrective action should any of the following occur: 

a. if an incident of non-compliance with the SWPPP or CGP is identified; 
b. if an Inspection identifies the SWPPP or any part of the SWPPP is ineffective in 

preventing erosion, sedimentation or the discharge of pollutants; 
c. if the Engineer determines the SWPPP or any part of the SWPPP is ineffective in 

preventing the erosion, sedimentation, or the discharge of pollutants; 
d. if any BMP is damaged, undercut, or unable to effectively perform the intended 

function; 
e. before sediment or debris fills any BMP (including sediment traps, ponds and silt fences) 

to 50% of its design storage capacity (or manufacturer's specifications or SWPPP 
requirements, whichever is lower); or 

f. whenever there is a change in conditions, design, construction, operation, or 
maintenance that could result in erosion, sedimentation, or the discharge of pollutants. 

3. Contractor shall implement corrective actions so that the following time requirements are 
satisfied: 
a. corrective action is completed as soon as possible; 
b. corrective action is completed before the next storm event; 
c. corrective action is completed in time to protect water quality; and 
d. corrective action is completed no later than the Complete-by-Date that was entered in 

an Inspection Report (see Article 2.16 for more information). 

E. Stabilization 

Contractor shall stabilize disturbed areas using temporary or permanent BMP's. Contractor shall 
initiate stabilization of disturbed soils, erodible stockpiles, disposal sites, and of erodible 

Packet Page Number 61 



 
Page 02200- 17 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

aggregate layers so that all of the following conditions are satisfied: 
• as soon as practicable; 
• as soon as necessary to avoid erosion, sedimentation, or the discharge of pollutants; 
• as identified in the SWPPP; and 
• disturbed land or land surface shall be stabilized within fourteen (14) days after the 

temporary or permanent cessation of land-disturbing activities on a portion of the site 
in accordance with the SWPPP. 

Contractor shall coordinate work to minimize the amount of disturbed soil at any one time. 
Contractor shall not disturb more soil than the Contractor can stabilize with the resources 
available. Land which is disturbed multiple times during a project will require as necessary 
multiple stabilization efforts. 

Contractor shall temporarily stabilize from wind and water erosion those portions of disturbed 
soils, portions of stockpiles, and portions of disposal sites that are not in active construction. 
Temporary stabilization measures may require a combination of measures including, but not 
limited to, vegetative cover, mulch, stabilizing emulsions, blankets, mats, soil binders, non-
erodible cover, dust palliatives, or other approved methods. 

Before applying temporary or permanent seeding, Contractor shall prepare the surface to be 
seeded to reduce erosion potential and to facilitate germination and growth of vegetative cover. 
Contractor shall apply seed, maintain seeded areas, and reseed areas where growth of 
temporary vegetative cover is inadequate to stabilize disturbed ground. 

Contractor shall apply permanent seed, within the time periods required, at locations where 
seeding is indicated on the Drawings and after land-disturbing activity is permanently ceased. 
When installing a culvert or other drainage structure where a stream bypass is not used, 
Contractor shall install temporary or permanent stabilization concurrently or immediately after 
placing the culvert or drainage structure in a manner that complies with the SWPPP, applicable 
project permits and prevents discharge of pollutants. Contractor shall install temporary and 
permanent stabilization: 

• at the culvert or drainage structure inlet and outlet and 
• in the areas upstream and downstream that may be disturbed by the process of 

installing the culvert, culvert end walls, culvert end sections, or drainage structure. 

F. Ending CGP Coverage and BMP Maintenance 

The Engineer will determine the date that all the following conditions for ending CGP coverage 
have been met within the Project Zone based on, but not limited to, the following: 

• land disturbing activities have ceased; 
• Final Stabilization has been achieved (including at material sources, disposal sites, 

staging areas, equipment areas, etc.) 
• temporary BMPs have been removed. 

After the Engineer has determined the conditions for ending CGP coverage have been met, the 
City will: 

• provide written notice to the Contractor with the date that the conditions were met; 
• submit an eNOT to ADEC; and 
• provide a copy of the eNOT and ADEC's acknowledgement letter to the Contractor 

 
Page 02200- 18 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

Contractor shall end permit coverage within the Project Zone by submitting an eNOT to ADEC 
within 30 days of meeting the conditions for ending CGP coverage. The Contractor is responsible 
for BMP maintenance and SWPPP updates until permit coverage is ended. 

If the Contractor's coverage includes areas where the City is not an Operator, the Contractor 
may not be able to file an eNOT at the same time as the City. In this case, the Contractor shall 
amend the SWPPP to remove the City from CGP coverage and state that the City is no longer an 
Operator within the Project Zone. 
Contractor shall indicate in the SWPPP the areas that have reached Final Stabilization, and the 
dates land disturbing activities ended and Final Stabilization was achieved. The Contractor shall 
submit an eNOT to ADEC, and insert copies of the City's and the Contractor's eNOTs with ADEC's 
acknowledgement letters in the appendix of the SWPPP. 

Contractor shall submit a copy of each signed eNOT and ADEC's acknowledgement letter to the 
City within 30 days of receiving them. 

G. Transmit final SWPPP 

Contractor shall transmit one (1) copy of the final SWPPP, including all amendments and 
appendices, to the Engineer when the project eNOTs are filed, or within thirty (30) days of the 
City's eNOT being filed, whichever is sooner. Transmittal shall be by both electronic and hard 
copy. 

Article 2.15  SWPPP Documents (Location on-site and Record Retention) 

Contractor shall maintain the SWPPP and related documents as the Record that demonstrates 
compliance with the CGP. Copies of SWPPP documents transmitted to the Engineer under the 
requirements of this specification are informational and do not relieve the Contractor of his 
responsibility to maintain complete records as required by the CGP and this Section. 

Contractor shall maintain the SWPPP, HMCP and SPCC Plan at the on-site project office. If there is not 
an on-site project office, the Contractor shall maintain the documents at an onsite project location that 
meets CGP requirements and this specification. Records may be moved to another office for record 
retention during winter shutdown or after the eNOTs are filed. Contractor shall update on-site postings 
if records are relocated during winter shutdown. Contractor shall update and maintain all postings 
current and shall provide the City with copies of all Records. 

Contractor shall retain Records and a copy of the SWPPP for at least three years after the date of eNOT. 
If EPA or ADEC inspects the project, issues a Notice of Violation (NOV), or begins investigation for a 
potential NOV before the retention period expires, Contractor shall retain the SWPPP and all Records 
related to the SWPPP and CGP until at least three years after EPA and/or ADEC has determined all issues 
related to the investigation are settled. 

The SWPPP and related documents shall be made available for review and copies provided to other 
regulatory agencies that request them. The project site documents, including related off-site areas or 
support activities, shall be made available for inspection, or sampling and monitoring, by the City and 
other regulatory agencies. 

Article 2.16  SWPPP Inspections, Amendments, Reports, and Logs 
Contractor shall perform inspections, prepare inspection reports, and prepare SWPPP Amendments in 
compliance with the SWPPP and the CGP. Contractor shall update the SWPPP Corrective Action Log, 
SWPPP Amendment Log, SWPPP Grading and Stabilization Activities Log, and SWPPP Daily Record of 
Rainfall forms. For active projects the Contractor shall update the Records daily. 

Packet Page Number 62 



 
Page 02200- 19 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

A. Inspection during Construction 
Contractor shall conduct periodic inspections according to the schedule and requirements of the 
SWPPP and CGP. 
Inspections required by the CGP and SWPPP shall be performed jointly by the Contractor's 
SWPPP Manager and the City's inspector. 

B. Inspection Reports 
Contractor shall use SWPPP Construction Site Inspection Report Form F-100 to record 
Inspections. Changes or revisions to Form F-100 are not permitted; except for adding or deleting 
data fields that list the location of discharge points and site specific BMPs. Contractor shall 
complete all fields included on the Inspection Report form; do not leave any field blank. 
Unless otherwise directed by the Engineer, Contractor shall insert a Complete-by- Date for each 
listed corrective action. Complete-by-date is a date that either complies with the time 
requirements listed in Article 2.16.D or six calendar days after the date of the inspection, 
whichever is sooner. Contractor shall provide a copy of the completed Inspection Report to the 
Engineer by noon of the day after inspection. 
The Superintendent shall review, correct errors, and sign and certify the Inspection Report, 
within three days of the date of Inspection. The Engineer may coordinate with the 
Superintendent to review and correct errors or omissions before the Superintendent signs the 
report. Corrections are limited to adding missing information or correcting entries to match field 
notes and conditions present at the time the Inspection was performed. Contractor shall deliver 
the signed and certified Inspection Report to the Engineer on the same day the Superintendent 
signs it. 
The Engineer may make corrections after the Superintendent has signed and certified the 
Inspection Report. The Engineer will initial and date each correction. If the Engineer makes 
corrections, the Superintendent shall re-certify the Inspection Report by entering a new 
signature and date in the white space below the original signature and date lines. Contractor 
shall deliver a copy of the recertified Inspection Report to the Engineer on the day it is recertified. 
If subsequent corrections to the certified Inspection Report are required, Contractor shall 
document the corrections in an addendum that addresses only the omitted or erroneous 
portions of the original Inspection Report. The Superintendent shall sign and certify the 
addendum. 

C. Inspection before Seasonal Suspension of Work 
Contractor and the City shall conduct an inspection not more than fourteen (14) days before seasonal 
suspension of work to confirm BMPs are installed and functioning according to the requirements of 
the SWPPP and CGP. 

D. Reduced Inspection Frequencies 
Contractor shall conduct inspections according to the inspection schedule in the approved 
SWPPP. Changes in inspection frequency, including beginning and ending dates shall be 
approved by the Engineer, and documented as an amendment to the SWPPP. 
Inspection frequency during winter work or seasonal suspension of work may be reduced to at 
least one Inspection every thirty (30) days, if approved by the Engineer, and one of the following 
requirements is met: 

• the entire site is temporarily stabilized; 
• runoff is unlikely due to winter conditions (e.g. the site is covered with snow, ice or the 

ground is frozen, and water flow or seepage is not likely to occur); or 
 

Page 02200- 20 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

• soil disturbing activities are suspended. 

The Engineer may waive winter monthly Inspection requirements until twenty-one 
(21) days before thawing conditions are expected to result in a discharge, if the following 
requirements are met: 

• frozen conditions are anticipated to continue for more than one month; and 
• land disturbance activities have been suspended. 

Inspections shall resume according to the normal inspection schedule identified in the SWPPP, 
at least twenty-one (21) days before anticipated spring thaw. 
The Engineer may waive requirements for updating the Grading and Stabilization Activities Log 
and Daily Record of Rainfall during seasonal suspension of work. If so, Contractor shall resume 
collecting and recording weather data on the Daily Record of Rainfall form one month before 
thawing conditions are expected to result in runoff. The Contractor shall resume recording land 
disturbance and stabilization activities on the Grading and Stabilization Activities Log when 
Construction Activity resumes. 

E. Stabilization before Spring Thaw 
Construction Activities within the Project Zone shall be stabilized in accordance with the CGP by 
the Contractor with appropriate BMPs prior to spring thaw. 

F. Inspection before Project Completion 
Contractor shall conduct an inspection to ensure Final Stabilization is complete throughout the 
Project, and temporary BMPs that are required to be removed are removed. Temporary BMPs 
that are biodegradable and are specifically designed and installed with the intent of remaining 
in place until they degrade, may remain in place after project completion. 

G. Items and Areas to Inspect 
Contractor shall conduct inspections of the areas required by the CGP and SWPPP. 

H. SWPPP Amendments and SWPPP Amendment Log 
The Superintendent and the SWPPP Manager are the only persons authorized to amend the 
SWPPP and update the SWPPP Amendment Log, Form F-114. The Superintendent or the SWPPP 
Manager shall sign and date amendments to the SWPPP and updates to the SWPPP Amendment 
Log. 
SWPPP Amendments shall be approved by the Engineer. 
Amendments shall be prepared whenever: 

• there is a change in design or construction operation; 
• maintenance occurs at the construction site that has or could cause erosion or 

sedimentation; 
• there is a discharge of pollutants that has not been previously addressed in the SWPPP; 
• an Inspection identifies that any portion of the SWPPP is ineffective in preventing 

erosion, sedimentation, or the discharge of pollutants; 
• an Inspection identifies a problem that requires additional or modified BMPs; 
• a BMP is modified during construction or a BMP not shown in the original 

SWPPP is added; 
• the Inspection frequency is modified (note beginning and ending dates); or 
• a change occurs in personnel who are identified in the SWPPP, according to 

Packet Page Number 63 



 
Page 02200- 21 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

Article 2.9.D. 
Contractor shall record removal of BMPs as amendments to the SWPPP. See Article 2.9.C for 
documenting removal of BMPs. 
Contractor shall amend the SWPPP narrative as soon as practicable after a change or 
modification, but in no case, later than seven (7) days following identification of the need for an 
amendment. The SWPPP Amendment shall be signed, dated, and cross-reference the 
amendment number with the Corrective Action Log or SWPPP page number, as applicable. When 
a BMP is modified or added, describe the BMP according to Article 2.9.C 
The Contractor shall maintain the SWPPP Amendment Log. Prior to performing each scheduled 
Inspection, the Contractor shall submit to the Engineer a copy of the pages of the Amendment 
Log that contain new entries since the last submittal, including copies of any documents 
amending the SWPPP. 
The Contractor shall append the SWPPP Amendment Log to the SWPPP. 

I. Site Maps 
Contractor shall document installation, routine maintenance and removal of BMPs by annotating 
the SWPPP Site Maps, including the date and the recording person's initials by these notes. 
Contractor shall identify areas where Construction Activities begin, areas where Construction 
Activities temporarily or permanently cease, and areas that are temporarily or permanently 
stabilized. 

J. Corrective Action Log 
The Superintendent and SWPPP Manager are the only persons authorized to make entries on 
the SWPPP Corrective Action Log, Form F-112. Contractor shall document the need for 
corrective action within twenty-four (24) hours of either: 

• identification during an inspection; or 
• discovery by the City's or Contractor's staff, a subcontractor, or a regulatory agency 

inspector. 
Modification or replacement of a BMP, installation of a new BMP not shown in the original 
SWPPP, or overdue maintenance (for example after a sediment trap exceeds fifty percent (50%) 
of capacity) is a corrective action and shall be documented on the Corrective Action Log. Do not 
record removal of BMPs on the Corrective Action Log. 
After each Inspection Report has been signed and certified, Contractor shall update the 
Corrective Action Log with the date of inspection and all proposed corrective actions noted on 
the Inspection Report. 
After the corrective action has been accomplished, the Contractor shall note the action taken if 
a SWPPP amendment was needed and date and initial the entry. 
Contractor shall maintain the Corrective Action Log current and submit a copy to the Engineer 
prior to performing each scheduled SWPPP Inspection. 
Contractor shall append the Corrective Action Log as an appendix to the SWPPP. 

K. Grading and Stabilization Activities Log 
The Superintendent and SWPPP Manager are the only persons authorized to date and initial 
entries on the SWPPP Grading and Stabilization Activities Log, Form F-110. Contractor shall use 
the SWPPP Grading and Stabilization Activities Log to record land disturbance and stabilization 
activities. 
Contractor shall keep the Grading and Stabilization Activities Log current and submit a copy to 

 
Page 02200- 22 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

the Engineer prior to performing each scheduled SWPPP Inspection. 
Contractor shall append the Grading and Stabilization Activities Log as an appendix to the 
SWPPP. 

L. Daily Record of Rainfall 
Contractor shall use SWPPP Daily Record of Rainfall, Form F-115 to record weather conditions at 
the Project and update the form daily, including the initials of the person recording each day's 
entry. Contractor shall submit a copy to the Engineer prior to performing each scheduled 
Inspection. Contractor shall append the Daily Record of Rainfall to the SWPPP. 

Article 2.17  Failure to Perform Work 

The Engineer will suspend Work and withhold monies for incidents of non-compliance with either the 
CGP or SWPPP. If the suspension is to protect workers, the public, or the environment from imminent 
harm, the Engineer may orally order the suspension of Work. Following an oral order of suspension, the 
Engineer will promptly give written notice of suspension. In other circumstances, the Engineer will give 
the Contractor written notice of suspension before suspension of Work. A notice of suspension will state 
the defects or reasons for a suspension, the corrective actions required to stop suspension, and the time 
allowed to complete corrective actions. If the Contractor fails to take the corrective action within the 
specified time, the Engineer may: 

1. suspend the work until corrective action is completed; 
2. withhold monies due the Contractor until corrective action is completed; 
3. assess damages or equitable adjustments against the Contract amount; and 
4. employ others to perform the corrective action and deduct the cost from the Contract 

amount. 

Reasons for the Engineer to take action under this section include, but are not limited to, the 
Contractor's failure to: 

• obtain appropriate permits before Construction Activities occur; 
• perform SWPPP Administration; 
• perform timely Inspections; 
• update the SWPPP; 
• transmit updated SWPPP, Inspection Reports, and other updated SWPPP forms to the 

Engineer; 
• maintain effective BMPs to control erosion, sedimentation, and pollution in accordance 

with the SWPPP, the CGP, and applicable local, state, and federal requirements; 
• perform duties according to the requirements of this Section; or 
• meet requirements of the CGP, SWPPP, or other permits, laws, and regulations related 

to erosion, sediment, or pollution control. 

No additional Contract time or additional compensation is allowed due to delays caused by the 
Engineer's suspension of Work under this Article. 

Article 2.18  Measurement 

The Work in this Section is measured by lump sum and will consist of all labor, materials, and equipment 
required to prepare and implement a SWPPP, including all required SWPPP amendments, revisions, 
inspections, and all other measures necessary to complete the Work. 

 

Packet Page Number 64 



 
Page 02200- 23 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

Article 2.19  Basis of Payment 

Payment for this Work shall be in accordance with The General Conditions and shall include full payment 
for all Work described in this Section. 

Payment will be made under the following item: 

 ITEM No. DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 2 Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (Type 3) Lump Sum

 
Page 02200- 24 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

SECTION 02200.04    DEWATERING 

Article 4.1  General 

The Work under this Section consists of performing all work and operations pertaining to the dewatering 
of Work areas, including diversion of surface and subsurface water flows, to provide a dry and stable 
environment throughout the project for excavation, backfill, and trench Work. 

Article 4.2  Materials 

Contractor is responsible for preparing and implementing a Dewatering Plan if necessary during 
construction. The Contractor shall provide all equipment, materials, and personnel necessary to prepare 
and implement the Dewatering Plan; and to provide a dry and stable construction environment 
throughout the project. 

Article 4.3  Construction 

Design, installation, and operation of dewatering systems shall comply with current safety and 
environmental regulations. 

When dewatering approval is required by ADEC, the Contractor shall submit a copy of the approved 
dewatering plan to the Engineer.  

The Contractor shall exercise reasonable precaution, use sound engineering judgment, use prudent 
construction practices, prevent overloading or misuse of existing or new structures, assure the adequacy 
and safety of such Works, and be responsible for potential damage or undermining of existing or 
completed Work.  

Water resulting from Contractor's dewatering effort may not be pumped or otherwise diverted into 
existing storm drains unless required permits, including, but not limited to, the Alaska Department of 
Environmental Conservation and Environmental Protection Agency, are obtained by Contractor. Under 
no circumstances will Contractor be allowed to divert water from the excavation directly onto roadways 
or into the adjacent water body. Contractor shall provide disposal site for excess water and shall be 
responsible for securing all necessary permits and approvals. Contractor shall provide copies of permits 
and approvals to the Engineer. 

The Contractor shall prevent debris and sediments from entering the bay, creeks, lakes, ponds, wetlands 
areas and drainage systems. 
Article 4.4  Measurement 

No measurement of quantities will be made. 

Article 4.5  Basis of Payment 

No separate payment will be made.  Dewatering, if necessary, will be considered incidental to other Work. 

Packet Page Number 65 



 
Page 02200- 25 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

SECTION 02200.05    TRENCH EXCAVATION AND BACKFILL 

Article 5.1 General 

The Work under this Section consists of providing all materials and performance of all operations 
pertaining to items of Work involved in excavation, bedding, backfill, and compaction of trenches. When 
unsuitable or surplus excavation material is removed from the job site, it will be considered incidental to 
other Work. When material is imported, it will be paid for under the appropriate item. 

Any shoring, sheeting, or bracing required shall be considered incidental to Work under this Section. 

Article 5.2  Trench Excavation and Backfill - Description 

This Work shall consist of all excavation and backfill of trenches as specified for pipe installation and all 
other miscellaneous items as specified in this Section. 

The Contractor shall minimize the width of the trench.  Trench limits shall be shown on the Drawings. Any 
reference to "limits" within this Section shall be in regards to Trench limits. Trench width at or below the 
top of the pipe shall be of a width that will allow compaction equipment to be utilized at the sides of the 
pipe. Trenches shall be of the necessary width for proper laying of pipe, conduit, or cable and the banks 
shall be sloped so as to conform to the prevailing safety requirements. 

Trench depth shall be excavated not less than six inches (6") below the barrel of the pipe unless otherwise 
directed by the Engineer. Where maximum trench width is limited, the Contractor shall provide trench 
shoring or supports systems as necessary to ensure that the trench width does not exceed the established 
limits. The Contractor shall erect and maintain continuous trench barricades to prevent access around all 
excavations left open at the end of the workday. The Contractor shall provide and maintain adequate 
barricades to insure public safety at all times during the prosecution of the Work.  

If at any time the Engineer determines that the construction trench section is greater than the dimensions 
shown on the Drawings or described herein, the Contractor may be required to implement appropriate 
construction techniques to reduce the trench section or absorb all costs associated with the greater 
trench section, including, but not limited to: disposal of surplus material and furnishing bedding material. 
The limits as shown on the Drawings and described herein are to limit pay quantities and incidental costs 
only and are not intended to limit or in any way alter the requirements of Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration (OSHA) or State of Alaska safety regulations. The Contractor is required to 
conduct all trenching operations in accordance with current safety standards. 

The Contractor shall be responsible for any and all costs resulting from over excavation, including the 
need for additional backfill beyond the maximum pay limits as shown on the Drawings or described 
herein. In addition, the Contractor shall be responsible for all costs and time required for the repair or 
replacement of streets, alleys, driveways, buildings, sidewalks, curb and gutter, drainage patterns, gravel 
pads, fences, lawns, property corner markers, survey monumentation, street name signs, traffic control 
signs, light poles, trees, utilities, shrubbery, retaining walls, utility markers, rockeries, landscaping, 
guardrails, or other public or private improvements damaged by the Contractor. The cost of repairing 
damage or replacing such facilities shall be included as part of the unit price for the pay item under 
construction or shall otherwise be considered incidental to the Contract. 

Resurfacing of trench excavation and backfill shall conform to the detail included in the drawings. 

Article 5.3  Construction 

A. Trench Excavation 
The Contractor shall perform all excavation of every description and whatever substance 
encountered including bedrock. Excavation will be to the extent indicated on the Drawings and 

 
Page 02200- 26 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

as staked in the field. All excavated materials for backfill shall be placed in an orderly manner and 
placed at a distance from the trench section which conforms to all state and/or federal safety 
codes. 
All excavated organic or other unsuitable backfill materials shall be placed in a similar manner, 
but shall be kept separate from all excavated sandy or gravelly material.  
Time is of the essence; therefore, the Contractor shall not begin excavation of the trench until all 
materials, equipment, and personnel are present to complete the Work in the most expedient 
manner. Not more than four hundred feet (400') of trench shall be open in advance of pipe or 
conduit installation unless authorized in writing by the Engineer. Unless otherwise indicated in 
the Drawings and Specifications, all excavation will be open cut. 
Where rock is encountered, it shall be removed as necessary for installation of pipe bedding 
material as detailed or as directed by the Engineer, and shall be replaced with approved material. 
All unusable or surplus material excavated from within the trench section, as shown on the 
Drawings, shall be removed from the project site. Work performed to remove the unusable or 
surplus material shall be performed in accordance with Section 02200.08 – Unclassified Fill and 
Backfill. Unusable or surplus material shall be disposed of at the Contractor's expense. 

B. Trench Dewatering 
Contractor shall protect adjacent utilities and property by trench dewatering and to successfully 
install the new utility lines. Dewatering shall be performed in accordance with Section 02200.04 
- Dewatering. 

C. Bedding 
All pipe shall be placed in bedding material as specified or as shown on the Drawings. Bedding 
materials for the type specified shall conform to the requirements of Section 02200.06 - Bedding 
Material. 
Bedding material shall be placed so that it does not free fall for a distance greater than two feet 
(2') above the top of the pipe. If the distance is greater than two feet (2'), the Engineer may 
require the Contractor to expose the exterior surface of the pipe being bedded. The Contractor 
shall provide the Engineer an opportunity to inspect the uncovered Work for damage. Upon 
completion of the inspection, the Contractor shall repair or replace damaged Work to the 
satisfaction of the Engineer. All costs associated with inspection, repair, replacement, and 
installation of the Work due to the bedding material free falling greater than two feet (2') shall 
be incidental to the Contract. 
Class B bedding material shall be placed under and around the pipe in lifts not to exceed twelve 
inches (12") and compacted to ninety-five percent (95%) of maximum density. In no case shall 
bedding material be placed above the spring line of the pipe in a single lift. 
The trench shall be accurately graded to provide uniform bearing and support for each section of 
the pipe for its entire length, except for the portion of the pipe sections where it is necessary to 
excavate for the bell holes and other type joints and for the proper sealing of the joints. Bell holes 
and depressions for joints shall be dug after the trench bottom has been graded and, in order 
that the pipe will rest on the prepared bottom for as nearly its full length as practical, bell holes 
and depressions shall be only of such length, depth, and width as required for properly making 
the particular type of joint. The trench shall be over-excavated so a minimum of six inch (6") 
depth of bedding material is required to bring the trench bottom up to the specified grade. This 
bedding material shall be compacted to a minimum of ninety-five percent (95%) of maximum 
density prior to the installation of the pipe.  
 

Packet Page Number 66 



 
Page 02200- 27 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

D. Trench Backfill 

Trench backfill is defined as the placement of material above the level of bedding material. 
Material for backfill shall be obtained from trench excavation.  Rocks in excess of 12” diameter 
and unsuitable materials shall be removed from the excavated material prior to backfilling.  
Backfill shall be placed in maximum 12-inch lifts and compacted in such a manner that ninety-
five percent (95%) of maximum density is obtained. No separate payment will be made for 
compaction to ninety-five percent (95%) of maximum density. Mechanical  compaction shall be 
accomplished in accordance with Section 02200.01, Article 1.5 - Compaction Standards. Backfill 
shall not contain broken bituminous pavement or Portland Cement Concrete. 

E. Locator Tape 

Contractor shall provide and install a detectable locator tape properly coded and labeled 
identifying the utility or utilities installed in the trench. The locator tape shall not be less than 
five (5) mil, foil backed, and six inch (6") wide vinyl tape. The Contractor shall install the locator 
tape above and parallel to the axis of the utility with no breaks in continuity. The Contractor shall 
install the locator tape as detailed. Installation of the locator tape is considered incidental to 
Trench Excavation and no separate payment shall be made. 

F. Cleanup 

This item consists of cleanup and finishing of all construction areas to their original condition or 
better. All Work areas shall be restored to a minimum of their original condition at the 
completion of Work. 

G. Insulation 

Refer to Section 02200.10 - Insulation and drawing details for insulation installation 
requirements. 

Article 5.4  Measurement 
No measurement of quantities will be made.  Trench excavation and backfill with mechanical compaction 
will be included with furnishing and installing pipe on a linear foot basis or with services and hydrants on 
a lump sum basis.   
Article 5.5  Basis of Payment 

No separate payment will be made for excavation and backfill.  Trench excavation and backfill is 
considered incidental to Furnishing and Installing Pipe, Hydrants or Services. 

 
Page 02200- 28 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

SECTION 02200.06    FURNISH BEDDING MATERIAL 

Article 6.1  General 

The Work under this Section consists of performance of all operations pertaining to providing bedding 
material for underground utilities. 

Article 6.2  Materials 

The aggregate material shall conform to the requirements specified below: 

A. Class "B" Bedding 

Materials furnished by the Contractor for use as "B" bedding classified fill and/or backfill shall be 
graded within the limitations delineated below: 

Class "B" Bedding 
U.S. Std. Sieve Cumulative % Passing by 

Weight 
1" 100 

3/8" 60-100 
#4 40-85 

#10 25-70 
#40 5-40 

#200 0-6 

In addition to the grading limits listed above, the fraction of material passing the #200 sieve shall 
not be greater than thirty-five percent (35%) of that fraction passing the #40 sieve. The bedding 
materi 

Article 6.3  Construction 

Placement of bedding shall conform to the requirements of Section 02200.05, Article 5.3 - Construction. 
Article 6.4  Measurement 

Measurement of bedding shall be per ton of bedding material placed in the trench. 

Article 6.5  Basis of Payment 

Payment for this Work shall be in accordance with The General Conditions and shall include full payment 
for all Work described in this Section. 

Payment shall be made under the following units: 

 ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 4 Furnish and Install Bedding Material (Class B) Ton 
 
  

Packet Page Number 67 



 
Page 02200- 29 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

 
SECTION 02200.07    DRAIN ROCK 

Article 7.1  General 

The Work under this Section consists of performing all operations pertaining to furnishing and placing a 
layer of drain rock as shown on the plans or as directed by the Engineer. 

Article 7.2  Materials 

Materials furnished by the Contractor for drain rock shall be graded within the limitations delineated 
below  or as approved by the Engineer: 

Drain Rock 

U.S. Std. Sieve Cumulative % Passing 
by Weight 

 
3" 100 

2" 50-80 

1" 25-50 

#200 0-1 

Article 7.3  Construction 

The drain rock shall be handled, dumped, or spread into place so as to secure a stone mass of the 
dimensions shown on the Drawings. 

Article 7.4  Measurement 

No measurement of quantities will be made.   

Article 7.5  Basis of Payment 

No separate payment will be made.  Drain rock will be included with the associated pay item. 

 
Page 02200- 30 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

SECTION 02200.8    UNCLASSIFIED FILL AND BACKFILL 

Article 8.1  General 

The Work under this Section consists of furnishing all plant, labor, equipment, supplies, and material in 
performance of all operations pertaining to the excavation, stockpiling on site, placement of Unclassified 
Fill and Backfill, and disposal of excess or unsuitable material. 

Article 8.2  Material 

Unclassified Fill and Backfill shall be defined as excavated non-organic material that is determined by the 
Engineer to be suitable for Backfill.  The Contractor shall make effort to sort unsuitable material including 
oversized rocks and organic materials from the excavated soils for disposal off site.   

Article 8.3  Construction 

Excavated material shall have all rocks in excess of 12-inch diameter removed and then be used for trench 
backfill.  Excess Unclassified Fill and Backfill not used shall be disposed of at a Contractor-furnished 
disposal site or at an Owner provided disposal site. 

The Owner makes available the pad area located adjacent to Pyramid Creek Road immediately above the 
Pyramid Water Treatment Plant.  If the Contractor opts to use this site, SWPPP practices shall be applied 
prior to placement of any fill.  The Contractor can relocate any currently stockpiled materials as necessary.  
The Contractor is responsible to grade, dress and compact materials to leave the site in a finished 
condition suitable as a laydown or storage area.   

Article 8.4  Measurement 
No measurement of quantities will be made.  Unclassified fill and backfill will be included with furnishing 
and installing pipe on a linear foot basis or with services and hydrants on a lump sum basis. 

Article 8.5  Basis of Payment 
 
No separate payment will be made.  Backfilling the trench and disposal of unsuitable materials are 
considered incidental to other Work.

Packet Page Number 68 



 
Page 02200- 31 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

SECTION 02200.9    SURFACING MATERIAL 

Article 9.1  General 

The Work under this Section consists of performing all operations necessary to complete construction of 
the surfacing material on the prepared subbase. 

Article 9.2  Material 

The surfacing material shall consist of crushed gravel, rock, sand, or other approved material. The 
aggregate shall be free from lumps, balls of clay, or other objectionable matter, and shall be durable and 
sound. The portion of the material retained on a No. 4 sieve shall be known as coarse aggregate. Both 
coarse and fine aggregates shall conform to the quality requirements of AASHTO M-147. 

A. Coarse Aggregate 
The coarse aggregate material conforming to the requirements specified above shall have a 
percentage of wear not to exceed forty-five (45) after five hundred (500) revolutions, as 
determined by the current requirements of AASHTO T 96. The  Degradation Value shall be a 
minimum of 45 per ATM 313.  It shall consist of angular fragments reasonably uniform in density 
and quality, and reasonably free from thin and elongated pieces, dirt, and other objectionable 
material. At least fifty percent (50%) of the coarse aggregate particles shall have two or more 
mechanically fractured faces. 

B. Fine Aggregate 
The fine aggregate shall consist of material free of organic or other objectionable matter. The 
fine aggregate, either naturally combined with the coarse aggregate or separately obtained and 
mixed therewith, shall be of such character that the composite material will conform to the 
gradation and other requirements specified. 

C. Gradation 
The composite mixture of coarse aggregate and fine aggregate, processed as hereinafter 
specified, shall conform to the following gradation limits meeting the requirements of ADOT E-1 
per ADOT Standard Specification Table 703-2: 

Surfacing Material 

U.S. Std. Sieve Cumulative % Passing 
by Weight 

1" 100 
3/4" 70-100 
3/8" 50-85 
#4 35-65 
#8 20-50 

#50 15-30 
#200 8-15 

Article 9.3  Construction 

The surfacing course shall be placed to the lines, grades, and thicknesses shown on the Drawings and 
shall consist of the materials hereinbefore specified.  

A. Preparation of Subbase 

Subbase preparation shall consist of dressing, shaping, wetting, and compacting of the subbase 
prior to placement of the Surfacing Course. Surfaces shall be cleaned of all foreign substances 
and debris. Any ruts or soft yielding spots that may appear in the subbase surface shall be  

Page 02200- 32 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

corrected by loosening, removing and adding approved material, reshaping, and recompacting 
the affected areas to the line, grade, and to the specified density requirements.  Loose rocks in 
excess of 1” diameter shall be removed prior to placement of surfacing course. 

B. Placing 

The approved Surfacing Course material shall be deposited and spread in a uniform layer to the 
required contour and grades and to such loose depth that when compacted to the density 
required will achieve the specified thickness. The material shall be spread uniformly on the 
prepared subbase from moving vehicles or spreading boxes, then leveled to match the adjacent 
road surfaces and graded. Portions of the layer which become segregated in spreading shall be 
remixed to the required gradation. 

C. Compacting 

The Surfacing Material shall be compacted to a minimum of ninety-five percent (95%) of 
maximum density. Blading, rolling and tamping shall continue until the surface is smooth and 
free from waves and inequalities.  

Article 9.4  Measurement 

The Surfacing Material shall be measured in tons of materials delivered and placed in accordance with 
these Specifications .  

Article 9.5  Basis of Payment 

Payment for this Work shall be in accordance with The General Conditions and shall include full payment 
for all Work described in this Section. 

Payment shall be made under the following unit: 

 ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 5 Furnish and Install Surfacing Material Ton 

  

Packet Page Number 69 



 
Page 02200- 33 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

SECTION 02200.10    INSULATION 

Article 10.1  General 

The Work under this Section consists of performing all operations including labor and material pertaining 
to the placement of insulation. Contractor shall provide polystyrene insulation board(s), extruded or 
expanded, in conformance with the Drawings and these Specifications 

The Work under this Section also includes shaping and compacting a level area under the horizontal 
insulation boards and placing the insulation as indicated on the Drawings. 

Article 10.2  Materials 

The insulation board shall have a minimum full board size of four foot by eight foot (4' x 8'), have the 
minimum thickness specified in the Contract Documents, meet the specified R-Value or better, and 
conform to the requirements of AASHTO M230. R-Value of insulation shall be based on 
manufacturer's warranted R-Value. The insulation board shall be rigid, homogeneous, and conform to 
the following: 

 Property Test Method Value 
 Compressive Strength psi,  
minimum at yield or 5 percent strain  ASTM D-1621 60.0 
 

Water Absorption, 
maximum percent by volume  ASTM C-272 0.3% 
 
 Thermal Resistance, 

Minimum R-Value at 75°F, °F-Ft2-Hr/BTU  ASTM C-177 R-5/inch  
  

Article 10.3  Construction 
 

Contractor shall install the insulation board with staggered joints when layered. Layering of insulation to 
obtain the specified thickness is allowed as long as joints are overlapped at least one foot (1'). Contractor 
shall blade, shape, and compact the area prior to placing the insulation board in accordance with this 
Division. Contractor shall shape the subgrade to the lines and grades shown on the Drawings and provide 
a smooth surface on which to place the insulation board. Prior to placing the insulation board on the 
prepared subgrade, the Contractor shall furnish straightedges to the Inspector for checking surface 
uniformity. Surface irregularities shall not exceed one inch (1") within eight feet (8'), or three-eighths 
inch (3/8") in two feet (2'). Contractor shall uniformly compact the subgrade. Contractor shall hand-rake 
smooth and recompact the ridges left by the compaction equipment. Contractor shall accurately set the 
horizontal insulation boards to the line and grade established and in such a manner as to hold the board 
firmly in place by mechanically connecting it to the subgrade. 

Contractor shall replace or repair insulation panels broken, crushed, or cracked, as determined by the 
Engineer, at no additional cost to the Owner. 

Contractor shall cover the insulation board with approved bedding material, placed in a six-inch (6") lift, 
spread, and compacted for the full width of the insulation layer prior to placing subsequent lifts. 

 
Page 02200- 34 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

Contractor shall place, spread, and compact in such a manner as not to damage the insulation board. 
Engineer will approve spreading and compacting equipment prior to its use. 

Article 10.4  Measurement 

The insulation board is measured per linear foot, 2” thickness, 4’ wide, complete and accepted in place. 

Additional Work required for preparing the subgrade to the smoothness required is incidental to the bid 
item(s) in this Section and no separate payment is made. 

Article 10.5  Basis of Payment 

Payment for this Work shall be in accordance with The General Conditions and shall include full payment 
for all Work described in this Section. 

Payment will be made under the following unit: 

 ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 20 Furnish and Install Board Insulation linear foot 

Packet Page Number 70 



 
Page 02200- 35 
EARTHWORK   

CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02200  
  EARTHWORK 
 

 

SECTION 02200.11 SHORING, SHEETING AND BRACING/SHORING AND SHEETING 
LEFT IN THE TRENCH AND PORTABLE 

Article 11.1  General 

The Work under this Section consists of all operations pertaining to furnishing and installing sheeting, 
shoring, and bracing to support the trench section to prevent any movement that might damage adjacent 
facilities or injure workmen or the public, and the use of portable steel shielding. 

Article 11.2  Materials 

The Contractor shall obtain approval from the Engineer for all sheeting, bracing and shoring materials 
and/or equipment to be used on the project. Materials used shall be in accordance with Section 
1926.651, Subparagraph 1 of the Federal Register, Volume 37, No. 243, OSHA Regulations. 

Article 11.3  Construction 

All construction requirements for design, installation, and use of sheeting, shoring, bracing, and shielding 
shall be in accordance with current safety regulations. All sheeting, shoring, bracing, and shielding shall 
be designed by a Professional Engineer commissioned by the Contractor. All shop drawings and design 
data shall be submitted to the Engineer for approval. 

When shoring and sheeting is left in the trench, sheeting must be lower than the bottom of the pipe and 
cut off one foot (1') below ground surface. No transverse bracing will be permitted to remain. 

Any Contractor provided portable trench shielding shall comply with relevant OSHA regulations. The 
Contractor shall provide the Engineer certification of such compliance from the portable shield 
manufacturer or supplier. 

Article 11.4  Measurement 

No measurement will be made for Work in this Section. 

Article 11.5  Basis of Payment 

No separate payment shall be made for shoring, sheeting, bracing, or portable shields. Any single 
technique or combination of techniques used for shoring, sheeting, and bracing shall be considered 
incidental to the Contract. 

 

  

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITEWORK 
  Section 02550  
  CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 
 

 
Page 02550-1 

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 
  

SECTION 02550.01   GENERAL 

Article 1.1 Scope of Work 

The Contractor shall furnish all labor and materials necessary to perform all surveying and staking essential 
for the completion of construction in conformance with the Drawings, Specifications, and Contract 
Documents. The Contractor shall perform all the necessary Work and calculations required to accomplish 
the Work in accordance with this Division.   

Requirements for Earthwork, Water Systems, and other associated work items are found in other Divisions 
and are complimentary to this Division. See Specification 02668 Water Systems for additional survey 
requirements. 

This Section establishes a minimum standard of field survey specifications and procedures to properly 
control the construction project. The Contractor shall insure that commonly accepted practice of survey 
methods and procedures are followed. Errors or damages resulting from the Contractor's survey shall be 
corrected or made whole at the expense of the Contractor. The Owner shall not be held liable for any 
additional expense. Any method conflicting with these survey specifications must be approved by the 
Engineer prior to its use. 

An Alaskan Registered Professional Surveyor, subcontracted to the Contractor shall perform initial 
surveying and staking.   

The Contractor shall notify the Engineer twenty-four (24) hours in advance prior to beginning Work. All 
requests for information or determinations concerning the project shall be directed to the Engineer. 

Deflection of PVC pipe joints is limited.  The pipes are to be located horizontally straight between bends.  
Available deflections will be used for vertical adjustments.  Bend locations shall be staked along the 
proposed pipe alignments.  The ROW and/or ROW centerline location shall be staked in the Phase 1 area.   

SECTION 02550.02 SURVEY 

Article 2.1 Project Control 

See plan sheet G5 for additional survey control information. 

The Phase I area was surveyed by HDL Engineering Consultants, Inc. (HDL) as part of a proposed paving 
project.  Phase 1 of the watermain is stationed on the drawings using the centerline of the existing Rights-
of-Way (ROW) or an offset of the east ROW line.  Improvements are identified by station and offset 
distance.  It is imperative that all permanent improvements for Phase 1 be contained inside the existing 
ROW or in an identified easement.   

Plat information for parcels along the Phase 1 project alignment is available to the Contractor.  The plats 
and/or drawings contain information necessary to lay out the ROW boundaries.  The Contractor shall 
initially stake the Phase 1 west ROW boundary for continuous identification during construction activities.   
Locations for bends shall be staked with offsets.    

Packet Page Number 71 



 

  

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITEWORK 
  Section 02550  
  CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 
 

 
Page 02550-2 

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 
  

The Contractor shall recover project survey control monuments shown on the Drawings or establish survey 
control to ensure the project is properly located and constructed according to the Contract Documents.  
Temporary Bench Marks (TBM’s) shall be set as necessary for vertical control. 

The Contractor shall notify the Engineer immediately if a discrepancy exists between the field conditions 
and the Contract Documents. Work unaffected by the discrepancy shall continue uninterrupted. 

A. Construction Centerline 

1. Phase 1 - Establish ROW West Boundary  

The ROW Boundary and project stationing shall conform to that shown on the Drawings. Any 
errors found in the line shall be corrected and shown on the specific plan view with reference 
to the centerline stationing. If control points do not exist, they shall be established and 
referenced so that the line can be readily re-established when required. A minimum of two 
reference points shall be established to reference each project control point or monument. 
Each reference point shall be visible to the other reference point. Reference points shall be 
placed at locations where there is the least possibility of their being disturbed during the 
construction period. Measurements and sketches of the reference points shall be kept in the 
horizontal control survey field book.  The west ROW boundary shall be staked to assure all 
Work is contained in the ROW. 

2. Check Existing Ground Profile 

 A centerline profile shall be run prior to establishing construction grade stakes. The existing 
ground elevations shall be checked against the existing profile elevations shown on the 
Drawings to verify design grade relative to the existing ground conditions. The Contractor shall 
review the centerline profile information and immediately notify the Engineer of any elevations 
that do not match the plan profile information. The Engineer will direct the Contractor how to 
proceed. 

Article 2.2  Field Notes 

The Contractor shall furnish hardbound field books for recording survey information.  Digital (pdf format) 
scanned copies of these field books shall be submitted to the Owner with the As-built information. Scanned 
field books must be clean, readable, and in Adobe Portable Document Format (PDF). 

Each book shall be indexed and its contents referred to by page number prior to delivering them to the 
Owner. All field books containing field note information shall be sealed and signed by an Alaskan Registered 
Professional Land Surveyor on the title page of each field book. The date, weather conditions, survey crew 
personnel, and instruments used shall be shown at the beginning of each day's notes. As a general rule, 
field notes for each phase of the Work shall be placed in a separate series of field books. Field notes shall 
include the information listed below: 

 observations recorded directly in field book. 
 complete an index page in the front of the book with specific references to pages where monument 

 

  

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITEWORK 
  Section 02550  
  CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 
 

 
Page 02550-3 

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 
  

recovery, horizontal and vertical control were established for the project, cut/fill notes, slope 
staking, laying out the project alignment, as-built of improvements or utilities, and sketches with 
specific references (dimensions, stationing, point numbers and relationship to ROW). 

 original notes shall be in pencil; redline book with corrections, means, level adjustments, etc. 
 each page shall be labeled with the appropriate header information including: date, crew, 

instrumentation, weather, and north arrows as applicable. 
 notes shall be complete and reduced.  
 sketches and traverse data shall be graphic. 
 stationing shall increase from the bottom to the top of the page.  
 notes shall be precise and sufficiently detailed. 
 monument recovery pages shall include detailed descriptions of condition and location of the 

monuments with sketches identifying nearby streets and properties. 

In addition, requirements for scanned field book copies submitted in PDF format include:  

 scans will be in color using a minimum of 300 dpi. 
 scan all pages including the cover, index page and blank pages, excluding those beyond the used 

portion of the book. 
 review the scanned file and ensure that the entire page was captured and is clear and legible. 
 use the bookmark function in Adobe add a bookmark to match the index page; the index page shall 

be included in the bookmarks; the user of the digital file should be able to go through the book as 
if they had the physical copy of the book using the book marks. 

 use Adobe optimization settings to compress the file size and check to ensure they result is still 
clear and legible; The Engineer will reject poor quality scans and require a new version be created 
before acceptance and payment. 

Refer to Section 02550.02, Article 2.6 - Electronic Data Collection, Radial Surveys, and Global Positioning 
Systems (GPS) procedures for logging field notes with the use of electronic data collectors and automated 
field systems. 

Pegging of notes and erasures of information will not be acceptable. A line shall be drawn through those 
portions of the notes in error leaving the original note legible. The correction shall be noted above the 
original entry. Corrections shall be initialed and dated. Where appropriate, a note of explanation shall be 
included. 

Field notes shall conform to surveying standards. Failure on the part of the Contractor to keep and maintain 
complete and accurate field notes, as required by this Section, shall be sufficient reason to withhold 
payment for those items of Work where survey is required. No final project payment will be made to the 
Contractor until the field books have been submitted and approved by the Engineer. 

Article 2.3  Water Systems 

In addition to staking the west ROW boundary in the Phase 1 area, the Contractor shall stake in the field 

Packet Page Number 72 



 

  

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITEWORK 
  Section 02550  
  CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 
 

 
Page 02550-4 

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 
  

the alignment and grade for Work to be done under the Contract. Two (2) offset hubs and lath shall be set 
for each bend, tee, hydrant, water service, valve, angle point, and grade break in the alignment. The lath 
shall identify the feature being staked and state the elevation of the hub, the offset distance to the center 
of the feature, and the station of the feature as shown on the Drawings. The offsets shall be set at a 
reasonable distance to protect them from disturbance. 

The Contractor shall be responsible for, and pay all costs for, the transfer of the control points from the 
reference hubs to such hubs or batter boards as required for the prosecution of the Work. An original 
ground line profile directly above the water line shall be run prior to excavation. The ground line profile 
refers to the elevation of the ground directly above the centerline of pipe and the grade line refers to the 
elevation of the bottom of pipe, except where otherwise noted. The field notes shall record the profile, 
the hub elevations, offset of the hubs, and the station of the feature being staked. 

Article 2.4 Miscellaneous Construction 

The Contractor shall provide sufficient stakes for adequate control of all structures and incidental 
construction not specifically covered above. A staking diagram with respect to centerline and 
measurements for pay quantities shall be maintained in the field notes. Other items such as horizontal and 
vertical control shall be shown in the field book and shall be governed by procedures established in previous 
articles of this Specification. 

Article 2.5 Electronic Data Collection, Radial Surveys and Global Positioning Systems (GPS) 

Data gathered by electronic data collection by radial methods shall be submitted in AutoCAD drawing file 
format to be determined by the Engineer along with the digital submittals outlined below. The Contractor 
shall be guided by the following specifications: 

A. A standard field book shall be used to record the date of survey, weather conditions, 
instrumentation, data collector or GPS units used, crew, project description and sketches, listing of 
horizontal and vertical control points used and established, and other information needed to set 
up the reconstruction of the survey. 

 Project improvements may be identified in the field book by computed point number, station and 
offset, feature number or the corresponding letter reference used in the Drawings or other unique 
identifier. The references used for project features in the field book should be readily matched to 
the Drawings, and raw data or ascii coordinate files submitted with the project. 

 GPS static field notes shall include receiver/unit name, height readings in feet, antenna type, local 
start and stop time, GDOP and satellite information. GPS RTK field notes shall include base station 
name, rover height, horizontal and vertical precision to control checks, local time and C.Q. readings 
to each point. 

 All survey point numbers assigned to control, computed positions for staking project 
improvements, excavation etc. will be noted in the field book with the associated raw data file 
(name). Radial survey field notes will include: code descriptors, horizontal circle information and 

 

  

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITEWORK 
  Section 02550  
  CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 
 

 
Page 02550-5 

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 
  

vertical circle information based on zenith and slope distance expressed in feet. 

B. The Contractor will provide digital copies of all unedited raw data files from data collectors and GPS 
receivers used on the project. A sheet containing the explanation of the codes used to identify the 
various shots shall be provided. 

C. The Contractor will prepare a memory drive with electronic deliverables separated into ACAD, 
Monument Reports, Survey Field Notes and Raw Data folders. The folders will contain AutoCad 
drawings, Monument of Record Forms (MORFs), scanned field notes, ascii point files, and raw data 
output files generated by electronic data collection from Total Stations and Static or RTK GPS units. 
Ascii coordinates files will consist of the reduced and adjusted data represented by point number, 
station left or right of centerline, elevation, descriptor and coordinates of the point. 

Article 2.6 As-built Surveys and Record Drawings 

As-built survey measurements shall be required for all constructed facilities and improvements to confirm 
the dimensions, lines, grades, and locations of constructed improvements. Survey measurements shall be 
taken, field notes shall be kept, and accuracy shall be attained in accordance with this Division. Swing ties 
to a minimum of two structures should be provided if permanent buildings or structures are available near 
the installed improvements.  As-built information shall be marked on a clean set of full-size paper copy 
Drawings and be submitted to the Engineer at the completion of construction activity.  The Drawings shall 
be clearly stamped "Record Drawings." No final project payment will be made to the Contractor until the 
Record Drawings have been submitted to and approved by the Engineer.   

The following abbreviations shall be used on the Record Drawings to denote a deviation from the Drawings: 

ASB "As-Built" - The actual horizontal, vertical, dimension, or quantity measured by survey after it 
has been constructed. 

F.C. "Field Change" - Revision or change of original design made in the field.  

"DELETED" - Not constructed. 

Minimum requirements for construction of Record Drawings: 

 When paper copies are used for record Drawing purposes, As-built Work shall be marked in red ink 
or red pencil to clearly identify the changes to the original design. 

 A straight line drawn through stationing, elevations, and notes shall show a change, deletion, or 
omission and shall be followed with the appropriate symbol. 

 Storm sewer, water, sanitary sewer, fuel oil lines, or any construction that has been deleted or 
relocated will be crosshatched. 

 Crossed out information should still remain legible. 
 The scale of new water or any new construction not shown should conform to the scale of the 

drawings. 
 Reference information used to prepare Record Drawings, such as change orders, and field books, 

Packet Page Number 73 



 

  

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITEWORK 
  Section 02550  
  CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 
 

 
Page 02550-6 

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 
  

shall be noted on the drawings. 
 Profile changes will be made with elevations or stationing only. The profile line need not be re-

drawn unless the change is significant. 
 As-builts for water, sewer, fuel lines, utilidor pipes, storm drain systems, and miscellaneous utilities 

shall be accurate within three-tenths feet (0.3') vertically and one-half feet (0.5') horizontally. As-
built Information shall be referenced to the new water main and/or centerline of the right-of-way 
stationing with offsets as appropriate. 

 As-builts for structures shall be accurate to within one-tenth foot (0.10’) vertically and horizontally. 
 The name of the Record Drawing preparer, the employer, and the date of the preparation shall 

appear in the appropriate title block on each Record Drawing sheet. 

The construction of Record Drawings is incidental to other Work and no measurement or payment 
shall be made. 

Article 2.7   Final Acceptance Date 

As identified in the General Conditions, the Final Acceptance Date for the project is dependent on the 
review and approval of the Engineer and related submittals including: 

 Construction survey field books and/or scanned copies of field books Electronic field data and/or 
reduced GPS data output 

 Record Drawings/As-builts 

Article 2.8 Method of Measurement 

No measurement of quantities will be made.  The Lump Sum bid price includes all required surveying, 
including Rights-of-Way staking, waterline staking, offset stakes, measurement of quantities, computer 
time, calculations, field notes, and other required survey items.  The price also includes maintaining as-built 
record drawings with measurment of installed items and items encountered during execution of the Work.   

Article 2.9 Basis of Payment 

Payment for this item shall be in accordance with the General Conditions and shall include full payment for 
all Work described in this Section. 

Payment shall be made under the following units: 

 ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 3 Construction Survey Lump Sum 
   

 End of Section 02550 

 

 
Page 02668- 1 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

SECTION 02668.01   GENERAL 

This section is to be applied and used for all Sections in Specification 02668. 

Article 1.1  Scope of Work 

The Work covered by these Specifications consists of providing all plant, labor, equipment, supplies, 
material, permitting, transportation, handling and storage, and performing all operations necessary to 
complete the construction of all water facilities. 

Requirements for earthwork, surveying, and other associated work items are found in other Divisions and 
are complimentary to this Division. 

The Contractor is to locate and treat utilities in compliance with the General Conditions. 

The Contractor, by providing a Bid Proposal and entering into a Contract with the Owner, has found that 
the access, easements, rights-of-way, and other work areas designated in the Drawings are adequate to 
perform the Work and/or the Contractor has or will secure additional work areas to complete the Work. 
Furthermore, all costs associated with the Contractor secured work areas are to be included in the Bid 
Proposal. 

Additional areas secured by the Contractor from parties not associated with the Contract are to be 
memorialized in the form of a right of entry agreement between the Contractor and party having authority 
to enter an agreement for the work area. A copy of the right of entry agreement is to be provided to the 
City. The right of entry agreement is to extend the indemnification requirements found in the Contract to 
Contractor obtained work areas. 

The Contractor is to restore the area of Work to preconstruction conditions or better except where shown 
different in the Contract Documents.  

Where the requirements in this division call out for an Engineer and there is no one assigned the duties of 
the Engineer, then the City of Unalaska is to be consulted for direction for items that require an Engineer 
or Inspector. 

Article 1.2  Build America, Buy America 

This Work is partially or fully grant funded.  All furnished materials shall be made in America as required by 
the United States Office of Management and Budget.  See federal requirements (madeinamerica.gov) for 
details.  At a minimum, the following apply: 

 For iron and steel items, all manufacturing processes, from the initial melting stage through the 
application of coatings, must occur in the United States; 

 For manufactured products, the manufacturing process must occur in the United States and the 
cost of components mined, produced, or manufactured in the United States must be greater than 
55-percent; 

 For construction materials, all manufacturing processes must occur in the United States. 

An article, material, or supply should only be classified into one of the categories above.  Build America, 

Packet Page Number 74 



 
Page 02668- 2 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

Buy America conditions do not apply to tools, equipment, and supplies not used in the completed product 
that are brought to a construction site and removed at or before the completion of construction. 

Article 1.3  Applicable Standards 

The most recent revisions of the following standards are made a part of these Specifications: 

AASHTO M306  Standard Specification for Drainage, Sewer, Utility, and Related Castings, 
Single User Digital Publication 

ASTM A126 Specification for Gray Iron Castings for Valves, Flanges and Pipe Fittings 

ASTM B88 Specification for Seamless Copper Water Tubing 

ASTM D256 Test Methods for D-C Resistance of Plastics and Electrical Insulating Materials 

ASTM D3035 Specification for Polyethylene (PE) Plastic Pipe (SDR-PR) Based on Controlled 
Outside Diameter 

ASTM D3261 Specification for Butt Heat Fusion Polyethylene (PE) Plastic Fittings for Polyethylene 
(PE) Plastic Pipe and Tubing 

ASTM D3350 Specification for Polyethylene Plastic Pipe and Fittings Materials  

ASTM F1674 Standard Test Method for Joint Restraint Products for Use with PVC Pipe. 

ASTM F4777 Standard Specification for Elastomeric Seals (Gaskets) for Joining Plastic Pipe 

AASHTO M45 Sand for Cement Mortar  

AWWA C104/  Cement-Mortar Lining for Ductile-Iron Pipe and Fittings for Water 
ANSI A21.4 

AWWA C105/  Polyethylene Encasement for Ductile Iron Piping for Water and Other Liquids 
ANSI A21.5 

AWWA C110/  Ductile-Iron and Gray-Iron Fittings, 3 in. through 48 in., for Water and Other Liquids 
ANSI A21.10 

AWWA C111/  Rubber-Gasket Joints for Ductile-Iron and Gray-Iron Pressure Pipe and Fittings 
ANSI A21.11 

AWWA C115/  Flanged Ductile-Iron Pipe with Threaded Flanges 
ANSI A21.15 

AWWA C150/  Thickness Design of Ductile-Iron Pipe 
ANSI A21.50 

AWWA C151/  Ductile-Iron Pipe, Centrifugally Cast in Metal Molds or Sand-Lined Molds, for  
ANSI A21.51  Water or Other Liquids 

AWWA C153/  Ductile-Iron Compact Fittings 
ANSI A21.53- 84 

 
Page 02668- 3 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

AWWA C500 Gate Valves for Water and Sewerage Systems 

ANSI/  Dry-Barrel Fire Hydrants  
AWWA C502 

ANSI/  Rubber-Seated Butterfly Valves 
AWWA C504 

AWWA C509 Resilient-Seated Gate Valves for Water Supply Service 

AWWA C515 Reduced-Wall, Resilient-Seated Gate Valves for Water Supply Service 

ANSI/AWWA C600  Installation of Ductile-Iron Water Mains and Their Appurtenances 

ANSI/AWWA C605  Underground Installation of Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) Pressure Pipe and Fittings for 
Water 

AWWA C651 Disinfecting Water Mains 

ANSI/AWWA C800  Underground Service Line Valve and Fittings 

AWWA C901 Standard for Polyethylene (PE) Pressure Pipe and Tubing, 1/2 in. through 3 in., 
for Water Service 

AWWA C900 Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) Pressure Pipe and Fabricated Fittings, 4 inch through 
12 inch for Water Transmission and Distribution 

AWWA C905 Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) Pressure Pipe and Fabricated Fittings, 14 inch through 
48 inch for Water Transmission and Distribution 

SSPC-SP Steel Structures Painting Council Surface Preparation Specifications  

SSPC-PA Steel Structures Painting Council Paint Application Specifications 

NSF (Standard 61) Drinking Water System Components – Health Effects 

UBC  Uniform Building Code, latest edition 

IBC  International Building Code, latest edition  

UFC  Uniform Fire Code, latest edition  

IFC International Fire Code, latest edition 

UMC Uniform Mechanical Code, latest edition  

IMC International Mechanical Code, latest edition 

UPC  Uniform Plumbing Code, latest edition  

NEC  National Electrical Code, latest edition 

NFPA  Other National Fire Protection Association Standards, latest edition  

HMWPE High Molecular Weight Polyethylene 

NACE National Association of Corrosion Engineers 

Packet Page Number 75 



 
Page 02668- 4 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

Article 1.4 Survey 

Survey must be performed by the Contractor per Section 02550 - Construction Survey. The Contractor is to 
as-built and record at a minimum the following items based on the design survey horizontal and vertical 
control: 

 Each pipe bottom and length of pipe segment 
 Pipe Bends 
 Fire hydrants, valves, keyboxes, tees, fittings, restraint, pipe to pipe connections specialized fittings 
 Other buried utility conduits, vaults, utilitdors, wires, manholes, catch basins 
 Other utility surface features such as pedestals, junction boxes 

 
Before working in developed areas, the Contractor is to take photographs and video documenting existing 
conditions. Photographs and video are to include major construction areas and their boundaries as well as 
a zone fifty feet (50’) outside the furthest anticipated impact. Photo and video documentation is incidental 
to the Work. 

Article 1.5  Definitions 

The definitions provided within this Article are supplemental to definitions provided in the General 
Conditions and are to govern in the interpretation of all disputes. Industry standard definitions are to 
apply if a definition is not provided. Where a term, word or phrase has varying meanings, the Engineer will 
have final say on the interpretation. 

 Water Connection – water pipe and associated apparatuses from the point of connection at an 
existing water main to the terminus of the installed water main. For copper water services, the 
keybox is normally the terminus point of City of Unalaska maintenance requirements. 

 Water Extension – typically it is water pipe and associated apparatuses on a parcel of land that 
begins where the Water Connection ends. A Water Extension typically ends five feet outside a 
building foundation. 

 Service – connection, extension, and/or building piping from the City of Unalaska water distribution 
system. 

 Main Line – Water pipe servicing multiple customers.  Water line and water main have the same 
meaning and are used interchangeably in the Contract Documents. 

 Water Distribution System – Anything that is used to distribute potable water. 

 Fire Line – A portion of the water service with no additional branches that has the primary purpose 
of providing fire protection inside of a building.  Typically, a service that originates at a mainline or 
at a valve downstream of a fire hydrant tee continuing directly into a building with a sprinkler fire 
suppression system. Water extensions that are four inches (4”) and larger will be considered a fire 
line for the purpose of pressure testing. 

 Sewer – Non-domestic and domestic wastewater as defined in 18 AAC 72.990. 
 

Page 02668- 5 
WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

Article 1.6  Payment - General 

No separate payment will be made to the Contractor for Contractor obtained work areas or the restoration 
thereof. 

Restoration Work not covered by bid items is to be considered incidental and no separate payment will be 
made. Restoration completed in Contractor secured areas is incidental to the contract. 

Payment for all Work included in this Division will be paid for in accordance with the General Conditions 
and will include full payment for all Work described. 

Packet Page Number 76 



 
Page 02668- 6 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

SECTION 02668.02   FURNISH AND INSTALL PIPE 

Article 2.1  General 

The Work under this Section consists of performing all Work required for furnishing and installing an 
operational piping system in a workman like manner meeting applicable standards. The Contractor shall 
install piping systems as specified within these Contract Documents, the manufacturer’s recommendations, 
the American Water Works Association (AWWA) standards, and in conformity with the details, lines and 
grades as shown on the Drawings. The Contractor shall adhere to the conditions stipulated in the ADEC 
permit obtained for modifications to a public water system.  Where the previously stated requirements are 
in conflict, the more stringent requirement is to govern. 

Article 2.2  Submittals 

Submittals are to be provided to the Engineer for review and acceptance as stated in the General 
Conditions. The Contractor is to clearly demarcate items to be incorporated into the Work.  Submittals for 
pipe and fittings should at least contain the following items: 

 Pipe, Including Arctic Pipe 
 Fittings 
 Detectable underground warning tape 
 Trace and continuity wire 
 Polyethylene baggies and sheeting 
 Coatings 
 Flushing and testing plan 
 NSF Certification 
 Build America Buy America Certification 

Article 2.3 Material 

A. Ductile Iron Pipe is to be cement mortar lined, conform to the requirements of AWWA C151, and have 
a minimum pipe wall thickness meeting Class 52 requirements. The cement mortar lining is to 
conform to the requirements of AWWA C104/ANSI A24.1. At least 10% of the pipe delivered is to be 
gauged full length of the pipe and marked as such 

B. Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) Pipe: Sixteen inch (16”) Polyvinyl Chloride Pipe must 
conform to the requirements of AWWA C900-16, have a DR of 18.  All PVC pipe is to be blue in color. 
PVC water main and piping must be installed with an over insertion prevention device equal to EBAA 
Iron Mega Stop or the Cert-Lok bi-directionally restraint system. 

C. Coated Copper Pipe must be soft-drawn Type K, seamless, annealed copper pipe suitable for use as 
underground service water connections for general plumbing purposes and ASTM B88 compliant with 
an approved coating system.  Approved coatings include factory applied minimum twenty-six (26) mil 
thick polyethylene or a field applied coating. 

 

 
Page 02668- 7 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

D. High Density Polyethylene Pipe: High Density Polyethylene Pipe (HDPE) and fittings are to be 
manufactured in accordance with AWWA C906 with the additional stipulation that the HDPE is to be 
manufactured from PE4710 polyethylene compounds that meet or exceed ASTM D3350 Cell 
Classification 445574. HDPE pipe and fitting material compound is to contain color and ultraviolet 
(UV) stabilizer meeting or exceeding the requirements of Code C per ASTM D3350. Electrofusion 
fittings will not be allowed. All fittings are to have pressure class ratings not less than the pressure 
class rating of the pipe to which they are joined.  Pipe shall be NSF 61 Certified except for future sewer 
pipe.  See drawings for steel pipe requirements for Arctic Pipe section. 

E. Field Applied Coatings 

Where a coating is required, field applied coatings may be used for repair of, in conjunction with 
or substitution for other coatings. Field applied coatings are to be denso wrap system, trenton wax 
tape system, viscotaq viscowrap system, or WrapidWrap© system as detailed. The term “system” 
requires the use of more than one product from the specified manufacturer to be used in concert 
to seal the pipe from corrosive and/or potentially contaminated environments and water. At a 
minimum, the system is to fully encapsulate the piping and fittings, fill voids/gaps and adhere to 
the pipe. The coating system must not interfere with the operation of moving parts. 

F. Fittings and Gaskets 

Romac 501 couplers are not allowed on water lines. 

Unless otherwise indicated on the Drawings, rubber gaskets for iron pipe are to conform to AWWA 
C111 

Ductile iron fittings are to be a minimum of three hundred fifty-pound (350#) pressure rating, 
compact, cement-mortar lined, mechanical joint type. Fittings must conform to the requirements 
of AWWA C110/ANSI A21.10 or C153 A21.53-06. Ductile Iron fittings are to have exterior and 
interior surfaces coated with fusion bonded epoxy in accordance with AWWA C116/A21.13-09, 
with the only exception being for PVC overstab bell protection devices which do not need to be 
coated.  Coatings shall be NSF 61 Certified. 

Fittings with nuts and bolts are to utilize stainless steel nuts and bolts. Fittings with stainless steel 
bolts and nuts must conform to the dimensional standards as outlined in AWWA C111 and C115 
and the material standards in ASTM F593 and F594 with a minimum tensile strength of 75,000 psi. 
Bolts and nuts must have imprinted markings indicating the material and grade of the metal used 
in fabrication.  

Fittings used with copper pipe are to be rated high pressure per AWWA C800. Brass and other 
components in contact with potable water are to comply with Public Law 111-380 (No Lead Rule). 
Fittings are to accept flared copper pipe or have NPT threads for threading into other fittings. 
Buried Brass fittings are to be field coated in the same manner as coated copper pipe. 

 

 

Packet Page Number 77 



 
Page 02668- 8 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

G. Thrust Restraint System 

All thrust restraint system components are to be FM Global approved for the intended use or be 
UL listed. The surfaces of ferrous components are to have a fusion bonded epoxy coating in 
accordance with AWWA C116/A21.13-09. 

Thrust restraint systems are required.  The entire length of pipe is to be restrained.  Megalug style 
restraints are required at ductile iron mechanical joint fittings where specified on the Drawings at 
tees, bends, valves, and piping deflection points. All PVC to PVC joints shall be restrained with 
integrated restraining gaskets or a restraint harness.  Non-certified (i.e., FM Global, Underwriter 
Laboratories, ASTM, AWWA) thrust restraint systems are not allowed. 

1. Additional Requirements for Copper Pipe 

Copper pipe thrust restraint systems are the use of flared fittings and silver solder brazed joints. 

H. Pipe Material Limitations 

Copper is the only pipe material allowed on small diameter (less than 4”) water service connections. 
Copper pipe for direct bury is limited in size from 1” to 2” in nominal diameter. 

I. Trace Wire 

Trace wire for water lines is to be #10 AWG high-strength copper clad steel with a 30-mil HDPE 
insulation jacket (color blue) and have a 600-pound average tensile break load. Tracer wire is to be 
manufactured by Copperhead Industries or an approved equal. 

Grounding rods are to be a minimum of twenty-four inches (24”) in length and copper clad. 

The direct burial grounding clamps are to be EK17 as manufactured by Erico or approved equal. 

All splice connections are to be constructed using 3M DBR watertight connectors or approved 
equal. 

DryConn Waterproof Direct Bury Lugs as manufactured by King Innovation, or approved equal, is 
to be used to splice into the main line tracer wire. 

Trace wires shall be routed to the valves located on hydrant legs to allow access for testing without 
the need to work in the travelled way or expose buried valve boxes. 

J. Continuity Strap Wire 

The wire shall be insulated No. 2 AWG stranded copper conductor rated for 600V. Insulation shall 
be HMWPE or approved for use in buried low temperature service. Split bolts or mechanical bolt 
connection of the wires will not be allowed 

K. Warning Tape (Locator Ribbon) 

Warning tape must not be less than five (5) mil, foil backed, six inches (6”) wide vinyl tape, colored 
blue, with “Caution Buried Water Line Below” continuously printed in black along the tape length. 

 
 

Page 02668- 9 
WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

L. Polyethylene Encasement 

Polyethylene encasement material for ductile iron pipe is to be eight (8) mils thick and conform to 
AWWA C105. Polyethylene encasement is to include a VBio film system incorporating corrosion 
control additives and MIC control additives as provided by US Pipe or approved equal. 

Article 2.4  Construction 

A  Water Flow Interruptions 

All planned interruptions require notifying the Engineer, the City of Unalaska Fire Department, 
property owners, property managers and residents a minimum of seventy-two (72) hours and a 
maximum of one-hundred forty-four (144) hours in advance of the interruption.   

Interruptions at Westward Seafoods, Inc. (WSI) are limited to low flow periods, typically between 
May 1 and June 10 or October 1 and December 1.  Shut downs for connection to the existing City 
main or the WSI utility line shall be coordinated with WSI to allow planning to minimize disruptions 
to users.   

Properties with fire sprinklers require a minimum of three non-holiday and non- weekend days of 
notice to allow property managers time to mitigate impacts to fire suppression systems. 

Each interruption requires a separate notification. Interruptions not started within the planned 
interruption period require a new notice and notifying period. Along with notice requirements, 
planned interruptions may not affect any portion of a previous interruption until a minimum of 
forty-eight (48) hours has passed the previous interruption. 

It shall be the Contractor’s responsibility to coordinate “turn-off” and “turn-on” with the Engineer 
and the City of Unalaska Water Division. 

Where the supply of water to a City of Unalaska customer is interrupted more than eight (8) hours, 
the Contractor shall furnish and install a temporary water system. 

B. Excavation and Backfill 

The Contractor is to provide all excavation, backfill, and compaction necessary to install the pipe. 
Trench excavation and backfill is to be completed in accordance with Specification Section 02200 – 
Earthwork. In addition, trenching and excavation is to meet the requirements of 29 CFR 1926.651 
and 1926.652 (OSHA Trench and Excavation). 

All pipes are to be bedded with specified bedding unless another material is authorized in writing 
by the City of Unalaska. Bedding is to be laid the full width of the ditch and compacted to a 
minimum of ninety-five percent (95%) of the maximum density. 

Water pipe bedding is to extend six (6) inches below and twelve (12) inches above the pipe and 
constructed in accordance with the details shown in the drawings. 

C. Materials Delivery 

Pipe and appurtenances are to be handled in such a manner to ensure delivery to the trench in a 
sound, undamaged condition. Particular care is to be taken not to damage the pipe, pipe coating, 

Packet Page Number 78 



 
Page 02668- 10 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

or lining. Before, after and during installation the engineer is to be provided an opportunity to 
examine the pipe and appurtenances for damage and defects. Damaged or defective pipe may be 
rejected. Rejected pipe must be removed from the project and replaced with acceptable material 
at no additional cost. 

The pipe is not to be strung out along the shoulders of the road for long distances if it causes 
inconvenience to the public. The amount of pipe strung at the job site is at the discretion of the 
Engineer. 

Rubber gaskets are to be protected from extended exposure to direct sunlight. Non-integrated 
gaskets are to be installed into the piping when the gasket and pipe are above freezing temperature 
and the gasket is pliable. 

D. Connection to water lines 

Mainline taps are to be done by the Contractor. The mainline tap must be accomplished with a 
drilling machine approved for use on the pipe material being tapped, capable of drilling through 
the tapping saddle and corporation stop and pipe wall. 

Tapping saddles are to be used for all taps. 

Taps are to be made at sufficient distances from each other, tees, bells, joints, and other critical 
areas to prevent compromising the structural integrity of the pipe being tapped. Taps are not to be 
made any closer than three feet (3’) to each other or to a bell. 

The Contractor shall provide all trench excavation, shoring, bracing, backfill and compaction 
necessary to complete a successful tap connection. The trench shall be long enough and of 
sufficient width at the bottom to allow installation of the valve. 

The Contractor shall bear the expenses incurred if a water main or other utilities within and directly 
adjacent to the project site should be damaged during construction.  

Where the Drawings require the connection to an existing valve, the Contractor may choose to use 
the valve at their risk or replace it at their expense. 

E. Installation 

Installation is to follow the requirements of the drawings, AWWA C600, C605, M23, M41 and M55, 
these specifications, special provisions, and the plan details.  The City of Unalaska will have final 
say when deciding on which requirement the Contractor is to meet where these documents 
conflict at no additional cost to the Owner. 

Deflection at pipe-to-pipe joints is to be limited to 50% of the maximum deflection angle 
recommend by the pipe manufacturer for ductile iron pipe.  Deflection at pipe-to-pipe joints for 
PVC pipe shall be limited to 0.5-degrees vertically.  PVC pipes shall be installed horizontally without 
deflection between bends. 

If the alignment requires deflection in excess of the above limitations, the Contractor shall furnish 
fittings to provide angular deflections within the limits allowable. Short radius curves and closures 

 
Page 02668- 11 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

are to be formed by shorter lengths of pipe, factory fittings or fabricated fittings. 

The interior of the pipe and accessories are to be thoroughly cleaned of foreign matter before being 
lowered into the trench. The pipe is to be kept clean during laying operation by plugging. 

Pipe and appurtenances are to be carefully lowered into the trench by means of derrick, ropes, belt 
slings, or other suitable equipment. Under no circumstances are any of the pipes or appurtenances 
to be dropped or dumped into the trench. Care is to be taken to avoid abrasion of the pipe or 
coating. Poles used as levers or skids are to be of wood and have broad flat faces to prevent damage 
to the pipe and coating. Where any part of the coating or lining is damaged, a repair is to be made 
by the Contractor at their expense and in a manner satisfactory to the Engineer. 

Damage to a factory applied coating on copper pipe is to be repaired with a field applied coating 
system. 

The trench bottom is to be graded to provide uniform support for the pipe barrel. Water is to be 
kept out of the trench by pumping, if necessary, until the jointing is completed. When Work is not 
in progress, open ends of the pipe, fittings, and valves are to be securely plugged so that no trench 
water, earth, or other substances will enter the pipes or fittings. 

At a sufficient distance prior to encountering a known obstacle or tie-in to an existing pipe, the 
Contractor is to expose and verify the exact location of the obstacle or pipe so that proper 
alignment and/or grade may be determined before the pipe sections are laid in the trench and 
backfilled. 

Pipe ends left for future connections are to be capped and restrained. The Contractor is to install 
vertically a 4x4 wood post, and locator target, directly over the end of pipe. 

Cutting of pipe is to be done in a neat and workmanlike manner without damage to the pipe. 

The Contractor is required to use mechanically restrained joints and fittings on all bends, fittings, 
and hydrant leads. The Engineer has the option of checking any or all mechanical joints to assure 
proper torque as specified by the manufacturer.  All ductile iron pipe shall have an anode affixed 
as detailed.  Isolated fittings do not require anodes. 

All ductile iron pipes and/or fittings are to be encased in one layer of polyethylene encasement.  
Isolated fittings require a polyethylene encasement.  All valve boxes and hydrant barrels are to be 
encased in three layers of polyethylene encasement. 

Water mains and services are to be constructed to meet all separation requirements of 18 AAC 
80.020. Variance from the separation requirements requires a waiver from the Alaska Department 
of Environmental Conservation and prior approval from the City of Unalaska . 

The Contractor is to stagger the joints for the water pipe such that no joint is closer than nine feet 
(9’) from the centerline crossing of water to sewer. In addition, where water and sewer mains and 
services intersect, the vertical separation between the water and sewer pipe is to be a minimum of 
eighteen inches (18”) clear between exterior pipe surfaces. 

 

Packet Page Number 79 



 
Page 02668- 12 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

F. Alignment and Grade 

All adjustments to line and grade are to be done by scraping away or filling the earth under the 
body of the pipe and not by blocking or wedging up. 

The Contractor shall continually survey line, grade and location of the pipe and appurtenances with 
the use of transits and levels during pipe laying operations. Survey is to be completed by qualified 
personnel to transfer line, grade and record required information. The Engineer will determine 
qualifications based on submittal of work examples and notes being made in the field. The 
Contractor is to replace any personnel the Engineer deems to be less than qualified based on work 
examples provided or work being performed. 

Each piece of pipe is to be laid to within three-one hundredths (0.03) of a foot horizontally and 
from the design alignment. Regardless of the limits applied to full length individual pieces of pipe, 
the accumulated variance of pipe alignment and grade must not be greater than two-inches (2”). 
The Contractor must re-lay the water line when alignment and grade requirements are not met. 

Elevations and locations for each piece of pipe and appurtenances are to be recorded in a field 
book. The Contractor will furnish to the Engineer a copy of the surveyor's notes and redlined 
drawings for transfer to record drawings. The Contractor is to make any clarifications, corrections 
or fill in missing data in the survey notes and redlines when requested. 

The practice of placing backfill over a section of pipe to provide a platform for instruments is to be 
subject to the approval of the Engineer and be accomplished in accordance with the trench 
excavation and backfill requirements 

G. Jointing of Ferrous Metal Pipe 

Mechanical joints with restraining glands are required wherever restrained joints are required to 
be used. All joints are to conform to the requirements of ANSI/AWWA C600. 

Metallic pipe is to have two (2) electrical continuity straps installed on each side of every joint for 
all pipe diameters. Straps are to be welded to a clean, dry surface. Each exothermic wire weld 
connection is to be protected with one (1) field applied Royston Handy Cap IP or equal. Uncoated 
surfaces are to be coated with coal tar pitch to the satisfaction of the Engineer. 

H. Jointing of PVC Pipe 

All joints are to conform to the requirements of AWWA C605.  PVC pipe shall be connected to ductile 
iron mechanical joint fittings using Megalug style retainer glands as shown on the drawings.  PVC 
push-on joints shall have integrated restraining gaskets or a restraint harness.  Bell protection over 
insertions collars shall be installed on all male PVC pipe ends prior to insertion into PVC pipe bells. 

I. Jointing of Copper pipe 

Copper pipe may be joined with the use of silver brazing copper couplers, flared fittings and by 
swedging and silver brazing. Solder must be lead free silver solder. All joints are to be outside of 
the rights-of-ways and/or City of Unalaska easements, unless given prior approval by the City of 
Unalaska.  

Page 02668- 13 
WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

J. Joining of High Density Polyethylene 

All HDPE water main piping and fittings are to be butt-fused in accordance with ASTM D2657.  The 
individual who performs the joint fusion is to have written certification from an HDPE pipe 
manufacturer or supplier stating he/she has successfully completed an 8-hour (minimum) 
certification class on joint fusion techniques and procedures. In addition, this individual is to have 
fused a combined total of more than 5,000 feet of HDPE piping in diameters 4-inches and larger. 
Internal beads are to be shaved to provide a smooth bore. 

The following Quality Control requirements shall be adhered to: 

1. Installer shall be qualified to perform the required butt-fusion welds; 
2. Storage, field handling and installation will be performed in strict accordance with the 

manufacturer’s recommendations;  
3. Pipe will be visually inspected for damage prior to installation; 
4. Pipe and fittings will be verified to meet project requirements; 
5. Specifying temperature and pressure requirements will be established by the manufacturer. 
6. Joining will be accomplished as follows: 

a. Pipes will be put in place and aligned; 
b. Temporary shelter will be provided for all fusion activities during inclement weather; 
c. Surfaces will be wiped to assure they are clean and dry; 
d. The ends of the pipes will be squared using the facing tool; 
e. The line-up will be checked to assure that the pipe ends meet squarely and accurately; 
f. A clean heater plate will be aligned between ends without pressure to achieve the melt 

pattern recommended by the manufacturer; 
g. The pipes will be parted and the heater plate removed.  If the pipe sticks to the heater plate 

or is disturbed, the process will be repeated; 
h. The melted ends will be brought together to form a double roll-back bead around the entire 

circumference of the pipe between 1/8” and 3/16” wide; 
i. The joint will be allowed to cool and will be visually inspected for uniformity. 

7. One sample joint shall be taken for each size pipe on all days that butt-fusion is performed.    
The trial butt-fused joint shall have a test strap removed for testing.  The test strap shall be 6” or 
15 pipe wall thicknesses long on each side of the fusion and about 1 or 1-1/2 wall thicknesses 
wide.  The strap will be bent until the ends of the strap touch.  Any disbondment at the fusion is 
unacceptable.  If failure occurs, the procedures or machine set up shall be changed and a new 
trial fusion and bent strap test specimen will be prepared and tested. 

8. Data will be logged for each joint, including time, location, and temperature.  This information 
shall be furnished to the engineer; 

9. All joints will be 100% visually inspected; 
 

K. Detectable Warning Tape 

Detectable underground warning tape is required for installation of all pipe types. The warning tape 
must be continuously laid with the pipe as detailed. 

L. Tracer Wire for Non-metallic Pipe 

Tracer wire is to be grounded at all dead ends, except fire hydrant legs. The trace wire is to be 
connected to the grounding rod with grounding clamps. 

Packet Page Number 80 



 
Page 02668- 14 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

Tracer wire is to be securely affixed to the top exterior surface of the pipe using PVC pipe tape at 
5-foot intervals or less. Tracer wire is to be looped around valves, saddles, curb stops, and other 
appurtenances in such a manner that there is no interference with the operation of the 
appurtenances. Tracer wire must be continuous and without splices, breaks, or cuts except for 
spliced-in connections as approved by the Engineer. All spliced connections must be inspected by 
the Engineer before being buried. 

Tracer wire must be brought to the surface at all junctions and terminals, including at all valve 
boxes by splicing into the main line tracer wire. The main line tracer wire must not be broken or 
cut. Tracer wire is to be spiral- wrapped around the exterior of the valve box riser pipe and brought 
into the valve box top section. Provide three feet (3’) minimum of additional wire neatly coiled 
within each valve box. 

M. Polyethylene Encasement 

The Contractor is to install polyethylene encasement on all ductile iron pipe and isolated fittings as outlined 
below. 

1. Cut a section of polyethylene tube approximately two (2) feet longer than the pipe section or 
fitting. Remove all lumps of clay, mud, cinders, or other material that might have 
accumulated on the pipe surface during storage. Slip the polyethylene tube around the pipe, 
starting at the spigot end. Bunch the tube accordion fashion on the end of the pipe. Pull back 
the overhanging end of the tube until it clears the pipe end. 

2. Dig shallow bell hole in the trench bottom at the joint location to facilitate installation of the 
polyethylene tube. Lower the pipe into the trench and make up the pipe joint with the 
preceding section of pipe. 

3. Move the strap to the bell end of the pipe and lift the pipe slightly to provide clearance to easily 
slide the tube. Spread the tube over the entire barrel of the pipe. Note: Make sure that no dirt 
or other bedding material becomes trapped between the wrap and the pipe. 

4. Make the overlap of the polyethylene tube by pulling back the bunched polyethylene from the 
proceeding length of pipe and securing it in place. Note: The polyethylene may be secured in 
place by using tape or plastic tie straps. 

5. Overlap the secured tube end with the tube end of the new pipe section. Secure the new tube 
end in place. 

6. Take up the slack in the tube along the barrel of the pipe to make a snug, but not tight, fit. Fold 
excess polyethylene back over the top of the pipe. 

7. Secure the fold at several locations along the pipe barrel (approximately every three (3) feet). 

8. Repair all small rips, tears, or other tube damage with adhesive tape. If the polyethylene is 
badly damaged, repair the damaged area with a sheet of polyethylene and seal the edges of 
the repair with adhesive tape. 

9. Carefully backfill the trench in according to procedures in AWWA C600 Standard. To prevent  
Page 02668- 15 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

damage during backfilling, allow adequate slack in the tube at the joint. Backfill should be free 
of cinders, rocks, boulders, nails, sticks, or other materials that might damage the polyethylene. 
Avoid damaging the polyethylene when using tamping devices. 

Damaged polyethylene encasement is to be repaired or the pipeline removed and the polyethylene 
encasement replaced at no additional cost. 

The requirements of Method A of ANSI/AWWA A21.5/C105 are to be used to make any 
clarifications to the installation process as outlined above. 

Article 2.5  Flushing and Testing 

Flushing and testing are to be completed as specified in the requirements of the referenced AWWA 
standards unless hereinafter modified. A City of Unalaska representative, the Engineer, and the Contractor 
must be present for all flushing and testing. 

Flushing and testing are to be completed separately and sequentially starting with pre-disinfecting, 
flushing, hydrostatic testing, disinfection, and continuity. The Contractor is to provide, install and remove 
fittings, pipes, pumps, hoses, gauges, and other items necessary to perform the flushing and testing. 

All water piping, including but not limited to main line, services, fire lines, and fire hydrant legs must be 
flushed and tested before the piping system can be put into service. 

Pipe, gaskets, mechanical joints, fittings, valves, hydrants, and other water distribution components found 
to be cracked or defective through flushing and testing are to be removed and replaced with sound material 
at the Contractor's expense. When repairs are needed to make corrections pass flushing and testing 
requirements, the flushing and testing procedures are to be restarted for all test sections impacted by the 
repair. 

Each request to supply water for flushing, testing, and disinfecting is to be scheduled in writing with the 
Engineer and the City of Unalaska at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to obtaining City of Unalaska  supplied 
water. Coordinate with Westward Seafoods, Inc. since flushing will stir sediments from upstream pipe and 
the sediments will adversely affect fish processing.  Scheduling of flushing, testing, and disinfecting will be 
subject to water availability. At no additional cost, the Contractor is to modify their schedule to match 
water availability and the fish processing schedule, which may require work on non- working days or outside 
of normal work shifts.  There will be no charges for water used to test, chlorinate, or flush the newly 
installed system. 

If the Contractor is not prepared for flushing or testing, they are to provide a cancelation notice to the 
Engineer and City of Unalaska  at least two (2) hours prior to the scheduled event. 

Earthwork for roadways and sidewalks as well as installation of other utilities that share the same frontage 
as the water distribution system being tested is to be Substantially Complete prior to flushing and testing. 

The Contractor is not authorized to operate the City of Unalaska water distribution system. Only City of 
Unalaska personnel are authorized to manipulate the existing pipe system to supply water for flushing and 
testing. 

The Contractor shall submit, in writing, for the Engineer to review and approve, a schedule and procedure 

Packet Page Number 81 



 
Page 02668- 16 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

for the testing and flushing of all newly installed pipe. The plan is to include flush and de/chlorinated water 
handling and discharge procedures. Water discharge locations must receive approval from the governing 
authority of the discharge location. 

When, in the opinion of the Engineer, the testing and flushing schedule and procedure are deficient, 
inadequate, improper, or conditions are such that the impact to existing water service areas are adversely 
affected by service interruptions, the Contractor will be notified in writing by the Engineer. Such 
notification is to be accompanied by a statement of the corrective action to be taken. Contractor shall 
adhere to the testing and flushing schedule and comply with such instruction as directed by the Engineer. 

A. Pre-disinfecting 

The Contractor is to place calcium hypochlorite granules/tablets in the water main as it is being 
constructed. The following table provides the Contractor the minimum amount of granules/tablets 
required at the fill point and at an interval of 500’ thereafter: 

Pipe Diameter (inches) Calcium Hypochlorite (oz) 

6” 3.8 

8” 6.7 

12” 15.1 

16” 26.8 

At the completion of the water pipe installation, but prior to flushing, the Contractor is to slowly 
fill the newly installed pipe, fire hydrants, services, and other appurtenance with water and limit 
flow velocity to less than one foot per second (1ft/sec). Upon filling the pipe, the Contractor is to 
wait one hour (1 hr) prior to flushing.  The Air/Vac Relief valves shall be monitored during filling and 
draining operations to assure capacities are not exceeded and to assure proper function. 

 

B. Flushing 

All newly installed water pipes are to be open-bore flushed through un-restricted outlet(s). Flush 
water is to achieve a minimum velocity of three feet per second (3 ft/sec) and the minimum water 
quantity flushed at the minimum velocity is to equal three times the quantity of water in the piping 
being flushed OR as determined by the City. 

Mainline flushing water may become turbid from disturbance of silt depositions in the existing pipe 
system.  WSI should be notified prior to mainline flushing to minimize potential impacts to their 
fish processing operations.  The flushing schedule shall be coordinated with WSI. 

Flush piping on service water connections are to be connected to the service water extension side 
of the key box, extended a minimum of two feet (2’) above finish grade and remain in place until 
the Final Acceptance Date. 

Flush water must not be directly connected to the sanitary sewer system. 

 
Page 02668- 17 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

Close the valves at the Air/Vac Relief vaults prior to open-bore flushing. 

Flush water shall be dechlorinated prior to discharge. 

C. Hydrostatic Testing 

All hydrostatic testing will be performed through a test copper. The test station is to be placed at 
the highest end of the pipe being tested when there is an elevation change in the pipe greater than 
ten feet (10’). The test pressure is not to exceed the maximum allowable operating pressure of the 
pipe, fittings, valves, thrust restraints, or other appurtenances of the test section. Use of fire 
hydrants for testing will not be allowed. The specified test pressure shall be applied by means of 
an approved pumping assembly connected to the pipe in a manner satisfactory to the Engineer. 

When the pressure decreases below the required test pressure during the test period, the pipe 
being tested will be declared void and will require re-testing. 

The Contractor is to provide a test pressure gauge for measuring and determining results of the 
hydrostatic test.  

The Contractor shall suitably valve-off or plug the outlet to the existing or previously-tested water 
main at his expense prior to making the required hydrostatic test. Prior to testing, all air is to be 
expelled from the pipe. 

If permanent air vents are not located at all high points and dead ends, the Contractor must install 
and abandon corporation stops at such points so the air can be expelled as the line is slowly filled 
with water. 

All intermediate valves within the section being tested will be closed and reopened during the test. 
Only static pressure will be allowed on the opposite side of the end valves of the section being 
tested. 

Hydrostatic testing of water lines containing a chlorine mixture above 2 ppm will not be allowed. 

The minimum hydrostatic test pressure is to be two hundred pounds per square inch (200 psi) for 
a minimum duration of thirty (30) minutes for non-fire lines.   A minimum test pressure of 150 psi 
is required for any installed sewer mains, including pipe for future use.  This includes both the force 
main and carrier pipes between stations 19+00B and 23+00B. 

Pumping will be terminated and disconnected upon starting the test. The test pressure at the start 
of the test is to be maintained for the duration of the test period. Any loss of pressure will be 
considered a failed pressure test for all pipe types. 

The Contractor is to use the Continuous Feed Method to disinfect the newly installed water 
distribution system: 

The chlorinating agent must be applied at a point of not more than ten feet (10’) from the beginning 
of the project. Under no conditions is the chlorinating agent to be introduced through a fire hydrant. 

Water is to be fed slowly into the new water line with chlorine applied in amounts to produce an 
initial water and chlorine mixture in the pipe of not having less than twenty-five parts per million 

Packet Page Number 82 



 
Page 02668- 18 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

(25 ppm) of free chlorine. During the chlorination process, all intermediate valves and accessories 
are to be operated by the Contractor.   

The Contractor is to discharge water from the end of all main lines, branches, service connections 
and extensions until the Engineer verifies that all portions of the newly constructed water 
distribution system has the initial minimum free chlorine level of the water source supply. 

The chlorinated water is to be retained in the piping for a minimum of twenty-four hours (24 hrs) 
and have a minimum residual level of free chlorine of ten parts per million (10 ppm). At the 
completion of the twenty-four hour (24hr) period the Contractor is to sample the water and have 
the chlorine concentration tested. If the free chlorine drops below ten parts per million (10 ppm) 
the Contractor is to restart the flushing and testing. 

The Contractor shall provide a plan for concurrence by the Engineer for disposal of chlorinated 
waters from the disinfection process. The plan must include a method to dechlorinate and hold the 
discharge prior to leaving the Contractor’s control. Under no circumstances is the solution to be 
discharged to the sanitary sewer system.  

After dechlorination is complete, the Contractor shall provide access and accommodate in its 
schedule for coliform testing. The Contractor shall collect two sets of acceptable samples, taken 
24-hours apart, of water from the disinfected piping at the location(s) required by AWWA C651. 
The samples are to be tested in as specified in AWWA C651 Standard Methods for the Examination 
of Water and Wastewater and show the absence of coliform organisms. Samples are to be collected 
by a qualified person and processed in a certified lab.  The Contractor shall furnish the Engineer 
and City copies of all test results.  

All preparation and coordination required for disinfection testing and re-testing shall be the 
responsibility of the Contractor. Additional compensation or contract time extensions for re-testing 
due to inadequate disinfection will not be granted. 

CHLORINATION 

Pipe Diameter (ID) Dosage (oz.) per 100 feet 

6” 0.76 

8” 1.34 

12” 3.02 

16” 5.34 

This table is to be used as a guide for chlorinating water mains by the calcium hypochlorite and 
water mixture method. This dosage takes into account that contractors most frequently use granular 
HTH, which is sixty-five percent (65%) pure. If another chlorinating agent is used, the dosage must be 
adjusted. Caution should be exercised against producing too high a concentration of chlorine in the 
line.  Disinfection will not be allowed until all temporary open-bore flush pipes are removed and the 
water system is sealed. 

The Contractor may submit a deviation request to the Engineer for review and approval for 
 

Page 02668- 19 
WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

alternate disinfection plans that meet the requirements of ANSI/AWWA C-651. 

The Contractor shall produce summary report(s) including dates documenting flushing, pressure 
testing, disinfection, test reports for chlorine concentration(s), test reports for coliform, etc. to the 
Engineer.  All tests shall be witnessed by the Engineer or a representative from the City.  The 
Contractor and the Witness(es) shall sign the reports prior to submission.  Failure to produce such 
report(s) will be considered incomplete or defective Work and will be handled as allowed by the 
General Conditions. 

D. Continuity Tests 

The Contractor will perform line tracing on plastic pipe installed with trace wire. 

All tracing tests will be through wires connected to the main and brought to the surface. The use 
of water service thaw wires, fire hydrants and valves as substitutes for wires will not be accepted. 
All wires brought to the surface to complete the continuity test are to be placed in a valve box 
adjustment sleeve.  Wires shall be routed to hydrant valve boxes so tests can be conducted without 
the need to work in the travelled way or to excavate buried valve boxes. 

Where continuity or tracing is not continuous the Contractor, at no additional cost to the Owner, 
must make necessary repairs/corrections. 

Continuity and tracing tests must not be performed until all excavations have been completed and 
backfilled. 

E. Test and Air Vent Copper Pipe Removal 

The Contractor is to remove all temporary test and air vent copper pipes upon successful 
completion of the flushing and testing requirements and install a copper disc in the corporation 
stop in the presence of the Engineer. 

 

Article 2.6  Measurement 

Measurement for furnishing and installing water main line is per linear foot of horizontal distance of the 
various types and sizes as set forth in the Bid Schedule. Measurement will be from station to station as 
staked in the field and as shown on the Drawings.  Measurement includes but is not limited to trench 
excavation and backfill, piping, fittings, joint restraint, over-insertion devices, locator tape, disinfection, 
continuity wire, trace wire, polyethylene encasement and similar to make a functioning water system. 

Connections to existing water lines are measured as a complete unit in place. 

Article 2.7  Basis of Payment 

Payment for this Work will be in as specified in the General Conditions and includes full payment for all 
Work described in this Section. 

All requirements for flushing, chlorination and testing are incidental to the Work. 

Variations from the depth of the piping or connection points indicated in the Drawings will not be grounds 

Packet Page Number 83 



 
Page 02668- 20 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

for additional compensation. 

Unless specifically identified for payment under a separate pay item, the unit price bid includes all labor, 
equipment, and materials to complete the Work including, but not limited to, the following incidental 
items: 

 Furnishing and installing pipe;  
 Continuity straps on ductile iron pipe 
 Trench excavation and backfill; 
 Compaction; 
 Joint sealing; 
 Shoring;  
 concrete thrust blocks; 
 tracer wire and warning tape/locator ribbon;  
 installation of all pipe tees, crosses, bends, caps, plugs, adapters, reducers, over-insertion devices, 

thrust restraint systems, and other fittings; 
 protection and/or restoration of all existing utilities; 
 delivery of non-serviceable portions of removed pipe, valves, and fittings at a Contractor-

furnished disposal site; 
 delivery of serviceable portions of removed pipe, valves, and fittings to the City of Unalaska, 
 adjustment to finish grade; 
 maintenance of existing water distribution system flows; 
 maintenance and restoration of existing drainage patterns; 
 restoration of existing private or public improvement such as but not limited to: 
o driveways 
o signage 
o guardrails 
o sidewalk, curb and gutter; 

 landscaping, utility markers, survey monumentation; 
 cleanup, and miscellaneous items required to complete the Work as shown on the Drawings. 

Payment will be made on the following unit bid items: 

 ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 6,7,8 Furnish and Install (Size, Type) Pipe Linear Foot 

 9 Connect to Existing Water Line (Connection Size)  Each 
   

  

 
Page 02668- 21 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

SECTION 02668.03   FURNISH AND INSTALL VALVES 

Article 3.1  General 

The Work under this Section consists of the performance of all Work required for furnishing and installing 
valves, including valve boxes and marker posts. 

Article 3.2  Submittals 

Submittals are to be provided to the Engineer for review and acceptance as stated in the General 
Conditions. The Contractor is to clearly demarcate items to be incorporated into the Work. Submittals for 
valves should include, but is not limited to the following information: 

 Manufacturer valve submittal cut sheets 
 Build America Buy America Certification 
 NSF Certification 
 Valve box 
o Lid 
o Top Section 
o Dust Pan 
o Riser 
o Bottom Section 
o Rubber centering sleeve 

 Geotextile 

Article 3.3  Material 

Tie back rods and/or tie back rod and shackle assemblies are not acceptable as restrained joints or 
restraining system for valves and valve/pipe joint interface. 

Unless otherwise detailed on the Drawings, valve and valve/pipe interface are to be mechanical-joints 
conforming to AWWA C111 and be restrained per Specification 02668-02. 

A. Gate Valves 

Gate valves shall be iron body, fully bronze mounted, double disc, parallel or resilient seat valves 
as specified in AWWA C509 “Resilient-Seated Gate Valves for Water Supply Service” or AWWA C515 
“Reduced-Wall, Resilient-Seated Gate Valves for Water Supply Service”. 

Gate valve bonnet bolts shall be Type 316 stainless steel with a minimum tensile strength of 75,000 
PSI and shall conform to ASTM F593 and F594. All bolts shall be stamped with the grade marking 
on the head of the bolt, and shall be “T-316”, “316”, or “F593”. 

B. Butterfly Valves 

Butterfly valves shall be of the rubber-seated tight-closing type. They shall meet or exceed the 
performance requirements of AWWA C504 for operational pressures of 150 psi working pressure 
and 300 psi hydrostatic pressure with the requirements of Table 2 of ANSI/AWWA C504. 
Accessories (bolts, glands, and gaskets) shall be supplied by the valve manufacturer. 

Packet Page Number 84 



 
Page 02668- 22 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

Butterfly valve actuator bolts that are exposed shall be Type 316 stainless steel with a minimum 
tensile strength of 75,000 PSI and shall conform to ASTM F593 and F594. All bolts shall be stamped 
with the grade marking on the head of the bolt, and shall be “T-316”, “316”, or “F593”. 

Valves must use full ANSI/AWWA C504 Class 150 B valve shaft diameter and full Class 150 B 
underground service operator torque rating throughout entire travel to provide capability for 
operation in emergency service.  Valves shall be NSF Certified. 

Valve body shall be high-strength cast iron ASTM A126 Class B. For valves with the rubber seat 
mounted on the disc, the mating surface in the body shall be 304 or 316 stainless steel. For valves 
containing the rubber seat in the body, the method of seat retention shall be in accordance with 
the requirements of ANSI/AWWA C504, except that no retaining fasteners or other hardware shall 
be permitted in the flow stream. 

Valve operators, unless otherwise required by the Contract Documents, shall be of the traveling 
nut type, sealed, gasketed, and lubricated for underground service and capable of withstanding an 
overload input torque of four hundred fifty (450) foot-pounds at full open or closed position 
without damage to the valve or valve operator. The number of turns to operate the valve shall be 
a minimum of two (2) turns per inch of valve diameter for ninety degrees (90 ) of closure travel at 
a maximum pull of eighty (80) pounds. All valves shall open counterclockwise and be equipped 
with two inch (2”) square AWWA operating nut. 

For butterfly valves twenty inches (20") and less, the valve shaft shall be one piece extending full 
size through valve bearings, disc, and shaft seal. In the event that the shaft is turned down to fit 
connections to the operator, the limits of ANSI/AWWA C504, Section 3.3.2 shall be strictly 
observed. Carbon steel shafts, if used, shall have 304 or 316 stainless steel journals with static seals 
to isolate the interior of the disc and the shaft from the water. 

C. Valve Boxes 

Valve boxes are to be constructed of the following individual parts: 

 Lid – cast or ductile iron with lifting ears that conforms with and fits closely with the top section 
and is rated heavy duty 

 Top section - cast or ductile iron, rated heavy duty, 18” minimum height, minimum 6” 
inner diameter, recessed to receive the lid 

 Dust pan – cast or ductile iron, 3” minimum height, ¼” minimum thick material, lift 
handle/bar and fits into and rests on the riser 

 Riser – cast or ductile iron pipe that fits inside the top section and over the bottom section, 
delivered to the Work site 

 Bottom section – cast or ductile iron, rated heavy duty, 24” minimum height, with round or 
oval bottom hood sections to fit over the top of the valve 

 Geotextile – woven, class 2 in conformance with MASS Section covering geotextile fabric 

 
Page 02668- 23 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

 Polyethylene film – 8 mil in conformance with this Division. 

 Rubber centering ring –a rubber compound sleeve placed on a valve to align the valve box 
bottom section with the valve top, such as the Valve Box Adaptor II or equal. The centering ring 
must conform to the shape of the valve and valve box to seal out soil. 

 Tape – minimum 2” wide, 20 mil thick, UPC approved PVC Tape 

 Heavy duty rated items are to meet AASHTO M306 criteria. Internal diameter of the smallest 
section shall not be less than five inches (5”). The minimum thickness of the metal shall not be 
less than five-sixteenth inch (5/16”). Castings shall be smooth and the workmanship shall be 
acceptable to the Engineer. 

 City of Unalaska standard specification part numbers are provided on the drawings. 

Article 3.3  Construction 

Valve interiors are to be cleaned of all foreign matter before installation. If the valve is at the end of the 
line, it is to be plugged prior to backfilling. The valve shall be inspected by the Contractor in the open and 
closed positions prior to installation to ensure that all parts are in working condition. 

Place the rubber centering ring inside the bottom section over the valve bonnet. After placement of the 
bottom section the Contractor is to wrap three (3) layers of woven geotextile fabric around the outside of 
the valve and bottom section of the valve box. The geotextile is to be secured in place with PVC pipe tape 
to the bottom section and pipes. Encase the valve box assembly with three layers of eight-mil (8 mil) 
polyethylene, encasement, taped securely in place. 

Valve box components are to be plumb and centered over the operating nut. 

The butterfly valve operators are to be placed on the side of the water main away from the centerline of 
the street or easement. 

After final inspection of valves located in unpaved areas the Contractor is to place the specified bedding 
directly over the valve box lid to final grade elevations. The Contractor must expose and rebury all valve 
box lids for testing, pre-final and final inspections in unpaved areas.  

At locations where replacing a valve box assembly is required, it is to be removed by excavating to fully 
expose the valve and connecting pipes then reconstructed to the requirements of this section and the 
standard details.  Valve box components removed are to be replaced with materials meeting this section 
and not re-used in any portion of the Work. 

Install a single locator/marker bollard off of the road near each valve (16” mainline valves only) to aid with 
locating valves in the future. 

Article 3.4  Measurement 

Furnishing and installing valves will be measured as a whole unit designated by type and size inclusive of all 
parts required to provide a functioning valve including but not limited to valve, valve connection 
components, bottom section, riser, top section, dustpan, lid, elevation adjustments, bollard, bollard sleeve, 
and corrosion/intrusion/frost protection per these specifications, special provisions, standard details and 

Packet Page Number 85 



 
Page 02668- 24 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

Drawings. 

Replacement of valve boxes will be measured as complete units in place including but not limited to the 
bottom section, riser, top section, dust pan, lid, markers, and corrosion/intrusion/frost protection. 

Furnishing and installing a valve box over an existing valve shall include all work detailed on the drawings. 

When the bid item includes the removal and replacement of valve box components, then those same 
components will not be measured for payment under any other bid item. 

Disposal of removed parts will not be measured for payment and is considered incidental to the item being 
constructed. 

Unless specifically identified for payment under a separate pay item, the unit price bid to complete the 
Work includes all costs, labor, equipment, and materials to complete the Work including, but not limited 
to, the following incidental items: 

 Furnish and Install valve, valve box and joint restraint; 
 Excavation, backfill and compaction; 
 Bollard; 
 Removal and replacement of ground surface features 
 adjustment to finish grade; 
 protection and/or restoration of all existing utilities; 
 maintenance of existing water distribution system flows; 
 shoring excavations 
 restoration of existing private or public improvement such as but not limited to: 
o driveways 
o signage 
o trees and shrubs located on private property; 

 landscaping, utility markers, survey monumentation; 
 cleanup, and miscellaneous items required to complete the Work as shown on the Drawings 

Article 3.5  Basis of Payment 

Payment for this Work is to be as specified in the General Conditions and shall include full payment for 
all Work described in this Section. 

Payment shall be made on the following unit: 

 ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 10 Furnish and Install (Size) Gate Valve Each 

 11 Furnish and Install (Size) Butterfly Valve Each 

 12 Furnish and Install Valve Box Each 

 13 Remove and Replace Valve Box Each 
  

 
Page 02668- 25 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

SECTION 02668.04   FURNISH AND INSTALL FIRE HYDRANTS 

Article 4.1  General 

The Work under this Section consists of the performance of all Work required for the furnishing and 
installation of "L-Base" Fire Hydrant Assemblies, including the fire hydrant leg pipe, auxiliary gate valve, 
valve box, joint restraint, guard rails and/or posts, tracer wires, coatings, board insulation, wrappings, and 
fire hydrants. 

Article 4.2  Submittals 

Submittals are to be provided to the Engineer for review and acceptance as stated in the General 
Conditions. The Contractor is to clearly demarcate items to be incorporated into the Work. Submittals for 
fire hydrants should include, but is not limited to the following information: 

 Manufacturer fire hydrant submittal cut sheets with the selected ordering options clearly 
marked.   

 Build America Buy America Certification  
 NSF Certification 
 Thrust restraint system 
 Corrosion protection items 

Article 4.3 Materials 

A. Fire Hydrants 

Fire hydrants are to conform to the requirements of ANSI/AWWA C502 for Dry Barrel Fire Hydrants. 
Fire hydrants are to be Mueller Centurion A-423 or American Darling 5-1/4 B62B-5 with 20” nozzle 
section. 

1. The operating nut of the hydrants is to be a minimum of twenty-eight (28”) above the traffic 
breakaway flange. The traffic breakaway flange is to be between three inches (3”) to nine 
inches (9”) above adjacent grades. 

2. All single pumper hydrants are to be furnished with a six-inch (6”) ANSI Class 125 standard 
mechanical-joint end. All double pumper hydrants must be furnished with an eight-inch (8") ANSI 
Class 125 standard mechanical-joint. 

3. All connections are to be mechanical-joint unless otherwise indicated in the Contract 
Documents. 

4. Single pumper hydrants must be furnished with two (2) two and one-half inch (2.5”) hose 
connections and one (1) four and one-half inch (4.5”) pumper connection. Double pumper 
hydrants are to be furnished with one (1) two and one-half inch (2.5”) hose connection and 
two (2) four and one-half inch (4.5”) pumper connections. 

5. Unless otherwise required by the Contract Documents, all hydrants are to be furnished with a 
barrel length that will allow a minimum of four feet (4’) of bury. The lower barrel must be one 
piece to achieve a four-foot burial depth. 

Packet Page Number 86 



 
Page 02668- 26 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

6. The main valves are to be of the compression type, where water pressure holds the main valve 
closed permitting easy maintenance or repair of the entire barrel assembly from above the 
ground without the need of a water shutoff. 

7. All fire hydrants must be furnished with a breakaway flange which allows both barrel and stem 
to break clean upon impact from any angle. Traffic flange design must be such that repair and 
replacement can be accomplished above ground. 

8. Painting and coating are to be shop coated in accordance with cited AWWA Specifications. The 
paint is to be federal standard colors.  Mueller hydrants shall be yellow; American hydrants 
shall be red. 

9. Operating and nozzle nuts are to be pentagon shaped with one and one-half inch (1.5”) point 
to flat measurements. 

10. Hose nozzle threading must be in conformance with NFPA #194 for National (America) 
Standard Fire Hose Coupling Screw Threads. 

11. All working parts are to be bronze or noncorrosive metal in accordance with the requirements 
of ANSI/AWWA C502. 

12. All hydrants are to be right hand opening (clockwise). 

13. All hydrants shall be provided with a drain plug. 

14. All fire hydrants are to be supplied with a five and one-fourth inch (5.25”) main valve opening. 

15. Brass components in contact with potable water are to comply with Public Law 111-380 (No 
Lead Rule).   

16. NSF Certification 

B. Auxiliary Gate Valves 

All gate valves and valve boxes are to be furnished and installed as specified in Section 02668.03 - 
Furnish and Install Valves. 

C. Thrust-Restraint System 

Fire hydrants are to be fully restrained back to and include the connection to the main line. Thrust 
restraint is to be furnished and installed as specified in Section 02668.02 – Furnish and Install Pipe. 

D. Guard Posts 

The Contractor shall install guard posts for each hydrant installation as shown with the plan details. 
If, in the opinion of the Engineer, the guard posts are not to be installed, they are to be delivered 
to the City of Unalaska storage yard. 

E. Continuity and Trace Wire 

Trace wires shall be provided to the hydrant valves to allow access without the need to work in the 
travelled way.  Continuity and trace wires are to meet the requirements of Section 02668.02. 

 
Page 02668- 27 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

Article 4.4  Construction 

The Contractor is to complete all trench excavation, backfill and compaction necessary to install the fire 
hydrant assembly. 

An eight-foot (8’) wide clear, slightly sloping (max 5% in any direction) access path that extends four feet 
(4’) beyond the fire hydrant must be provided. Where a ditch is encroached upon by the access path, the 
ditch is to be relocated or filled and a twelve inch (12”) diameter culvert installed to pass run off by the 
hydrant. 

The Contractor shall wrap the hydrant barrel section with three layers of 8-mil thick polyethylene 
encasement, up to the finished ground surface. 

The fire hydrant auxiliary valve is to be closed during installation and remain closed during all main line 
open bore flushing operations.  The Contractor is to open the auxiliary gate valve for hydrostatic 
pressure testing, disinfection and for hydrant raising. The hydrant leg must have hydrostatic pressure for 
the hydrant to be raised. All fire hydrant legs are to be installed level. The fire hydrant barrel is to be 
installed plumb. The Contractor is responsible for access to the hydrant location and all trench excavation, 
dewatering and backfill operations prior to, during, and after the fire hydrants are adjusted. The cost for 
raising or adjusting the fire hydrant is incidental to the fire hydrant installation. 

All fire hydrants that have yet to be approved for use must be covered and identified as being "not in 
service". The cover is to be firmly secured to the hydrant. Not in service bags are to be at least 27" wide x 
42" tall x 4 mil thick polypropylene material, brightly colored (e.g., orange, yellow, green) and in bold black 
print clearly show in large, easy- to-read lettering the words "NOT IN SERVICE". 

The Contractor must paint in two-inch (2”) black lettered stenciling, the direction and distances to the 
nearest one-tenth foot (1/10’ or 0.1’) of the fire hydrant auxiliary valve box. The lettering is to be placed on 
the face of the fire hydrant directly below the bonnet flange. 

Article 4.5  Measurement 

The method of measurement to furnish and install fire hydrants is to be as follows: 

A. Single Pumper Fire Hydrants 

Single Pumper Fire Hydrants are to be measured as complete assemblies furnished, constructed, 
installed, and accepted in place for each installation, including, but not limited to trench excavation, 
backfill, compaction, fire hydrants six-inch (6”) leg to main, six inch (6”) auxiliary gate valve and 
valve box, guard posts, coatings, trace wire, coverings, board insulation, and thrust-restraint 
system. The price must include full compensation for furnishing and installing single pumper 
hydrants as shown in the plan details, required by these specifications and shown in the Drawings. 

B. Double Pumper Fire Hydrants 

Double Pumper Fire Hydrants are to be measured as complete assemblies furnished, constructed, 
installed, and accepted in place for each installation, including, but not limited to trench excavation, 
backfill, compaction, fire hydrants eight-inch (8”) leg to main, eight-inch (8”) auxiliary gate valve 
and valve box, guard posts, coatings, trace wire, coverings, board insulation, and thrust-restraint 

Packet Page Number 87 



 
Page 02668- 28 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

system. The price is to include full compensation for furnishing and installing double pumper 
hydrants as shown in the plan details, required by these specifications and shown in the Drawings. 

Article 4.6 Basis of Payment 

Payment for this Work is to be as specified in the General Conditions and includes full payment for all Work 
described in this Section.  Payment is to be made under the following units: 

 ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 14 Furnish and Install Fire Hydrant (Single Pumper) Each 

 15  Furnish and Install Fire Hydrant (Double Pumper) Each 
 

 
Page 02668- 29 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

SECTION 02668.05   WATER SERVICE LINES 

Article 5.1  General 

The Work under this Section consists of the performance of Work required for furnishing and installing 
water service lines including but not limited to tapping, connecting, piping, fittings, valves, and key boxes 
at the location and depth required by the Contract Documents. 

The Contractor is to notify the City of Unalaska a minimum of twenty-four (24) hour in advance of any 
required or needed inspection. 

Article 5.2  Submittals 

Submittals are to be provided to the Engineer for review and acceptance as stated in the General 
Conditions. The Contractor is to clearly demarcate items to be incorporated into the Work. Submittals for 
water service lines should include, but is not limited to the following information: 

 Piping – See Section 02866.02 
 Build America Buy America Certification  
 NSF Certification 
 Corporation stop 
 Curb stop 
 Key box 
 Key box rod 
 Flare nuts 
 Thrust restraint system 
 Corrosion protection items 

Article 5.3 Material 

A. Pipe 

Pipe material must comply with Section 02668.02 – Furnish and Install Pipe 

B. Key Box, Curb Stop, Corporation stop, valve and Valve boxes 

Keyboxes are to be telescoping, furnished with a lid, have an arch pattern base and are to be 
constructed of cast or ductile iron. The operating rod and connection pin are to be constructed of 
stainless steel alloy type 304 or 316. The connection pin is to be a minimum of 3/16” by two inches 
(2”) long and inserted completely through cast connection head that is welded to the operating 
rod. Bent plate connection heads will not be allowed. 

Curb stops (key box valves) are to conform to AWWA C800, be rated for minimum 150 psi working 
water pressure, have a waste port, be NSF 61 certified, accept copper flare nuts on both ends and 
conform to the “no lead” standard for parts in contact with potable water. For one-inch (1”) 
services, the flare nut on the Utility side of the curb stop is to come with an integral wire connector 
for an anode connection. For services greater than one inch (>1”), a bronze direct burial 
compression pipe clamp is to be used in conjunction with a flare nut. 

Packet Page Number 88 



 
Page 02668- 30 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

Corporation stops/valves shall be PTFE coated brass ball valves, rated for 300 psi water pressure, 
conform to AWWA C800, be NSF 61 certified, and conform to the “no lead” standard. Inlet end 
shall have the AWWA/CC taper and outlet end shall have copper flare straight connection. The corp 
shall come with a flare with an integral wire connector (up to one-inch) and a bronze direct burial 
compression pipe clamp thaw nut for sizes greater than 1-inch. Corp shall be Mueller H-15023 (1-
1/2 & 2”) or H-15008N (1”) corp and thaw nut. 

All components in contact with drinking water shall be NSF Certified. 

C. Continuity and Trace Wire 

Continuity and/or trace wires are to meet the requirements of Section 02668.02 – Furnish and 
Install Pipe. 

Article 5.4  Construction 

Water service piping and valves are to be constructed as outlined in Section 02668.01, Section 02668.02 
and Section 02668.03 with the following special considerations. 

The Contractor must excavate whatever substances that are encountered to the depth required for the 
connections, including excavation through bedrock. The Contractor is to expose any main to be tapped for 
a minimum distance of two feet (2’ on either side of the proposed tap location and below the pipe for 
proper clearance of the tapping saddle. 

The Contractor is responsible for all costs for damaging private utilities or City of Unalaska controlled piping 
included but not limited to damage during excavation, tapping or backfilling. The Contractor shall repair 
the damaged main. 

Except where shown on City of Unalaska approved Drawings, The Contractor shall lay water connections 
at ninety degrees (90 ) to the street line. Water service piping is to have a minimum of four-feet (4’) of 
bury from the point of connection to a point at the ROW line or as shown. Where the main line has less 
than four-feet of bury, the service must be immediately lowered to achieve the required bury depth and 
insulated where there is less than four feet of bury. Water services are not to be within a horizontal distance 
of ten feet (10') or have less than eighteen inches (18”) of vertical separation at crossings to a sewer or 
footing drain.  

Trenches are to be OSHA compliant and have a minimum of two and one-half feet (2.5’) wide bottom for a 
single copper water service. The service is to be centered in the ditch. Where multiple copper services are 
laid in the same trench, the services must have a minimum separation of two feet (2’) and the key boxes 
must not be separated more than twelve feet (12’). Non-copper services cannot share the same excavation. 

Key boxes shall be of an acceptable construction as shown in the plan details and the requirements of the 
Specifications. Key boxes are to be installed at the furthest point of City of Unalaska maintenance, which is 
typically at the property or utility easement line, whichever is a greater distance from the water mainline. 
The key box must not be installed horizontally closer than: 

 ten feet (10’) to a known or proposed structure, utility transformer pad, electrical/telephone/cable 
box, and other utility pedestals, sewer piping 

 
Page 02668- 31 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

 five feet (5’) to an adjacent property line, 

 fifteen feet (15’) to a fire hydrant or hydrant leg 

The Contractor will relocate any service not meeting the separation requirements at their own expense. 
Valve box adjustment sleeves as defined in Section 02668.03 – Furnish and Install Valves are to be used for 
key boxes located in pavement or concrete. 

Key and valve boxes are to be installed plumb, be centered over the water line valve, have an unobstructed 
access way, and be wrapped with eight mils (8-mils) thick polyethylene encasement. Key and valve boxes 
must not be in contact with other utility lines, such as but not limited to fuel, electric, telephone or cable. 

Where key box and valve box locations are not shown on a plan they shall be installed in the standard 
location as shown in the plans. 

Keyboxes located within pavement or concrete are to be adjusted to finish grade and installed in a valve 
box adjustment sleeve. Adjustment of keyboxes is to be accomplished by removing the keybox lid, installing 
a black iron pipe coupling, installing a section of black iron pipe, and replacing the keybox lid at the finish 
grade. 

Services stubbed to the property line or beyond for future use must have a bleeder pipe brought above 
grade, be marked at the end of the service with a 2" X 4" X 8' marker, protruding three (3’) feet above 
grade, painted blue, and stenciled with the word "WATER" in white two (2”) inch high letters near the top.  
Trace wires shall be spliced to the mainline wire and be brought to the surface at the curb stop. 

The Contractor is to record the as-built vertical and horizontal locations of the water service, service length, 
bottom of pipe elevations at the main and property line, key box, and valves based on the survey control 
provided in the Drawings. When survey control is not provided to the contractor, the recording of the as-
built information is to be relative to two permanent fixed points such as, but not limited to, manholes, valve 
boxes, building structures and property corners. The fixed point cannot be living, movable (e.g., boulders, 
rocks, fence posts), or changing attributes of something larger (e.g., sidewalk cracks, building paint 
schemes). The record information must be turned into the City of Unalaska prior to the City allowing the 
water service to be turned on.  

When the Engineer may direct, but only after the service lines and appurtenances have been properly 
completed and inspected, the trenches and appurtenant structures may be backfilled in accordance with 
the construction requirements found in Section 02200 – Earthwork. 

The Contractor shall exercise due care in backfilling to keep the service box and continuity wire vertical and 
in place. In the event the service box or continuity wire is displaced, the Contractor will be required to 
excavate and restore the service box and continuity wire to the proper position. Any work necessary to 
restore the service box and continuity wire to the proper position will be performed at the Contractor's 
expense. 

Hydrostatic testing must comply with Section 02668.02 – Furnish and Install Pipe. A bleeder will be installed 
at each service line key box and extended a minimum of one and a half feet (1.5') above the existing ground. 
The bleeder will be capped after testing is complete. The bleeder may not be used for the on-property 

Packet Page Number 89 



 
Page 02668- 32 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

system and must be disconnected at the time of the on-property extension. 

No unions will be allowed in the right-of-way on newly constructed service lines. 

All on-property installations are to be constructed to the same standard as off-property installations. 

Article 5.5  Measurement 

Measurement for Furnishing and Installing Water service Lines 2” and smaller shall be per each, including all 
work between and including the main Corp Stop and the Curb Stop.   

Article 5.6  Basis of Payment 

Payment for this Work will be as specified the General Conditions and includes full payment for all Work 
described in this Section. 

Unless specifically identified for payment under a separate pay item, the unit price bid to Furnish and Install 
(size) Water Service Lines includes all costs, labor, equipment, and materials to furnish and install a 
functional potable water service including, but not limited to, the following incidental items: 

 verify location of existing water services; 
 trench excavation and backfill; 
 excess excavation and backfill; 
 excavation dewatering; 
 trench support system; 
 compaction of fill; 
 installation of pipe, 
 fittings, adapters, valves, key boxes, or other necessary appurtenances; 
 polyethylene encasement; 
 hydrostatic testing, flushing, and disinfection; 
 water service trace wire; 
 seeding; protection of existing utilities; 
 restoration of existing drainage patterns; 
 removal and replacement of existing culverts, guardrail, fences, landscaping, and other public or 

private improvements; finish grading; 
 cleanup 

Where the Work includes disconnecting existing water services from an existing water line and 
reconnecting them to a new water line, the disconnection and reconnection of those existing water services 
will be considered incidental to the costs bid for installation of the new water line. 

Fittings and appurtenances as shown on the Drawings or not specifically identified for payment under a 
separate pay item but required for normal completion of water service line installation, will be considered 
incidental and will be included in the linear foot cost of the water service lines. 

 

 
Page 02668- 33 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

Payment is to be made under the following unit: 

 ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 16,17 Furnish and Install (Size) Water Service Line Each 
 

Packet Page Number 90 



 
Page 02668- 34 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

SECTION 02668.06   FURNISH AND INSTALL GALVANIC ANODES 

Article 6.1  General 

The Work under this Section consists of the performance of all Work required for furnishing and installing 
galvanic anodes for added protection of water pipe from corrosion. The Contractor shall install galvanic 
anodes in accordance with these specifications and in conformity with the plan details or as shown on the 
Drawings. 

Article 6.2  Submittals 

Submittals are to be provided to the Engineer for review and acceptance as stated in the General 
Conditions. The Contractor is to clearly demarcate items to be incorporated into the Work. Submittals for 
anodes should include, but is not limited to the following information: 

 Anodes 
 Build America Buy America Certification 
 Lead wire 
 Thermite Welding 
 Anode connectors 

Article 6.3 Materials 

A. Anodes 

Anodes utilized for typical galvanic anode system installation are prepackaged magnesium style 
anodes weighing twenty (20) pounds. Anode composition is to be in accordance with ASTM B843-
2003 Table 1, Grade HP, M1C. 

Anodes are to be packaged in a low resistive backfill consisting of seventy-five percent (75%) 
gypsum, twenty percent (20%) bentonite, and five percent (5%) sodium sulfate. 

Anodes shall be provided with #10 AWG stranded copper, single-conductor cable with HMWPE 
insulation. Lead wire cable shall be rated for six hundred (600) volts and designed for direct burial 
applications. 

B. Pipe Connection Lead Wire 

Lead wires must be of sufficient length for splice-free routing between the anode and the pipe and 
is to be #10 AWG stranded copper, single-conductor cable with HMWPE insulation. Lead wire cable 
must be rated for six hundred (600) volts and designed for direct burial applications. 

C. Thermite Welding Equipment and Materials 

Equipment and materials used to bond the #10 AWG HMWPE to the pipeline is of the “CADWELD” 
type as manufactured by ERICO Products, Inc. of Cleveland, Ohio, or approved equal. Thermite 
weld caps, designed to protect the CADWELD bonds from corrosion, is to be Royston “Handy Cap 
2” or approved equal. 

 
 

Page 02668- 35 
WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

Article 6.4  Construction 

The following is a list of general procedures utilized for typical installation of galvanic anodes: 

1. Anode Placement 

Anodes are to be installed eighteen to thirty-six inches (18” to 36”) from the side wall of the pipe, 
to a centerline depth in line with the approximate horizontal plane of the pipe’s bottom dead 
center. Anodes are to be placed on alternating sides of the pipeline and at a frequency of no less 
than one anode per every ductile iron pipe section (joint) that is greater than nine feet in length. 
One anode may not protect more than twenty-seven feet (27’) of pipe segments. One anode can 
cover all fittings within a twenty-foot (20’) radius as long as all fittings are electrically connected to 
the anode.  Anodes are not required on isolated bends. 

2. Lead wire connection from anode to pipe, anode to fitting, fitting to fitting 

The #10 AWG HMWPE lead wires must be attached to the top dead center of the pipe. Lead wire 
connections to the pipe are to utilize exothermic weld connection methodology and follow the 
manufacturer’s instructions for use. 

Lead wire connections to fittings are to be done with a stainless steel metal plate with two holes 
through the plate. One hole is to be placed and sized 1/8” larger than the fitting bolt to allow the 
fitting bolt to pass through the hole. The second hole is to be 5/16” in diameter to allow connection 
of the anode lead wire with a 1/4” diameter by 1” long stainless steel bolt with a nut and locking 
washer. The anode lead wire is to be fitted with a 5/16” diameter wire ring terminal. Were a 
connector plate is used, the Contractor must ensure a metal to metal connection is made to all 
metallic parts being protected by the anode. 

3. Backfilling 

Extreme care shall be taken not to damage the anodes or direct buried lead wires during backfill 
procedures. 

Article 6.5  Measurement 

Measurement for furnishing and installing anodes will be per each anode installed. The price includes full 
compensation for furnishing and installing anodes as described herein and as shown on the Drawings. 

Unless specifically identified for payment under a separate pay item, the unit price bid to complete the 
anode installation includes all costs, labor, equipment, and materials to complete the Work including, but 
not limited to, the following incidental items: 

 Connection of anode to pipe or fitting 
 Excavation; 
 Lead wire, jumper wires, connectors, bolts, nuts, washers 
 Backfill and compaction; 
 Removal and replacement of ground surface features 
 adjustment to finish grade; 

Packet Page Number 91 



 
Page 02668- 36 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

 protection and/or restoration of all existing utilities; 
 maintenance of existing water distribution system flows; 
 shoring excavations 
 restoration of existing private or public improvement such as but not limited to: 
o driveways 
o signage 
o trees and shrubs located on private property; 

 landscaping, utility markers, survey monumentation; 
 cleanup, and miscellaneous items required to complete the Work as shown on the Drawings 

Article 6.6 Basis of Payment 

Payment for this Work is as specified in the General Conditions and includes full payment for all Work 
described in this Section. 

Payment is to be made under the following unit: 

 ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 18 Furnish and Install Anode Each 
  

 
Page 02668- 37 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

SECTION 02668.07   FURNISH AND INSTALL AIR/VAC RELIEF VAULT 

Article 6.1  General 

The Work under this Section consists of the performance of all Work required for furnishing and installing 
Combination Air/Vacuum relief valves and vaults at high points in the water system. The function is to 
exhaust large quantities of air when filling, open during draining or negative pressure, and release 
accumulated air when the system is under operation and pressure.   The Contractor shall install Air/Vac 
relief Manholes in accordance with these specifications and in conformity with the plan details or as shown 
on the Drawings. 

Article 6.2  Submittals 

Submittals are to be provided to the Engineer for review and acceptance as stated in the General 
Conditions. The Contractor is to clearly demarcate items to be incorporated into the Work. Submittals for 
anodes should include, but is not limited to the following information: 

 Combination Air Valves 
 Build America Buy America Certification 
 NSF Certification 
 Precast Concrete Vault, Access Hatch, Ladder 
 Board Insulation, Adhesive 
 PVC Vent Piping, Insect Screen 
 Corp Stops 
 Geotextile Fabric 
 HDPE Pipe and adapters 
 Shut-off Valves 

Article 6.3 Materials 

A. See plan sheets. 

Article 6.4  Construction 

The following is a list of general procedures utilized for typical installation of Air/Vac Relief Manholes: 

A. Tap the newly installed main at high points to allow migration of air into or out of the new main; 

B. Install Corporation Stop with a double strap service saddle at the main; 

C. Install HDPE pipe with consistent uphill grade to Combination Air Valve (CAV); 

D. Install Vault plumb, level and square.  Install on a compacted 6” thick layer of leveling course.  Install 
drain rock wrapped in geotextile fabric under the drain sump.  Install board insulation inside vault.  
Set vault elevation to allow installation of the CAV inside of vault. 

E. Install vent pipe with insect screen plumb and level; 

F. Install board insulation over top of the HDPE pipe when the bury depth is less than 4-feet.   

Packet Page Number 92 



 
Page 02668- 38 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

 

Article 6.5  Measurement 

Measurement for furnishing and installing Air/Vac relief Vaults will be per each installed. The price includes 
full compensation for furnishing and installing valves, pipe, vault, and appurtenances as described herein 
and as shown on the Drawings. 

Unless specifically identified for payment under a separate pay item, the unit price bid to complete the 
vault installation includes all costs, labor, equipment, and materials to complete the Work including, but 
not limited to, the following incidental items: 

 Excavation, backfill and compaction 
 Connection to newly installed pipe 
 Installation of HDPE pipe and insulation 
 Installation of the concrete vault, lid, ladder, vent pipe, and insulation 
 Vault insulation 
 Leveling course, drain rock, fabric, backfill and compaction; 
 Removal and replacement of ground surface features 
 protection and/or restoration of all existing utilities; 
 shoring excavations 
 restoration of existing private or public improvement such as but not limited to: 

o driveways 
o signage 
o trees and shrubs located on private property; 

 landscaping, utility markers, survey monumentation; 
 cleanup, and miscellaneous items required to complete the Work as shown on the Drawings 

Article 6.6 Basis of Payment 

Payment for this Work is as specified in the General Conditions and includes full payment for all Work 
described in this Section. 

Payment is to be made under the following unit: 

 ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 19 Furnish and Install Air/Vac Relief Vault Each 
 

  

 
Page 02668- 39 

WATER SYSTEMS   

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE  DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK 
  Section 02668  
  WATER SYSTEMS 
 

 

SECTION 02668.07   FURNISH AND INSTALL BLOWOFF PIPE 

Article 6.1  General 

The Work under this Section consists of the performance of all Work required for furnishing and installing 
16” diameter ductile iron blow-off pipes.  The Work includes the wye branch, 45-degree bend, joint 
restraint, thrust blocks, and other work not associated with main line pipe installation.   The ductile iron 
pipe and 16” butterfly valves are paid for separately.  The Contractor shall install blow-off pipes in 
accordance with these specifications and in conformity with the plan details or as shown on the Drawings. 

Article 6.2  Submittals 

Submittals to be provided to the Engineer are included in 02668-02 Furnish and Install Pipe and 02668-03 
Furnish and Install Valves.  No separate submittal is required for this pay item. 

Article 6.3 Materials 

A. See 02668-02 Furnish and Install Pipe and 02668-03 Furnish and Install Valves. 

Article 6.4  Construction 

A. See 02668-02 Furnish and Install Pipe and 02668-03 Furnish and Install Valves. 

Article 6.5  Measurement 

Measurement for furnishing and installing 16” blow-off pipes will be per each installed. The price includes 
full compensation for furnishing and installing the wye branch, 45-degree bend, joint restraint, continuity 
straps, thrust blocks, copper service connection, bollard, and other work not associated with main line pipe 
installation as described herein and as shown on the Drawings.  Measurement excludes the pipe, valve, 
bedding, surfacing material and anodes. 

Unless specifically identified for payment under a separate pay item, the unit price bid to complete the 
blow-off pipe installation includes all costs, labor, equipment, and materials to complete the described 
Work. 

Article 6.6 Basis of Payment 

Payment for this Work is as specified in the General Conditions and includes full payment for all Work 
described in this Section. 

Payment is to be made under the following unit: 

 ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT 

 21 Construct 16” Blow-Off Lump Sum 
 

 

 

 
 

Packet Page Number 93 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Part 6 

*DRAWINGS (25-Sheets) 

 
 
 
 
 G1 COVER SHEET 
 G2 SHEET INDEX, NOTES 
 G3 LEGEND, ABBREVIATIONS 
 G4 TABLES 
 G5 SURVEY CONTROL  
 G6 KEY MAP 
 PP1 - PP9.1 PLAN & PROFILE, Phase 1, WSI to OSI 
 B1 PYRAMID CREEK BRIDGE – Utility Crossing Section 
 B2 PYRAMID CREEK BRIDGE – Utility Crossing Elevation 
 D1 – D4 DETAILS – MISCELLANEOUS WATER UTILITY 
 D5 DETAILS - CATHODIC PROTECTION SYSTEM 
 D6 DETAILS - AIR/VACUUM RELIEF VAULT  
 D7 DETAILS – TRAFFIC CONTROL PLAN 

 

 

 

*  Due to the file size, the listed Drawings are not attached to the Project Manual but instead are 
made available for the Contractors use.  The drawings are printed in 22”x34” ANSI D size so 
they can be plotted on ANSI D or 1/2 size on 11”x17” paper sizes.  The complete Drawing set 
can be found and downloaded from the City’s Website.   

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Part 7 

PERMITS 

 

 

 

 

  

Packet Page Number 94 



Page 1 of 5 

 
 
April 25, 2024 

 
Department of Environmental 

Conservation 
 

DIVISION OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
Drinking Water Program 

 
555 Cordova Street 

Anchorage, Alaska 99501 
Main: 907.269.7623 

Fax: 907.269.7650 
dec.alaska.gov

 
Erik Hernandez 
Deputy Director of Public Utilities File: Unalaska Water System 
City of Unalaska PWSID: 260309 
P.O. Box 610 Class: Community 
Unalaska, AK 99685 Source: Surface Water 
ehernandez@ci.unalaska.ak.us DEC Project ID: 18769 
 
Re:  Unalaska Captains Bay Road Waterline 

Conditional Approval to Construct & Separation Distance Waiver 
 
Dear Mr. Hernandez, 

This office received submittals requesting construction approval and separation distance waivers for 
modifications to the Unalaska Water System (PWSID 260309) distribution system on February 13th, 
2024 from Thomas Regan, P.E. with Regan Engineering, P.C.  Additional information was received 
on April 25th, 2024. 

This letter issues Conditional Approval to Construct as well as Separation Distance Waivers 
for the drinking water improvements as detailed in the submitted engineering plans and 
outlined below. 

Project Overview 
This project will install 11,267 feet of new 16-inch diameter water distribution main west along 
Captains Bay Road from Westward Seafoods, Inc. to the Trident Seafoods development site (currently 
Bering Shai Rock and Gravel).  A waiver is being requested for sanitary sewer crossings and proximity 
to a proposed sewer main.  It will also install associated fire hydrants, service connections, and service 
lines.  A temporary water distribution system shall provide water to the community during 
construction. 
 
New distribution main 

 10,984 feet of new buried 16-inch DR18 polyvinylchloride (PVC) water distribution pipe 
meeting ANSI/AWWA C900-16 requirements. 

 283 feet of new 16-inch Class 52 Ductile Iron Pipe (DIP). 
 Water lines will have a minimum of 4 feet of cover or will have supplemental insulation 

installed where minimum burial depth cannot be met. 
 When crossing Pyramid Creek, the water main will consist of approximately 56 feet of 24-inch 

diameter arctic pipe (18-inch Schedule 40 HDPE water main enclosed in foam insulation and 
steel casing) running alongside existing bridge girders supported by 12-foot long MC12x50 
HDG channel (hung from bottom of girders) at mid-span of bridge. 

 All laterals and fittings will be ductile iron C153 mechanical joint compact fittings with a 350 
PSI pressure rating. 

PWS 260309 Unalaska Captains Bay Rd. Waterline  April 25, 2024 
 

 

240425 Unalaska Captains Bay Rd. Waterline PWS260309_CC WA.docx Page 2 of 5 
 

 Three new single pumper fire hydrants assemblies and twelve new double pumper fire 
hydrant assemblies. 

 Five new service connections (four 1-inch and one 2-inch polyethylene coated Type K 
copper). 

 Pipe will have concrete thrust blocks, and megalug style restraints at ductile iron mechanical 
joint fittings. 

 Appurtenances include valves, hydrants, combination air vacuum/relief manholes, services, 
blow-offs, cathodic protection system for the ductile iron pipe segments, thrust blocks, and 
other associated items. 

 The water main for this area is normally served from the chlorine contact tank located in 
Pyramid Valley. 

 
Separation Distance Waiver Determination 
The proposed water main has five sanitary sewer crossings and one long section where the water 
main runs parallel to the sanitary sewer main south of the Offshore Systems Incorporated building 
between Station 19+00B to 23+00B. 

Table 1: 16-inch PVC Water Main Separation Distance Encroachments 

Sh
ee

t 

Water line Sta. Water Line 
(proposed) 

Potential 
Contaminant 

(existing) 
Separation 

Position 
Relative to 

Source 
 

PP7 56+96 

16" PVC Water 
Main 

8-inch DIP 
Sanitary Sewer 

>18 inches 
vertical Crossing above 

 

PP8 60+08  

PP13 17+50B 
Sanitary Sewer 

 

PP14 18+57B  

PP14 19+14B  

PP14 19+00B to 
23+00B 

Proposed 6-inch 
HDPE SS within 
10-inch HDPE 

sleeve 

12 inches 
horizontal Parallel  

 
 

1. Overall, this project is an enhancement of the public water distribution system and is 
necessary to improve service and provide fire protection; 

2. There are no reasonable alternatives to the proposed pipe route and there is no option but to 
cross sewers when they run perpendicular to the proposed route; 

3. The new watermain will normally be maintained at approximately 135 psi.  Sanitary sewers 
are generally close to atmospheric pressure, making cross contamination unlikely during 
normal operation; 

4. Water line joints will be at least nine feet from the sewer/storm line joints; 

5. All water main will be pressure tested to create a watertight system; 

6. The new pipes will be installed with a minimum 18-inch vertical clearance to the sewer pipe 
crossings; 

7. In the area which is adjacent to multiple septic tanks (Stations 17+80B to 18+70B), the 
joints on the proposed water main pipe will be sealed for a 90-foot section of pipe to 

THE STATE

ALASKA
GOVERNOR MICHAEL J. DUNLEAVY

Packet Page Number 95 



PWS 260309 Unalaska Captains Bay Rd. Waterline  April 25, 2024 
 

 

240425 Unalaska Captains Bay Rd. Waterline PWS260309_CC WA.docx Page 3 of 5 
 

mitigate potential contamination to the drinking water system even though the required 10-
foot separation distance will be maintained.   

8. All new pipe will be pressure tested DR18 PVC or Class 52 Ductile Iron pipe. 

9. Existing sewer pipe will be inspected when exposed for construction and repairs will be 
made if any defects are noted, including signs of previous leakage and/or inflow/infiltration. 

10. Bedding and structural integrity of the existing sewer mains will be maintained during 
construction and restored if disturbed; 

Where the water main will run in parallel with the proposed sewer 

11. The sewer will be pressure tested to 150 psi; 

12. QA/QC including visual joint inspections as well as destructive fusion joint testing on both 
the water and sewer line joints; 

13. The sewer pipe will be enclosed in an HDPE carrier pipe. 

Based on an evaluation of the available information, justification, and endorsement of the 
submitting engineer, a Separation Distance Waiver is issued in accordance with the State’s 
Drinking Water regulations, 18 Alaska Administrative Code (AAC) 80. 
 
This waiver is limited to this project and its current design and site conditions.  If the water or sewer 
lines are replaced or modified in the future, this waiver is void and the water or sewer may be 
required to be relocated to meet separation distance requirements at that time.  Site conditions and 
related contamination risks may change with time, voiding the waiver.  Approval of this waiver does 
not obligate the department to approve future waiver requests proposing the same design. 
 
Conditional Approval to Construct 
The submitted engineering plans and supporting information have been reviewed and are approved 
in accordance with Alaska Drinking Water Regulations (18 AAC 80). The enclosed Construction 
and Operation Certificates, with the Approval to Construct section completed, constitutes written 
approval. 
 
Issuance of this approval is contingent upon project compliance with the conditions listed 
below: 
A temporary water system has been proposed for this project and is approved under this 
Conditional Approval to Construct given the temporary water system meets the following 
conditions and requirements: 

1. If the temporary water system is to be operated during winter conditions, freeze protection 
shall be provided; 

2. All materials used in the temporary water system which are in contact with potable water 
must be certified under the National Sanitation Foundation (NSF) Standard 61; 

3. At least 20 psi of service pressure should be maintained throughout the entire temporary 
distribution main under peak flow conditions; 

4. The temporary water distribution system must be disinfected and flushed in accordance with 
AWWA Standard C651; and 

5. The temporary water system may not serve water to the public until analytical test results 
show that the system is free from coliform bacteria and submitted to our office. 

 

PWS 260309 Unalaska Captains Bay Rd. Waterline  April 25, 2024 
 

 

240425 Unalaska Captains Bay Rd. Waterline PWS260309_CC WA.docx Page 4 of 5 
 

Requirements for Approval to Operate 
Interim Approval to Operate (IATO) must be requested and granted prior to putting the new water 
components into service.  IATO may be requested in phases.  As part of your submittal(s) 
requesting IATO, please provide written verification of the following: 

1. Construction of the modifications to the public water system have been completed under 
the direction of a professional engineer licensed to practice in the State of Alaska and in 
accordance with the approved engineering plans, specifications, and any other DEC imposed 
conditions of construction. 

2. Water main has been successfully pressure tested. 

3. Water main system has been flushed, disinfected, and repeat sampled for total coliform in 
accordance with AWWA Standards.  Provide the location in the system where each sample 
was taken, the date and time taken, and results of each to our office. 

 
Final Approval to Operate (FATO) should be requested within 90 days after receiving IATO, unless 
otherwise requested when applying for IATO.  As part of your submittal requesting FATO, provide: 

1. Record Drawings, sealed and signed by an engineer licensed in the State of Alaska, 
confirming the system meets the requirements of 18 AAC 80.  “Record Drawings” refers to 
the original plans prepared for construction and department approval, revised to reflect how 
the system was constructed or installed. 

Expirations, Limitations, and Appeal Process 
If the applicant fails to complete a project to construct, install, alter, renovate, or improve the water 
system within two years, this approval is void in accordance with 18 AAC 80.215(b).  If during the 
two-year period site conditions, plans and information, and requirements in 18 AAC 80 do not 
change, and if the applicant pays the required fee, the department will grant the applicant an 
extension. 
 
Approval of submitted plans is not an approval of omissions or oversights by this office, and does 
not guarantee correctness of the functional design or waive the owner’s responsibility for continued 
compliance with state, federal, and local regulations. You are advised to obtain any other necessary 
authorizations before proceeding with your project.  
 
A person authorized under a provision of 18 AAC 15 may request an informal review of a contested 
decision by the Division Director in accordance with 18 AAC 15.185 and/or an adjudicatory hearing 
in accordance with 18 AAC 15.195 - 18 AAC 15.340. See DEC’s “Appeal a DEC Decision” web 
page https://dec.alaska.gov/commish/review-guidance/ for access to the required forms and 
guidance on the appeal process. Please provide a courtesy copy of the adjudicatory hearing request in 
an electronic format to the parties required to be served under 18 AAC 15.200.  Requests must be 
submitted no later than the deadline specified in 18 AAC 15. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact me at 907-269-3076 or robert.ellis@alaska.gov. 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Robert Ellis 
Engineering Associate I, DEC  
 
Encl.:  Construction and Operations Certificate for Public Water Systems 

Packet Page Number 96 



PWS 260309 Unalaska Captains Bay Rd. Waterline  April 25, 2024 
 

 

240425 Unalaska Captains Bay Rd. Waterline PWS260309_CC WA.docx Page 5 of 5 
 

Cc.:   Project Engineer, Thomas Regan, P.E., Regan Engineering, P.C. 
tom@reganengineering.com 
McKenzie Berry, WT2, WD3, mberry@ci.unalaska.ak.us 
DEC-Drinking Water, kristine.crippen@alaska.gov and chris.jackson@alaska.gov 
DEC Operator Training and Certification, dec.opcert@alaska.gov  

State of Alaska  
Department of Environmental Conservation 

Drinking Water Program 
PUBLIC WATER SYSTEM  

CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION CERTIFICATE 
 Approvals listed below are for compliance with the requirements of the State of 
Alaska Drinking Water Regulations 18 AAC 80.  Any approvals granted do not 

imply or grant any other federal, state or local authorizations that may be required. 
 

Water System Name: Unalaska PWSID: AK 260309 
 

Water Source: Surface Water Classification: Community 
 

 System Wide Approval  Modification Approval 
Project Description: Unalaska Captains Bay Road Waterline 
This project will install 11,267 feet of new 16-inch diameter water distribution main west along Captains Bay Road from 
Westward Seafoods, Inc. to the Trident Seafoods development site (currently Bering Shai Rock and Gravel).  A waiver is 
being requested for sanitary sewer crossings and proximity to a proposed sewer main.  See letter dated April 25, 2024 for 
details. 
 

A. APPROVAL TO CONSTRUCT  
Plans submitted in accordance with 18 AAC 80.205 by Thomas Regan, P.E. with Regan Engineering have been received 
and are 

 approved as submitted   conditionally approved, see attached letter 
  Engineering Associate I, DEC  April 25, 2024 

Robert Ellis, E.I.T. 
(Reviewing Engineer) 

 (Title)  (Date of Approval) 

If applicant fails to complete a project to construct, alter, install, or modify the system within two years of the date of 
approval to construct, approval is void, and plans must be resubmitted for Department review and approval (as per 18 
AAC 80.215 (a)).   

     Approved Change Order 
      Change (contract order number or description): ___________________________________________________________ 

     
(Reviewing Engineer)  (Title)  (Date of Approval) 

B. APPROVAL TO OPERATE  
This section must be completed and signed by the Department before any water is made available for public use.  

Interim Approval to Operate:  
This interim approval to operate expires on __________________. It is illegal to operate a public water system beyond 
the expiration date without Final Approval to Operate from the Department.  

     
(Reviewing Engineer)  (Title)  (Date of Approval) 

Interim Approval Extension: 
This interim approval to operate has been extended to ___________________. 

     
(Reviewing Engineer)  (Title)  (Date of Approval) 

Interim Approval Extension: 
This interim approval to operate has been extended to ___________________. 

     
(Reviewing Engineer)  (Title)  (Date of Approval) 

Final Approval to Operate  
Record drawings and other documents submitted to the Department, or an inspection by the Department, has confirmed 
that the public water system was constructed in substantial conformance to 18 AAC 80.  

     
(Reviewing Engineer)  (Title)  (Date of Approval) 

 
 

 approvedeveeeeeeeee  as
 

R b Elli E I T

Packet Page Number 97 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Part 8 

*EXHIBITS/REFERENCES 

 

Exhibit 01 – Geotechnical Report for Captains Bay Road, HDL Engineering Consultants, inc. 
 Exhibit 02 – NPF Site Utilities (1-Sheet) 
 Exhibit 03 – Plats 91-22 (2-Sheets), 94-43, 93-23, 94-21, 93-4, 96-2 (1-Sheet Each) 

 

*  Due to the file size, the listed Exhibits are not attached but instead are made available for the 
Contractors use.  The Exhibits can be found and downloaded from the City’s Website.  The 
Exhibits supplement the information provided in the Drawings.  

 

Packet Page Number 98 



Item 
Unit 

Est. 
No. Qty 

1 
Lump 

Sum 
1 

2 
Lump 

Sum 
1 

3 
Lump 

1 
Sum 

4 Ton 8,192 

5 Ton 5,213 

6 
Linear 

Foot 
6,784 

7 
Linear 

Foot 
313 

Linear 
8 

Foot 
so 

9 Each 3 

10 Each 2 

11 Each 7 

12 Each 1 

13 Each 1 

14 Each 3 

15 Each 6 

16 Each 0 

BID PROPOSAL 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 
Phase 1 - WSI to OSI (BASE BID} 

Description 
(Write Unit Bid Price in Words) 

Mobilization and Demobilization 

5r~ huti.drt'd Sf!/,,__/J/'}./~ - S,~a 
f)• ' .... - 7h rk..f '9n d oer lump sum 

Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (Type 3) 

..;; II~ 7h ,xs_ 4l"'J L cl4i/t1LS 
per lump sum 

Construction Survey 

St:tA4/li-~ s l'k fh '2-1. ~Cl. L dt1.I Ill I')$ 

per lump sum 

Furnish and Install Bedding Material (Class B) 

-il-1'-1-1 £/ ~ N cl tJ I/ A/LS 
oerton 

Furnish and Install Surfacing Material 

6-~ /J111~ dt2.t/1J:12-~ 
per ton 

Furnish and Install {16" DR18 PVC) Pipe 

ffl,:_~c. htd.b.di:.-etA- E,!J '4 htL.tk 
d1//11e:_.s per linear foot 

Furnish and Install {16" Cl 52 Ductile Iron) Pipe 

+n-..t:. t11&1:2.d.n·al- .j.Ll..k a d~t/nas . 
per linear foot 

Furnish and Install (8" Cl 52 Ductile Iron) Pipe 

1ht:..<.~ /U,1.c;_r,ffc_d... /.t.~~ d~//412.s_ . 
oer linear foot 

Connect to Existing Pipe (16" DIP) 

J«.!-7d r~tL ~Q -f/Jep.,[atJ. oL #8..8. 
mtllfi.fk.> per each 

Furnish and Install {8") Gate Valve 

Ef!J. Ar ··tluu~(MrL -lhr~-t:.. htM(it:nL . . 
ddt_//14--.> per each 

Furnish and Install (16") Butterfly Valve 

S.1~-J-,..o.] 7h l'J't.S '9n ;<._ d d/ltJ/2$_ 

per each 

Furnish and Install Valve Box 

-7-hr-J:.r. +IJflJ.S.!Md, #1~ h~a_drc.L 
p/o///J,f!.> oereach 

Remove and Replace Valve Box 

+:"o U..1'2. 7J}IJ)f_.uuz_ d .. c/1/11112.f 
per each 

Furnish and Install Fire Hydrant (Single Pumper) 

+IM.Ul l::::J_ -/T,4.,< -#, ti:J..5.WI L ~/A..L 
}u1.ndr,:; J d.6 J/1112.J per each 

Furnish and Install Fire Hydrant (Double Pumper) 

nld.a'9 .Si~ -fhnt.£(11:J d c/4//11-12-s 
per each 

Furnish and Install {1") Water Service Line 

1= t.t N -/:t1n<$n;. d... -h ~ h Gtng_r~,L 
rl 1J II 11n-s 

BID FORM 
00300-7 

oer each 

Unit Total 
Price Price 

IP 71, O 00 /,-;17.~(JIJ . 

50 1/JOO 6tJ1~tJ{) 
✓ 

7/pl 000 7 (p I 0{){) 

53_00 l/7~./_3 I.P 

t:;q.oo :a s-3-;..b. q_ ::,-

3/Jl/. oo ~s; l),S/, 

J//.{". O() J;}q~qs-

.350,o0 /7_,__S_OO 

7 &oo. 00 J.J, ~ot> 

't', BOtJ·OI) /(p-' htJO 

I lo 1 600 -(}() II :J,dU2_ () 

JS()(}. oo 3<;00 

¼ (}~O. oo '/1()/JI) 

dL/, SM-00 7.3~ ~oo 

21:v IJn/J • 00 /Slo160O . -

~-~l){).oo 8soo 

Packet Page Number 99 



BID PROPOSAL 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 

Phase 1 - WSI to OSI 

Item 
Unit 

Est. Description Unit Total 

No. Qty (Write Unit Bid Price in Words) Price Price 

Furnish and Install (2") Water Service Line 

17 Each 1 -M t..,i.t!t!'t/.. +Ii. ,u,.~11.H d.. mr:,. h<ta"-" t:~d.. 
ml/11ef per each 

urnish and Install Anode 

18 Each -/-1,v t. -/:il.~«21ad 5"-.:::~ IJ.Y.ad.rcL ~1rt) 
dlf //11:/l,.J per each J. od /01 q2tJ 

Furnish and Install Air/Vac Relief Vault 

19 Each 5 -f lMLnt!f_ 5_-e_/6lLJ. -fh n<J!f.a.A-- ch II 11-11:..t.. 
per each 0 /36" 000 

Linear 
Furnish and Install Board Insulation 

20 
Foot 

862 -IIV.u,-6/. do 1/ltLS 
per linear foot atJ .DO 

Lump 
Construct 16" Blow-Off 

21 1 'HfZ:6-t s:~~ th nt.~tttz. {.. chi/ lflL5. 
Sum 

per lump sum 

22 
Lump 

1 
Sum 

3 J./ I ~ -dd .31./1 CJCJS"" 

23 
Lump 

1 
Sum 

t)O,"° lb'/ (){) 

TOTAL PHASE 1 

TOTAL PHASE l(Numerical) $ 51 .S-/ V), 93CJ ---· ~~..,,,~~~------ - --------- ----

TOTAL PHASE l(Written Text) +L'Y 141 1/;~a ±~ /2,N1tbetL. - Stxfee,,; ilzfhs.,,.;,d, -NJt/(. /2 tv1d.ked 
BID AUTHORIZATION -H!1r-Aj /11/J-G c/t1l/1?1t. r 

The undersigned represents (check appropriate boxes) that he/she operates as an ( ) Individual, ( ) Joint 

Venture, {)f Partnership, or ( ) Corporation, Incorporated in the State of _________ ---" 

BIDDER: 0bn IJ l <orJ 
Bidding Company: /ikA---MNJ Q,UJete.ll 

Name (Printed): {q/pnn t) /s(};-J 

Signature and Date : jj./,tnn fJ/s on 5/315/;;ct 

Contractor's Lie No; Business Lie No:---=o?.'-'-''/'-¥.L...-9:-'-'~""--"'O'-----------------------

Corporate Seal (If Corporation): _ __________________________ _ 

BID FORM 
00300-8 4/10/202411:41 AM 

Packet Page Number 100 



BID BOND 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: that 

Aleutian General LLC 

(Name of Contractor) 

P.O. Box 810, Unalaska, AK 99685 

(Address of Contractor) 

as Principal, hereinafter called Principal, and 

Merchants Bonding Company (Mutual) 

(Name of Surety) 

P.O. Box 14498, Des Moines, IA 50306 

(Address of Surety) 

a corporation duly organized under the laws of the State of Alaska as Surety, hereinafter called Surety, 

are held and firmly bound unto 

City of Unalaska 

(Name of Owner) 

PO Box 610 Unalaska Alaska 99685 

(Address of Owner) 

as Obligee, hereinafter called Obligee, in the sum of Five Percent of Bid Amount 
___ Dollars, ($ 5% ) for the payment of which sum well and truly to be 

made, the said Principal and the said Surety, bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, 

successors and assigns, jointly and severalty, firmly by these presents. 

WHEREAS, the Principal has submitted a bid for the City of Unalaska CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE, 

located in Unalaska, Alaska. 

NOW THEREFORE, if the Obligee shall accept the bid of the Principal and the Principal shall enter into a 

Contract with the Obligee in accordance with the terms of such bid, and give such bond or bonds as may 

be specified in the bidding or Contract Documents with good and sufficient surety for the faithful 

BID FORM 
00300-9 

Packet Page Number 101 



performance of such Contract and for the prompt payment of labor and material furnished in the 

prosecution thereof, or in the event of the failure of the Principal to enter such Contract and give such 

bond or bonds, if the Principal shall pay to the Obligee the difference not to exceed the penalty hereof 

between the amount specified in said bid and such larger amount for which the Obligee may in good 

faith contract with another party to perform the Work covered by said bid, then this obligation shall be 

null and void, otherwise to remain in full force and effect. 

Signed and Sealed this 30th day of __ M_a_y.__ __ 2024 

Aleutian General, LLC 

(Principal) Seal 

(Witness) 

ME1M-He~ (Title) Seal 

Merchants Bonding Company (Mutual) 

BID FORM 

(Surety) 

Kelly Mic el Layman,(Title) 
Attorney-in-Fact 

00300-10 

Seal 

Packet Page Number 102 



MERCHANis'\ 
BONDING COMPANY"" 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 
Know All Persons By These Presents, that MERCHANTS BONDING COMPANY (MUTUAL) and MERCHANTS NATIONAL BONDING, INC., 
both being corporations of the State of Iowa, d/b/a Merchants National Indemnity Company (in California only) (herein collectively called the 
"Companies") do hereby make, constitute and appoint, individually, 

Glen Lopez; James Geerin; Kelly Michael Layman; Kirk C Leadbetter; Kristy M Konte; Tanya Lee Hutchison 

their true and lawful Attorney(s)-in-Fact, to sign its name as surety(ies) and to execute, seal and acknowledge any and all bonds, undertakings, 
contracts and other written instruments in the nature thereof, on behalf of the Companies in their business of guaranteeing the fidelity of 
persons, guaranteeing the performance of contracts and executing or guaranteeing bonds and undertakings required or permitted in any actions 
or proceedings allowed by law. 

This Power-of-Attorney is granted and is signed and sealed by facsimile under and by authority of the following By-Laws adopted by the Board 
of Directors of Merchants Bonding Company (Mutual) on April 23, 2011 and amended August 14, 2015 and adopted by the Board of Directors of 
MerchantsNational Bonding, Inc., on October 16, 2015. 

"The President, Secretary, Treasurer, or any Assistant Treasurer or any Assistant Secretary or any Vice President shall have power and 
authority to appoint Attorneys-in-Fact, and to authorize them to execute on behalf of the Company, and attach the seal of the Company thereto, 
bonds and undertakings, recognizances, contracts of indemnity and other writings obligatory in the nature thereof." 

"The signature of any authorized officer and the seal of the Company may be affixed by facsimile or electronic transmission to any Power of Attorney 
or Certification thereof authorizing the execution and delivery of any bond, undertaking, recognizance, or other suretyship obligations of the 
Company, and such signature and seal when so used shall have the same force and effect as though manually fixed ." 

In connection with obligations in favor of the Florida Department of Transportation only, it is agreed that the power and aut hority hereby given to the 
Attorney-in-Fact includes any and all consents for the release of retained percentages and/or final estimates on engineering and construction 
contracts required by the State of Florida Department of Transportation . It is fully understood that consenting to the State of Florida Department 
of Transportation making payment of the final estimate to the Contractor and/or its assignee, shall not relieve this surety company of any of 
its obligations under its bond. 

In connection with obligations in favor of the Kentucky Department of Highways only, it is agreed that the power and authority hereby given 
to the Attorney-in-Fact cannot be modified or revoked unless prior written personal notice of such intent has been given to the Commissioner
Department of Highways of the Commonwealth of Kentucky at least thirty (30) days prior to the modification or revocation. 
In Witness Whereof, the Companies have caused this instrument to be signed and sealed this 3rd day of February , 2024 

.•···~·,oN~······ •. ~;6-;;0,,,,.. MERCHANTS BONDING COMPANY (MUTUAL) 
,• ~ ~ ... •• I.. A•• •• ..\s~.·' . . ..•. . . . , A••• MERCHANTS NATIONAL BONDING, INC . . ••',,, :-·0iPO°i/4··~0\ .•~;,<::;~P0,94~~•• d/b/a MERCHANTS NATIONAL INDEMNITY COMPANY 

:l,.;,/(,j ~·:I•\ • . c;,, .,A •.;.t.• ~ 
•- ~.:-~ -o- ';;.~.o-. •~:-t: ~ · • 
:,C : -=-= =~=- - o- c:, :3:• ~~ 
-:._ c.) ... 2003 _.-/;): •• ~· : ~.. By · 
\d, ··.. ..•· ~l •. ~ ·. ..•~<::::-. 

:~ \ ;Z: • ,:_ 1933 .: ! -:::::;-

•,~h ...... .... •·:,:,-.f.,, • '.JIV· ······ ,"\ •• President ·•;:,. * ...... ... * .. ............ . ..... . STATE OF IOWA 
COUNTY OF DALLAS ss. 
On this 3rd day of February 2024 , before me appeared Larry Taylor, to me personally known, who being by me duly sworn 
did say that he is President of MERCHANTS BONDING COMPANY (MUTUAL) and MERCHANTS NATIONAL BONDING, INC.; and that the 
seals affixed to the foregoing instrument are the Corporate Seals of the Companies; and that the said instrument was signed and sealed in behalf 
of the Companies by authority of their respective Boards of Directors. 

Penni Miller 
Commission Number 787952 

My Commission Expires 

January 20, 2027 

(Expiration of notary's commission does not invalidate this instrument) 

I, William Warner, Jr., Secretary of MERCHANTS BONDING COMPANY (MUTUAL) and MERCHANTS NATIONAL BONDING, INC., do hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct copy of the POWER-OF-ATTORNEY executed by said Companies, which is still in full 
force and effect and has not been amended or revoked. 

In Witness Whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the -seal of the Companies on this j0•1i day of 

POA 0018 (1/24) 

•••••••••• • • • •.,, e • 

···:1 ,oN,4 •••• •· \"G. co;~•· ·•~9- .... .. . I.. ~-- • ,. ~~ . ... .. .. ''T,O. 
l',,, ... 0~POi,",;.·· .. o\ .•~.·~ ~PO /l;;, .-?.j. •0 

:lo.;/(j ~·."t- \ :"-':~ ...i. ·. :..t.: 
:~:~ -o- c,:O ~ • ._;_ - o- ~:- • 
•,C • · - - • ;;e · . , .. :~: : ;z: .,·. ~933 . ... . : ~ 2003 : t:): • _,_•• I : C::, • -() ·.. . ..... : . -"'.' .. •. .· ;::, . 

•• J _ • • • • V,L,• • ._1.,- O 
-,,, ... ••••• ... ••~ •• • • V~i.,: • .. • • • ' •i_':\-.. • 
·•;''1, ········ ·'l~•· •• '¥ * ' .. ····· * ........ . ....... . ••••••••• 

v~~.fi-
Sec,etary 

Packet Page Number 103 



~ 
ACORD® CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURAN1 :E I DATE (MM/DDIYYYY) 

~ 5/20/2024 

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHT! UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS 

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE C PVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES 

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. 

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(les) must have ADDITlI ~NAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed. 
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies ma , require an endorsement. A statement on 
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(&}. 

PRODUCER lift?cT Anna Crocker 
Marsh & McLennan Agency LLC 

rA~~N_\:,_ "'•"· 907-276-5617 I FAX 
1031 W 4th Ave, Suite 400 i.iJC Nol: 907-276-6292 

E-MAIL 
Anchorage AK 99501 ADDRESS: anna.crocker@mal'l hmma.com 

INSURER{S) AFf ORDING COVERAGE NAIC# 

Licen~MI: 823""' I.NSURER A: Umialik Insurance ( ~omoanv 40126 
INSURED ALEUTGENER 

IN SURER 8 : 
Aleutian General LLC 
PO Box 810 INSURERC : 

Unalaska AK 99685 INSURERD: 

INSURERE : 

INSURERF : 

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: 507717714 REVISION NUMBER: 
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INS!iED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD 
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHE DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS 
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRI ED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS, 
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CL.Al S. 

1~1: TYPE OF INSURANCE 
IADDL 

I~~ ,,WJ~~ POLICY EX LIMITS , .. , 8ft POLICY NUMBER ' 
A X COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY y y CPP130711601 4/6/2024 4/6/2025 EACH OCCURRENCE $1,000,000 - =:J CLAIMS-MADE 0 OCCUR U"M"C,C J9i r<CN > CU $300,000 PREMISES Ea nr-"urrencel 

- MED EXP (Any one person) $10,000 

f---
PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $1 ,000.000 

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE s 2,000,000 

~ POLICY 0 ~f8r • LOC PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $2,000,000 

OTHER: 3 

A AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY y y CPP132762900 4/6/2024 4/6/202: fE~~';;,~~tflNGLE LIMIT $1,000,000 -X ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per person) $ - OWNED - SCHEDULED BODILY INJURY (Per accident) $ - AUTOS ONLY - AUTOS 
X HIRED X NON-OWNED rp~~:~~8AMAGE $ - AUTOS ONLY - AUTOS ONLY 

$ 

A X UMBRELLA LIAB 
H OCCUR UMB105161500 4/6/2024 4/6/202: EACH OCCURRENCE $4,000,000 -

EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE $4,000,000 

DED I X I RETENTION$ 1n nnn $ 

A WORKERS COMPENSATION y WCV103840601 4/6/2024 4/6/202! >< I ~¥fTUTE I ,~-
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY Y/N 
ANYPROPRIETORIPARTNER/EXECUTIVE • N/A 

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT $1,000,000 
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED? 
(Mandatory In NH) E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE $1,000,000 

gli~~/'t-f[~~ ~nFd~PERATJONS below E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT $1 ,000,000 

A Leased/Rented Equipment N CPP133508901 4/6/2024 4/6/202! $250,000 

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS I LOCATIONS I VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Addlllon11 Remaric.l Schedule, may be attached If moro space Is re ulrod) 
Re: Captain's Bay Pro{ect I Where required brr written contract, Certificate Holder Is an additional insured on t he General Liability subject to policy terms, 
conditions, and exclus ons, and the additlonal nsured endorsement. Waiver of subrogation applles where req , Ired by written contract. Coverage is primary 
and noncontributory. 

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION 

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOV,: DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE 
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE PC LICY PROVISIONS. 

City of Unalaska 
Unalaska AK AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE 

I ~~&~ L• 
~ 

© 1988-2015 11\.CORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved. 
ACORD 25 (2016/03) The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACO RD 

Packet Page Number 104 



Alaska Business License# 2184843 

Alaska Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development 
Division of Corporations, Business, and Professional Licensing 

PO Box 110806, Juneau, AK 99811-0806 

This is to certify that 

Aleutian General, LLC 

PO Box 810, UNALASKA, AK 99685 

owned by 

Aleutian General, LLC 

is licensed by the department to conduct business for the period 

August 17, 2023 to December 31, 2024 
for the following line(s) of business: 

23 - Construction 

This license shall not be taken as permission to do business in the state without having 
complied with the other requirements of the laws of the State or of the United States. 

This license must be posted in a conspicuous place at the business location. 
It is not transferable or assignable. 

Julie Sande 
Commissioner 

Packet Page Number 105 



"" r •. 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
P.O. IOXl10 UNAI-ASKA, At.ASKA 98685 (907)581-1251 

Municipal Business License 
Purauant to Un•,.•k• City Cod• Section 9.04.010 thl• authorl,u 

ALEUTIAN GENERAL, LLC 

POBOX810 

UNALASKA IAK 99685 

to operate • bualn••• In Unalaaka, Alaaka for 2024 

Issuance of• Municipal Bu•lneH License doe, ftltt"'1J II 1u?~ 
not Imply e,cpertlH or quallflcatlon, to conduct cit;~~: V
a trade or buslnn•, nor Imply compliance with 

No: 

Federal or St1te /lcenalng requirements ,;,.11_1_'21_1_'20_2...;;3'----------- ---
D1t1 

.. 

• 
' 

2710 

Packet Page Number 106 



Division of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing https :/ /www.commerce.alaska.gov/ cbp/professionallicense/License/Details/214900 

1 of2 

Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development 

CORPORATIONS, BUSINESS & PROFESSIONAL LICENSING 

State of Alaska / Commerce / Corporations, Business, and Professional Licensing / My License / License Details 

LICENSE DETAILS 

Events 

Event 

License Number: 214900 

Program: Construction Contractors 

Type: General Contractor Without Residential Contractor 

Endorsement 

DBA: Aleutian General, LLC 

Status: Active 

Issue Date: 09/05/2023 

Effective Date: 09/05/2023 

Expiration Date: 09/30/2024 

Public Note: Entity changed from 209182 on 9/18/2023 

Mailing Address: PO BOX 810, UNALASKA, AK 99685-0810 

Email: twylanac@gmail.com 

....- Bond/Insurance 

Actions 

Edit Contact Information 

Resources 

Construction Contractors Website 

CBPL Website 

Obtain License Verification 

Renew License 

For General Contractor Without 

Residential Contractor 

Endorsement licenses, only those 

with an expiration date of 

12/31/2022 may renew online at this 

time. This license's expiration date 

is 9/30/2024. 

Event Date ... All 

5/15/2024 

5/29/2024, 12:21 PM 
Packet Page Number 107 



Division of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing 

Status 

Completed 

• Warning 
I 

1 • Change of Address 

[ • Initial Application 

Owners 
!owner Name 

Aleutian General, LLC 

Relationships 

No Relationships Found 

Designations 

No Designations Found 

Item 

Submission 

https:/ /www.commerce.alaska.gov/cbp/professionallicense/License/Details/214900 

Amount Owed Message from Examiner 

Upload bond here 

Entity Status 

Good Standing 

Return to My License ] 

Documents 

5/15/2024 

Entity# 

10242634 

4/17/2024 

9/19/2023 

9/5/2023 
I 

COPYRIGHT© STATE OF ALASKA · DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, COMMUNITY, AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT · CONTACT US 

2 of2 5/29/2024, 12:21 PM 
Packet Page Number 108 



Packet Page Number 109 



 

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 00500-1 
 

Section 00500 

STANDARD FORM OF AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE OWNER AND CONTRACTOR 

THIS AGREEMENT is dated as of the    day of         in the year 2024, by and 

between the City of Unalaska (hereinafter called OWNER) and  Aleutian General, LLC (hereinafter called 

CONTRACTOR). 

OWNER and CONTRACTOR, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, agree as 

follows: 

Article 1.  WORK 

CONTRACTOR shall complete all work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents.  The work is 

generally described as follows: 

The work will include, but not be limited to, furnishing all labor, tools, equipment, and materials and 

performing all operations in connection with the CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE.  The Work includes 

construction of a 16” Ductile Iron and PVC Pipe waterline including valves, hydrants, services, and 

appurtenant items.  Phase 1 extends from Westward Seafoods, Inc. (WSI) to Offshore Systems, Inc. 

(OSI), a distance of 7,097 linear feet.   

1. Project Location: Captains Bay Road, Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

2. Owner: City of Unalaska, Department of Public Utilities 

The Work will be constructed under a single prime contract.  Payment will be made for designated 

items on a unit price basis. 

The Contract Documents which comprise the entire agreement between OWNER and CONTRACTOR 

concerning the WORK consists of the following: 

 Construction Drawings (Plan Sheets) 

 Technical Specifications 

 Agreement  

 State of Alaska Title 36 Wage Rate Requirements  

 Instructions to Bidders  

 Bid Forms  

 Performance Bond  

 Payment Bond  

 General Conditions 

 Supplementary Conditions 

 ADEC Permit 

 Addenda numbers        1  to   1 , inclusive. 

 Change Orders which may be delivered or issued after Effective Date of the Agreement and not 

attached hereto. 

 Property Plats 

 Geotechnical Report (Draft), HDL Engineering Consultants, September 2018 

Packet Page Number 110 



 

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 00500-2 
 

 

Article 2.  CONTRACT TIME 

2.1 The CONTRACTOR is allowed 210-days for this work. Once field construction starts, all work shall be 

completed within 120-days from the start date.   

2.2 Liquidated Damages.  The OWNER and CONTRACTOR recognize that time is of the essence of this 

Agreement and that the OWNER will suffer financial loss if the work is not completed within the 

times specified above, plus any extensions thereof allowed in accordance with Article 11 of the 

General Conditions.   These losses include inconvenience to the City, administration and inspection 

costs, loss of efficiency and general inconvenience to the public.  They also recognize the delays, ex-

pense, and difficulties involved in proving in a legal or arbitration proceeding the actual loss 

suffered by the OWNER if the work is not completed on time.  Accordingly, instead of requiring any 

such proof, the OWNER and CONTRACTOR agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a 

penalty) CONTRACTOR shall pay the OWNER One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) for each day that 

expires after the time specified above for Final Completion and readiness for final payment.   

Article 3.  CONTRACT PRICE 

3.1 The OWNER shall pay CONTRACTOR for completion of the work in accordance with the Contract 

Documents an amount equal to sum of the established unit prices for each separately identified 

item of unit price work multiplied by the measured quantity of actual items installed plus the sum 

of the lump sum prices for each separately identified and selected bid item (herein referred to as 

the "Contract Sum").  The Contract sum is based upon the Bid Items which are set forth in the 

Contract Documents and which are hereby accepted by the OWNER.  The initial Contract amount is 

Five Million Five Hundred Eight Thousand Four Hundred Thirty Nine Dollars ($5,508,439.00) 

Article 4.  PAYMENT PROCEDURES 

CONTRACTOR shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 13 of the General 

Conditions.  Applications for Payment will be processed by the OWNER as provided in the General 

Conditions. 

4.1. Progress Payments.  The OWNER shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price on 

the basis of CONTRACTOR's Applications for Payment on or about a day of the month mutually 

agreeable to the OWNER and CONTRACTOR as agreed to at the preconstruction conference.  All 

progress payments will be on the basis of the progress of the work measured by the actual installed 

quantity of items, plus allowances for stockpiled materials. 

 4.1.1.  Prior to Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in an amount equal to the 

percentage indicated below, but, in each case, less the aggregate of payments previously made and 

less such amounts as the OWNER shall determine, or the OWNER may withhold, in accordance with 

Article 13 (paragraph 13.8) of the General Conditions and the Supplemental Conditions. 

  a. Ninety percent of work completed. 

  b. Once 50 percent of the work is complete as determined by the OWNER, and if the 

character and progress of the work have been satisfactory to the OWNER, the 

Packet Page Number 111 



 

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 00500-3 
 

OWNER, may determine that, as long as the character and progress of the work 

remain satisfactory to them, there will be no additional retainage on account of 

work completed; in which case, the remaining progress payments prior to -

Substantial Completion will be in an amount equal to 100 percent of the work 

completed. 

 4.1.2.  Upon Substantial Completion, in an amount sufficient to increase total payments to 

CONTRACTOR to 95 percent of the Contract Price, less such amounts as the OWNER shall 

determine, or the OWNER may withhold, in accordance with Article 13 of the General Conditions. 

4.2. Final Payment.  Upon final completion and acceptance of the work in accordance with the General 

Conditions; Affidavit of Payment of Debts and Claims; Affidavit of Release of Liens; and Receipt of 

Consent of Surety Company to Final Payment, the OWNER shall pay the remainder of the Contract 

Price as provided in said Article 13. 

 4.2.1 Deductions.  The City may deduct from the amount of any payment made to Contractor any 

sums owed to City by Contractor including, but not limited to, past due sales tax, port and harbor 

fees, property tax, or rent.  Before making any such deduction the City shall have provided 

Contractor written notice of the amount claimed by City to be due and owing from Contractor. 

Article 5.  INTEREST ON RETAINAGE 

All retainage shall bear interest at the rate required by AS 36.90.250, if applicable. 

Article 6.  CONTRACTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS 

In order to induce the OWNER to enter into this agreement, CONTRACTOR makes the following 

representations: 

6.1. CONTRACTOR has familiarized itself with the nature and extent of the Contract Documents, work, 

site, locality, and all local conditions and Laws and Regulations that in any manner may affect cost, 

progress, performance, or furnishing of the work. 

6.2. CONTRACTOR has obtained and carefully studied (or assumes responsibility for obtaining and 

carefully studying) all such examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, reports, and studies 

which pertain to the subsurface or physical conditions at or contiguous to the site or which 

otherwise may affect the cost, progress, performance, or furnishing of the work as CONTRACTOR 

considers necessary for the performance or furnishing of the work at the Contract Price, within the 

Contract Time, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract Documents, 

including specifically the provisions of paragraph 4.2 of the General Conditions; and no additional 

examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, reports, studies, or similar information or data are 

or will be required by CONTRACTOR for such purposes. 

6.3. CONTRACTOR has reviewed and checked all information and data shown or indicated on the 

Contract Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the site and 

assumes responsibility for the accurate location of said Underground Facilities.  No additional 

examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, reports, studies, or similar information or data in 

respect of said Underground Facilities are or will be required by CONTRACTOR in order to perform 

Packet Page Number 112 



 

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 00500-4 
 

and furnish the work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Time, and in accordance with the 

other terms and conditions of the Contract Documents, including specifically the provisions of para-

graph 4.4 of the General Conditions. 

6.4. CONTRACTOR has correlated the results of all such observations, examinations, investigations, 

explorations, tests, reports, and studies with the terms and conditions of the Contract Documents. 

6.5. CONTRACTOR has given the OWNER written notice of all conflicts, errors, or discrepancies that it 

has discovered in the Contract Documents and the written resolution thereof by the OWNER is 

acceptable to CONTRACTOR. 

Article 7.  MISCELLANEOUS 

7.1. Terms used in this Agreement which are defined in Article 1 of the General Conditions will have the 

meanings indicated in the General Conditions. 

7.2. The CONTRACTOR shall submit the Performance Bond, Labor and Material Payment Bonds, and 

Certification of Insurance and City of Unalaska business licenses and all Subcontractor City of 

Unalaska business licenses as required by the Contract Documents, prior to commencement of the 

Work.  The Performance and Material Payment Bonds shall be in the amount of 100% of the 

contract bid price.  Contractor shall comply with all applicable State labor regulations, including 

State of Alaska Title 36, Public Contracts, otherwise known as the Little Davis-Bacon Act, and all 

labor regulations and minimum rates of pay contained therein. 

7.3. No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract Documents will be 

binding on another party hereto without the written consent of the party sought to be bound; and 

specifically but without limitation monies that may become due and monies that are due may not 

be assigned without such consent (except to the extent that the effect of this restriction may be 

limited by law), and unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an 

assignment no assignment will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility 

under the Contract Documents. 

7.4. OWNER and CONTRACTOR each binds itself, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal 

representatives to the other party hereto, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal 

representatives in respect of all covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract 

Documents. 

7.5        Until Contractor receives notice from the City that project records need not be preserved, 

Contractor shall preserve, all non-identical copies of all documents, records, or other information 

(including documents, records, or other information in electronic form) in its or its subcontractors' 

or agents' possession or control, or that come into its or its subcontractors' or agents' possession or 

control that relate to the Work. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The OWNER and CONTRACTOR have signed all counterparts of this Agreement.  All 

portions of the Contract Documents have been signed or identified by the OWNER and CONTRACTOR. 

 

 

Packet Page Number 113 



 

 
CAPTAINS BAY ROAD WATERLINE 00500-5 
 

This Agreement will be effective on     , 2024. 

 

CONTRACTOR 

 

By:__________________________________ 

                       Glenn Olson, Member 

   

 

State of Alaska  ) 

                                     ) ss.   

Third Judicial District )   

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before 

me on the ____       day of ___________ , 2024, by 

Glenn Olson, Member for Aleutian General, LLC, a 

Limited Liability Company. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Notary Public, State of Alaska 

My Commission Expires _______________ 

CITY OF UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 

By:________________________________ 

 William Homka, City Manager 

 

 

State of Alaska  ) 

                                    ) ss. 

Third Judicial District ) 

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before 

me on the ____       day of ___________ , 2024, by 

William Homka, City Manager for the City of Unalaska, 

a First Class Alaska Municipal Corporation, on behalf 

of the City of Unalaska. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________________________  

Notary Public, State of Alaska 

My Commission Expires ______________ 

 

Packet Page Number 114 



 

 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

RESOLUTION 2024-32 

A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 
TO ENTER INTO A FIVE-YEAR MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH GCI 
COMMUNICATION CORP. FOR DEDICATED INTERNET SERVICES 

WHEREAS, the City of Unalaska is in need of dedicated internet services and issued a Request 
for Quote for such services; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to UCO 6.04.020, a contract requiring the payment of funds from the 
appropriations of later fiscal years shall be approved by City Council; and 

WHEREAS, GCI has offered fiber optic internet service at the lowest cost for such services; and  

WHEREAS, GCI is the most qualified and capable vendor to provide such services to the City; 
and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City of Unalaska to award a five-year agreement to GCI 
Communication Corp. for the provision of dedicated internet services. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Unalaska City Council authorizes the City 
Manager to enter into the attached five year Master Services Agreement with GCI Communication 
Corp. for the provision of dedicated internet services. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on July 2, 
2024. 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Estkarlen P. Magdaong 
City Clerk 
 

Packet Page Number 115 



- 1 - 
 

 
MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

 
 

To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Jacob Whitaker, IT Manager 
Through: Patricia Soule, Finance Director 
Through: Marjie Veeder, Acting City Manager 
Date:  July 2, 2024 
Re: Resolution 2024-32: Authorizing the City Manager to enter into a five-year Master 

Services Agreement with GCI Communication Corp. for Dedicated Internet 
Services 

 
 
SUMMARY: Following evaluation of quotes received, Staff recommends that the City enter into 
a five year contract with GCI for dedicated internet service. Resolution 2024-33 will accomplish 
this objective. 
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: There has been no previous Council action related to the 
proposed agreement. 
 
BACKGROUND: We currently have a 1-year dedicated fiber optic internet service contract with 
GCI for 45Mbps that will expire after September 30th, 2024. 
 
DISCUSSION: A Request for Quote – Internet Service (RFQ) was issued on May 17th, 2024. A 
copy of the RFQ is attached. The deadline to submit quotes was June 21st, 2024. Quotes were 
submitted by OptimERA and GCI. The quotes were carefully reviewed, evaluated, and scored 
based on the criteria set forth in the RFQ. 
 
Both OptimeERA and GCI provided quotes meeting the requirements of the RFQ, including 
dedicated fiber optic internet service with redundant backbone connectivity. When comparing the 
cost per 1Mbps over a 5 year contract period the fiber optic internet service offered by GCI confers 
a 15% savings compared to the same service offered by OptimERA. 
 
We’re recommending a five-year contract with GCI for dedicated internet service in order to 
purchase an 80Mbps service at a discounted rate, allowing the City to afford significantly more 
bandwidth than what’s offered under a shorter contract term. This would provide the City with the 
most bandwidth at the lowest price, while continuing to conform to the FY25 budgeted amount for 
internet service. 
 
The increased bandwidth and service quality will allow the City to accommodate the increasing 
demands both internally and externally for services that rely on quality, high speed internet 
access, including remote access, online collaboration, cloud hosting, and a multitude of other 
online services. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Alternatives include opting for a shorter 3-year service contract with GCI at 
65Mbps at a similar price. 
 

Packet Page Number 116 



- 2 - 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: The five-year agreement for an 80Mbps service will cost the City 
$18,920 per month or $227,040 annually which accords with the existing FY25 budgeted amount 
for internet service. 
 
LEGAL: The City Attorney has reviewed and approved the proposed agreement. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: We recommend that the City enter into a five-year contract with 
GCI for dedicated internet service beginning in FY25, based on the results of the bidding process 
that concluded June 21st, 2024. We believe GCI is offering the best service option for the City.  
 
PROPOSED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution 2024-32.  
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I concur with the Staff Recommendation. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 

 Proposed Master Services Agreement 
 Memo to City Manager 
 Request for Quote, Internet Service 
 Bid Matrix 
 Bid Evaluations 
 Bids submitted 

Packet Page Number 117 



MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
MSA-P-XXXX 

                                                                                                

R1.0                                                                                                             GCI Master Services Agreement   
                               Page 1 of 9  

   This Master Services Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the date of the last signature below (“Effective Date”) by and 
between GCI Communication Corp. (“GCI”), an Alaska corporation, on its own behalf and on behalf of its affiliates and subsidiaries, having its 
principal place of business at 2550 Denali Street, Suite 1000, Anchorage, Alaska 99503 and CUSTOMER (“Customer”), having its principal place of 
business at ADDRESS (each a “Party” and collectively, “the Parties”). 
1. SERVICE ORDERS AND STATEMENTS OF WORK 

1.1 Customer wishes to engage GCI to provide services as identified in one or more Service Orders and/or Statements of Work. Managed 
services and Telecom services are provided via Service Orders. Professional services are provided via Statement(s) of Work (SOW). 

1.2 The specific terms and conditions applicable to the services (“Services”) to be provided by GCI pursuant to this Agreement, including the 
description of the Services and the obligations of each Party in connection therewith, applicable rates, fees, commissions and charges, 
termination rights, performance obligations, and service parameters are or will be set forth in the Services Summary and attached Service 
Order(s) and Statement(s) of Work. The Services Summary, Service Orders and Statements of Work entered into between the Parties are 
incorporated into the Agreement by reference and are governed by the terms of this Agreement. In the event of a conflict between the 
terms of this Agreement and the Service Order(s), the terms of the Service Order will prevail.  In the event of a conflict between the 
terms of this Agreement and a Statement(s) of Work, the terms of this Agreement will prevail. All references to the “Agreement” will be 
deemed to include this document and its attachments, together with any and all Change Orders and SOW Revision Orders. All requests 
for Service additions, deletions or changes to existing Service(s) on Service Order(s) requires a Change Order to be executed by the 
authorized Customer representative and GCI. Change Orders will include the addition or deletion of Service(s) or the modifications to 
existing Service(s) and will also include a new services and pricing page, Attachment A to reflect the charges.  Changes to the Statement 
of Work (SOW) shall use a SOW Revision Order and will include scope and pricing changes. Once signed by the parties, Change Orders are 
incorporated into the Agreement by reference. 

2. PAYMENT 
2.1 Service Charges.  Customer agrees to pay all applicable charges associated with the Service(s) (the “Service Charges”) when due.  

Delinquent bills will be assessed a late fee and a monthly finance charge. Applicable State and Federal taxes will be passed through as the 
responsibility of Customer.  

2.2 Pricing for Professional Services.  A Statement of Work will include the type of pricing to be used for professional services. If the 
Statement of Work specifies that pricing will be on a time and material basis, labor rates will be inclusive of wages, overhead, general and 
administrative expenses and profit. Fixed hourly rates or project fees will be billed as identified in each Statement of Work. 

2.3 Materials Required for Professional Services.  Payment for equipment and materials for professional services will be defined in the 
Statement of Work. All equipment and materials will be FOB GCI Offices unless otherwise identified in the Statement of Work. All costs 
(purchase of direct project materials, project consumables, rental of necessary equipment, etc.) will be billed as identified in the 
Statement of Work. The administrative time to procure the materials / rentals, if applicable, will be billed per the provided rates in the 
Statement of Work. Equipment, hardware, software and other products purchased for Customer, may or may not be returnable. Returns 
will be determined on a case by case basis with GCI having the final determination. If returns are accepted, they may be subject to a 20% 
return fee plus shipping, handling and restocking costs as well as being subject to the manufacture’s or distributer’s return policies. 

2.4 Partial Month Billing for Service Orders.  Customer will be billed a prorated share of all applicable charges for Services on Service orders 
installed, terminated or re-configured during the course of a monthly billing cycle. Professional services will be billed as indicated in the 
Statement of Work. 

2.5 Billing Commencement.  The Service Charges, as identified in the Services Summary and Service and Pricing, Attachment A, begin as 
specified in the applicable Service Order or Statement of Work.  

2.6 Collections.  Customer agrees that if GCI incurs collection or other legal costs as a result of nonpayment, Customer will be liable for the 
total past due amount, any returned check fees, and the costs of collection. These costs include, but are not limited to, any collection 
agency’s fees, reasonable attorneys’ fees, and arbitration or legal costs upon judgment. 

2.7 Deposit.  A cash deposit or a commercial letter of credit may be required based on a Customer’s financial qualifications and the combined 
value of all payments required under the service order. 

3. TERM AND TERMINATION 
3.1 Term.  The term (“Term”) of this Agreement will begin on the Effective Date and continue for five (5) years. Thereafter, it will be 

automatically renewed for successive 1-year periods for so long as there is an active Service Order or Statement of Work in place 
between GCI and Customer, or until either Party gives the other Party written notice of termination at least sixty (60) days preceding the 
end of the initial or any renewal term. Any such termination is subject to the requirements and obligations of this Agreement, including 
any Service Orders, and will be effective at the end of the then expiring term, or at such later date as set forth in the notice.  

3.2 Termination by GCI. GCI may terminate Service if Customer materially breaches this Agreement, including by failure to pay any amounts 
invoiced for Services when due, and if Customer does not cure such breach within fifteen (15) days after notice given to Customer in 
writing. If GCI terminates Service prior to the end of the Term due to Customer’s material breach, Customer will be responsible for paying 
any early termination fees set forth in the applicable Service Order or Statement of Work and unreturned equipment fees.  GCI may 
terminate this Agreement or suspend Service without notice (i) in order to prevent damage to or degradation of its Internet network 
integrity; (ii) to comply with any law, regulation, court order, or other governmental request order which requires immediate action; or 
(iii) to protect GCI from legal liability. 

_//~ 
7GCI 

Packet Page Number 118 



MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
MSA-P-XXXX 

                                                                                                

R1.0                                                                                                             GCI Master Services Agreement   
                               Page 2 of 9  

3.3 Termination by Customer. Customer may terminate one or more Services at any time subject to being charged any early termination fee 
set forth in the applicable Service Order or Statement of Work, and subject to any advance notice required by a Service Order or 
Statement of Work.   

3.4 Effect of Termination. Customer must return any GCI Equipment upon termination or Customer will be charged for such unreturned 
equipment.  Termination of any or all of the Services does not relieve Customer of the obligation to pay for past due amounts and Service 
Charges incurred through the date of termination.  Customer will be responsible to pay for all costs associated with the early termination, 
including termination fees, demobilization costs, equipment and material return costs, or any such other cost GCI may incur. If a 
Customer receiving a bundled service discount terminates one or more bundled Services, GCI may reduce or eliminate the discount. 

4. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT 
4.1 Service Equipment on Customer Premises. If access to any Customer building or related real property (“Customer’s Premises”) is required 

for the installation, maintenance, or removal of GCI Equipment or Customer Equipment used to provide the Service (“Service 
Equipment”), Customer will ensure that GCI has reasonable access to Customer’s Premises and will identify and obtain any necessary 
third party consents and approvals, including but not limited to lessor consents and local land use approvals, if applicable. Customer will 
at its own expense be responsible for all site preparation activities necessary for installation of Service. Customer represents and 
warrants that Customer has good and marketable title or a good and valid leasehold interest to any portion of Customer’s Premises 
where Service Equipment will be installed.  Customer further represents and warrants that Customer’s Premises are neither owned nor 
managed by the State of Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities as an airport property, nor by any federal agency, 
including but not limited to the Bureau of Land Management, Indian Health Service, or Bureau of Indian Affairs. Customer shall defend, 
indemnify, and hold harmless GCI from any claims, suits, or enforcement proceedings, penalties, or relocation costs arising from or 
necessitated by breach of any representation or warranty provided by Customer in this paragraph. 

4.2 Damage During Installation. Customer acknowledges that GCI may be required to perform internal wiring and other work at Customer’s 
premises in order to install Service Equipment. Customer further understands that certain Service Equipment may be mounted to walls 
and ceilings in order for the Service to function properly. GCI will use commercially reasonable efforts to keep damage to walls, ceilings 
and premises to a minimum, but will not be responsible for repairing or returning Customer’s premises to its original condition, except to 
the extent caused by GCI’s gross negligence or willful misconduct.  

4.3 GCI Equipment 
4.3.1 “GCI Equipment” means all equipment and facilities installed or leased to Customer by GCI, except for Customer Equipment (defined 

below). GCI Equipment is for Customer’s exclusive use only for purposes of using the Service during the Term and remains GCI’s 
property. Customer agrees that it will not allow the GCI Equipment to be serviced by anyone other than GCI employees or agents. 
Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, Customer may not permit any attachments to, alteration of, or tampering with the 
GCI Equipment. GCI may remove or change the GCI Equipment at its discretion at any time during the Term or following the 
termination of Service. Customer agrees that addition to, removal of, or changes to the GCI Equipment may interrupt Service. 
Customer agrees that the GCI Equipment must be returned to GCI at the end of the Term and that it will be in working order other 
than reasonable wear and tear. In the event the GCI Equipment is lost, stolen, damaged, destroyed, or otherwise not returned 
promptly, Customer agrees to pay the current replacement cost of the GCI Equipment.  

4.3.2 GCI will use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain any GCI Equipment, to the extent such equipment is on GCI’s side of the 
demarcation point, and subject to the noted exclusions. Unless specifically set out in writing, GCI will not provide or install any 
equipment on Customer’s side of the demarcation point. During the Term, GCI will repair or replace defective GCI Equipment at no 
charge to Customer unless it is determined that Customer is responsible for such equipment failure. The cost of GCI service required 
to repair problems caused by Customer’s failure to follow GCI’s written instructions provided to Customer or by Customer’s 
unauthorized repair, modification, or relocation of GCI Equipment, or by misuse or negligent acts, will be the responsibility of the 
Customer.  

4.4 Customer Equipment 
4.4.1 “Customer Equipment” means any Customer-owned, Customer-provided, or third-party hardware or software and that is used on the 

Customer’s side of the demarcation point. GCI reserves the right to prohibit any Customer Equipment that it finds harmful.  
4.4.2 Customer may not use or install any equipment on GCI’s side of the demarcation point without permission from GCI in writing. GCI 

cannot guarantee that Customer Equipment will work with the Service. GCI may not be able to support or troubleshoot Customer 
Equipment and is not responsible for the ongoing maintenance of any Customer Equipment. Customer must cooperate with GCI in 
configuring and managing Customer Equipment in order to implement and operate the Service. GCI may, at its sole discretion, agree 
to service or troubleshoot Customer Equipment at Customer’s request, at GCI’s then-standard rates. Any such agreement by GCI must 
be in writing. 

5. SECURITY, ACCEPTABLE USE, AND PRIVACY 
5.1 Network Security.  In an effort to provide a secure Service, GCI deploys industry-recommended security measures on its network. In 

addition, GCI recommends the use of firewalls and security/malware software to protect Customer’s systems and data.  It is Customer’s 
sole responsibility to take appropriate precautions to protect against damage to or destruction of hardware, software, files, and data. GCI 
is not responsible to Customer for unauthorized use of the Service or authorized access to Customer’s data unless the unauthorized use 
or access results from GCI’s failure to meet its security obligations stated in the Agreement. For terms applicable to the individual services 
GCI is providing to you, see the GCI Service Order for such service.  GCI’s obligations with respect to security of the Services are limited to 
those specifically set forth in this Agreement. 

_//~ 
7GCI 

Packet Page Number 119 



MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
MSA-P-XXXX 

                                                                                                

R1.0                                                                                                             GCI Master Services Agreement   
                               Page 3 of 9  

5.2 Account Security and Passwords.  Customer is responsible for maintaining the confidentiality of any passwords used to access or use the 
Services.  Customer is fully responsible for all activities that occur under Customer’s password or account, including any breach of the 
Agreement.  Customer must notify GCI immediately upon learning of unauthorized access to the Service or Customer’s account. 

5.3 Acceptable Use. Customer agrees to comply with the Acceptable Use Policy when using the Service, which is available online at 
https://www.gci.com/about/terms-conditions/acceptable-use-policy.  If Customer fails to comply, GCI may suspend or terminate Service.  
The Acceptable Use Policy may be changed by GCI from time to time without advance notice.  In the event of such changes, the new 
Acceptable Use Policy will be posted online at the above link. 

5.4 Privacy.  Our Privacy Policy, which is available on our website at https://www.gci.com/privacy-policy, explains how GCI handles 
Customer’s personal data, including the data that GCI collects and how we use it, and how we protect our Customers’ privacy.  By using 
the Service, Customer agrees to collection and use of data as described in the Privacy Policy.  The Privacy Policy may be changed by GCI 
from time to time without advance notice.  In the event of such changes, the new Privacy Policy will be posted online at the above link. 

5.5 CPNI Consent.  Under federal law, Customer has a right, and GCI has a duty, to protect the confidentiality of information about the 
amount, type and destination of Customer’s wireless service usage.  This information, called Customer Proprietary Network Information 
(CPNI), includes information that relates to the quantity, technical configuration, type, destination, location, and amount of use of GCI’s 
service and related information in Customer’s bills. It does not include Customer’s name, address, or telephone number.  GCI may use 
Customer’s CPNI to provide or market GCI’s wireless products and services to Customer, to protect GCI’s right or property, to provide 
information to emergency personnel, and to protect Customer or others from fraudulent, abusive, or unlawful use of GCI’s services. GCI 
also may use Customer’s CPNI to comply with any law or legal process (such as a court order or subpoena).  Customer’s acceptance of the 
Agreement constitutes consent that GCI may use Customer’s CPNI to market additional GCI services to Customer, including with third 
parties.  Customer also consents to GCI sharing Customer’s CPNI with other carriers to validate and/or accomplish any request for 
number portability into or out of GCI’s Service. This consent survives the termination of Service and is valid until Customer removes it. To 
remove this consent at any time, notify GCI in writing by email at gciprivacy@gci.com or at the address set forth in Paragraph 8.4 below, 
providing (1) name, (2) Service address, (3) billing address, (4) telephone number including area code, and (5) service account number. 
Removing consent will not affect current Services. 

5.6 Pin Number. The F.C.C. requires that customers set up and use a Private Identification Number ("PIN") when communicating with GCI to 
obtain certain information about, or to make certain changes to, its telephone account. Use of this PIN may be waived by the account 
owner or authorized account user, by contacting GCI Business Customer Service at 907-265-5454, or 800-800-7754 (Toll Free), with 
proper authentication ("PIN Waiver"). The PIN Waiver will remain in effect until revoked by the account owner. 

5.7 Content.  There may be content available through the Internet that is illegal, violates third party property or other rights, or is offensive.  
GCI is not responsible for the content contained on the Internet or otherwise available through the Service.  GCI is not liable for any 
claims, losses, actions, damages, suits, or proceedings arising out of, or otherwise relating to, such content.  Websites visited, or data 
received through the Service may contain viruses.  It is Customer’s sole responsibility to take appropriate precautions to protect against 
damage to or destruction of hardware, software, files, and data.  GCI may, but is not required to, suspend or terminate availability of the 
Service if a virus is found on any Customer Equipment or in any communications sent or received through the Service.   

5.8 Use of Service.  Customer may not use or permit another to use GCI Equipment or the Service for any unlawful purposes.  Customer may 
not post or transmit through the Service any material (including any message or series of messages) that violates or infringes in any way 
upon the rights of others (including copyrights, patents, trademarks, trade secrets or proprietary rights), that is unlawful, threatening, 
abusive, obstructive, harassing, defamatory, invasive of privacy or publicity rights, vulgar, obscene, profane, that encourages conduct that 
would constitute a criminal offense, gives rise to civil liability, or otherwise violates any law.  Customer will not use GCI Equipment at any 
time at an address other than the service address specified in your account without GCI’s prior written authorization. Customer agrees 
and represents that it will not resell or permit another to resell the Service in whole or in part. Customer acknowledges that it is accepting 
this Agreement on behalf of all persons who use GCI Equipment or Service at the service address and that Customer has sole 
responsibility for ensuring that all other users understand and comply with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Customer further 
acknowledges and agrees that Customer will be solely responsible for any transactions, including, without limitation, purchases made 
through or in connection with the Services.  Customer agrees to use all commercially reasonable efforts to prevent unauthorized access 
to, use of, or interference with use of the Services, and must notify GCI promptly of any unauthorized use, access, or interference.   

6. SYSTEMS AND DATA.  
6.1 Data Files.  Customer’s data files and the data contained therein shall be and remain Customer’s property.  Customer’s data shall not be 

utilized by GCI for any purpose other than that of rendering Services to Customer under this Agreement, nor shall Customer’s data or any 
part thereof be disclosed, sold, assigned, leased or otherwise disposed of to third parties by GCI, its employees or agents. 

6.2 Systems.  Customer is wholly responsible for the integrity and security of its systems and data. Customer will back up all systems and data 
and, on a schedule, determined by Customer. 

7. PROFESSIONAL SERVICES.   
7.1 Statement of Work.  A Statement of Work (SOW) will apply to professional services provided under this Agreement and will set forth a 

full description and scope of the Services to be provided by GCI. 
7.2 Network and System Downtime.  Many network installations and other professional services require scheduled server or network down 

time. GCI will work with Customer to schedule project work to minimize the number and duration of disruptions and down time. All 
scheduled server and network down time activities are estimated durations only and subject to change by GCI. Customer acknowledges 
that in order for GCI to pass along certain cost efficiencies to Customer, server and network down time will be scheduled during the office 

_//~ 
7GCI 

Packet Page Number 120 

https://www.gci.com/about/terms-conditions/acceptable-use-policy
https://www.gci.com/privacy-policy


MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
MSA-P-XXXX 

                                                                                                

R1.0                                                                                                             GCI Master Services Agreement   
                               Page 4 of 9  

hours of 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM Alaska Standard Time, whenever possible. Customer’s users can often still use their computers during 
scheduled down time but will not be able to access some or all of the network resources or services. Down time may be pre-scheduled 
during weekend and evening hours but will result in overtime charges for labor to Customer. 

7.3 Professional Service Investigations.  Customer’s systems, software and hardware characteristics may vary significantly between 
successive test points and sample intervals or Customer project locations reviewed by GCI in developing a Statement of Work cost, 
schedule and project plan. Because of the inherent uncertainties in these initial project evaluations, changed or unanticipated conditions 
may occur that could affect the total Statement of Work cost for professional services, as well as schedule and project plans. These 
conditions and cost together with the project execution effects are not the responsibility of GCI. 

7.4 Travel and Other Expenses. 
7.4.1 Travel Expenses.  All travel will be FOB GCI offices, unless otherwise identified in the Statement of Work. All travel cost including but 

not limited to airfare, vehicle rental, lodging, meals etc. will be billed as identified in the Statement of Work. If administrative time to 
secure the arrangements for personnel and material are to be billed to Customer, it will be indicated in the Statement of Work at the 
provided labor rates in the Statement of Work.  While all efforts are made to estimate these expenses, the actual expense may vary 
due to factors such as availability of specific lodging, rental cars, and airfare or for other reasons outside of the control of GCI.  GCI will 
occasionally book fares that allow for flight schedule changes with no prior notice or additional charge. This is occasionally necessary 
due to the inability to precisely predict length of some project engagements due to Customer scheduling restraints or other factors.  
Wherever possible, GCI will book the lowest cost flights. 

7.4.2 Lodging. GCI will book hotel accommodations and separate rooms for each GCI employee assigned to a Statement of Work. Hotel 
accommodations are chosen that are clean, with private bathrooms and shower facilities and that are priced according to GCI’s 
internal travel policies. 

7.4.3 Rental Car. GCI may utilize one rental car for each day on-site in a remote location.  A rental car helps speed delivery of service and 
reduces waiting charges associated with taxis, buses, or private transportation from a Customer employee. Should Customer elect to 
provide ground transportation, formal arrangements must be made with GCI at least one business day in advance of a GCI’s arrival at 
the Customer’s location.  GCI will charge for actual travel time should Customer elect to provide ground transportation. 

7.4.4 Per Diem. Per Diem charges, if applicable, will be defined in the Statement of Work. 
7.4.5 Travel Time. Travel time will be charged per individual professional resource as stated in the Statement of Work. Travel time will start 

from the time the professional resource leaves GCI’s office, until he/she arrives at the Customer’s site. Travel delays once the 
professional resource has departed, due to weather or any other reason outside of the Company’s control, will be charged to the 
Customer at the rate shown in the Statement of Work.  

7.4.6 Freight. Customer is responsible for all Customer purchased equipment transportation costs and expenses.  Any costs incurred by GCI 
will be billed to Customer. 

7.5 Standard of Care, Warranty and Limitations.   
7.5.1 The standard of care applicable to GCI's Services will be the degree of skill and diligence normally employed by professional and 

technical IT support companies providing the same or similar Services at the time GCI’s Services are performed. GCI will re-perform 
any Service not meeting this standard without additional compensation, subject to Customer providing GCI written notice of such 
non-conformance within sixty (60) days from the date of Service completion (Project Statement of Work Completion) of the Services.  
In any event, GCI’s liability under this Agreement shall be limited to the obligation to re-perform any work not meeting the Statement 
of Work project specification. 

7.5.2 GCI will pass through to Customer any manufacturer or supplier’s warranty on all equipment, hardware or software purchased 
through GCI. GCI will work with Customer to integrate equipment, hardware or software supplied by the Customer into the project 
specification.  GCI makes no warranties, either expressed or implied, concerning compatibility of hardware or software supplied by the 
Customer and GCI will not be responsible for any loss of or corruption of data and or program files and/or loss of production due to 
network installation, network failure or network component failure. 

7.5.3 GCI does not warrant that the GCI supplied professional services, equipment, hardware or software will be error-free or operate 
without interruption, latency or delay. Except as specifically provided in this Agreement, GCI MAKES NO WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR 
IMPLIED, AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NON-
INFRINGEMENT OR TITLE. GCI exercises no control over and has no responsibility for Customer supplied equipment, hardware or 
software integrated into the project specifications and deliverables or content transmitted or accessible through the Service or any 
Customer connectivity service and disclaims any responsibility for the same. 

7.6 GCI Personnel at Customer’s Location.  Customer agrees to provide GCI employees and subcontractors assigned to support the Statement 
of Work at Customer’s location, a suitable place of work, which will comply with all applicable Federal, State and local health and safety 
laws and regulations. Customer will furnish to GCI copies of workplace conduct, health and safety and network rules and regulations so 
that GCI may instruct its personnel to abide by such rules and regulations. Customer agrees to provide GCI employees and subcontractors 
any Customer required safety and health training at Customers sole cost and expense.  In the event the work described in any Statement 
of Work under this Agreement requires the use of any personal protective or safety equipment, Customer will supply such equipment at 
Customers sole cost and expense. 

7.7 Changes to Statement of Work (SOW), Revision Orders. 

_//~ 
7GCI 

Packet Page Number 121 



MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
MSA-P-XXXX 

                                                                                                

R1.0                                                                                                             GCI Master Services Agreement   
                               Page 5 of 9  

7.7.1 All Customer requests for professional service(s) that are not specifically itemized in the Statement of Work require an approved SOW 
Revision Order signed by Customer and GCI. SOW Revision Orders will include the statement of the change to be performed, a labor 
estimate based on GCI’s time and material rates and an amended work schedule, if applicable. Changes or additions of material and 
equipment costs, including freight, handling and any additional project mobilization costs will be listed separately in the SOW Revision 
Order. 

7.7.2 All executed Revision Orders will be considered attached to this Agreement as an addendum and subject to the terms and conditions 
of the Agreement. While GCI will provide an estimate of the anticipated cost and schedule impacts for each Revision Order, GCI makes 
no guarantee as to the actual cost and schedule impacts created by the approved Revision Orders. Customer agrees, GCI retains the 
right to direct a Revision Order under this Agreement, approved and paid by Customer, which captures the reasonable cumulative 
impact costs of all Revision Orders approved under the individual Statement of Work. 

7.7.3 Changes in laws or regulations not known or foreseeable on the date of the Statement of Work execution, which have an effect on the 
cost or schedule of GCI’s Services, are subject to a request for a Revision Order under this Agreement. 

7.8 Project Close Out 
7.8.1 GCI may send a notification of Project completion to Customer at the end of the project. GCI considers a project complete when all 

tasks have been completed and all deliverables turned over to the Customer. The Project (as detailed in the applicable Statement of 
Work) will be used as the guideline to determine Project completion. 

7.8.2 GCI may request a meeting with Customer to review the Project completion report and to demonstrate the Project deliverables were 
completed. If there are any project deliverables Customer understands were not completed by GCI, such deliverables will be reviewed 
by GCI and a corrective action plan may be developed to satisfy any incomplete deliverables. If all tasks are found by Customer to be 
complete, Customer is expected to sign the project close out reports and GCI will close the project.  If such signature is unreasonably 
withheld, GCI may invoice Customer for additional project management time. 

8. LIABILITY AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
8.1 Indemnification. GCI will indemnify, defend and hold Customer, its affiliates and their officers, directors, employees and agents harmless 

from and against any third party claims, liabilities, losses, damages and expenses (including reasonable attorney's fees) (“Claims”) 
incurred, relating to or arising out of (i) personal injury or real property damage caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of GCI or 
its employees or agents, and (ii) infringement of a U.S. patent right or copyright in connection with authorized use by Customer of the 
Services. Customer will indemnify, defend and hold GCI, its affiliates and their officers, directors, employees and agents harmless from 
and against any Claims incurred, relating to or arising out of (i) personal injury or real property damage caused by the negligence or willful 
misconduct of Customer or its employees or agents, (ii) infringement of a U.S. patent right or copyright in connection with use by 
Customer with the Services of equipment, software or services not provided by GCI, and (iii) misuse of the Services by Customer or any 
users of the Services in violation of this Agreement. The indemnified Party will provide the indemnifying Party with prompt written notice 
of any Claim and permit the indemnifying Party to control the defense, settlement, adjustment or compromise of any Claim. The 
indemnified Party may employ counsel at its own expense to assist it with respect to any Claim. The indemnified Party will have no 
authority to settle any Claim on the indemnified Party’s behalf. Nothing in this Section will limit any other remedies of the Parties. 

8.2 Disclaimer of Warranties. GCI does not warrant that the GCI equipment or services will be error-free or operate without interruption, 
latency or delay. Except as specifically provided in this Agreement, GCI MAKES NO WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AND SPECIFICALLY 
DISCLAIMS ANY WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NON-INFRINGEMENT OR TITLE. GCI exercises 
no control over and has no responsibility for content transmitted or accessible through the Service and disclaims any responsibility for 
such content. 

8.3 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. NEITHER PARTY WILL BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, PUNITIVE, OR CONSEQUENTIAL 
LOSSES OR DAMAGES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION LOSS OF REVENUE, SALES, PROFITS OR DATA, WHETHER BASED ON BREACH OF 
CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER LEGAL THEORY OF LIABILITY, EVEN IF EITHER PARTY WAS AWARE OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH LOSS OR 
DAMAGE. GCI WILL NOT BE LIABLE FOR LOSSES THAT RESULT FROM CUSTOMER’S OR ITS USERS’ USE OF OR INABILITY TO ACCESS ANY 
PART OF THE SERVICES; CUSTOMER’S OR ITS USERS’ RELIANCE ON OR USE OF INFORMATION; SERVICE INTERUPTIONS; LOSS, THEFT, OR 
DELETION OF FILES; OR ERRORS, DEFECTS, OR DELAYS IN OPERATION OR TRANSMISSION. GCI WILL NOT BE LIABLE FOR LOSSES DUE TO 
USE OF THIRD-PARTY PRODUCTS OR SERVICES. GCI’S LIABILITY FOR ANY ACTION OR INACTION WILL IN NO EVENT EXCEED GCI’S SERVICE 
CHARGES FOR A 12-MONTH PERIOD. This limitation of liability is an agreed-upon benefit of the bargain and remains in effect even if any 
remedy under the Agreement fails of its essential purpose.  

8.4 Arbitration. Customer and GCI agree to resolve all disputes under this Agreement by binding arbitration. Each Party agrees to notify the 
other Party in writing of the nature of the dispute at least forty-five (45) days before initiating binding arbitration. The Parties will attempt 
to resolve the dispute informally. Any dispute between the Parties that cannot be resolved after forty-five (45) days will be finally 
resolved by a single neutral arbitrator in accordance with the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"). The arbitrator will have no power to make 
any award that provides for punitive or exemplary damages. The arbitrator may not consolidate more than one Party’s claims and may 
not otherwise preside over any form of a representative or class proceeding. Any arbitration must be brought in the Party's individual 
capacity, and not as a plaintiff or class member in any purported class or representative proceeding. If for any reason a dispute is 
permitted to be brought in court, the Parties both agree to waive any right to a jury trial in any court action. The Parties acknowledge and 
agree that the FAA governs this agreement to arbitrate, that the existence and validity of this agreement will be determined in 
accordance with the FAA, that any arbitration between the Parties will be conducted in accordance with the FAA, and that any state 
arbitration statute or procedure does not apply. The arbitration will be conducted by the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") under 

_//~ 
7GCI 

Packet Page Number 122 



MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
MSA-P-XXXX 

                                                                                                

R1.0                                                                                                             GCI Master Services Agreement   
                               Page 6 of 9  

its rules, in Anchorage, Alaska. Payment of all filing, administration, and arbitrator fees will be governed by the AAA's rules. The Parties 
will share the costs of arbitration equally unless the arbitration award provides otherwise. Each Party will bear its own fees, and the 
arbitrator will have no power to award attorney’s fees except as may be permitted under the terms of this Agreement. 

9. CONFIDENTIALITY 
9.1 “Confidential Information” means information disclosed by either Party (“Disclosing Party”) to the other Party (“Receiving Party”) in 

connection with the negotiation or performance of this Agreement, even if before the Effective Date, that is marked as confidential or 
would be understood by a reasonable person to be confidential in nature.  

9.2 Neither Party may at any time during or after the termination of this Agreement (i) disclose any Confidential Information to any third-
party except with the specific prior written consent of the Disclosing Party or as expressly permitted by the terms of this Agreement; or 
(ii) use the Confidential Information for any purpose other than to perform its obligations under this Agreement. Both Parties must use 
the same degree of care in safeguarding the Confidential Information as it uses for its own confidential information of like importance, 
but in any case, no less than reasonable care. Upon discovery of any disclosure or misuse of Confidential Information, the Receiving Party 
will notify the Disclosing Party and will act to prevent any further disclosure or misuse.   

9.3 The  Parties’ obligation of confidentiality and restriction on use will not apply to information that: (i) at the time of disclosure was 
available to the public; (ii) after disclosure became available to the public by publication or otherwise by a person other than Disclosing 
Party; (iii) was in the possession of either party or its subsidiaries or affiliates at the time of disclosure; (iv) was received by either party 
from a third party without an obligation of secrecy; or (v) was or is disclosed to another party by the Disclosing Party or its agents or 
authorized representatives without a corresponding obligation of confidence. 

9.4 Each Party is permitted to disclose Confidential Information as required by law or regulation provided, however, that the Receiving Party 
must (i) if not prohibited by law or regulation, give the Disclosing Party written notice promptly upon receipt of a disclosure requirement 
and before the disclosure is made; (ii) take reasonable actions and provide reasonable assistance to Disclosing Party to secure 
confidential treatment of the Confidential Information; and (iii) disclose only such Confidential Information as is required. 

10. MISCELLANEOUS 
10.1 Right to Modify Agreement. Neither this Agreement nor any term or provision hereof may be changed, waived, discharged, amended, or 

modified orally, or in any manner other than by an instrument in writing signed by all the Parties hereto. 
10.2 Use of Services. Customer will not use the Service for any purpose which is illegal, unlawful, or harassing, which infringes upon another's 

intellectual property rights, or which otherwise constitutes network abuse, and Customer will be responsible for any such use of the 
Service by Customer or its users.  

10.3 Trademarks. Neither Party may use the other’s name, trademark, trade names or other proprietary identifying symbols without the prior 
written approval of the other Party.  

10.4 Notices. Unless explicitly stated otherwise, all notices required or permitted under this Agreement must be in writing, delivered 
personally or by U.S. mail, facsimile or electronic mail (followed by hard copy, in the case of fax or email) to the respective addresses set 
forth below, or such other person and/or address as a Party may notify the other from time to time in writing, and will be deemed 
effective upon receipt.  
Customer:                    GCI: 
[See Primary Contact under    GCI Communication Corp. 
Services Summary]                     Attention: Corporate Counsel 
      2550 Denali Street, Suite 1000 
      Anchorage, AK 99503 

10.5 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and permitted assigns of the 
Parties hereto.  

10.6 Assignment. Neither this Agreement, nor any of rights or obligations herein are transferable or assignable by either Party without the 
other Party’s prior written consent and any attempted transfer or assignment hereof not in accordance herewith are null and void.  

10.7 Severability. If any portion of this Agreement is held to be unenforceable, the unenforceable portion will be construed in accordance with 
applicable law as nearly as possible to reflect the original intentions of the Parties and the reminder of the provisions will remain in full 
force and effect.  

10.8 No Waiver. Either Party’s failure to insist upon or enforce strict performance of any provision of the Agreement will not be construed as a 
waiver of any provision or right. Neither the course of conduct between Parties nor trade practice will act to modify any provision of this 
Agreement.  

10.9 Governing Law. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Alaska, without regard to 
its conflicts of law provisions.  

10.10 Entire Agreement. This Master Services Agreement, along with any Service Orders, Statements of Work and any exhibits or attachments 
thereto, constitute the complete agreement between the Parties and supersedes all prior understandings or arrangements between 
them regarding the subject matter of this Agreement. 

10.11 Intellectual Property. All materials, software, formulas, calculations, records, reports, and data developed in performance of this 
Agreement as well as any materials given by GCI to Customer pursuant to this Agreement will remain the exclusive property of GCI and 
will be returned to GCI upon written request or at the end of this Agreement.  

_//~ 
7GCI 

Packet Page Number 123 



MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
MSA-P-XXXX 

                                                                                                

R1.0                                                                                                             GCI Master Services Agreement   
                               Page 7 of 9  

10.12 Force Majeure. “Force Majeure Event” means any cause beyond GCI’s reasonable control and without the fault or negligence of GCI or its 
subcontractors, including but not limited to fire, flood, earthquake, volcanic activity, unusually severe weather, vandalism or external 
aggression to the communication facilities that is not attributable to GCI or its employees or agents, failure of satellite or plant structure, 
act of terrorism, sabotage, power outages outside of the reasonable control of GCI, tail circuit or local loop outage outside of the 
reasonable control of GCI, explosion, war, strike, embargo, pandemic, epidemic, government requirement, act (or failure to act) of civil or 
military authority, act of God, failure of a third party to grant or renew a materially required and non-substitutable right of way, permit, 
easement or other required authorization for use of the intended right of way (provided that GCI relief has used its commercially 
reasonable efforts to obtain the required right of way, permit, easement or other required authorization). No Party will be held liable for 
any delay or failure in performance of any part of this Agreement (other than the duty of payment) caused by a Force Majeure Event. If 
any Force Majeure Event occurs, the Party whose performance fails or is delayed because of such Force Majeure Event (“Delayed Party”) 
will promptly give written notice thereof to the other Party. The Delayed Party will use all commercially reasonable efforts to avoid or 
mitigate performance delays despite a force majeure condition, and unless the force majeure substantially frustrates performance under 
the Agreement, will restore performance as soon as the Force Majeure Event is removed. 

10.13 Mutual Non-Solicitation. The Parties agree that during the Term and for a period of 12 months thereafter, neither Party, including such 
Party’s agents and Affiliates will directly, or indirectly offer employment to, employ, engage as an independent contractor, or otherwise 
obtain (or encourage any third party to retain) the services of any person employed within the preceding one hundred and eighty (180) 
days by the other Party or an Affiliate, who became known to such Party or its Affiliate in connection with the performance of this 
Agreement. 

10.14 Representation on Authority of Signatories. Each person signing the Agreement represents and warrants that he or she is duly authorized 
and has legal capacity to execute and deliver the Agreement. Each Party represents and warrants to the other that the execution and 
delivery of the Agreement and the performance of such Party’s obligations hereunder have been duly authorized, and that the 
Agreement is a valid and legal agreement binding on such Party and enforceable in accordance with its terms. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_//~ 
7GCI 

Packet Page Number 124 



MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
MSA-P-XXXX 

                                                                                                

R1.0                                                                                                             GCI Master Services Agreement   
                               Page 8 of 9  

SERVICES SUMMARY 

 

 SERVICES SUMMARY INFORMATION 
 Start Date:  Date of final signature  
 End Date:  Per Service Order as indicated below or in the pricing table per location in Attachment A or per Statement of Work. 
 

This Services 
Summary includes 
and incorporates by 
this reference: 

  Services and Pricing, Service Location(s), and Service notes, (Attachment A). 
•  Services SO-01, Attachment   

 

THIS SERVICES SUMMARY is governed by this Master Services Agreement MSA (“Agreement”) and is effective as of the Date of the last 
signature below. Capitalized terms not defined in this Services Summary will have the meaning provided in the Agreement. By signing below, 
Customer represents that it is authorized to sign the MSA and this Services Summary, acknowledges that it has carefully read and fully 
understood the MSA, the Services Summary and all attachments, Service Orders, Statements of Work, Change Orders and SOW Revision 
Orders hereto, and agrees to be bound by its terms. Facsimile and electronic signatures will be binding for all purposes. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have duly executed and delivered this Master Service Agreement and Service Order Summary as of the 
date of the last signature below. 

CUSTOMER     GCI Communication Corp. 
  

 
________________________________                   _________________________________ 
Authorized Signature                                                                    Authorized Signature 
 
________________________________                                   _________________________________ 
Name                                                                                                Name  
 
________________________________                                    _________________________________ 
Title                                                                                         Title 
 
________________________________                   _________________________________ 
Date Signed                                                                                    Date Signed 

                                      

 

 

 

       

 

  

_//~ 
7GCI 

Packet Page Number 125 



MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
MSA-P-XXXX 

                                                                                                

R1.0                                                                                                             GCI Master Services Agreement   
                               Page 9 of 9  

                                                                                      ATTACHMENT A 
  This Services and Pricing page Attachment is subject to the terms and conditions of this GCI Master Services Agreement MSA (“Agreement”) 
between GCI Communication Corp. (“Company” or “GCI”) and the Customer identified in this MSA (“Customer”) (each a “Party” and 
collectively, “the Parties”), and upon execution by the Parties becomes a part of the Agreement.  

1. SERVICES AND PRICING. Pricing for services on Service Orders is located in the tables(s) below and pricing for Professional Services is located 
in each Statement of Work, if applicable. 

See: General Dispatch Support for Professional Services Pricing. 
1.1 Only applicable for Monthly Recurring Charges: does not include taxes, regulatory surcharges, or non-recurring charges that may apply, 

amount billed to Customer may vary. 

2. SERVICE NOTES. 

        None. 

 
 
 
 

 

_//~ 
7GCI 

Packet Page Number 126 



City of Unalaska 

Memo 
To: Bil Homka, City Manager 

CC: Patricia Soule, Finance Director 

From: Jacob Whnaker, IT Manager 

Date: 06/26/2024 

Re: GCI Internet Service 5 Year Contract 

We're recommending that the City of Unalaska enter into a 5 year contract with GCI for 
dedicated internet service beginning in FY25, based on the results of the bidding process that 
concluded June 21 '', 2024. Please see the attached bid matrix and evaluations for the results of 
that bid process. Under a five year term the Ctty can afford an 80 Mbps service, and we believe 
GCI is offering the best service at the best price for the City. GCl's bid with a 5 year contract 
confers a 15% savings over the equivalent service and contract offered by OptimERA. 

GCl's bid also includes service redundancy via Starlink's LEO satellite network. This will help 
ensure that the City doesn't suffer an internet service outage in the event the fiber optic cable is 
damaged. 

Alternatively, if the City would prefer a shorter contract term, we're recommending that the City 
of Unalaska enter into a 3 year contract with GCI for dedicated internet service beginning in 
FY25, based on the results of the bidding process. Under a three year term the City can afford a 
65Mbps service, and again we believe GCI is offering the best service at the best price for the 
City. GCl's bid with a 3 year contract confers a 9% savings over the closest equivalent service 
and contract offered by OptimeERA. 

If you have any additional questions don't hesitate to ask. 

Thanks, 

Ji#-

CITY OF UNALASKA 
Finance Department, Information Systems Division 

REQUEST FOR QUOTE (RFQ) - INTERNET SERVICE 

The City of Unalaska, Department of Finance, Information Systems Division ("City" ) request s quotes for 
internet service as set forth in this Request for Quotes . The deadline to submit quotes is 5:00 p.m. (AKDT) 
on June 21st, 2024. 

1. Scope of Required Services. 
The City requires that the following services be provided at or delivered to Unalaska City Hall facility 
(server room), commencing on October 1, 2024: 

a. Dedicated fiber optic internet service: minimum acceptable speeds of 40 Mbps download and 
40 Mbps upload with a service level agreement for minimum downtime, mean time for 
repairs, and latency; 

b. Internet service backbone connection redundancy 

c. Minimum of ten (10) public static IP addresses for the City; and 

d. Provide access to public ONS servers that support DNSBL queries (i.e. not Google, OpenDNS, 
etc.). 

2. Technical Specifications. Vendors shall identify: 
a. The last mile delivery transport method should be specified if ii differs from fiber optic; 

b. The redundant backbone connection should be specified if it differs from fiber optic; and 

c. Any additional technical specifications of the service the vendor proposes to provide. 

3. Required Quote. Vendors shall quote the complete monthly charge, inclusive of all mandatory fees, 
service charges, and taxes applicable as of the date the quote is submitted, based upon a one-year 
service period. If the vendor has any mandatory non-recurring charges such as a set-up or initiation 
fee, the total amount of such fees applicable to the contract shall be clearly stated separate from the 
monthly charge. 

4. Optional Quotes. In addition to the required quote, the City requests that vendors provide: 

a. Options for increasing bandwidth up to 200 Mbps download, and a quote or quotes for such 
service. 

b. Quotes or discounts available for multi-year contract options. 

c. A unit cost of each additional public static IP address beyond the ten addresses included in 
the required services. 

Request for Quote -1-

Packet Page Number 127 



S. Proposed Agreement. Vendor shall submit with their response a copy of their proposed agreement 

between the City and vendor to provide the requested services. 

6. References. Include with the submittal three customer references for the purpose of service 
evaluation. 

7. Submission of Responses. Vendors interested in responding to this request must submit their quote 
no later than 5:00 p.m. (AKDT) on Friday, June 21", 2024. Any quotes received after that time may 
not be considered. Facsimile quotes will not be accepted. The sealed cost quotes must be in a package 
clearly marked CITY INTERNET SERVICE RFQ and addressed to the City of Unalaska, and will be 
received at the following location: 

City Clerk 
City of Unalaska 
43 Raven Way 
P. 0. Box 610 
Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

8. Only one response (including the required quote and any optional quotes the vendor chooses to 

provide) from any individual, firm, partnership, or corporation, under the same or different names, 
will be considered. 

9. Vendors responding to this Request for Quotes shall be licensed to do business in the State of Alaska. 
The vendor shall obtain a City of Unalaska Business License prior to commencement of services or 

provide existing license number if already obtained . Services sold to the City are exempt from City of 
Unalaska sales tax. 

10. If a contract is awarded, the insurance requirements set forth in Exhibit "A11 - INSURANCE 
REQUIREMENTS shall be a mandatory requirement of the contract. 

11. Evaluation. A review committee under the direction of the City of Unalaska, Department of Finance, 

IT Manager, will review the quotes based on the criteria below. A contract, if any, shall be awarded 
based on the committee's determination of the best overall value. 

a. Total cost 

b. Bandwidth options 

c. Service level agreement (SLA) for uptime and performance 

d. Delivery timeframe 

e. Service redundancy 

f. Reputation and references 

g. Vendor experience and technical qualifications with a demonstration of the ability to perform 
the scope of services 

h. Service migration complexity and/or potential service migration costs 

12. Notice of Intent to Award and Contract. The City intends to issue a notice of intent to award by July 1, 
2024 and enter into contract not later than August 1, 2024. Not withstanding the foregoing, all quotes 
shall remain valid and open until August 16, 2024. 

Request for Quote -2-

13. The City reserves the right to waive any and all irregularities in any or all submitted quotes. The City 
reserves the right to reject any or all quotes, including without limitation the rights to reject any or all 

nonconforming, non-responsive, unbalanced or conditional quotes, and to reject the quote of any 
bidder if the City believes that it would not be in the best interest of the City to make an award to that 
bidder, whether because the quote is not responsive or the bidder is unqualified or of doubtful 
financial ability or fails to meet any other pertinent standard or criteria established by the City. The 
City also reserves the right to waive all informalities not involving price, time, or changes in the 

material specifications and to negotiate terms with the successful bidder. Discrepancies between the 

indicated sum of any column of figures and the correct sum thereof will be resolved in favor of the 
correct sum. Discrepancies between words and figures will be resolved in favor of the words. 

14. Questions and Clarifications. Direct any questions related to this Request for Quote to the IT Manager, 
Jacob Whitaker. The deadline for submission of questions is June 18th, 2024. 

Mail : City of Unalaska 

Telephone: 

Email: 

Request for Quote -3-

Information Systems Division 

P. 0 . Box 610 
Unalaska, AK 99685 

(907) 581-1251 x3303 

whitaker.jacob@ci.una laska.ak.us 

Packet Page Number 128 



Workers' Compensation Polic ies. This provision applies regardless of whether or not the 
City and the State have received a waiver of subrogation endorsement from the insurer. 

5. Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions: Any deductibles or self-insured retentions shall 
be declared to and approved by the City. At the option of the City, either the insurer shall 
reduce or eliminate such deductibles or self-insured retent ions as respects the City, or 
Vendor shall be required to procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related 
investigations, claim administration and defense expense. 

6. Verification of Coverage: Before service begins Vendor shall furnish the City with 
Certificates of Insurance on standard Accord forms evidencing required insurance 
coverage, including all required amendatory endorsements. Failure to obtain the required 
certificates and endorsements prior to beginning service shall not waive Vendor's 
obligation to provide them and shall not affect the coverage provided to the City. 
Acceptance of Certificates of Insurance with deficient or erroneous coverage does not 
absolve Vendor from carrying and maintaining the required coverage. 

7. 

8. 

Certificates of Insurance shall be prepared and mailed and/or emailed to: 

Certificate Holder: City of Unalaska, Finance, IS, PO Box 610, Unalaska AK 99585 
Email to: whitaker.jacob@ci.unalaska .ak.us and risk@ci.unalaska.ak.us 

The City reserves the right to request com plete, certified copies of full insurance policies, 
including endorsements. 

Sub-Vendors Coverage: If the Vendor employs sub-Vendors to perform any work hereunder, the 
Vendor agrees to require such sub-Vendors to obtain, carry, maintain, and keep in force during 
the time in which they are engaged in performing any work or service hereunder, policies of 
insurance which comply with all requirements. This requirement is applicable to sub-Vendors of 
any tier. It is further agreed, that upon request by the City, the Vendor will provide copies 
of any and all sub-Vendor certificates of insurance and endorsements for review of compliance. 

Maintenance of Coverage: Failure by the Vendor to maintain the required 
insurance coverage or to comply with the above, may, at the option of the City, 
be deemed Defective Work and remedied in accordance with the Service 
Agreement. 

9. Notification of Change In Requirements: The City reserves the right to modify these 
insura nce requ irements, including limits, based on the nature of the risk, prior 
experience, insurer, coverage, or other circumstances1 after 30 days prior written 
notification to Vendor. 

Bid Matrix RFQ: Internet Service FY2S 

Budget S 232,000.00 1 

Vendor Annual Cost Cost Per 1Mbps Migration Bandwidth Primary Redundancy Backup Term ONSBL Comment 

OptimERA $ 268,656.00 $ 3,358.20 Yes 80/BOMbps Fiber Yes Starlink S Years Yes 

GCI $ 227,040.00 $ 2,838.00 No 80/ 80Mbps Fiber Yes Starllnk S Yea rs Yes 

OptimERA $ 215,220.00 $ 3,587.00 Yes 60/ 60Mbps Fiber Yes Starlink 3Years Yes No equivalent 65Mbps service offered 

GCI $ 221,640.00 $ 3,409 .84 No 6S/65Mbps Fiber Yes Startl nk 3 Years Yes 

Bids Received 5:00 p.m. June 21, 2024 

Vendor On Time (Y/N) RFQ Requirements Met (Y/N) 

OptimERA Y Y 
GCI 

Packet Page Number 129 



Bid Evaluation Matrix 

Service redundancy 15 
Simpliciy of service migration 10 
Service level agreement 10 
Delivery timeframe 5 
Reputation & References 5 
Experience & Qualifications 5 

l'iii Iii, 

Scorer Name: :rc, cob 1o I kd:o.k.t, 

Scorer Signatur: - ---,,,.'5-"-?=C-6f"-----

"""'""' -,-~ 

RFQ: Intern et Service 

Date : wp5)44 

Bid Evaluation Matrix 

Service redundancy 

Simpliciy of service migration 

Service level agreement 

Delivery timeframe 

Reputation & References 

Experience & Qualifications 

15 
10 

10 
5 

5 

5 

ll! 

Scorer Name: ~-... L--
2' 

''""'""' ~ 12 rv..,L 
Scorer Signatur~ === 

<--=> 

RFQ: Intern et Service 

Date: h/!f'/7'/J 
I 

Packet Page Number 130 



Bid Evaluation Matrix RFQ: Internet Service Bid Evaluation Matrix RFQ: Internet Service 
-----

Points 
OptimERA GCI 

Available 
Factor 

Total cost of eligible services for 
50 1-0 50 Total cost of eligible services for 

50 '-10 50 bandwidth options offered bandwidth options offered 
Service redundancy 15 10 Service redundancy 15 I S I 5 
Simpliciy of service migration 10 JO Simpliciy of service migration 10 ?r 10 
Service level agreement 10 Service level agreement 10 Io ,o 
Delivery timeframe 5 Delivery timeframe 5 5 5 
Reputation & References 5 5· $' Reputation & References 5 5 5 
Experience & Qualifications G' s Experience & Qualifications 5 5 5 

-:,,, Total 100 ~ 0 

Scorer Name: ~K J,t(µJJrrJl)fz Scorer Name: /l:::OJtOV\ AJ..l)..V'-'-~ 
Scorer Title: Ofp•N tmT f)fll.. Scorer Title: N e..±:wor K Ad..w.M 

~JLJ hfaSfaMf Scorer Signature: ~()< ~ Date:_l/2,5/z..t-{ Scorer Signature : Date : 

Packet Page Number 131 



Bid Evaluation Matrix 

Factor 

bandwidth options offered 

Service redundancy 

Simpliciy of service migration 

Service level agreement 

Delivery timeframe 

Reputation & References 

Experience & Qualifications 

Points 

Available 

15 
10 

10 
5 
5 

Scorer Name: ~j/k /CJ/51/t,?IC, , 

RFQ: Internet Service 

OptimERA 

' (? 
l k 

I 

GCI 

~ 
U?o ~ 

Scorer Title: C'Pflf/ttfv --f/tt,C,I?[ /,y/ 

ScorerSignature: ~ L Date: ;J-t11-L 2 ~ -

l _ 

:?f' 

L- t_ L_ L_ L_ _ .J 

Thank You for Your Consideration 

Dear Mr. Jacob Whitaker. 

Thank you for considering this proposal for GCI to continue as the City of Unalaska's 
telecommunications partner. Over the past 40 years, we have been building the most 
advanced network ln Alaska. with the most robust sulte of enterprise business solutions 
designed to help organizations like yours succeed. 

Unalaska needs a partner with decades of experience delivering high-quality network 
solutions to cities across Alaska, and we would value the opportunity to continue our 
relationship w ith the City of Unalaska utillzing our newest subsea fiber Installation along the 
Aleutian chain. At the end of 2022, GCI turned up 2 gig internet service in Unalaska and now 
provides multiple speeds and plans at standard urban rates. 

Our proposal includes proven technologies and success-based methodologies for providing 
you with exceptional service - both today and in the future. We propose delivering a new 
dynamic service that combines GCl's proven Dedicated Internet Acceu: (DIA) with multi· 
path diversity utilizing Starlink's LEO (low earth orbit) satellite service. All services can be 
customized to meet your specific needs. 

As reQuested in the RFO, GCl's references, business license, and proposed service contracts 
are provided at the end of this proposal for your examination and we agree to the City of 
unalaska's Insurance requirements. We are happy to adjust this proposal to account for any 
changes in service requirements or plans for the future growth of your organization. I will be 
the primary individual assigned to this project. 

Feel free to re;,ch out to me directly with any questions. I look forward to working with YoU, 

Sincerely, 

Jeff Glaser 
Account Director 
(907) 868·5899 
jg1aser@gci.com 

___J ___J _] 

Jeff Glaser 

2 

Packet Page Number 132 



L... L... L... 

For decades. Alaska's federal, state, local and municipal organizations have been modernizmg 
the·r technology infrastructure through the adoption of new technology services and 
communication solutions. Despite the harsh environment. vast distances Md often remote 
locations, Alaska's municipalities have been able to modernize their services to meet the needs of 
Alaska's citizens. As a vital member of Alaska's thriving communities, you deserve to partner with 
a communications technology 1euder who not only understands the operational challenges you 
face but also k'1ows how to translote obstacles \r.to opportunities. 

GCJ has dedicated itself to providing Alaskans with the connectivity they need to succeed. 
As an Alaska-born comPc!ny with more than 40 years at experience in delivering exceptional 
connectivity, we know what it takes to live and work in the most remote places and challenging 
environments ir. the country. Tooay, GCI is Alaska's largest homegrown company. employing 
over 1.800 people in more than 240 communities across the stale. Looking ahead to the next 
40 years, we are working to anticipate the needs of our customers and bring next generation 
networ'.<s and services lo market 

As your service provider. we will empower you with the robust tools and service solutions you 
need to realize your goals and objectives. Our working philosophy is based on integration, agility 
and customer enablement. Combined, these traits create a pla:form for service delivery that will 
be responsive to any present and future needs. 

~ 
Integration 

End-to-end ~ervIces 
availablP through d unifnm 
ecosysrem of partners held 

to thP. c;ame quality and 
per•o•mallce staf'dards. 

~ 
Agility 

Cuslorners can •ap1dly 
move. add. change. and 
conhgure serv,ces via 

a digital mtertace. 

® 
Customer Enablement 

Access to persor"lallzed 
service c1nd support 
enhanced througM 

ored1Ct1Ve analytics. 

L_ L_ L__ 

Dedicated Internet Access 

GCl's Dedicated Internet Access (DIA) delivers more Internet. 
at faster speeds, than any other provider in Alaska. Our services 
are connected through company-owned fiber optic, satellite, and 
metropolitan area network facilities to the Lower 48 states-making 
it the only broadband platform of Its kind in Alaska. 

Over the last year, GCl's $100m investment in running subsea fiber 
along the south coast of the Aleutian Island chain has brought 
modern Migh-speed internet to communities like Unalaska and Dutch 
Harbor, at competitive urban rates. 

DIA Benefits 

Network Stabillty: Get the most diverse and redundant network 
in Alaska with features that include high-speed connections to 
multiple upstream providers that ensure a minimum of 99.95% 
availability. 

scalable Bandwidth: Gain the speed that your organization needs 
with unlimited bandwidth options. 

Unlimited Data: Benefit from truly unlimited Internet with no 
throttling or overage charges. 

Network Monitoring: Protect network connectivity with continual 
and real time monitoring at our Technical Assistance Center (TAC) 
with alarms being processed within 90 seconds. 

Custom Network Service-Internet 

Redundant Pathways: Create a comprehensive and secure 
network with geographically d iverse facilities and redundant 
infrastructure such as GEO and LEO satellite, microwave. fiber, 
cellular, etc. 

___J ___J ___J ___J ___J ___J ___J 

JL__ 

1GCI 

4 

Packet Page Number 133 



__J __J __J __J 

Your Dynamic Internet Solution 
JL__ 

1GCI 
As your partner, GCI has worked with the City of Unalaska to provide the best available technology solutions. 
Our hope is to continue as your trusted partner. supporting your goals and meeting the resource demands of 
the City today and in the future. 

Flexible Design 

The backbone of this solut ion is GCl's new Dedicated Internet service with multi-path diversity. Your location will have two paths: a Fiber path 
and a LEO Satellite path. Our solution can dynamically route traffic between these paths to offer the performance ycu know and trust with 
improved reliability and throughput capability. This solution offers unbeatable uptime, reliability, and performance In a simple. easy-to-use 
package. 

The key to the new Dedicated Internet with multi-path dehvery is 
the use of a firewall both on premise and at our data center. This 
configuration will ensure ycur assigned public IP range (static IPS) 
remains available. The public static IPs will be setup in the GCI Data 
Center, allowing you to have uninterrupted access to ycur assigned 
IP space regardless of the active service path. Our project team will 
install services that monitor the primary Fiber path to automatically 
fallover to the LEO Satellite path if necessary. All services Jn this 
solution can be customized to meet ycur specific needs. 

Next Generation SOiution 

This solut ion is designed to be future-proof. By 
building a flexib le design that leverages SDWAN 
gateways, the City of Unalaska will be positioned 
to take advantage of new technology as new 
transport solutions evolve and become available. 
This approach enables increased bandwid th, 
security, and higher resiliency, along wi t h potential 
future benefits. all w ithout putting your current 
service and performance at risk. 

LEO 

L_. 

5 

L-

Delivering Your Service 

Project Klck•off 
Team Introductions.Outline 
deBverymllestonesand 
convnunfcatlon plan. 

Planning 
Complete engineering design. 
Configure equipment and 
schedule install activities. 

Installation 
Implement network equipment 
on k>cation. Bring network lnto 
operation. (Per locatlon.} 

Quality Control 
Confirm proper network 
functionality. Auure highest 
qUafity levels. 

Customer Acceptance 
Verifyserv!cedellveryby 
customer. 

Operations Hand•off 
Review network diagrams 
andtechnital suppOft 
requlrements.Ttansltlonto 
Bus!ness l echnical Support. 

2-4Days 

•sample tlmeline for single-site delivery. A detailed timeline will be provided based upon final service selections. 

JL__ 

1GCI 

6 

Packet Page Number 134 



24x7x365 Support 

A core component of supporting your technical requirements Is understanding the critical 
nature of your m ission and providing a comprehensive tiered service and support approach. 
Our Business Technical Support (BTS) team provides 24/7/365 support includ ing proactive 
monitoring, management and escalations for all events that arise on services and infrastr JCture. 

Business Technica l Support (833) 844-4242 

' 

_/f__ 

1GCI 
Service Level Commitments 
and Customer Communication 
Targets 
Phon• Call: 24x7x365 access to highly 
skilled and certified technicians and 
engineers. Target call answer t ime is 
60 seconds or less. 

E-mail RHponH Times: Within 1 hour. 

Outage Notification: Within 15 minutes 
of the time the outage or degradation 
reported, or an alarm generated. 

Restoration Notification: Within 15 
minut es of the time of restoration. 

Escalatlon: BTS team members have 
the authori ty to escalate at any time. 
The customer will be kept updated on 
incident resolution status on a regular 
basis until the escalated event is 
resolved. 

Continuous Monitoring 

GCI provides a customer premise 
router to allow technicians to remotely 
monitor and manage delivery all the 
way to the customer premise. 

IP Addresses and Routing 
GCI can assign a routed block of 
1Pv45 and/or 1Pv66 addresses, which 
can scale up or down and switch 
facflltles as needed. 

7 

L- L- L- L- :_ 

Pricing 

111111111 
40 Mbps 

45 Mbps 

50 Mbps 

55 Mbps 

60 Mbps 

65 Mbps 

70 Mbps 

75 Mbps 

BO Mbps 

85 Mbps 

90Mbps 

95 Mbps 

100 Mbps 

150Mbps 

200 Mbps 

Additional Information: 
This quote is valid for 60 days from 6/2V2024. 
Local loops are included. 
All quotes based on sel'\lice availability. 

11M 
$18,280 

$19,650 

$21,036 

$21,560 

$22,060 

$22,780 

$23,460 

$24,240 

$24,990 

$25,70 0 

$26,410 

$26,930 

$27,958 

$41,587 

$55,216 

___J ___J __J __J . 

__/f.__ 

1GCI 
Monthly Recurring Costs ,,., ... iiil•HFFFN 

$15,650 $13,890 

$16,800 $14,920 

$17,986 $1 5,952 

$18,430 $16,350 

$18,860 $16,720 

$18,470 $17,260 

$20 ,040 $17,770 

$20,710 $18,350 

$21,34 0 $18,920 

$21,950 $19,450 

$22,550 $19,980 

$23,000 $20,370 

$23,860 $21.144 

$35,454 $31,366 

$47,008 $41,588 

8 

Packet Page Number 135 



References 

Hllcorp Energy Company 
Steve Mendonca, Sr. Manager, IT Infrastructure 
smendonca@hilcorp.com 
(346) 237-2380 

Alyeska Pipeline Service Company 

Dana Orr, Telecom Manager 
(907) 787-8736 
dana.orr@alyeska-pipeline.com 

Arctic Slope Reglonal Corporation 
Jason Brown, Sr. Manager Network Engineering 
(269) 290-7123 
jabrown@asrc.com 

_L_ 

7GCI 

9 

GIi 
AL.AS l<A'S MOST ,A,0\/,A.NCED f\lETWORI<'"' 

VVe look forward to working 
with you and your organization. 

PledSP c:cmtdct Jpff Clas~· dt (907) RGR-',899 
or :glascno)gc1.com w1t'l rlny ouestions 

Packet Page Number 136 



L L. 

Al•D Bualnea u ... ,..., 128684 

Alaska Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development 
Division of Corporations, Business, and Professional Licensing 

PO Box 110806, Juneau, AK 99811-0806 

Thlsistooertlfythat 

GCI COMMUNICATION CORP 

2550 DENALI ST, SUITE 1400, ANCHORAGE, AK 99503-2751 

ownodby 

Gel COMMUNICATION CORP. 

is licensed by the department to conduct business for the period 

November 16, 2022 to December31, 2024 
for the following llne(s) of business: 

23-Construction;51-lntormation 

This lloense shall not be la ken as pem,lsslon to do business In the state without having 
complted with the other requirements of the laws oftha State oroftha United States. 

This 11<:ense must be posted In a conspicuous place at the business location. 
It Is not transferable or assignable. 

Julie Sande 
Commissioner 

__J 

·1 

·1 
·1 

··1 

·1 

I 

70C1 CUSTOM NETWORK SERVICE - INTERNET SERVICE ORDER 
8/MSA-XXXX-SO-XX 

ATTACHMENT 

This Service Order ls an attachment to Service Order Summary of the MSA ("Service Order Summary") and subject to the terms and 
conditlons of the GCI Master Services Agreement MSA (#Agreement" ) between GCI Communication Corp. ("Company" or "GCI") and the 
Customer as identified in the MSA ("Customer") (each a "Party" and collectively, "the Parties .. ). By executing the Service Order Summary, 
Customer agrees to be bound by the terms and condit ions of this Service Order. 

1. SERVICES AND PRICING. 

1.1 Services .and Pricing. Services and pricing are set forth in the Services and Pricing page, Attachment A in the Agreement or Change Order. 

1.2 Payment T@rms. These amounts are e>eclusive of any taxes, surcharges, fees, assessments, or recoverles reasonably determined by 
Compa ny to be Imposed on Customer or Company as a result of use of the Service. All charges must be paid by the Customer within 30 

days of the resp@ctive invoice date. Overdue payments shall bear a one-time late charge and shall be charged a per month finance charge 
from the original billlng date. 

1.3 ~ -Charges will initiate when the Service is delivered to the location(s) as stated In Section 4.2 ("Service Delivery and BiDing 
Commencement Date"). 

1.3.1 If the Service is provided using a Local Exchange Carrier ("LEC"} circuit and Customer chooses to delay the beginning of Service after 
the LEC circ:uit is Installed, Company will still bill the customer for the l EC circuit at the time of installation. lEC installation and local 
line charges noted on the invoice are controlled by a tariff that is subject to change without notice. Actual lEC charges will be used for 
Invoicing. Installation charges do not cover a ny time or materia ls that may be required to extend the circuit from the LEC termination 
point to the physical location where any Company demarcation eq uipment will be installed. 

1.4 Pricing (han,e,:. 

L4.l During the lnitl.iill Term for Term Agreements: Company will not automaticany change the pricing for existing term agreements. Jf 
Company reduces the pricing of its Internet service, customers may take advantage of reduced pricing by entering into a new term 
agreement that extends the term beyond the expiration date of their current term agreement. 

1.4.2 After the Initial Term or fo r Month-to-Month Agreements: Revisions of the applicable rates and cha rges which result in any price 
increase or any material modification of the Service will become effective sixty (60) days after Company provides written notice to the 
Customer of its intent to revise such rates or Service. In the event that the Customer receives such notice, the Customer may elect, 
upon written notice to Company, to discontinue service. Jf a price change results in a net decrease to the customer's monthly charge, 
Company will adjust the customer's blll to reflect the reduction but ls not obligated to notify customer. 

l.S Strvicl! MovH and Cha nses- If Customer moves the location to which the Service ls being dellvered, Customerwlll be responsible for any 
lEC charges and Installation fees to move the Service. Customer must provide thirty (30) days advanced notice in writing of its Intent to 
cha nge Service locations. 

2. SCOPE OF SEIWICES. Company will provide the foll owing services (collectively, "Services") to the Customer. 

2.1 Custom Network Service- Internet. Custom Network Service• Internet Is a service that provides custom connectivity between Customer 
locations and the internet . The connections may be logical, physical or a combination o f both and may consist of layer 2 (051 Model Layer 
2), or layer 3 (051 Model layer 3) delivery models. Multiple topologies may be implemented, and each connection will be specific to the 
Customer and the location. 

2.2 Required Professional Services. In order to provide the services specified in this Service Orde r, Company will install the services and 
features and functions for the one-time charges as specified in the Services and Pricing page. 

3. lifil>.I. 
3.1 Term Agreement- The Term of the Service wHI bl! as stated in the Seivice Order summary or In the Services and Price page, Attachment A 

(per location) In the Agreement or in the Change Order. The Term start date shall begin from the Service Dellvery Date(s) as defined in 
4.2. Following t he end of the Term, the Servlce will continue on a month-to-month basis, but discounts may not apply and may be 
terminated by Customer by giving 60 days advanced written notice prior to the planned termination date. 

3.2 Early Termination Fee. IF CUSTOMER TERMINATES THE SERVICE PRIOR TO THE END OF THE TERM, COMPANY Will CHARGE CUSTOMER 
AN EARLY TERMINATION FEE. Early Termination Fees wlll include payment of monthly recurring costs multiplied by the numbe r of 
months remaining in the Term, and any other applicable termlnation-re!ated charges. The Parties agree that the Early Termination Fee is 
intended to constitute liq uidated damages to Company and will not be deemed to constitute a forfeiture or penalty. 

4. IMPLEMENTATION & SUPPORT, 

4.1 lmplementat,on Tim@llne. As soon iilS the Agreement Is signed, Company will begin working with Customer to develop, configure and 
engage in the im plementation of the Services to s uit Customer's needs and specifications, if the Service Is not already active. The 
installation schedule will be mutually agreed to by the Parties after execution of the Agreeme nt and Is subject to facillty avallablllty and 
the assumptions listed below. Company wfll keep Customer informed of any changes to the installation schedule but is not liable for the 
lnablllty to commence service on a specific date. 

4.2 Sfrvlce Oellvery and BIiiing (qmmenccment Oatefs) Service Delivery 1s defined as: when service becomes operational a nd usable by 

Customer, on the date specified by Company, per Customer location. Customer will be provided a Service Delivery Notice to include the 
Service Delivery Date(s) per Service, per location. Charges will initiate and bllling will commence on t he date(s) identified in the Service 

TRl GCI Business Service Order 
Page1of4 

Packet Page Number 137 



-·1 

l 
I 

··1 
I 

.J 

..J 

_/L__ 

1GCI 
CUSTOM NETWORK SERVICE - INTERNET SERVICE ORDER 

B/MSA-XXXX-SO-XX 
ATTACHMENT 

Delivery Notice per location. If there are multiple locations and different Service Deltvery Dates, billing will commence as Service ls 

delivered to each locatlon, even if Service Delivery Dates span more than one billing cycle. 

4.3 Customer-Initiated Support. Company's Busin@ss Tedlnlcal Support (BTS) provides 24x7x365 network monitorlns, event management, 

change control, and problem resolution for Company's Commercial customers. The BTS is staffed wlth technlcalty proficient Individuals 
who are able to resolve most lssues remotely within a two-hour period without requiring addltional technlcal resources, This team acts as 
the customer advocate and will manage events to resolution, wh!le keeping th@ customer informed of the status. Company has several 
monitoring and management systems Integrated into a single view for the BTS. 

5. ASSUMPTIONS· CUSTOM ER RESPONSI BI LITIES. 

5.1 ~ -Company used the followlng assumptions, based on Customer information and Company's standard procedures, In 

developing Its cost quote and Service Order. If any of these assumptions do not hold true it wilt Impact Company's ability to perform the 
required Professional Services at the proposed nonrecurring cost, If any, and may require Company to incur additlonal costs, which wll! 
be chargeable to Customer. Customer should review these assumptions for accuracy and discuss any Issues with Company. 

S.1.1 Customer will provide tfm@ly access to Customer's premises and will designate a point of contact to provide prompt responses to 
questions during Jnstaltatfon. 

5.1.2 Customer has accurately disclosed, to the be.st of its knowledge, the status oftelecommunlcatlon faciUtles at Customer's premises. 

5.1.3 Customer will provide spac@ and power for Installation of Company facllities on Customer's premises. 

5.2 Customer Ruponslhilitles. Customer is responsible for ensuring that only it's authorized users use and access the Services. Customer 
agrees to use all commercially reasonable efforts to prevent unauthorized access to, use of, or Interference with use of the Services, and 
must notify Company promptly of any unauthorized use, access, or Interference. 

6. ADDITJONALJ ERMS. 

6.1 Qemarcatlon Pplnf. The demarcation of Service ("Demarcation Point") is an Ethernet or Tl interface on the network interface device 
("NIO") installed by Company on the Customer's premises. Company assumes responslbllltyfor the service up to the Demarcation Point, 
includlng where applicable coordinating with the LEC regarding the private line. The title to the Company -provided NID will remain wlth 
Company at all times and must be Immediately returned upon termination of Service. In the event that the customer chooses not to have 
Com pany Install the customer premise NID, the Demarcation Point wm be the OJ.Stomer's port on Company's POP router and Company 
may not be able to monitor the circuit for purposes of the Service level Agreements, defined below. 

6.2 Protected Health Information. Customer acknowledges that the Services provided by Company hereunder are those of a "conduit" (as 
described ln Health & Human Services Office for Civil Ri&hts Guidance) and that Company does not as part of the Services store or 
maintain any Protected Health Information ("PHI") transmitted using the Services. Customer bears sole responsibility for providing and 
implementlng adequate policies, procedures, and training to ensure compllance with any laws or regulations relatlng to PHI. Customer 
will Indemnify, defend and hold Company, its affiliates and their officers, directors, employees and agents harmless from and against any 
Claims asserted against Company relating to or arising out of Its transmission of PHI using the services. 

6.3 ~- Customer agrees that It Is responsible for Implementing all reasonable and appropriate administrative, physical, and technical 
safeguards and controls to protect its data and information systems, Including but not limited to management of access by lts users to 
any Services provided by Company. Customer Is solely responsible for any modifications made by Customer or Its users to the 
configuration and settings of the Services, whether through administrative access to the Services, user access and controls, or by request 
via Company. Company Is not responsible for corruption, deletion, destruction, or loss of any data. Company's obllgiltions with respect to 
security of the Services are limited to those speciflcally set forth herein, 

6.4 IP Addresses. Customer must use private addressing for its Internal network needs. Company wlll provide sufficient IP Addresses to meet 
Customer's needs according to ARIN (American Registry for Internet Numbers) usage policies. IP network addresses assigned from a 
Company net-block are non-portable and must be returned to Company ln the event that Customer discontinues service. 

7. SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT. 

7.1 ~-

7.1.1 Business Technical Support (BTS), Company's Business Technical Support ls the official Customer interface for reporting faults or other 
servke problems, receiving updates and receiving notification that the service Is restored. The BTS contact number ls 907-646-4242 or 
1-83.3-844-4242. You can also email BTS at~ 

7.1.2 Degraded Service. Degraded Service means that the Service falls to satisfy any of the followlng criteria, based on the mode of delivery: 

TRl 

Service Level Agreement (SLA) 

Latency s 65 ms 

Packet loss~ 1% 

Jitteri40ms 

Avallabllity?. 99.95% 

GO Business Servlc" Order 
Page2of4 

·1 

·1 

-, 

j 

_j 

.J 

.J 

~ CUSTOM NETWORK SERVICE - INTERNET SERVICE ORDER 
B/MSA-XXXX-SO-XX 7GCI 

ATTACH MENT 

7.1 . .3 LaU!ncy Is measured round-trip at the network layer of the OSI stack. 

7.L4 .E!!l!I-Fault means a defect, Impairment or Interruption in a Service, unless excluded pursuant to Section 7.4. 

7 .1.S ~- Restoration occurs when there Is no longer a Service Outage and BTS has notified Customer that the Service has been 
restored . 

7.1.6 X;rvice Availabilfty. Service Availability is based on the number of minutes In any given calendar month In which the Service is not 
subject to a Service Outage. Service Availability Is measured as a percentage and calculated as follows: 

(Number of available minutes In a month- To@I Service Outage minuted x 100 

Number of avallab1e minutes in a month 

7.1.7 Scheduled Maintenance. Scheduled Maintenance means planned maintenance conducted by the Company between 12:00 a.m. and 
5:00 a.m. (Alaska Time). Scheduled Maintenance may be conducted within the maintenance window on any day of the week with 
seven days' advanced notice to Customer. Scheduled Maintenance does not Include emergency repairs conducted outside the 
maint•mance window, for which Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to minimize disruption to Customer. 

7.1.8 Service Outage. Service Outage means a Priority l Fault (as defined below) at the Demarcation Point. Service Outages wlll be 
measured from the time the Customer reports the Fault to BTS or the time BTS identifies the fau lt to the time of Restoration. 

7.2 Service Outage Severity and Restoration Tar,ets. Service Outages or Faults are assigned a priority level based on severity of the event 
that governs Company's commitment for Restoration. The criteria for assigning a priority and GO's commitment to responding to Faults 
based on their priority are as follows: 

l Iarcet Mean Jime to Fault I Criteria Restore 

Priorltyl 

Prlority2 

- Total loss of Service 

- Degraded Service, where Service Is degraded to the extent that Customer 
is unable to use It and is prepared to release it for immediate testing, 
continuing for at least 15 minutes 

- 4 hours 

- Degraded Service, where Customer is able/stHI wants to use the Service is I - 24 hours 
not prepared to release It for immediate testing. 

7 .3 Service Availablllty. 

7.4 The Service Is designed to deliver an average Service Availability of 99.95%, which corresponds to no more than twenty-two (22) minutes 
per month of Service Outage. If Company fails to meet its Service Availability guarantee with raspect to a Service in a particular month, 
Customer will upon request be entitled to credits against that Service's monthly charge according to the following schedule: 

7.5 

7.5.1 

7.5.2 

7.6 

7.6.1 

7.6.2 

Total number of Service Outage minutes In Credit% of monthly Charge for affected Service 
month 

23 - 180 minutes 5% 

181-300 minutes 10% 

301- 480 minutes 15% 

481- 720 minutes 20% 

c!: 721 minutes+ Greater of 25% or utilize the following calculation: 

((Total Service Outage Mlnutes/43,200) x 100) 

Additional Iecms. 
Request for SLA credits must be made within thirty (30) days of the end of the month in which the Outage occurred and will be 
applied against the· next monthly invoice . Company's records and data shall be the basis for all SLA calculations and determinations. 
Service availablllty credits will not exceed 100% of the service pric@ In any single month ly billing period. 

Termination. In addition to the fo regoing credits, If Company falls to meet its Service Availability guarantee for three consecutive 
months, Customer may terminate this Service Order upon thirty (30) days' prior written notice without penalty. 

Limitations and Exclusions. The remedies outlined in this section are Customer's sole and exclusive remedy forvlolatlons of the Seivice 
Level Agreement. The Service Level Agreement excludes Faults resulting from any of the following: 

TRl 

The acts or omissions of the Customer, its affil iates, agents or contractors, or any third party, Including congestion resulting from 
exceeding purchased bandwidth. 

Scheduled Maintenance. 

GCJ Business Service Ordll!'r 
Page3of4 

Packet Page Number 138 



7 
7 
7 
7 
l 
·1 

7 
·1 

I 
l 
I 
l 

_] 

J 
. .l 
J 
J 
J 
J 

10C1 CUSTOM NETWORK SERVICE - INTERNET SERVICEORDER 
B/MSA-XXXX-SO-XX 

ATTACHMENT 

7.6.3 Equipment, networks or systems not provided by Company, including a failure or defect In the Customer's facilities or other 
equipment or LEC circuit used to ptovldethe Service. Company cannot guarantee the peiformance of LEC circuits but will work with 
the LEC on behalf of Customer to expedltlously resolve circuit problems. 

7.6.4 Events outside of Company's cootrol, Including Force Majeure Events as defined In the Agreement. 

TRl GCI Bus;lnessServlceOrder 

Pagl! 4of4 

~ 
1GCI 

MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
MSA-P-XXXX 

This Master Services Agreement (the "Agreemenr-) Is made and entered into as of the d.ite of the last signature below ("Effective Date") by and 
between GCI Communication Corp. ("GCr), an Alaska corporation, on its own behalf and on behalf of Its affiliates and subsidiaries, having Its 
principal place of business at 2S50 Denali Street, Suite 1000, Anchoraee, Alaska 99503 and CUSTOMER ("'Customer"), having its prlnclpal place of 
business at ADDRESS (each a "Party" and collectively, '"the Partil!S"). 

1. $EBYl(.E OBOE RS ANO STATEMENTS OF WORK 

1.1 Customer wishes to engage GO to prOYide services as identified in one or more Service Orders and/a< Statements of Work. Managed 
services and Telecom services are provided via SeNlce Orders. Professional servk.es are provided via Statement(s) of Woric (SOW). 

1.2 The spedfic terms and conditions applicable bl the services ("'Services") to be provided by GCI pursuant to this Agreement, indudlng the 
description of the Serv~s and the obligations of each Party In connection therewith, applicable rates, fees, commissions and charges, 
termination rlshts, performance obllsations, and service parameters are or will be set forth In the Services Summarv and attached Service 
Order{s) and Statement(s) of Work. The Services Summary, Service Orders and Stateme-nts of Werk entered into between the Parties are 
Incorporated into the Agreement by reference and are governed by thP. terms of this Alreement In the event of a conflict between the 
terms of this Asreement and the Service Order(s), the terms of the Service Order will prevail. tn the event of a conflict betwun the 
terms of this Agreement and iii Statement{s) of Wortc, thff tP.nn~ nf thl~ Agrl!1!ment will prevail. All references to the •A,:reement" wlll be 
deemed to include this document and Its attachments, together with anv and all Change Orders and SOW Ravi,ion Orders. Atl requests 
for Service additions, deletions or changes to existing Service(s) on Service Order(s) requires a Change Order to be executed by the 
authorized Customer representative and GCI. Chanse Orders will include the addition or deletfon of Service(s) or the modifications to 
existinC Servfce(s) and will also lrlClude iii new services and pricing page, Attachment A tn reflect th• thafles. Chanaes to th• St.1tement 
of Work (SOW) shall use 3 SOW Revision Order and will Include scope and pricing charur:es. OnrP sllned bv the Darties. Chan1e Orders ;are 
Incorporated Into the Agreement by reference. 

2. WMEllI 
2.1 S~~ Customer agrees to pay all applicable charges associated with the Service(sl (the "SP.rva Chani:es"J when due. 

Delinquent bills will be assessed a late fee and a monthly finance charge, Applicable State and Fed~r-11 taxP_< Will b,. t>assed through ias- tha 
responsibilftv of Customer. 

2.2 ~ (Qc.fLOklllo.n1t.leMW. A Statement of Work will include the type of pricing to be used fnr professional ~rvir.-o!I.. tfthe 
StateMent of Work specifies that pricing will be on a time and materlal basis, labor rates wm bP lndu~Nf! nf WaRes, overhead. ri:eneral and 
admlnlstratlve e1<penses and profit. Fixed hourly rates- or project fees will be billed as identified ln p;:u·.h ~h1tPm,mt nf 'wnrk 

2.3 Mater/alt Aeoulred foe Profess/Offill ~ Payment for equipment and materials for professional services wrn hP. defiMd In thf' 
Statement of Work. All equipment and materials will be FOB GCI Offices unless otherwise Identified In the Statement nf Wnrlr. All t oc;t, 

(purchase of direct projed materials, project consumables, rental of iieteS~fy equipment, etc.) 'Wiii b@ hi11....t "" irlPntifif'rl in th,. 
Statement of Work. The administrative time to procure the materials/ rentals, If applicable, will be bllled berth,. t>rovlded t::11"P,;; In th ... 
Statement of Work, Equipmen~ hardware, software and other products purchased for Customer, r1h\!f or rnav Mt hi'! tP.turrn-ihl ... ~f'turn.,;; 
will be determined on d ca~ by c.asl? basis with GO havfng t he final determination. tf returns are accepted, they tnay hf! iubJect tn a 20% 
retur11 fH plus shipping, handling· and restocking costs as well as being subject to the tnanufacture's or t:t1nrlbut11tr'11 retum pollcles. 

2.4 P.tl'll.tl M6n!!J.filfiln4.foiSttviti OrderS. Curtonif!r will be billed I prorated share of .all • pplicable i:harges for Services fu'i !>Prvir.P <'lrrlP.n,: 
In.stalled, terminated or re-configured during the COUr!@ of a monthly bllUng cycle. l>rofesslonal ~n,lces will b ... hillP.d 41<. indir:~t ... rl in th,. 
Stat@ml!nt of Work, 

2.5 ~Commencement, The St!Nlce Chars~s. gs Identified in the ~rvices Summary :ind Service ilnd f>ricing, .Qttachment-'. l>e~in <t~ 

fpeeifl~d In tfil! appllcable ~Mee Order Of Statement of Wotk. 

2.f! (clli!!etlons, CunGm@ragrees that If GC/ Incurs colledlon or other legal torts 1$ IJ tesultof /'\on payment, tustomer wlll bP li;ihiP. tnr th.., 
total pan du@arnount1 any returned diedc fees, and the eoru of colledlon. These torts include, but ue l'\ot limited to, <any <:olltttlon 
aa:ency'g fees, ,easMable attorneys' fees, ahd arbitration or legal cons upon Judgment. 

2.7 OApotlt, A CHh der,os!t or i Commerd al letter of Cfedit miily be tequlred based 'Jft I tustomer's flnanclal 'lualitications ilnd ~he ~mblned 
valU@: of :Ill paym@nU required undtr the service order. 

J, Il!!M.ANDTfRMINATION 
U Torm, Th• term ("T,rm') of thl! Agr,•m•ntwlll begin on the Effective OaM ,nd<:ontinuefo,ijve ISi yur,. There.lter, ~ .. m ~. 

auti,mstically r@i,ewi!!!d for ~ueee;nive 1-year ~ nods for ;o lont ,n there 15 tn iidlve ~ervice Order <,r.!:tatemeni c,f Work ih ~lace 
betw!en GCI :Ind Curto mar, or UHtil !ither Party ;lvu: the 'Jther Party written l\otlce c,f lermlnation <it leiirl ~lxty (66) ~avs ~receding the 
@nd 6f th@ initi:il or imy r@nl!wal tl!rm. Any wen tumlnation r~ ~ubject to tfie tequlrements imd c,blfgations (){ t.hls .4.@;reement, ihduding 
any S@fVlf@ Ord@~. and w/11 be effealve gt ti'ie ~na of U;e then ~xplOng ~@rm, or 1t ~uch laler date c1s !;f:t forth in t:he r1otlce. 

3.1 T@Ffflln1JfQR.b_l@. GO miY tEffl'iifliti! &ervice if Customer fnilerially lm!aches !MS "greement. including ~V failure to R3V •uw qmounts 
iflV61E@d for S@Nit:@!i wtum due. u,d if Custam@r OOes '16t IJJr@ ;ucli ?reacti Wltfiln fifteen 11~) <fays ~fter r1otice ~ven to ~usiomer ih 
writing. If GC/ f@l'minatM S@fViE@ 15ril51' t6 ttie ~rid '3f Uie T@ffll ~ue to ~uslomer'S rnaterial t,reach, t'.ustomer '-\'ill Ge responslble for Having 
any@arly t@rmlnatlm~ f@M ;~t forth !nth! Jppl!cable ~rvie~ Order 1Jr !;tatement r, f Work 'Ind 1inretlJmed fi?qulpment fees . ~ti l"ftJY 
t@Fmlnat@ U'IIS Agreement or ;u~~@nd ~ rvlce •>Jitheut "iOti~ {i) in t3rdet ~Cl Dr@vent clamase ~o CJF ~egradatlon <1f Its lhlernct rtetwork 
lfltl!§Flty; (ii) to f6fflJllY with jny iaw, ,egulation, 1;6Uft '3rder, l)r 1Jtfier ,ovemmental re~uut <,rder "Yhkh requires immedlaie Jd:on; Gr 
(ill) to prot@ct GCI ft6ffl l@l~I li;l!ili!y. 

Rl.O GO Masttr Se Mees ~reement 
Pa1elof9 

Packet Page Number 139 



_/L__ 
MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 

MSA·P·XXXX 1GCI 
3.3 Termination by Customer. Customer may terminate one or more Services at any time subject to belng charged any early term ination fee 

set forth In the applicable Service Order or Statement of Work, and subject to any advance notice required by a Service Order or 
Statement of Work. 

3.4 Effect of Termination, Customer must return any GO Equipment upon termination or Customer will be charged for such unreturned 

equipment. Termination of any or all of the Seivlce.s does not relleve Customer of the obligation to pay for past due amounts and Service 
Charges incurred through the date of termination. customer will be responslble to pay fo r all costs associated with the early termination, 
indudlng termination fees, demoblllzation costs, equipment and material retum costs, or any such other cost GCI may incur. If a 
Customer receiving a bundled service discount terminates one or more bundled Services, GCI may reduce or eliminate the discount. 

4 . PREMISES ANO EQUIPMENT 

4.1 Service Equipment on Customer premises_ lfaccess to any Customer building or related real property ("Customer's Premises'") Is required 
for the installation, maintenance, or removal of GO Equipment or Customer Equipment used to provide the Service ("Service 
Equipment"'), Customer wlll ensure that GCI has reasonable access to Customer's Premise$ and will identify and obtain any necessary 
third party consents and approvals, including but not limited to lessor consents and local land use approvals, If applicable. Customer will 
at its own expense be r2Sponsible for all site preparation activities necessary for installation of Service. Customer represents and 
warrants that Customer has good and marketable title or a good and valid leasehold interest to any portion of Customer's Premises 
where Service Equipment wm be Installed. Customer further represents and warrants that Customer's Premises are neither owned nor 
managed by the State of Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities as an airport property, nor by any federal agency, 
Including but not limited to the Bureau of land Management, lndlan Health Service, or Bureau of Indian Affairs. Customer shall defend, 
indemnify, and hold harmless GCI from anv claims, suits, or enforcement proceedings, penalties, or relocation costs arising from or 
necessitated by breach of arrv representation or warranty provided by Customer in this paragraph. 

4.2 Damage Purine Installation. Customer acknowledges that GCI may be required to perform internal wiring and other work at Customer's 
premises in order to Install Service Equipment. Customer further understands that certain Service Equipment may be mounted to walls 
and ceilings in order for the Service to function properly. GCI w111 use commercially reasonable efforts to keep damage to walls, ceil ings 
and premises to a minimum, but will not be responsible for repairing or returning Customer's premises to Its original condition, except to 
the extent caused by GCl's gross negligence or wUlful misconduct. 

4.3 Gq Equipment 

4.3.1 "GO Equipment"' means all equipment and facilities Installed or leased to Customer by GCI, except for Customer Equipment (defined 
below). GCI Equipment Is for Customer's exclusive use only for purposes of using the Service during the Term and remains GCl's 
property. Customer aarees that it will not allow the GCI Equipment to be serviced by anyone other than GO employees or aaents. 
Except as otherwise provided In this Agreement, Customer may not permit any attachments to, alteration of, or tampering with the 
GCI Equipment, GCI may remove or change the GCI Equipment at its discretion at any time during tke Term or following the 
termination of Service. Customer agrees that addition to, removal of, or changes to the GCI Equipment may Interrupt Servlce. 
Customer agrees that the GCI Equipment must be retumed to GCI at the end of the Term and that it witl be in wor1dng order other 
than reasonable wear and tear. In the event the GCI Equipment is lost, stolen, damaaed, destroyed, or otherwise not retumed 
promptly, Customer avees to pay the current replacement cost of the GCI Equipment. 

4.3 .2 GCI will use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain any Ga Equipment, to the extent such equipment ls on Gers side of the 
demarcation point, and subject to the noted exclusions. Unless specifically set out in writing, GO wi11 not provide or install any 
equipment on Customer's side of the demarcation point. During the Term, GCI will repair or replace defective GCI Equipment at no 
charge to Customer unless it is determined that Customer is responslble for such equipment fai lure. The cost of Gd service req uired 
to repair problems caused by Customer's fa ilure to follow Gd's written instructions provided to Customer or by Customer's 
unauthorized repair, modification, or relocation of GCI Equ ipment, or by misuse or negligent acts, will be the responsibility of the 
customer. 

4.4 customer Equipment 

4.4.1 "Customer Equipment"' means any Customer-owned, Customer-provided, or third-party hardware or software and that is used on the 
Customer's side of the demarcation point. GCI reserves the right to prohibit any Customer Equipment that it finds harmful. 

4,4,2 Customer may not use or install any equipment on GCl's side of the demarcation point without permission from GC1 in writing. GCI 
cannot guarantee that Customer Equipment will work with the Service. GCI may not be able to support or troubl2Shoot Customer 
Equipment and is not responsible for the ongoing ma intemmce of any Customer Equipment. Customer must cooperate with GCI in 
configuring and managing Customer Equipment In order to Implement and operate the Service. GCl may, at its sole discretion, agree 
to service or troubleshoot Customer Equipment at Customer's requffi, at GCl's then-standard rates. Any such agreement by GCI must 
be in writing, 

5. SECURITY ACCEPTABLE USE, ANO PRIVACV 
5.1 Network Security, In an effort to provide a secure Service, GCI deploys Industry-recommended security measures on Its network. In 

ad dition, GCI recommends the use of firewalls and 5ec;:urity/malware software to protect Customer's systems and data. It lS Customer's 
sole responsibility to take appropriate precautions to protect against damage to or destruction of ha rdware, software, fl ies, and data. GCI 
Is not responsible to Customer for unauthorized use of the Service or authorized access to Customer's data un less the unauthorized use 
or access results from Gers failure to meet its security obligations stated in the Agreement. For terms applicable to the Individual services 
GCI is provfding to you, see the GCI Service Order for such service. GCJ's obligations with respect to security of the Services are limited to 
those specifically set forth in this Agreement. 

Rl.O GCI Marter Sarvlces Aareement 
Page2 of9 

...../L.___ 

1GCI 
MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 

MSA•P-XXXX 

5.2 Attount Security and Passwords. Customer Is responsible for maintaining the confidentiality of any passwords used to access or use the 
Services. Customer Is fully responsible for all activities that occur under Customer's password or account, Including any breach of the 
A,rnment. Customer must notify GCI immediately upon lea ming of unauthorized access to the Service or Customer's account. 

5.3 Acceptable Use- Customer agrees to comply with the Acceptable Use Polley when using the Service, which is available onHne at 
https:J{www.gd.com{abgutfterms•condiJl9n5{acceo1-able-use-pollcy. If Customer fails to comply, GCI may suspend or terminate Service. 
The Acceptable Use Policy may be changed by GCI from time to time without advance notice. In the event of such changes, the new 
Acceptable Use Policy will be posted on line at the above link. 

SA ~ - Our Privacy Policy, which is available on our website at ht1ps:/Jwww.gtj.com/prlvacy•ooficy explains how GCI handles 
Customer's personal data, including th e data that GO collects and how we use it, and how we protect our Customers' privacy. By using 
the Service, Customer agrees to collection and use of data a§ described In the Privacy Policy. The Privacy Policy may be changed by Ga 
from time to time without advance notice. In the event of such changes, the new Privacy Polley will be posted onllne at the above link. 

5.5 CPNI Consent. Under federal law, Customer has a right, and GO has a duty, to protect the confidentiality of Information about the 
amount. type and destination of Customer's wireless service usage. This information, called Customer Proprietary Network Information 
(CPNI), includes information that relates to the quantity, technical configuration, type, destination, location, and amount of use of GCl's 
service and related information in Customer's bills. It does not Include Customer's name, address, or telephone number. GCI may use 
Customer's CPN1 to provide or market GCl's wireless products and services to Customer, to protectGCJ's right or property, to provide 
information to emeraency personnel, and to protect Customer or others from fraudulent. abusive, or unlawful use of GCl's services. GO 
also may use Customer's CPNI to comply with any law or legal process (such as a court order or subpoena). Customer's acceptance of the 
Agreement constitutes consent that GCI may use Customer's CPNI to market additional GCI sarvices to Customer, including w;th thlrd 
parties. Customer also consents to GCI sharing Customer's CPN I with other carrters to validate and/or accompUsh any requffi for 
number portability into or out of GCl's Service. This consent survives the termination of Service and is valid until Customer removes it. To 
remove this consent at any time, notify GCI In writing by emall at gclprlvacy@gci.com or at the address set forth in Paragraph 8.4 below, 
providing (1) name, (2} Service address, (3) billing address, (4) telephone number induding area code, and (5) service account number. 
Removing consent wilt not affect current Services. 

5.6 Pin Number. The F.C.C. requires that customers set up and use a Private Identification Number ("PIN") when communicating with GO to 
obtain certain information about, or to make certain chang6 to, its telephone account. Use of this PIN may be waived by the account 
owner or authorized account user, by contacting GCI Business Customer Service at 907•26S-S4S4, or 800-800-7754 {Toll Free), with 
proper authentication ("PIN Waiver"). The PlN Waiver will remain in effect until revolced by the account owner. 

5.7 Content. There may be content available through the Internet that is Illega l, violates third party property or other rights, or is offensive. 
GO is not responsible for the content contained on the Internet or otherwise available through the Service. GCI is not liable for any 
claims, losses, actions, damages, suits, or proceedings arising out of, or otherwise relating to, such content. Websites visited, or data 
received through the Service may contain viruses. It is Customer's sole responsibility to take appropriate precautions to protect against 
damage to or destruction of hardware, software, files, and data. GCI may, but is not required to, suspend or terminate avallabllity of the 
Service if a virus is found on any customer Equipment or in any communications sent or received through the Service. 

5.8 Use of Service. Customer may not use or permit another to use GCI Equipment or the Service for any unlawful purposes. Customer may 
not post or transmit through the Service any material (indudlng any message or series of messages) that violates or Infringes In any way 
upon the rights of others (including copyrights, patents, trademarks, trade secrets or proprietary rights), that Is unlawful, threatening. 
abusive, obstructive, harassing. defamatory, invasive of privacy or publicity rights, vulgar, obscene, profane, that encourages conduct that 
would constitute a criminal offense, gives rise to civfl liability, or otherwise violates any law. Customer will not use GCI Equipment at any 
time at an address other than the servrce address specified in your account without GO's prior written authorization. Customer agrees 
and represents that it wfll not resell or permit another to resen the Service in whole or In part. Customer acknowled1es that it is iCcepting 
this Acreement on behalf of all persons who use GCJ Equipment or Service at the service address and that Customer has sole 
responsibility for ensuring that all other users understand ;md comply with the terms and conditions of thls Agreement. Customer further 
acknowledges and agrees that Customer will be solely responsible for any transactions, including. without llmltatlon, purchases made 
through or in connection with the Servf~. Customer agree,; to use all commercially reasonable efforts to prevent unauthorized access 
to, use of, or interference with use of the Services, and must notify GO promptly of any unauthorized use, access, or interference. 

6. SYSJEMSANO DATA. 

6.1 Data Files. Customer's data files and the data contained therein shall be and remain Customer's property. Customer's data shalt not be 
utilized by GO for any purpose other than that of rendering Services to Customer under this Agreement, nor shall Customer's data 01 any 
part thereof be disclosed, iald, assigned, leased or otherwise disposed of to third parties by GCJ, its employees or agents. 

6.2 Systems. Customer Is wholly responsible for the integrity and security of its systems and data. Customer will back up all systems and data 
and, on a schedule, determined by Customer. 

7. PRDFESSIONAL SEAVICES-

7.1 Statement of Work. A Statement of Work (SOW) wlll apply to professlonal servkes provided under this Agreement and will set forth a 
full description and scope of the Services to be provided by Gd. 

7 .2 Network and System Downtime. Many network Installations and other professklnal services ~uire scheduled server or network down 
time. GCI will work with Customer to schedule project work to minimize the number and duration of disruptions and down time. All 
scheduled server and network. down time activities are estimated durations only and subject to change by GCI. Customer acknowledges 
that In order for GO to pass along certain cost efficiencies to Customer, server and network down time will be scheduled during the office 

Rl.O GO Master Sen,iCl!S A«reement 
Page3of9 

Packet Page Number 140 



JL.__ 
MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 

MSA-P-XXXX 1GCI 

7.3 

7.4 

7.4.1 

1.4.i 

7.4.3 

7.4.4 

7.4.5 

7.4.6 

7.5 

7.5.l 

7.5.l 

7.B 

7.6 

7.7 

Rl.0 

hours of 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM Alaska Standard Time, whenever possible. Customer's users can often still use their computers during 
scheduled down time but w;11 not be able to access some or all of the network resources or services. Down time may be pre-scheduled 
during weekend and evening hours but will result In overtime charges for labor to Customer. 

Profcssfonal ScMcc lomtYCatloOS- Customer's systems, software and hardware characteristics may vary sle;niflcantly between 
successive test points and $ilmple intervals or Customer project locations reviewed by GCI in d@veloplng a Statement of Work cost, 
schedule and project plan. Because of the inherent uncertainties in these Initial project evaluations, chan1ed or unanticipated conditions 
may occur that could affect the total Statement of Work cost for professional services, as well as schedule and project plans. These 
conditions and cost tot1etherwlth the project execution effects are not the responslbility of GO. 

TrayeJ and Other Emfnses 
Travel Expenses. All travel will be FOB GO offices, unless otherwise identified ln the Statement of Work. All travel cost lncludlne but 
not llmlted to airfare, vehicle rental, lodging. meals etc. wlll be blll@d as ldentffled In the Statement of Work. If administrative tlma to 
secure the arrangements for personnel ,md material iuP. to be hillPd to customer, ttwill be Indicated in the Statement of Work at the 
provided labor rates In the Statement of Work. Whllc all efforts are madP. to estimate these expenses. the ,u:tual expense may \lary 
due to factorS such as avaflablltty of specific lodging, rP.ntal cars, and airfarR orfnr other rea,ons oot,ide of the COf'ltrol of GCI. GCI will 
occaslooaUy book bres that allow for flight 5ehedule chanses with no prior notice or additional charie. This is occasionally necessary 
due to the inability to precisely predict length of some project enKaR:ements due to Customer scheduling rertralnts or other factors . 
Wherever possible, GCI will book the lowest cost flights . 

.!&d&!ng, GO will book hotel accommodations and separate rooms for each GCI em0lovee asslaned to a Statement of Work. Hotel 
accommodati<>ns are chosen that are clean, with private bathrooms and shower filr:llit~s i.nd that i.re priced according to GCl's 
intemal travel pofkies. 

Rtcita! ~r. GCI may utilize one rental ~r fot each day on-site In a remote tocatlnn. A rental i::ar helps speed deli\lerv of 1:•rvic• :1nd 
reduces waiting chafieS associated with taxis, buses, or pri\late transportation fmm a Customer emplovee. Shnu~ Customer elect to 
provide ground transportatlon, format arrangements must be made with GCJ at least one hu~inP._,;;,;; day In adv;i,nr.11!' of a Gel's .:irriv;i,I .:it 

the Customer's location. GCI will charge fot'actual travel time should Customer elect to provide around transportation. 

~~rn- Per Diem charges, if appllcabte, will be defined in the Statement of Work. 

Irave~- TraveltlmB will b6 charged per indlvidual professional reSOIJfte a!: stated In the StatP.ment nf\Nnrlr. 'rravll';I HmP will ~art 
from the time the professional resource leaves GCl's office, until he/she arrives at the CUstomer's~tP.. r~~1 delavs Mr"' thQ 

professional resource has departed, due tu weather or anv other reason outside of the Company's control, will he thar«ed to th,. 
customer at the rate shown in the Statement of Work. 

~- Customer i; responsible for all Customer purchased equipment transportation cosis and expenses. A.ny costs inr:urrfl'r1 bv Gr-1 
will be billed to Customer. · 

Standard of 9% Warranty; andllmltatlons-

Th6 Standard of care applicable ta GCl1s Services wlV be the degree of sklll and diligence hormalty employed by brofess1onal 1-mi 
technical IT !:Upport companies providing the same orslmllar Services at the time GCJ's Services ue berformed. Gel wiU t~perform 
any Si!rvk! not mee:tinc this standard without additional compe:nsatlon, subject to Customer brovidJng Gd Written hntir.:P tif ~uch 
n0"-t0nf0rmaht:A within ii;rty (60) days from the date of Service completion (riroJect &tatement of Woric Completion) of t-hP. Services. 
In any event, GCl's llabllitv under this Agreement shall be limited to the obligation to te•perform o1ny work i,ot meeting !:he :tatement 
of Woll< pro].,:1 spec;ficatlon. 
GCI wUI pass throuih ta CU~Ml!r any manufacturer or supplier's 'warranty on i:111 t!qulpment, l'lardware Of !oftware r>urchased 
throuah GO. GCI will work wfth CUtt6MeFto Integrate equipment, l'lardware or ;oftware ,upplied '>y the {jutomer intn thfl! Drolect 
Sp!c!Kkltion, GCI MaKes no Wai'fiiitiM, either expressed or lmplled, concerning tompadbllfty c,f hardware or ~ohware ~upplied l,y thP. 
Cu~omer and GO will not b! responslDle for any loss of o, corruption of data 9nd or cro,ram files 'Ind/or loss <lf ~roduction ciue to 
l'l!twork. lMtallatlon, netwo,-1( fillure or networ~ eomponent failure. 

GO dM!: not WJmlnt t~at thi GCI ~up plied i:,rofesskmal ~ rvices, equipment, ~ardware i,r !ooltware will lie l!!rror•free <Y' c,perate 
without intorruption, lat•nev or d•lay. 8<<0p! as specifically brovlded In \his ,\greement, ~CJ MAKES NO WARRANTIES, lfxPRm <lR 
IMPU!D, AND SP£CIHCALLY DISCLAIMS ANY WARRANTIES 0~ MEROlANTABILl'IV, •ITNm •OR~ PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NON
INFRINGEM[NT OR TITLE. GO !st~tcl!l!~ no tontrol over §lid ~as 110 tesponslbllltv for tustomer i;upplied ti:qulpment, hardware t)f 
~oftwar@ lnti!l7ati!d Into t~l! prajl!tt spccJflCitl6iiS ljiid dellverables /Jr i:oiitlnt hansmltted 1,r 'lccesslble 'U,rough \he ~rvlce Gt ;my 
CU"OfflC!!f COM@ctlvlty ~l!l'Viel! Uld tll~tlalMi iny t-esponsibllity for the ;am@. 

m,P~LH.CUU6fflC(UotstlOn. CuJtomM agrff!: to DrnVidi! ~El employees illfid !>ubcontraeto~ itsslgned ~o !iUpport t:he ~tatement 
of Work ,t Cu11om•f1 lo~tion, ! iullibl, aim olworli, which will tomply with ,II ,ppllcable P.ederal, ~late ,nd loal ~ .. ~h •nd safety 
lilim i!Hd N!:!Uliltion~. Cmtam@fWIII fi.ffiilSh ta GCI eopies 'if Wor~p/ace 1.:ondud, t,ealih ~rid !iilfefy 11nd r1eiworlc rules iind regulai:lons sa 
that cm mav lruttua 111 iseROfifi@I te ti bide !;y ;uc~ Fules ijfi~ Fegulatlons. Customer itlf@M ~6 fJrO\lide <,fl ~mployees iind ~ubconiractors 
any cunom@r fi!qUif@d Uff!ty §1\d ~!31th trainin.r Ill cunom!rJ ~ale fl.6J:t \lid !Xp@nJe. In the ~Vi!M l.he 'vork Qescribed in any ~iatemeni: 
at wen. ur,du t1,u: Agn!em@Ht ~qulrH th@ u~@6f ~mv ~i,:onal nrotfetlv! or ~afefy l!qulpment, ~ustomer 'viii ~upply &uch Eiqulpment. ,.l 
CU!!Bfll@fl !lll@ron ind @Xp@n!l!. 

~..Q.llilt!!!!fil~-1'.'mMWJ.~.!l!l!!!L 

GCJ Mut:lr !.erviai _.,rHmtnt 
Pase4of9 

JL.__ 
MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 

MSA·P-)()()()( 1GCI 
7.7.1 All Customer requests for professlonal servlce(sl that are not speclflcally itemized In the Statement of Work require an appro'ttd SOW 

Revision Order signed by Customer and GCI. SOW Revision Orders will Include the statement of the change to be performed, a labor 
estimate based on GCl's time and material rates and an amended work schedule, If applicable. Changes or addltlons of material and 
equipment costs, indudlng freight, handling and any additional project mobllizatk>n costs will be listed separately In the SOW Revision 
Order. 

7.7.2 All executed Revision Orders will be considered attached to this Agreement as an addendum and subject to the terms and conditions 
of the Agreement While GCI will provide an estimate of the anticipated cmt and schedule lmpctets for each Revision Order, GO makes 
no guarantee as to the actual cost and schedule impacts created by the approved Revision Orders. customer agrees, GCI retains the 
right to direct a Revision Order under this Agreement, approved and paid by Customer, which captures the reasonable cumulative 
Impact costs of all Revision Orders approved under the tndlvldual Statement of Work. 

7.7.3 Changes in laws or regulations not known or foreseeable on the date of the Statement of Work execution, whic:h have an effect on the 
cost or schedule of GCt's Services, are subject to a request for a Revision Order under this Agreement. 

1.s Project dose Qyt 
7.8.1 GCI may send a notification of Project completion to Customer at the end of the project. GO considers a project complete when all 

tasks have been c:ompleted and all deliverables tu med over to the Customer. The Project (as detailed In the applicable Statement of 
Work) will be used as the guideline to determine Project completion. 

7 .8.2 GO may request a meeting with Customer to review the Project completion report and to demonstrate the Project de llverables were 
completed. If there are any project de liverables Customer understands were not com~eted by G•, such deliverables will be reviewed 
by GO and a corrective action plan may be developed to satisfy any incomplete deliverables. tf all tasks are found by Customer to be 
complete, Customer is expected to sign the project dose out reports and GO will dose the project. If wc:h signature is unreasonably 
withheld, GCI may invoice Customer for additional project management time. 

8. UABIU!YANP DISPUTE RESOLUIION 
8.1 fndemnific.atjpn. GCI will Indemnify, defend and hold Customer, Its affiliates and their officers, directors, employees and agents hatmless 

from and against any third party claims, liabilities, losses, damages and expenses (includins reasonable attorney's fees) ("aaims"') 
incurred, relating to or arising out of (i) personal injury or real property damage caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of GCI or 
Its employees or agents, and (ii) Infringement of a U.S. patent right or copyright In connection with authorized use by Customer of the 
Services. Customer will indemnify, defend and hold GCI, its affiliates and their officers, directors, employees and agents harmless from 
and against any aaims incurred, relating to or arising out of (i) personal injury or real property damage caused by the negllgence or willful 
misconduct of Customer or Its employees or agents, (II) Infringement of a U.S. patent rtsht or copyright in connection with use by 

Customer with the Services of equipment, software or servfces not provided by GCI, and (JIil misuse of the Services by Customer or any 
users of the Services in violation of this Agreement. The Indemnified Party will provide the Indemnifying Party with prompt written notice 
of any ctaim and permit the Indemnifying Party to control the defense, settlement:, adjustment or compromise of any Claim. The 
indemnified Party may employ counsel at its own expense to ass 1st It with respect to any Calm. The Indemnified Party will have no 
authority to settle any Claim on the indemnined Party's behalf. Nothing in this SectJon wlll llmit any other remed ies of the Parties. 

8.2 Qisdairoer of Warranties, GCI does not warrant that the: GCI equipment or services wlll be error-free or operate without interruption, 
latency or delay. Except as specifically provided in this Agreement, GCI MAICES NO WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, ANO SPECIFICALLY 
DISCLAIMS ANY WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NON-INFRINGEMENT OR TITLE. GCI exudses 
no control over and has no responsibility for content transmitted or accessible through the Service and disclaims any responsibility for 
suchc:ontent. 

8.3 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. NEITHER PARTY Wlll BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, INODENTA~ SPECIA~ PUNITIVE, OR CONSEQUENTIAL 
LOSSES OR DAMAGES, INClUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION LOSS OF REVENUE, SALES, PROFITS OR DATA. WHETHER BASED ON BREACH OF 
CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER LEGAL THEORY OF LIABILITY, EVEN IF EITHER PARlY WAS AWARE OFTl-lE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH LOSS OR 
DAMAGE. GCI Will NOT BE LIABL£ FOR LOSSES THAT RESULT FROM CUSTOMER'S OR ITS USERS' USE OF OR INABILITY TO ACCESS ANY 
PART OF THE SERVICES; CUSTOMER'S OR ITS USERS' RELIANCE ON OR USE OF INFORMATION; SERVICE INTERUPTIONS; LOSS, THEFT, OR 
DELITION OF FILES; OR ERRORS, DEFECTS, OR DELAYS IN OPERATION OR TRANSMISSION. GCI WIU. NOT BE LIABLE FOR LOSSES DUE TO 
USE OF THIRD-PARTY PRODUCTS OR SERVICES. GCl'S LIABILITY FOR ANY ACTION OR INACTION WIU. IN NO EVENT EXCEED GO'S SERVICE 
CHARGES FOR A 12-MONTH PERIOD. This Umltation of liability Is an agreed-upon benefit of the bafiain and remains In effect even if any 
remedy under the A,;reement fails of Its essential purpose. 

8.4 Arbitration. Customer and GCI agree to resolve all disputes under this Agreement by binding arbitration. Each Party agrees to notify the 
other Party in writing of the nature of the dispute at least forty-five (4S) days before initiating binding arbitration. The Parties wlll atte:mpt 
to resolve the dispute informally. Any dispute between the Parties that cannot be resolved after forty-five 145) days will be finally 
resolved by a single neutral arbitrator in accordance with the Federal Arbitration Act (•FAA•). The arbitrator will have r'IO s:,owerto make 
any award that provides for punitive or exemplary damages. The arbitrator may hot consolidate more than one Party's clalms and may 
not otherwise preside over any form of a representative or class x,roceeding. Any arbitration must be brousht In the Party's individual 
capacity, and not as a plaintiff or class member in any 1>urported class or representative: proce@dlng. If for any reason a dispute is 
permitted to be brought in court, the Parties both agree to waive any right to a Jury trial In any court action. The Parties acknowledge and 
agree that the FAA governs this agreement to arbitrate, that the existence and validity of this agreementwJU be determined in 
accordance with the FAA. that any arbitration between the Parties will be conducted in accordance with the FAA, and that any state 
arbitration statute or procedure does not apply. The .irbitratlon wlll be conducted by the A.merlcan Arbitration Association ("AAA") under 

Rl.O GO Master Servkes Agreement 
Page5of9 

Packet Page Number 141 



JL__ 

1GCI 
MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 

MSA-P-XXXX 

its rules, in Anchorage, Alaska. Payment of all fifing, administration, and arbitrator fees will be governed by the AAA's rules. The Parties 
wiU share the costs of arbitration equally unless the arbltratkm award provides otherwise. Each Party will bear its own fees, and the 
arbitrator will have no power to award attorney's fees except as may be permitted under the terms of this Agreement. 

9. CQNflDENTIAUIY 
9.1 HConfldentlal Information" means information disclosed by either Party ("Disclosing Party") to the other Party ("Receiving Party") in 

connection with the negotiation or performance of this Agreement, even if before the Effective Date, that is marked as confidential or 
would be understood by a reasonable person to be confidential In nature. 

9.2 Neither Party may at any time during or after the termination of this Aj:reement (f) dlsdose any Confidential Information to any third• 
party except with the specific prior written consent of the DJscloslng Party or as 6press1y permitted by the terms of this Agreement; or 
(ii) use the Confidential Information for any purpose other than to perform Its oblifl:atfons under this Agreement. Both Parties must use 
the same degree of care In safeguarding the Confidential lnfonnatkm as It uses for Its own confidential information of llke importance, 
but in any case, no less than reasonable care. Upon discovery of any disclosure or misuse of Confidential Information, the Receiving Party 
will notify the Disclosing Party and wlll act to prevent any further disclosure or misuse. 

9.3 The Parties' obligation of confidentiality and restrfctton on use will not apply to information that: {I) at the time of disclosure was 
ava11able to the public; (ii) after disclosure became avallable to the public by publication or otherwise by a person other than Disclosing 
Party; (iii) was In the possession of either party or Its subsidiaries or affiliates at the time of dlsdosure; (iv) was received by either party 
from a third partywfthout an obligation of secrecy; or (v) was or Is disclosed to another party by the Olscloslng Party or Its agents or 
authorized representatives without a corresponding obligation of confidence. 

9.4 Each Party is permitted to dlsclose Confidential Information as required by law or regulation provided, however, that the Receiving Party 
must (JJ if not prohibited by law or regulation, give the Dlsclosing Party written notice promptty upon receipt of a disclosure requirement 
and before the disclosure Is made; {Ii) take reasonable actions and provide reasonable assistance to Disclosing Party to secure 
confldentlal treatment of the Confidential Information; and (Iii) disclose only such Confidential Information as fs required. 

10. MISCEUANEDUS 

10.1 Right r9 Mqdify Agreement. Neither this Agreement nor any term or pro11lsion hereof may be changed, waived, discharged, amended, or 
modified orally, or in any manner other than by an Instrument in writing signed by all the Parties hereto. 

10.2 Use of Services. Customer will not use the Service for any purpose which Is Illegal, unlawful, or harassing, which infringes upon another's 
intellectual property rights, or which otherwise constitutes network abuse, and Customer will be responsible for any such use of the 
Service by customer or its users. 

10.3 Trademarks. Neither Party may use the other's name, trademarlt, trade names or other proprietary identifying symbols without the prior 
written approwl of the other Party. 

10.4 Notices. Unless explicitly stated otherwise, all notices required or permitted under this Agreement must be ln writing. delivered 
personally or by U.S. mail. facsimile or electronic mail (followed by hard copy, In the case of fax or emall) to the respective addresses set 
forth below, or such other person and/or address as a Party may notify the other from time to time In writing, and will be deemed 
effective upon receipt. 

9!!!2!!mi 
[See Primary Contact under 
Services summarvJ 

liQ; 

GO Communication Corp. 
Attention: Corporate Counsel 
2550 Denali Street, Suite 1000 
Anchorase, AK 99S03 

10.s Successors and Asslsns. This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and permitted assigns of the 
Parties hereto. 

10.6 Allli:n!!:lta1- Neither this A1reem1nt, nor any of rights or obUgatlons huern are tr.insferable or assignable by either Party without the 
other Party's prior written consent and any attempted transfer or assignment hereof not in accordance herewith are null and void, 

10.7 severabillty. lf any portion of this Agreement Is held to be unenforceal>Je, the unenforceable portion will be construed in accordance with 
applicable law 1s nearly as possible to reflect the orlglnal Intentions of the Parties and the reminder of the provisions will rema in In full 
force and effect. 

10.8 No Waiver. Either Party's fallure to insist upon or enforce strict performance of any provision of the Agreement will not be construed as a 
waiver of any provision or right. Neither the course of conduct between Parties nor trade practice wlll act to modify any provision of this 
Acreement. 

10.9 Govemlng Law. This Agreement will be aovemed by and construed in accordanct with the laws of the State of Alaska, without regard to 
Its conflicts of law provisions, 

10.10 fntire Agreement. This Master Services Agreement, along with any Service Orders, Statements of Work and any exhfbits or attachments 
thereto, constitute the complete agreement between the Parties and supersedes all prior understandings or arrangements between 
them regarding the subject matter of this Agreement. 

10.11 1ntJllegyaJ Prooeav. All materfals, software, fonnu/as, calculations, records, reports, and data developed In performance of this 
Agreement as well as any materials given by Ga to Customer pursuant to this Agreement will remain the e,cclusfve property of GCI and 
will be returned to Gel 1.1pon written request or at the end of this Agreement. 

Rl.O Ga Master ServJcesAc:r~nt 
Page6ofg 

__L__ 

1GCI 
MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 

MSA-P-XXXX 

10.12 ~. "Force MaJeure Event"' means any cause beyond Ga's reasonable control and without the fautt or negligence of Ga or Its 
subcontractors, lnduding but not limited to fire, flood, earthquake, volcanic activity, unusually severe weather, vandal Ism or extemal 
aggression to the communication facilities that Is not attrlbutable to GCI or its employees o, aa:ents, failu re of Siltelllte or plant structure, 
act of terrorism, sabotage, power outages outside of the reasona~e control of Ga, tail circuit or local loop outage outside of the 
reasonable control of GCI, CJ(plosion, war, strike, embargo, pandemic, epidemic, government requirement, act (or failure to act) of civil or 
m!litary authority, act of God, fitllure of a third party to grant or renew a materially required and norHubstltutable right of way, permit, 
easement or other required authorization for use of the Intended right of way (provided that GCI relief has used Its commercially 
reasonable efforts to obtain the required right of way, permit, easement or other required authorization}. No Party will be held liable for 
any delay or fallure In performance of any part of this Agreement (other than the duty of payment) caused by a Force Majeure Event If 
any fo,ce Majeure Event occurs, the Party whose performance fails or is delayed because of such FOf'te Majeure Event (•Oefayed Party") 
will promptly gi11ewrltten notice thereof to the other Party. The Delayed Party will use all commerclally reasonable efforts to avoid or 
mitigate performance delays despite a force majeure condition, and unless the forte majeure substantlaltyfrustrates performance under 
the AgrlM!ment, will restore performance as soon as the Force Majeure Event Is removed. 

10.13 Mutual Non•Sqlldtatlgn. The Parties agree that during the Term and fo r a period of 12 months thereafter, neither Party, induding such 
Party's agents and Affiliates wlll directly, or indirectly offer employment to, employ, engage as an Independent contractor, or otherwise 
obtain (or encourage any third party to retain! the services of any person employed within the preceding one hundred and eighty (180) 
days by the other Party oran Affiliate, who be~me known to such Party or Its Affiliate In connection with the perfonnance of this 
Aareement. 

10.14 RePresentJtlon on Authqrjty of Sicnatones. Each person signing the Agreement represents and warrants that he or she is duly authorized 
and has /qal capacity to execute and deliver the A&reement. Each Party represents and warrants to the other that the execution and 
delivery of the Agreement and the performance of such Party's obligatfons hereunder have been duty authorized, and that the 
Agreement Is a valld and legal agreement binding on such Party and enforceable In accordance wtth Its terms. 

Rl.O GCI MMter Services ,/l,&f1!ement 
Page7of9 

Packet Page Number 142 



.2-. MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
MSA-P-XXXX 7GCI 

Rl.O 

SERVICES SUMMARY 

SERVICES SUMMARY INFOIIMATlON 

Start Date: Date of final s_!l_nalure 
End Date: Per Service Order as indicated below or ln the pricing table per location In Attachment A or per Statement of Work. 

Services and Pridng, Service Locatlon(s), and Service notes, (Attachment A). 

This Services • Services S0-01, Attachment 

Summary includes 
and lncorporatl!:s by 
this refuence: 

THIS SERVICES SUMMARY Is governed by this Master Services Agreement MSA ("Agreement") and is effective as of the Date of the last 
signature below. Capitalized terms not defined in this Services Summary will have the meaning provid!d In the Aereement. By signing below, 
Customer represents that it Is authorized to sign the MSA and this Services Summary, acknowledges that it has carefully read and fully 
understood the MSA, the Services Summary and all attachments, Service Orders, Statements of Wortc, Chanae Orders and SOW Revision 
Orders hereto, and agrees to be bound by its terms. Fae.simile and electronic signatures will be binding for all purposes. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have duly executed and delivered this Master Servke Agreement and Service Order Summary .as of the 
date of the l.ast slgn.ature below. 

CUSTOMER 

Authorized Signature 

Name 

ntle 

Date Signed 

GCI Communication Corp. 

Authorized Signature 

Name 

TTtle 

Date Signed 

GCI Mister Services Agre11ment 
Page8of9 

& 1 MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 
MSA-P-XXXX 

ATTACHMENT A 
This Services and Pricing page Attachment Is subject to the terms and conditions of this Ga Mt1ster Services Agreement MSA (•Agreemen~) 

between GO Communication Corp. ("Company" or "GCI") and the customer Identified In this MSA (•Customer"') (each a "Party" and 
col'ectfvely, "'the Parties-"), and upon execution by the Parties ~mes a part of the A,reement. 

L saylCES AND NIQNQ. Prfdn1 for sef'Ylces on Se Mee Orders Is k>cated In the tables(s) below t1nd prfclne for Professional Services Is located 
In each SQtement of Work, tf ipplbble. 

Stt: General Dispatch Support for ProfessioMI SeNlces Pricing. 
1.1 Only applicable for Monthly Reantng Charges: does not indude ta.lies, regulatory surchlrses, 01 non-recurring charges that may apply, 

amount biMed to Customer may vary. 

z. SERVICE NOTJS. 
None. 

Rl.O Ga Yasttr$t,vJces ~rn1nt 
. ..,. . .,. 

Packet Page Number 143 



~ ~,~!!:!~~~ 
r 

Proposal for Internet Services: City of Unalaska 

Fiscal Year 2025 J 

OUTLINE 
Service Offerini 
EnterprtseServlce 
Srriicel>esoiption 
Hotesabout~e 

Packate Pricing: and Bandwidth Selection 
Common Connections and I'~ 

• Network Dlaifam 

Service level Agreement 
-~PerfOffllallCI! 

-~Claims 
-HelWDf'k()per.l.tlon5!illpport 

lffiind 1'he Me-twark 

BidA.cceptAnce 

letters of Recommendation 

OuMIMhka Co!'l)Ori\tkm 

o Offshore Systems lncorp«ated 

o CMA-CGM Amt!riu U.C 

Dr•ft Master Service A!lrument 

Packet Page Number 144 



Enterprise Service by OptimERA xG 

Sa,j,eaf~ 

We. ""' thrillN to lntruduce OptlmERA xG"s man comprel'M!tl.slve ;and powerlul solutioll fol 
busineuk:\lelW:f'lia! ,l.ewn1"'1i1dvxlcednetwor\ltlatechn°'°lle5.-tandef~r1hii,,ty 
rl!l<ilble. K~,andtfficiart nittwo,-klnfrutru=iuretomeetyourneeds. 

Op1n1EAA's ~Sftv'M1offetsorpnil.itioM ,eli»1fo,1nd~conne,:tiYitywi'lh 

.V~ rutu<M,, lieliwfircdf:dluledbindwidthiitilMtlmes-...hilepf'OllidinssignifiQnlly 

fiSter speedswhe<>eYI!< P')'5ible. 

lnlem,,i is ddwn:d th,ou1h ii uniqueilpHment wi'lh S,pxel(, ind Jibe, auess from GO. The 

~ Ii, tl>fn pi~d through miuowaw lll'ldfol:ler to tN'facility p,oridll\i hleh ~bl!lty ;ind 

1Dwla1enc;yth,O<,Chi1lullyring,ednetwo<k. 

Ovtloc~""""°""archltect..,.eu-bol:hmoc-alldlit,er1ed1nolngjel0pr<:l'<'kk'~t 

local t~rt within the c~ This combined ;opp-hensures tfflcient arid reliable data 

transle-,elimfflltin,:bottlenetlsandbcilitatin&s.eafl'ffss com""'nicati°"iKl'OU\'O'lf 
orpniution.~urelPaddrH5ingwii~tetMmet«mne<tlonsenwreslhbintegrity, 

wnfNlentlalily,;ondhigl,Pfflormam:e. 

TMs.e pad:ages offu hig:Mf thfouo,pul when network KCHSis lllili~le, alowl111you to 

;,ch~ upto 'l()Cffl;fastnsptt<blhilnyuurcomrnin.edinfo1mMiDllrate(deduted~I-This 

remarbble boostinapacil:ye~n«s o?e<iltion11leffitieflcy, -blinf,fisterd;,qua11$1ersi1nd 
1mtusedprodutlfvitylo1your tum. 

Al [nterpris,: l)i(b~il<t ba<k,:,I by our san~rd SI.A, ut.tbii$1\l111 1ighl 10"'""1us lor 

l"'ffOl'na~, and account;ihilny for bilu<,. 

Enterprise Service by OptimERA xG 

Description 

GCI fiber+ the Community Gateway by starUnk. ensUing high availability at 
lowlatencyataDtimes. 

Local Transport delivered through both microwave and fiber to the facility 

ensuring maxim1.a11 uptime. 

FlAly ringed atchltecture provides the best in dai.s reliability. 

static public IP addresshg for al your needs on a per IP basis. 

Up to 400% faster speeds 1han a standard dedicated connection with the 
same retiablity alld SLA of a carrier grade connection. 

Notes about service delivery 

service ready for testing and tum up within 60 days of contract award 

Sea labia bandwidth options to frt your needs. 

ONS servers that support DNSBL queries 

Year-<Ol.l'ld local technicians on the island. 

2417/365 phone support 

Packet Page Number 145 



~ Optim~~n~~adBaadw;dthSelect;oa 

A simple pricing structure that allows you to quickly decide how much bandwidth you need and know what it is going to cost. Prices are 
a11 lndustve, what vau see is what vcu w111 pay. Included are per-meg prlces for different contract terms and a /28 address space included. 

All HK:loslw, no h idden feH 

• Fully n!dundant low latency rln1 n11twork 
architecture. 

Max Information rate up to 411 the b~khh 
level so you Cilf\ do more f~tlr when needed 
without p~ more. 

Easily routed putial subnet fOf' slmple 
routlq and contl1u~tion. 

We hilndle the network delivery so there 11 
noaddltlona.lcost toimplementservice. 

Addltl~ D,1U. u:nte r o ptions available. 

• Additional public IP addressn are available 
lor$3.SO/addressper month. 

··A1~ ant unlmih!dlNiltlnoda1acapa. 
··•A1prices .haudltraxesllndfNs 

.,_ .. _ 
70Mbps1 .. _ 
.,.,,. 

100Mbps' 

120Mbp 

140Mbpl , .. _ 
, .. _ 
200Mbpa 

SYHr ·- MonthlyCD!lt 
.,_ 

$11,2110 

50 Mbps $13,645' 

60M.,. $17.679 

70Mbpl $20,034 

60M.,. $22,388' ,,_ 
$2,t,7~2 

100Mbps S27,097 

120 Mbps $33.486 ,.,_ $38,195 , .. _ 
$44,584 , .. _ 
$49,293' 

,.,_ 
$54,002 

Network Diagram 
Dedicated Redundant Enterprise 

o,u,,,ERA-~(SNlllleUCP) 

• Lita.Mllc · Servicels 
delivered by fiber+ 
microwave to the 
facility for local ring 
architecture. 

• Mkklk Mlle lbdmawl 
- Service is delivered 
viafiberandStarlJnk 
Ka-Gateway in ring 
architecture. 

• ~ · network 
architecture ensures 
maximum availability 
at all times. 

• All low latency high 
capacity, ALWAYS 

Cllyelu...&.IUl-,.tw~ ~ 

11E .J--1 
iii! ! 1--~t 1-~- 1+ • ' ~ -.. ~ . ----. 
~-~-~~ : ___ ..,..,_ ____ ··•_J l_J --

~ ------'-•- t! -N Hi-- r ••· 

Packet Page Number 146 



Service Level Agreement 

Network Pfiformance 

OptlmERAxG tll!'I pl'O\'ide iU $etYke L-1 i\1:rttmem (~ and its M.lstff Service A&rnment 
(MSA} fOl'"the Applit.nt's Ravi-. SL.A blslcs; 

1. Hl1hAwaii.b1RtyNetwork 
2. >99.""-uptlme 
3. <0.2S"pldlettcm 
4. <100msAW111p!Lltl!nCy 

- Lr,el-
1. OptlmEIIA's standard SLAenwru mu:lmum uptime 1,id commitment to miln~11 

rri1bility. 

2. Myoutl~ !.ninl loncertt..n S minutes continuously or 20 minute,, combi:ned In 
l·mint.lte minimum lnmvals. during 1ny period be1ween blllin1 cvcles. u11sed by 
OptlmEAA, a:ludiflc ICMl!uled l>lltqn or -IS Of.lUlcle of lU cir«! control, wlll be 
compenwttd st l" of the monthly dedlated lntemttralt per occu1renc. up to 1 
1N1xlmumofl°"p«bl~l11&cyde, tf-than400mlns(""6.Shrl)ofOUUl&• Js 
experle~ Ina month, thecustomerc.1nchooseto swltdl Rn'lcl!Swlthoutpen11ty. 
CustomermU5twbmltadalm. 

3. Wlthtiahtertoler,nusourSL.Aholdsthenetworkto1hl&herstandardthanthe 
typlul 51.A. The aoal of an SL.A Is to enwre a reliable Rf'l'lte, not rNlrd diJ.alunu 
because of poor perfonmnce. 

· Network 5upport 

1. 24171365PhoneSupport 
2. EmalSUpport 
J. local P-,ce for immediate response 
4. Pl'oactiwe monitoring of~ {we cal you) 
5. Uugelwlo!yK:CeS& 

Behind the Network 

Emmett • CEO Jester - CTO Matt - COO 

~I-
Meet our team 

to 

Packet Page Number 147 



~ ~.~~~~~~~ 
Bid Acceptance 

By aignlng below, The Cfty of Unalaab, o.partment of Finance, Information 
Systems DIYl91on ("City"), Is lwf'eby accepting thl• bid package, and wuwd UM to 
--Into • Hrvlca agrNfflMII with OpttmERA xG. 

Cily - (Print Frat & Last Name) 

Signature, City Representattve 

-
Date 

ToA«,wptlhls bld pacbp,pi,Nll:ffllil~..._.bKt< 10~.,_,rneet1n1wlll 
be KMduledtodkcu$S~bwlld•Ma,te,Setvlca~fortMOty. 

~ 

WE ARE BUILDING IT 

£--i n ~ 

OptimERAxG + 1 (907) 581-4983 emmett@optimeraxg.com 

WWW.OPTIMERAXG .COM 

Packet Page Number 148 



June 19, 2024 

OptimERAxG 
[Address] 
Dutch Harbor, AK 

To Whom It May Concern, 

On behalf of CMA-CMA America LLC it is our pleasure to commend OptimERA xG for their 
exceptional customer service and the high-quality, reliable internet service they provide in 
Unalaska, AK. 

As a key organi2.ation serving the Unalaska community, we understand the vital role that 
dependable internet connectivity plays in supporting both business operations and community 
needs. Since engaging with OplimERA xG, we have witnessed a remarkable enhancement in our 
internet service quality. The reliability of their network has been consistently robust, ensuring 
seamless communication and connectivity across our operations, even in the cbaUenging 
conditions unique to our region. 

OptimERA xG's customer service team has been exemplary, consistently displaying 
professionalism, promptness, and a sincere dedication to addressing our needs. Their technical 
support personnel are both knowledgeable and efficien~ always ready to resolve any issues 
swiftly and effectively. 

The commitment ofOptimERA xG to delivering superior service and maintaining a high
performing network infrastructure has significantly benefited our corporation and the broader 
community of Unalaska. We wholeheartedly recommend OptimERA xG to any entity seeking 
dependable and high-quality internet services in remote areas. 

Sin/41t1 / ,/ 

L,r~o~h. 
Manage!) Iaformation Technology 
CMA-CGM America LLC 
(714) 885-8168 1 usa.lbemardo@cma-qpn.com 

To Whom It May Concern, June 20, 2024 

On behalf of the Ounalashka Corporation, it is our pleasure to recommend OptimERA xG for their 
exceptional customer service and the high-quality, reliable internet service they provide in Unalaska, 
AK. 

Over the years OptimERA xG has been providing on-demand and on-site solutions that empower OC to 
participate In the Missing and Murdered Indigenous Peoples movement, which provides vital social 
justice communication and resources for rural communities. They also provide on-site hot-spots for 
our virtual meetings for our Shareholders and their Descendants. We rely on OptlmERA xG for safety 
and redundancy In communications, and they continue to enhance their operations to fulfill the roles 
that off-Island competitors cannot meet. They have the capability to reach remote locations with their 
service, and we think that to be a game changer for Unalaska Island operations. 

As a key organization serving the Unalaska community, we understand the vital role that dependable 
internet connectivity plays in supporting both business operations and community needs. Since 
engaging with OptimERA xG, we have witnessed a remarkable enhancement in our Internet service 
quality. The reliability of their network has been consistently robust, ensuring seamless 
communication and connectivity across our operations, even in the challenging conditions unique to 
our region. 

OptimERA xG's customer service team has been exemplary, consistently displaying professionalism, 
promptness, and a sincere dedication to addressing our needs. Their technical support personnel are 
both knowledgeable and efficient, always ready to resolve any issues swiftly and effectively. 

The commitment of OptimERA xG to delivering superior service and maintaining a high-performing 
network Infrastructure has significantly benefited our corporation and the broader community of 
Unalaska. We wholeheartedly recommend OptlmERA xG to any entity seeking dependable and high
quality Internet services in remote areas. 

Sincerely, 

Q /Yl ,t__ ~ 
Denise Rankin, President of the Ounalashka Corporation 

~ 907.S81.1276 ~ info@oonalashka.com e www.oonalashh.com 9 PO Sox 149, Unalaska, Ala.sk; 9968S-0149 

Packet Page Number 149 



June 20, 2024 

Dutch Harbor, AK 

To Whom It May Concern, 

OFFSHORE SYSTEMS, INC. 
12019 76"' l'LACENE 

Kllua.AND, WA 98034 
PHDNB ( 425) 828-6434 

FAX(425) 827-2105 

It is with great pleasure that we write this letter to commend the outstanding customer service and high

quality, reliable internet service provided by OptimERA xG in Unalaska, AK. 

As a company operating in remote locations, we understand the critical Importance of dependable 
communication infrastructure. Since partnering with OptimERA xG, we have experienced a significant 

improvement in our connectivity and overall communication capabilities. The internet service provided by 
OptimERA xG has proven to be exceptionally reliable, even under the challenging conditions often present 

in the Aleutians. 

Moreover, the customer service team at OptimERA xG has consistently demonstrated professionalism, 

responsiveness, and a genuine commitment to ensuring our needs are met. Thei r technical support staff is 

knowledgeable and efficient, always ready to address any issues that may arise promptly and effectively. 

The dedication to providing high-quality service and maintaining robust network performance sets 

OptimERA xG apart in the telecommunications industry. We highly recommend OptimERA xG to any 

organization seeking reliable and high-performing internet services in remote areas. 

S,oo=••~ 

Nick Reed 

coo 

Offshore Systems Incorporated 

Packet Page Number 150 


	Agenda 2024 07 02
	Resolution 2024-30 Harbor Facility Grant Application
	Resolution 2024-30 Harbor Facilty Grant Application
	Resolution 2024-30 Memo

	Resolution 2024-31 Captains Bay Road Waterline Construction Award
	Resolution 2024-31 CBR waterline extension project
	Staff Memo Resolution 2024-31 CBR waterline extension project
	RFP
	Contractor's Bid package
	CBR Waterline Bid - Aleutian General LLC
	Bid Bond- Aleutian General LLC
	Certificate of Liability Insurance-Aleutian General LLC
	Alaska Bus. License-Aleutian General LLC
	City of Unalaska Bus. License-Aleutian General LLC
	Contractor License-Aleutian General LLC

	Bid tabulation
	Standard form of agreement with contractor

	Resolution 2024-32 GCI Contract
	Resolution 2023-32 GCI contract
	Staff Memo GCI contract
	MSA-P-XXXX 040122 SAMPLE
	RFQ ISP Final Packet


